## AN EVALUATION OF A COMMUNITY PHARMACY BASED, PHARMACIST-LED INTERVENTION PACKAGE TARGETED TO THE PATIENTS' ADHERENCE STATUS, TO ACHIEVE AND MAINTAIN TARGET BLOOD PRESSURE (BP) CONTROL BY OPTIMISING ANTIHYPERTENSIVE MEDICINE ADHERENCE

BY

#### Amirthan Rajakumaran Selliah Amirthalingam

A thesis submitted to

University of Birmingham

For the degree of Professional Doctorate in Pharmacy

Institute of Clinical Sciences

School of Pharmacy

College of Medical and Dental Sciences (CMDS)

University of Birmingham

January 2017

## UNIVERSITY<sup>OF</sup> BIRMINGHAM

## **University of Birmingham Research Archive**

## e-theses repository

This unpublished thesis/dissertation is copyright of the author and/or third parties. The intellectual property rights of the author or third parties in respect of this work are as defined by The Copyright Designs and Patents Act 1988 or as modified by any successor legislation.

Any use made of information contained in this thesis/dissertation must be in accordance with that legislation and must be properly acknowledged. Further distribution or reproduction in any format is prohibited without the permission of the copyright holder.

## ABSTRACT

Antihypertensive pharmacotherapy is associated with poor adherence. No validated method exists to establish patients' likely adherence level. A systematic review and a single, Swedish community pharmacy practice-based pilot study were undertaken investigating blood pressure (BP) optimization from pharmacist-led, community pharmacy-based antihypertensive adherence interventions titrated to individual patients.

The systematic review showed generic interventions are often used for optimizing BP. Different intervention outcomes vary: positive, negative and no effect has been demonstrated. Pilot study participants (n=153) were categorised into adherence subgroups (A=Adherent, IR=Intentionally non-adherent rational, II=Intentionally non-adherent irrational, U=Unintentionally non-adherent) based on responses to questionnaire format adherence screens. Interventions were designed intuitively to optimize adherence for each subgroup: changes in blood pressure and adherence attitudes were assessed.

A significant reduction in mean systolic BP (SBP) (3 mmHg, P<0.05), with no change in mean diastolic BP (DBP) was seen overall. However, outcomes varied with subgroup: adherence was enhanced in the U subgroup (decreased SBP: 3 mmHg; DBP: no change), but indications of a detrimental effect were observed in the II subgroup (SBP: no change; increased DBP: 3 mmHg).

It is feasible to assign patients to different adherence subgroups in community pharmacy, which may optimize medicines adherence through personalization of interventions.

## **DEDICATION**

To my loving parents

"A merry heart doeth good like a medicine"

Proverbs 17:22, King James Version

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First, I would like to thank my supervisor Professor John Marriott, Professor of Clinical Pharmacy and Head of School of Pharmacy at University of Birmingham, the United Kingdom for taking me onboard the Professional Doctorate in Pharmacy (DPharm) Research Programme. Thank you so much for your kindness, inspiration, continuous guidance and insightful comments during my research endeavour.

I also wish to thank Mrs. Kristina Billberg, Mrs. Anna Eriksrud and my colleagues at the community pharmacy Apoteksamariten AB in Uppsala, Sweden during years 2012-2014. Moreover, my special thanks to all patients who participated in the community pharmacy-based research project. All without whom it would not have been possible to carry out the community pharmacy-based research project.

I would also like to thank my friends for their friendship and helpful suggestions. Special thanks to Dr. Anne Kubai and late Dr. Jan Sedzik for being my references during the admission process to the DPharm Research Programme. I am thankful to Mr. Mats Jansson and Mrs. Barbro Dreje for taking time and interest to proofread certain Swedish translations.

I also extend my thankfulness to Actavis AB and The Swedish Pharmaceutical Society for granting me the Actavis Scholarship in the year 2012 to conduct the community pharmacybased project.

I would like to thank The British Pharmacological Society and The Clinical Pharmacy Congress 2016 in the United Kingdom for accepting the abstracts and poster presentations of the community pharmacy-based research project. Finally, I would like to thank my family. I am deeply grateful to my father Amirthalingam Selliah and mother Selin Amirthalingam for always providing me with their unconditional love and care and for all their sacrifices. I also express my gratitude to my brother Amuthan, my wife Lydia and my relatives for their family fellowship and love. I love you all.

Uppsala, Sweden 11<sup>th</sup> January 2017

Amirthan Amirthalingam

## **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

1	GEN	ERAL INTRODUCTION	1
	1.1	PHARMACEUTICAL CARE AND THE COMMUNITY PHARMACIST ROLE IN HYPERTENSION MANAGEMENT	1
	1.2	MEDICINES MANAGEMENT, A PATIENT-CENTRED APPROACH AND MEDICINES OPTIMISATION	2
	1.3	HISTORY OF BLOOD PRESSURE (BP) MEASUREMENT.	3
	1.4	Hypertension guidelines	5
	1.5	Hypertension	5
	1.6	BLOOD PRESSURE (BP)	6
	1.7	ADHERENCE AND NON-ADHERENCE	9
	1.8	IRRATIONAL NON-ADHERENCE	12
	1.9	THEORIES OF ADHERENCE	13
	1.9.1	The Health Belief Model	14
	1.9.2	The Necessity-Concerns framework	15
	1.9.3	Meichenbaum and Turk's adherence theory	16
	1.9.4	Theory of reasoned action/Theory of planned behaviour	16
	1.9.5	Attribution theory	17
	1.9.6	Locus of control beliefs	17
	1.9.7	Outcome efficacy and self-efficacy	18
	1.9.8	Stages of change model/transtheoretical model	18
	1.9.9	Self-regulatory model	19
	1.9.1	0 Information-motivation-behavioural skills model (IMB model)	20
	1.9.1	1 Medication error theory	21
	1.9.1	2 Medication Adherence Model	22
	1.9.1	3 COM-B	22
	1.10	ANTIHYPERTENSIVE MEDICINES ADHERENCE	23
	1.11	INTERVENTIONS TO OPTIMIZE ANTIHYPERTENSIVE MEDICATION ADHERENCE	25
1.12 METHODS OF MEASURING MEDICATION ADHERENCE		METHODS OF MEASURING MEDICATION ADHERENCE	27
	1.12.	<i>1</i> Self-reported medicines adherence screening questionnaires	28
	1.	12.1.1 8-item Morisky Medication Adherence Scale	.29
	I.	12.1.2 Medication Adherence Report Scale	.31
	1.12	2 Pill count	.52 33
	1.12.	2 Pharmacy refills	33
	1.12.	Descripting chine intese or antituded tensive medications in Sweden and United Vingdon	1
	1.15 (IIK) PI	TRESCRIBING GUIDELINES FOR ANTITITFERTENSIVE MEDICATIONS IN SWEDEN AND ONITED KINGDOW	38
	1 14	PREVIOUS STUDIES	40
	1.14	COMMINITY PHARMACY SYSTEM AND ADHERENCE PROGRAMMES IN SWEDEN	40 42
	1.15	THESIS APPROACH	43
	1.10	AIMS AND OBJECTIVES	45
	1.17	1 Systematic review	45
	1.17	<ul> <li>2 Community pharmacy-based in vivo adherence project</li> </ul>	46
	1.17.		70
2	A SY	STEMATIC REVIEW OF PHARMACIST-LED INTERVENTIONS WITHIN A	
С	OMMU	NITY PHARMACY SETTING AIMED AT OPTIMISING BLOOD PRESSURE (BP) IN	
P	ATIENI	'S UNDERGOING ORAL ANTIHYPERTENSIVE MEDICATION THERAPY	47
	2.1	INTRODUCTION	47
	2.2	RESEARCH QUESTION	49
	2.3	RATIONALE	49

2.4	OBJECTIVES	50
2.5	Methods	50
2.5.	1 Protocol	50
2.5.2	2 Eligibility criteria	50
2.5.	3 Information sources	
2.5	4 Search	51
2.5.	5.4.1 Electronic databases	52
-	2.5.4.1.1 Cinabl Plus	52
	2.5.4.1.2 Cochrane Database	53
	2.5.4.1.3 Embase	
	2.5.4.1.4 Ovid MEDLINE	
	2.5.4.1.5 PubMed	56
2.	.5.4.2 Grey literature	57
	2.5.4.2.1 Google	57
	2.5.4.2.2 LexisNexis	59
	2.5.4.2.3 Web of Science	59
2.5.	5 Study selection	60
2.5.0	6 Data collection process	60
2.5.	7 Data items	60
2.5.8	8 Summarv measures	61
2 5 9	9 Planned methods of analysis	61
2.5.	10 Additional analysis	01 62
2.5.	<ol> <li>Additional analyses</li> <li>Disk of bigs in individual studies and general studies</li> </ol>	02 62
2.5.	<ol> <li>Risk of olds in individual studies and across studies</li></ol>	02 62
2.5.	12 Publication dias	03
2.	5.12.2 Testing for funnel plot community.	03 62
26	DEGLETE	05 64
2.0		04
2.0.	1 Study selection	04
2.0.2	2 Study characteristics: Participants, Interventions, Comparators, Outcomes, Study Design	
(PIC	.(US)	66
2.6.	3 Results of individual studies	79
2.	.6.3.1 Odds ratio	79
	2.6.3.1.1 Systolic blood pressure (SBP) and diastolic blood pressure (DBP) as a combined outcome	80
	2.6.3.1.2 Systolic blood pressure (SBP)	
2	2.6.3.1.3 Diastolic blood pressure (DBP)	84
2.	.0.3.2 Mean difference	80
	2.6.3.2.1 System blood pressure (SBP)	80
26	2.0.5.2.2 Diastonic blood pressure (DBP)	88 00
2.0.4	4 Additional analysis	90
26	2.0.4.1.1 Thematic analysis	90
2.0	J Risk of dias within studies	93 05
2.0.	/ Publication bias	95
2.	.6./.1 Odds ratio: Systolic blood pressure (SBP) and diastolic blood pressure (DBP) as a combined outc	ome 95
	2.6.7.1.1 Visual interpretation of the funnel plot including grey interature	95 06
	2.6.7.1.2 Statistical analysis of funnel plot asymmetry	90 06
2	6.7.2 Mean difference	
۷.	26721 Systolic blood pressure (SRP)	
	2.67.2.2 Diastolic blood pressure (DBP)	90
2.7	DISCUSSION	101
2.7	1 Study selection process	101
2.7.	<ol> <li>Summary of the avidance</li> </ol>	101
2./.1 ว	7 2 Participants	102
4.		102

2.7.2.2 Interventions	
2.7.2.3 Comparators	
2.7.2.4 Outcomes	
2.7.2.4.1 Blood pressure (BP) outcome	
2.7.2.4.2 Other outcome measures	
2.7.2.5 Study design	
2.7.3 Risk of bias	
2.7.3.1 The Cochrane Collaboration's tool for assessing risk of bias versus other quality as	sessment tools110
2.7.3.2 Publication bias and funnel plot asymmetry	
2.7.4 Limitations	
2.8 CONCLUSION	
<b>3</b> A PILOT STUDY EVALUATING THE IMPACT OF COMMUNITY PHARMAC INTERVENTIONS TO OPTIMIZE ANTIHYPERTENSIVE MEDICINES ADHEREN	CIST-LED CE115
3.1 INTRODUCTION	
3.1.1 Pharmaceutical care service	
3.1.2 Study design	
3.2 METHODS	117
3.2.1 Research proposal	
3.2.7 Filical approval	
3.2.2 Ellitetti upprovul	
3.2.5 Study design	
3.2.4 Patient recruitment	
3.2.5 Study visits	
3.2.5.1 Visit 0 (Baseline visit)	
3.2.5.2 Visit 1 (Interventions) – 3-months from baseline	
3.2.5.2.1 Adherence screening questionnaire scoring	
3.2.5.2.2 The adherence subgroup categorization process	
3.2.5.2.3 Interventions	124
3.2.5.2.4 Deviations from the intervention protocol	
3.2.5.2.5 Fatients requesting br and pulse measurement at visit 1	
3.2.6. Statistics	125
2.2.6.1 Depart colculation	
3.2.6.2 Statistical software	
3.2.6.2 Significance levels	
3.2.6.7 Descriptive statistics	
3.2.6.5 The Shapiro-Wilk test of normality and the Wilcovon-signed rank test	120
3.2.6.6 Snearman correlation	127
<ul> <li>3.2.6.7 Multivariate analysis of variance (MANOVA) and multivariate analysis of covaria</li> <li>128</li> </ul>	nce (MANCOVA)
3.3 RESULTS	
3.3.1 Study duration	
3.3.2 Study population	
3.3.2.1 Adherence subgroups	
3.3.3 Deviations from study protocol	
3.3.4 Baseline (visit 0) analysis	
3.3.5 Deviation from intervention protocol	141
3.3.6 Patients requesting blood pressure (RP) and pulse measurement at visit 1	141
3.3.7 Rlood pressure (RP) and nulse results	
3.3.71 Cohort (n=153)	
3.3.7.1 Conort (1=100)	
3.3.7.2 Autorout (A) subgroup (11-02)	
3 3 7 3 Adherent and Intentional non-adherent rational (A and IR) subgroup (n=4)	
5.5.7.5 Autorent and internormal non-autorent rational (A and IK) subgroup (n=4)	

3.3.7.3.1 Blood pressure (BP) levels at visit 0 and visit 2 in Adherent and Intentional non-adherent rational	ıl (A
and IR) subgroup	154
3.3.7.3.2 Within-group blood pressure (BP) changes between visit 0 and visit 2 in Adherent and Intention	al 155
non-adherent rational (A and IK) subgroup	155
3.3.7.4 Adherent and intentional non-adherent infational (A and II) subgroup (II-3)	137 nol
(A and II) subgroup	160
3 3 7 4 2 Within-group blood pressure (BP) changes between visit 0 and visit 2 in Adherent and Intention	100 al
non-adherent irrational (A and II) subgroup	161
3.3.7.5 Intentional non-adherent irrational (II) subgroup (n=13)	
3.3.7.5.1 Blood pressure (BP) levels at visit 0 and visit 2 in Intentional non-adherent irrational (II) subgro	up
3.3.7.5.2 Within-group blood pressure (BP) changes between visit 0 and visit 2 in Intentional non-adheren	ıt
irrational (II) subgroup	167
3.3.7.6 Intentional non-adherent rational and Unintentional non-adherent (IR and U) subgroup (n=2)	169
3.3.7.6.1 Blood pressure (BP) levels at visit 0 and visit 2 in Intentional non-adherent rational and	
Unintentional non-adherent (IR and U) subgroup	172
3.3.7.6.2 Within-group blood pressure (BP) changes between visit 0 and visit 2 in Intentional non-adherer	11 172
rational and Unintentional non-adherent (IR and U) subgroup	1/3
3.3.7.7.1 Blood pressure (BP) levels at visit 0 and visit 2 in Intentional non-adherent irrational and	1/5
Unintentional non-adherent (II and U) subgroup	178
3.3.7.7.2 Within-group blood pressure (BP) changes between visit 0 and visit 2 in Intentional non-adheren	11 170
irrational and Unintentional non-adherent (II and U) subgroup	1/9
3.5.7.8 Unintentional non-adherent (U) subgroup (n=59)	181
subaroun (L)	18/
3 3 7 9 Comparison on between-group blood pressure (BP) results: subgroups Adherent (A) (n=62) and	
Unintentional non-adherent (U) (n=59)	185
3 3 8 Scores from adherence screens	188
3 3 9 Spearman correlation	190
3 3 10 Multivariate analysis of variance (MANOVA)	193
3.3.11 Multivariate analysis of covariance (MANCOVA)	101
3.4 Discussion	105
2.4.1 Sevening of antihumentansing medication adherence and blood prossure (PD) assessment of	. 195
5.4.1 Screening of unitrypertensive medication adherence and blood pressure (BF) assessment of	105
2 A 2 D (: ( ) ( ) ( ) ( ) ( ) ( ) ( ) ( ) ( )	. 195
3.4.2 Patients requesting for blood pressure (BP) and pulse measurement at visit 1	. 190
3.4.3 Blood pressure (BP) outcome in the cohort	. 196
3.4.4 Blood pressure (BP) outcome in adherence subgroups	. 197
3.4.4.1 Adherent (A) subgroup (n=62)	197
3.4.4.2 Intentional non-adherent rational (IR) subgroup $(n=0)$	197
3.4.4.3 Intentional non-adherent irrational (II) subgroup $(n=13)$	198
5.4.4.4 Mixed subgroups: Adherent and Intentional non-adherent rational (A and IK) (n=4); Adherent and Intentional non-adherent rational and Unintentional non-	
intentional non-adherent infational (A and II) $(n-3)$ , intentional non-adherent fational and Unintentional non- adherent (IP, and U) $(n-2)$ : Intentional non-adherent irrational and Unintentional non-adherent (II and U) $(n-2)$	100
3.4.4.5 Unintentional non-adherent (II) subgroup (n=59)	100
3.4.5 Comparability with other studies and covariates influencing blood pressure (BP) outcome	200
3.4.6 Interventions and blood pressure (RP) outcome	200
2.4.7 Variability in blood pressure (DD) and pulse results	201
2.4.9 Limitations	, 202
<b>5.4.0</b> Limitations	. 208
<i>5.4.9 Restrictions on the use of pharmacy refull data</i>	. 210
<i>5.4.10 Future work</i>	. 210
3.5 CONCLUSIONS	.211
4 GENERAL DISCUSSION	.213

4

	4.1	THE RESEARCH DOMAIN COMMUNITY PHARMACY PRACTICE, HYPERTENSION, AND ADHERENCE	213
	4.2	RESEARCH FINDINGS	214
	4.2.	<i>A systematic review of pharmacist-led interventions within a community pharmacy setting aim</i>	ied at
	opti	mising blood pressure (BP) in patients undergoing oral antihypertensive medication therapy	214
	4.	2.1.1 Findings from the systematic review	214
		4.2.1.1.1 Patients	214
		4.2.1.1.2 Interventions	215
		4.2.1.1.3 Comparators	216
		4.2.1.1.4 Outcomes	216
		4.2.1.1.5 Study design	217
	4.2.2	2 A pilot study evaluating the impact of community pharmacist-led interventions to optimize	
	antii	hypertensive medicines adherence	217
	4.	2.2.1 Blood pressure (BP) outcomes	218
		4.2.2.1.1 Cohort (n=153)	218
		4.2.2.1.2 Adherent subgroup (A) (n=62)	219
		4.2.2.1.3 Intentional non-adherent rational (IR) subgroup (n=0)	219
		4.2.2.1.4 Intentional non-adherent irrational (II) subgroup (n=13)	219
		4.2.2.1.5 Mixed subgroups: Adherent and Intentional non-adherent rational (A and IR) (n=4); Adherent a	ind
		Intentional non-adherent irrational (A and II) (n=5); Intentional non-adherent rational and Unintentional non-	n-
		adherent (IR and U) (n=2); Intentional non-adherent irrational and Unintentional non-adherent (II and U) (n	=2)
		220	220
	4.2	4.2.2.1.6 Unintentional non-adherent (U) subgroup (n=59)	220
	4.3	IMPLICATIONS FOR THE PROFESSION, PRACTICE, AND POLICY	220
	4.4	LIMITATIONS	223
	4.4.1	I Systematic review	223
	4.4.2	2 Community pharmacy-based in vivo adherence project	224
4.4.2.1 Non-pharmacological interventions			224
	4.	4.2.2 Challenges encountered during the research endeavor	225
	4.	4.2.3 Study design	226
	4.	4.2.4 Interventions and persistence in blood pressure (BP) control	227
	4.5	FUTURE DIRECTIONS	228
	4.5.1	I General considerations	228
	4.5.2	2 Financing pharmaceutical care service in community pharmacy	230
	4.6	CONCLUSION	231
5	АРЕ	PENDICES	233
U			
	5.1	SYSTEMATIC REVIEW PROTOCOL	233
	5.2	R CODE FOR TESTING OF FUNNEL PLOT ASYMMETRY BASED ON ODDS RATIO AS AN EFFECT ESTIMATION OF STRATEGY AND ADDRESS OF STRATEGY AS A STRATEGY AS	ΓE OF
	SYSTOI	IC BLOOD PRESSURE $(SBP)$ and diastolic blood pressure $(DBP)$ as a combined outcome	235
	5.3	RISK OF BIAS ASSESSMENT WITHIN STUDIES	236
	5.4	RESEARCH PROPOSAL	262
	5.5	APPROVAL BY REGIONAL ETHICAL REVIEW BOARD	271
	5.6	INFORMATION FOR RESEARCH PARTICIPANTS	273
	5.7	CONSENT FORM	279
	5.8	INFORMATION LEAFLET FOR IMPROVING YOUR BLOOD PRESSURE MEDICINE'S ADHERENCE	281
	5.9	REMINDER SHEFT	284
	5.7		<del>2</del> 0-r
6	LIS	T OF REFERENCES	285

## LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1 A patient-centred approach: determinants of blood pressure control (left) and adherence/nonadherence (right). The long arrows indicate relationships, whereas the small arrows preceding the determinants Figure 1.2. Definitions and classification of office blood pressure levels in mmHg (Source: Mancia, et al. (2013) 2013 ESH/ESC Guidelines for the management of arterial hypertension, European Heart Journal, 34 (28): 2159-Figure 2.2. Odds ratio as an effect estimate with SBP and DBP as a combined outcome is displayed for each individual study as well as in a Forest plot. The pooled effect is presented both numerically and in the Forest plot. A random effects model was employed in this meta-analysis. Heterogeneity between studies is indicated as Figure 2.3. The odds ratio as an effect estimate of SBP is displayed for individual studies as well as in a Forest plot. The pooled effect is presented both numerically and in the Forest plot. A random effects model was Figure 2.4. The odds ratio as an effect estimate of DBP is displayed for individual studies as well as in a Forest plot. The pooled effect is presented both numerically and in the Forest plot. A random effects model was Figure 2.5. The mean difference as an effect estimate of SBP is displayed for individual studies as well as in a Forest plot. The pooled effect is presented both numerically and in the Forest plot. A random effects model was Figure 2.6. The mean difference as an effect estimate of DBP is displayed for individual studies as well as in a Forest plot. The pooled effect is presented both numerically and in the Forest plot. A random effects model was Figure 2.7. Funnel plot based on odds ratio as an effect estimate of SBP and DBP as a combined outcome. Grey literature has been included this funnel plot. Visual inspection is suggestive of a funnel, but there is also clear Figure 2.8. Funnel plot based on odds ratio as an effect estimate of SBP and DBP as a combined outcome. Grey literature has been excluded this funnel plot. Visual interpretation is indicating a funnel, but clearly, there is asymmetry because there are only four studies. Excluded grey literature consists of McKenney et al., 1973; Garção and Cabrita., 2002; Hughes et al., 2002. Low INT; Chabot et al., 2003. High income group; Skowron et Figure 2.9. Funnel plot based on mean difference as an effect estimate of SBP. Grey literature has been included this funnel plot. There is a suggestion of a funnel, but there is also asymmetry. Consequently, there is an Figure 2.10. Funnel plot based on mean difference as an effect estimate of SBP. Grey literature has been excluded this funnel plot. Visual inspection is indicating a funnel, but clearly, there is asymmetry because there are only three studies. Excluded grey literature consists of Garção and Cabrita., 2002; Hughes et al., 2002. High Figure 2.11. Funnel plot based on mean difference as an effect estimate of DBP. Grey literature has been Figure 2.12. Funnel plot based on mean difference as an effect estimate of DBP. Grey literature has been excluded this funnel plot. Visual inspection is suggestive of funnel plot asymmetry. Excluded grey literature consists of Garção and Cabrita., 2002; Hughes et al., 2002. High and Low IG; Octavia and Florica, 2011; 

Figure 3.1. Categorization of the 8-item MMAS responses into sub-types of adherence. Number codes set before the questions indicate the numbering of the question in the actual 8-item MMAS questionnaire. The categorization follows into intentional non-adherent rational (IR), intentional non-adherent irrational (II) or unintentional non-adherent (U) adherence sub-types based on the responses the patient has provided in the questionnaire. Use of the ©MMAS is protected by US copyright laws. Permission for use is required. A license agreement is available from: Donald E. Morisky, ScD, ScM, MSPH, Professor, Department of Community Health Sciences, UCLA School of Public Health, 650 Charles E. Young Drive South, Los Angeles, CA 90095-Figure 3.2. Categorization of MARS responses into sub-types of adherence. Codes before each statement indicate the numbering of the statement in the MARS questionnaire. The categorization into intentional nonadherent irrational (II) or unintentional non-adherent (U) adherence sub-types was based on the responses the Figure 3.3. Categorization of BMO responses into rational or irrational. Code before the belief statement indicates the numbering of the statement in the BMQ questionnaire. The categorization into rational or irrational was based on the responses the patient provided in the questionnaire. Some belief responses were regarded as either rational or irrational depending on a judgement made by the study pharmacist when the entire perspective Figure 3.4. Change in SBP and DBP between visit 0 and visit 2 based on repeat BP measurements for each Figure 3.5. Change in SBP and DBP between visit 0 and visit 2 based on last repeat BP measurement for each Figure 3.6. SBP and DBP at visit 0 and visit 2 based on repeat BP measurements for each patient in adherence Figure 3.7. SBP and DBP at visit 0 and visit 2 based on last repeat BP measurement for each patient in Figure 3.8. Change in SBP and DBP between visit 0 and visit 2 based on repeat BP measurements for each Figure 3.9. Change in SBP and DBP between visit 0 and visit 2 based on last repeat BP measurement for each Figure 3.10. SBP and DBP at visit 0 and visit 2 based on repeat BP measurements for each patient in adherence Figure 3.11. SBP and DBP at visit 0 and visit 2 based on last repeat BP measurement for each patient in Figure 3.12. Change in SBP and DBP between visit 0 and visit 2 based on repeat BP measurements for each Figure 3.13. Change in SBP and DBP between visit 0 and visit 2 based on last repeat BP measurement for each patient in adherence subgroup A and II (n=5)......162 Figure 3.14. SBP and DBP at visit 0 and visit 2 based on repeat BP measurements for each patient in adherence Figure 3.15. SBP and DBP at visit 0 and visit 2 based on last repeat BP measurement for each patient in Figure 3.16. Change in SBP and DBP between visit 0 and 2 based on repeat BP measurements for each patient Figure 3.17. Change in SBP and DBP between visit 0 and 2 based on last repeat BP measurement for each Figure 3.18. SBP and DBP at visit 0 and visit 2 based on repeat BP measurements for each patient in adherence Figure 3.19. SBP and DBP at visit 0 and visit 2 based on last repeat BP measurement for each patient in 

Figure 3.20. Change in SBP and DBP between visit 0 and 2 based on repeat BP measurements for each patient
in adherence subgroup IR and U (n=2) 174
Figure 3.21. Change in SBP and DBP between visit 0 and 2 based on last repeat BP measurement for each
patient in adherence subgroup IR and U (n=2)174
Figure 3.22. SBP and DBP at visit 0 and visit 2 based on repeat BP measurements for each patient in adherence subgroup II and U
<b>Figure 3.23.</b> SBP and DBP at visit 0 and visit 2 based on last repeat BP measurement for each patient in
adherence subgroup II and $\cup$ (n=2)
Figure 3.24. Change in SBP and DBP (between visit 0 and 2) based on repeat BP measurements for each patient
in adherence subgroup II and U (n=2)
Figure 3.25. Change in SBP and DBP (between visit 0 and 2) based on last repeat BP measurement for each patient in adherence subgroup II and U
Figure 3.26. Change in SBP and DBP (between visit 0 and 2) based on repeat BP measurements for each patient in adherence subgroup U
Figure 3.27. Change in SBP and DBP (between visit 0 and 2) based on last repeat BP measurement for each
patient in adherence subgroup U
<b>Figure 3.28.</b> SBP and DBP at visit 0 based on repeat BP measurements for each patient in adherence subgroups
A (n=62) and U (n=59)
Figure 3.29. SBP and DBP at visit 2 based on repeat BP measurements for each patient in adherence subgroups
A (n=62) and U (n=59)
Figure 3.30. SBP and DBP at visit 0 based on last repeat BP measurement for each patient in adherence
subgroups
Figure 3.31. SBP and DBP at visit 2 based on last repeat BP measurement for each patient in adherence
subgroups
Figure 3.32. Box-and-whisker plot with systolic blood pressure (mmHg) based on repeat measurements at visit 0 and visit 2 for adherence subgroup A
Figure 3.33. Box-and-whisker plot with systolic blood pressure (mmHg) based on repeat measurements at visit 0
and visit 2 for adherence subgroup A and IR
Figure 3.34. Box-and-whisker plot with diastolic blood pressure (mmHg) based on repeat measurements at visit
0 and visit 2 for adherence subgroup II
Figure 3.35. Box-and-whisker plot with diastolic blood pressure (mmHg) based on repeat measurements at visit
0 and visit 2 for adherence subgroup A and II
Figure 3.36. Box-and-whisker plot with a pulse (beats/minute) based on repeat measurements at visit 0 and visit
2 for adherence subgroup A
Figure 3.37. Box-and-whisker plot with a pulse (beats/minute) based on repeat measurements at visit 0 and visit
2 for adherence subgroup A and II

## LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1. Summary table of included studies in the systematic review displaying authors, year of publication, study design, total number of patients, number of patients completed, outcome measures, participants, interventions, comparisons and outcomes (mean BP change between baseline and final visit). Author, year in italics=study not meeting EPOC study design
<b>Table 2.2.</b> Summary table of extra studies which have been identified since the meta-analysis was performed.The table displays authors, year of publication, study design, total number of patients, number of patientscompleted and outcomes (mean BP change between baseline and final visit). Author, year in italics=study notmeeting EPOC study designcriteria
//
Table 2.3. Themes and subthemes from thematic analysis. Themes are displayed as headings. Bullet show the sub-themes which occur in studies indicated as numbered references
<b>Table 2.4.</b> Risk of bias across studies: an overall risk of bias assessment for each included study based on the risk of bias judgements made within the individual domains of The Cochrane Collaboration's tool for assessing risk of bias (see Table 5.1 in Appendix 5.2). Author, year in italics=study not meeting EPOC study design criteria.
<b>Table 3.1.</b> Overall study populations with a change in SBP, DBP and pulse between visit 0 and visit 2, their antihypertensive pharmacotherapy classified according to medication groups, adherence subgroups, and the allocated intervention. Participants highlighted in italics are patient drop-outs.         132
<b>Table 3.2.</b> Number (n) of patients in each adherence subgroup. The largest adherence subgroups are the A $(n=62)$ and U $(n=59)$ subgroups, followed by II $(n=13)$ . They are then followed by the smaller subgroups A andII $(n=5)$ , A and IR $(n=4)$ . The (IR and U) and (II and U) subgroups consist of very small numbers, $n=2$ in eachsubgroup.
<b>Table 3.3.</b> MANOVA at visit 0. Multivariate analysis showed a significant between-group difference ( $p<0.05$ )on BP and pulse at visit 0 as shown by four test statistics: Pillai's Trace, Wilk's $\lambda$ , Hotelling's Trace and Roy'sLargest Root. The univariate analysis displayed a significant difference ( $p<0.05$ ) for pulse at visit0
<b>Table 3.4.</b> Patients to which deviations occurred from the intervention protocol. The evidence for the deviations is shown. Codes for the questions and statements in the actual adherence screening questionnaires are indicated in this table
Table 3.5. BP and pulse results for the cohort (n=153) at visit 0 and visit 2         respectively
Table 3.6. Changes in SBP, DBP, and pulse between visit 0 and visit 2 are shown for the cohort         (n=153)
Table 3.7. BP and pulse results for the A subgroup (n=62) at visit 0 and visit 2         respectively
<b>Table 3.8.</b> Changes in SBP, DBP, and pulse between visit 0 and visit 2 are shown for A subgroup         (n=62)
<b>Table 3.9.</b> BP and pulse results for the A and IR subgroup (n=4) at visit 0 and visit 2         respectively

Table 3.10. Changes in SBP, DBP, and pulse between visit 0 and visit 2 are shown for A and IR subgroup         (n=4)
Table 3.11. BP and pulse results for the A and II subgroup (n=5) at visit 0 and visit 2         respectively.
Table 3.12. Changes in SBP, DBP, and pulse between visit 0 and visit 2 are shown A and II subgroup         (n=5)
Table 3.13. BP and pulse results for the II subgroup (n=13) at visit 0 and visit 2         respectively.
<b>Table 3.14.</b> Changes in SBP, DBP, and pulse between visit 0 and visit 2 are shown for II subgroup         (n=13)
<b>Table 3.15.</b> BP and pulse results for the IR and U subgroup (n=2) at visit 0 and visit 2         respectively.
Table 3.16. Changes in SBP, DBP, and pulse between visit 0 and visit 2 are shown for IR and U subgroup         (n=2)
Table 3.17. BP and pulse results for the II and U subgroup (n=2) at visit 0 and visit 2         respectively.
Table 3.18. Changes in SBP, DBP, and pulse between visit 0 and visit 2 are shown for II and U subgroup (n=2).
Table 3.19. BP and pulse results for the U subgroup (n=59) at visit 0 and visit 2         respectively
Table 3.20. Changes in SBP, DBP, and pulse between visit 0 and visit 2 are shown for U subgroup         (n=59)
Table 3.21. Mean values of scores from questionnaires used in adherence screens for the cohort and each adherence subgroup. There is really no difference when everything is piled together comparing the scores at visit 0 and visit 2
Table 3.22. Significant and very significant results from Spearman correlations for the cohort (n=153). A         Spearman correlation was performed with the scores from the adherence screening questionnaires and the SBP,         DBP and pulse outcomes (repeat measurements, last repeat measurements) at visit 0 and visit 2         respectively.
Table 3.23. Statistically significant results from Spearman correlations for adherence subgroups A (n=62) and U (n=59). A Spearman correlation was performed with the scores from the adherence screening questionnaires and the SBP, DBP and pulse outcomes (repeat measurements, last repeat measurements) at visit 0 and visit 2 respectively
<b>Table 3.24.</b> Post-hoc analysis for MANOVA at visit 2. The post-hoc analysis with Tukey's HSD and Bonferronishowed a significantly higher SBP ( $p<0.05$ ) in II subgroup compared to A and U subgroups. Patients whoreceived interventions C+I had significantly higher SBP ( $p<0.05$ ) compared to patients receiving interventions Ior C+I+R
<b>Table 3.25.</b> Post-hoc analysis with monotherapy/polypharmacy as a covariate. The post-hoc analysis withBonferroni adjustment showed a significantly higher DBP ( $p<0.05$ ) in II subgroup compared to subgroup IR andU

Table 5.1. Risk of bias assessment within studies with the Cochrane Collaboration Tool for assessing risk of
bias. Risk of bias within the included studies with the dimension of bias (entry), the assessment of risk of bias
(judgement) and the evidence for the assessment (support for judgement) with quotes and comments is
presented

## LIST OF DEFINITIONS AND/OR ABBREVIATIONS

(xy)*	Add-on drug after visit 0
8-item MMAS	8-item Morisky Medication Adherence Scale
A	Adherent
AC	Allocation concealment (selection bias)
ACEinh	Angiotensin Converting Enzyme (ACE) inhibitor
ACEinhHCT	Angiotensin Converting Enzyme (ACE) inhibitor and hydrochlorothiazide
AD	Adherence
ADR	Adverse drug reaction
ADSG	Adherence subgroup
AH	Antihypertensive
AHMG	Antihypertensive medication group
Alpha	Alpha blocker
ARB	Angiotensin-II receptor blocker
ARBHCT	Angiotensin-II receptor blocker and hydrochlorothiazide
BA	Before and After
BAS	Before and After Study
BB	Beta-blocker
BBCCB	Beta-blocker and calcium channel blocker
BI	Baseline imbalance
BMI	Body Mass Index
BMQ	Belief about Medicines Questionnaire

BMQC	Beliefs about Medicines Questionnaire Specific Concerns score
BMQH	Beliefs about Medicines Questionnaire Harm score
BMQN	Beliefs about Medicines Questionnaire Specific Necessity score
BMQO	Beliefs about Medicines Questionnaire General Overuse score
BOA	Blinding of outcome assessment (detection bias)
BP	Blood pressure
BPP	Blinding of participants and personnel (performance bias)
С	counselling
ССВ	Calcium-channel blocker
CG	Control Group
ChDBP	Change in diastolic blood pressure
ChPulse	Change in pulse
ChSBP	Change in systolic blood pressure
CKD	Chronic kidney disease
COPD	chronic obstructive pulmonary disease
CPV	Community pharmacy visits
CV	cardiovascular
CWIRT	Comparability with individually randomized trials
DAA	Dose administration aid
DBP	Diastolic Blood Pressure
DRP	Drug-related problem
DTP	drug therapy-problem
EAP	Employee Assistance Program for disease management
ED	Educational

EPOC	Effective Practice and Organisation of Care
ESC	European Society of Cardiology
ESH	European Society of Hypertension
fin	final BP reading
FQ	Frequency
GP	General Practitioner
HBPM	home blood pressure monitoring
HCG	Hidden Control Group
HI	High-intensity
HLOC	health specific locus of control
HMR	Home medicines review
HR	High risk
IA	Incorrect analysis
I	medication explanation leaflet
IG	Intervention Group
IG ED	Intervention Group Education
IG MI	Intervention Group Medication Synchronization
II	Intentional non-adherent irrational
ini	initial BP reading
INT	Intervention
IODA	Incomplete outcome data addressed (attrition bias)
IR	Intentional non-adherent rational
ISH	International Society of Hypertension

ISPOR	International Society for Pharmacoeconomics and Outcomes Research
LD	Loop diuretic
LI	Low-intensity
LOC	Loss of clusters
LR	Low risk
LS	Lifestyle
MANCOVA	Multivariate analysis of covariance
MANOVA	Multivariate analysis of variance
MARS adj	Medication Adherence Report Scale adjusted mean score
MARS score	Medication Adherence Report Scale score
MARS	Medication Adherence Report Scale
MESH	Medical Subject Headings
MHLOC	Multidimensional health locus of control
MMAS	Morisky Medication Adherence Scale
MNCHP	Model Neighborhood Comprehensive Health Program, Inc.
MPR	Medication Possession Ratio
MTM	Medication Therapy Management
MUR	Medication use review
NMS	New Medicines Service
NRCT	Non-randomised controlled trial
OB	Other bias
OC	Patients serve as their own control
OR	Odds ratio

РС	Pharmaceutical Care
PCG	Pharmacist Care Group
PCS	Prospective cohort study
PE	Physical Exercise
РНСИ	primary health care unit
PICOS	participants, interventions, comparators, outcomes, study design
PMP	Patient medication profile
PN	Participant number
PRISMA	preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses
PSD	Potassium-sparing diuretic
QoL	Quality of Life
QUORUM	quality of reporting of meta-analysis
R	reminder sheet
RB	Recruitment bias
RCT	Randomised controlled trial
RMS	Repeated measures study
RR	Refill reminder
RSG	Random sequence generation (selection bias)
S-A	Self-administer
SBP	Systolic Blood Pressure
SCS	Smoking cessation program
SD	Standard deviation
SE	Standard error
SG	Study group

SGr	Subgroup
SR	Selective reporting (reporting bias)
SRRS	Social Readjustment Rating Scale
StDev	Standard deviation
StDu	Study duration
TABS	Tool for Adherence Behaviour Screening
TD	Thiazide diuretic
TEAM	Team Education and Adherence Monitoring
TG	Test group
TPSD	Thiazide and potassium-sparing diuretic
U	Unintentional non-adherent
UCG	Usual Care Group
UR	Unclear risk
VA	Veterans Affairs
WB	Witness batch
WHO	World Health Organization
WSU	Wayne State University employees participating in employer wellness plan

## **1** General introduction

# **1.1** Pharmaceutical care and the community pharmacist role in hypertension management

Pharmacists have a competence which is useful in medicines optimisation – to ensure safe and effective medicines use (West and Isom, 2014; WHO, 2003). This makes up a portion of the philosophy of "pharmaceutical care". The concept of pharmaceutical care is a relatively new philosophy, with the pharmacist as a health care provider in cooperation with other health care professions and resources to work on the aim of achieving improved health and quality of life in patients and the public (WHO, 1994; WHO, 2003). Pharmaceutical care is largely defined as "the responsible provision of drug therapy for the purpose of achieving definite outcomes that improve a patient's quality of life" (Hepler and Strand, 1990; Wiedenmayer *et al.*, 2006; Wiffen *et al.*, 2012).

There is a possibility that pharmacists could have extended roles in healthcare than what is established today (West and Isom, 2014). Community pharmacists being one of the largest healthcare professions in the world is more available to the patient compared to any other member of the healthcare staff (Mossialos *et al.*, 2013). The profession could take on a role of having a larger clinical responsibility for patient care, such as in one of the most globally prevalent diseases – hypertension. Management of hypertensive patients with poor adherence could be done at a community pharmacy. The patient care would be done in collaboration with primary care. Those patients who exhibit physiological problems which cannot be dealt with at the community pharmacy would be undergoing treatment at a general practitioner or a specialist hypertension clinic. However, there are many challenges and obstacles along the

way to ensure an effective working system. Guidelines need to be developed to obtain a simple flow of the working roles involved (West and Isom, 2014). There is no overlap between developing the role of the community pharmacist and the evidence-base for practice and policy. Mossialos and co-workers in 2013 performed an umbrella review to identify published systematic reviews on the effectiveness of community pharmacist interventions. Thirty-three systematic reviews were identified since the year 2000. The systematic reviews explored the evidence for the increasing role of the community pharmacist. Results from the umbrella review point to a vague evidence base. However, many countries have already started to apply policies to provide the community pharmacist with increased patient-centred duties. Despite this, there is a requirement to perform research to examine policy changes within countries (Mossialos *et al.*, 2013).

# **1.2** Medicines management, a patient-centred approach and medicines optimisation

Medicines management encompasses the therapeutic, economical and risk aspects of medicines (Wiffen *et al.*, 2012). By providing consultation to resolve issues and concerns patients may be experiencing relating to medication-taking and whether these are justified will influence their medication-taking. A patient-centred approach is when the clinician and patient work together from the perspective of same opportunity and a mutual decision-making approach. This relates to bringing out the patient's beliefs and provide information based on evidence. The patient-centred approach is inter-linked with the foundation of medicines optimisation (Grimes and Barnett, 2014). As the Royal Pharmaceutical Society in the United Kingdom states: "Medicines optimisation is about ensuring that the right patients get the right

choice of medicine, at the right time. By focusing on patients and their experiences, the goal is to help patients to: improve their outcomes; take their medicines correctly; avoid taking unnecessary medicines; reduce wastage of medicines; and improve medicines safety" (Royal Pharmaceutical Society, 2013). A patient-centred approach with the determinants of blood pressure and adherence/non-adherence is presented in Figure 1.1.



**Figure 1.1** A patient-centred approach: determinants of blood pressure control (left) and adherence/non-adherence (right). The long arrows indicate relationships, whereas the small arrows preceding the determinants of blood pressure control indicate an increase ( $\uparrow$ ) or a decrease ( $\downarrow$ ) (Source: Personal collection).

## 1.3 History of blood pressure (BP) measurement

Considering history, in ancient Greece, both Hippocrates and Galen possessed the knowledge of arteries and veins. For more than 1000 years Galen's theory was accepted. The theory being no connection between veins and arteries. This coupled with a forward and backward blood flow originating from the heart. It was until the Renaissance period, during the Middle Ages, when Galen's theory was rejected. New experiments confirmed the modern understanding of the heart and circulation. In 1616, a man named William Harvey described the circulatory system as a one-way system including capillaries (Nadar and Lip, 2009). Stephen Hales being an English clergyman measured blood pressure for the first time in a horse in 1733. A blood pressure machine was invented about 100-150 years later, which by a non-invasive manner measured blood pressure in humans (Kotchen, 2011; Nadar and Lip, 2009).

This was the basis for the instrument by Riva-Rocci in 1896, setting the stage for the modern devices. René Laennec invented the stethoscope which then assisted the Russian scientist NS Korotkoff in 1905 to check the pulse with an inflated blood pressure cuff, hence the term "Korotkoff sounds". High blood pressure was noted as "hypertension". "Benign essential hypertension" was distinct from "Malignant hypertension". The condition of "Benign essential hypertension" was seen in conditions where it was thought to be somewhat of a positive outcome to maintain an elevated blood pressure. However, "Malignant hypertension" was categorized as a hypertensive state being harmful (Nadar and Lip, 2009).

Not much change was seen in the way blood pressure was measured during the first 50 years of the 1900s. During the end of the 20<sup>th</sup> century, sophisticated blood pressure instruments were developed as a controversy surrounding health-related concerns to mercury. Electronic and aneroid devices have largely substituted the blood pressure instrument containing mercury. Despite this, mercury-containing instruments are still being used for calibration purposes with standardized protocols to ensure accuracy (Kotchen, 2011).

4

#### **1.4 Hypertension guidelines**

During the 1970s and 1980s, larger studies as the Framingham study portrayed the relationship between hypertension and cardiovascular risk (Nadar and Lip, 2009). About the same time, the World Health Organization (WHO) and International Society of Hypertension (ISH) initiated a publication of hypertension guidelines. Recommendations for clinical decisions were described in these guidelines. Regional guidelines with subsequent updates were also developed in accordance with variations in healthcare and economic resources between countries. In the United States, The National Heart, Lung and Blood Institute issued "Joint National Committee on Detection, Evaluation, and Treatment of High Blood Pressure". Starting in 2003, the European Society of Hypertension (ESH) and European Society of Cardiology (ESC) launched their hypertension guideline (Kotchen, 2014).

#### 1.5 Hypertension

Hypertension is described as an increased blood pressure which persists over time (Wilkins *et al.*, 2011). Oxford Handbook of Nephrology and Hypertension defines hypertension as: "a level of blood pressure which places an individual at increased risk of cardiovascular events and, when treated, results in more benefit than harm" (Steddon *et al.*, 2014). As seen by this definition, the hypertensive state itself presents a risk factor for various other cardiovascular conditions (Wilkins *et al.*, 2011). There is a lengthy list of causes to hypertension. The disease can be attributed to either pathophysiological and/or environmental factors (Kaplan *et al.*, 2015). The cause of hypertension is unknown in about 90-95% of the cases. This type of hypertensive state is referred to as primary or "essential hypertension". The remaining

proportion where hypertension can be attributed to a certain cause is termed "secondary hypertension" (Kaplan *et al.*, 2015; Wilkins *et al.*, 2011).

The prevalence of hypertension in adults around the world reached 25% in the year 2000 estimation, equating to approximately 972 million people worldwide suffering from hypertension. This number is thought to increase to about 1,6 billion by the year 2025 (Warrell *et al.*, 2010). Blood pressure which is uncontrolled in the longer perspective sets the likelihood for cardio- and cerebrovascular morbidity and mortality among people (Gwadry-Sridhar *et al.*, 2013). As the life-span for people in developed countries increases, the prevalence of hypertension continues to rise (Kaplan *et al.*, 2015).

In developing countries, the rise of hypertension is connected to the increasing amount of people suffering from diseases such as diabetes and obesity. However, as there are only a small number of studies on the incidence of hypertension in the general adult population, not much is known about the incidence (Kaplan *et al.*, 2015; Lacruz *et al.*, 2015). Within the next 20 years, the World Health Organisation (WHO) predicts that hypertension will continue to be a preventable cause of early mortality. It is considered that hypertension will almost cause 7.1 million deaths a year around the world (Warrell *et al.*, 2010).

#### **1.6 Blood pressure (BP)**

The contraction phase of the heart is termed systole. During the systolic phase, the pressure in the left ventricle will reach about 120 mmHg which causes the blood to be released to the aorta. In turn, the pressure rise in the ventricle causes the aorta to stretch, due to the walls of the large arteries being elastic. This process also makes a forward flow of blood. The systolic

pressure reaches a maximum level of about 110 mmHg as arterial pressure (Ward and Linden, 2013).

Between two systolic phases is diastole, when the heart is filled with blood. The minimum arterial pressure before the next systolic phase is termed diastolic pressure, with a value of around 80 mmHg. Blood pressure is indicated as the systolic arterial pressure over diastolic arterial pressure. These values cannot be transformed into mean values as the heart is found to be around 60% in a diastolic state. Rather, it is feasible to calculate the mean arterial pressure as diastolic pressure+1/3 pulse pressure. The difference between systolic and diastolic pressure is termed pulse pressure. A pressure gradient is created when the heart pumps the blood into the arteries. This means that the pressure in the arteries and veins is not the same. It enables a flow of blood throughout the vasculature (Stanfield, 2013; Ward and Linden, 2013).

The mean arterial pressure is also the product of cardiac output and total peripheral resistance. Cardiac output is the product of the heart rate and stroke volume, with heart rate being the number of contractions per minute. During each heartbeat, both the left and right ventricle contract together. Hence, the heart rate is same for both the ventricles. A cardiac output at rest is about 5 L/minute. The stroke volume is the blood volume being pumped out from each ventricle per beat. During rest, the stroke volume is about 70 mL. This increases to about 20 L during exercise. To maintain the balance in cardiac output to venous return, the stroke volume is regulated accordingly. In response, the heart size is changed. In certain pathological conditions, there is a chronic heart enlargement. The walls of the ventricles stretch creating more muscle tension. The task to keep the blood pressure tuned in the ventricle becomes

arduous, as an enlarged ventricle needs to create sufficient pressure to respond to the cardiac output (Stanfield, 2013; Ward and Linden, 2013, Warrell *et al.*, 2010).

The occurrence of blood pressure varies with age with isolated diastolic blood pressure being the common feature in younger age groups. This can be explained by the presence of peripheral vascular resistance in younger people. As the aorta is being elastic in young people, it dampens the systolic pressure. The phenomenon is present until about age 50, whereby the peripheral vascular resistance is reduced. Hence, with an increase in age, the aorta becomes stiff. However, the systolic pressure will already increase from around age 40. For long it has been thought that diastolic blood pressure determined hypertension definition and goal blood pressure. Most cases of hypertension are found in the age groups over 50 years, meaning that systolic blood pressure is of most importance when considering cardiovascular risk (Warrell *et al.*, 2010). However, it is also shown that an elevated SBP has a stronger impact on angina, myocardial infarction and peripheral arterial disease when compared to an elevated DBP which has a larger effect on abdominal aortic aneurysm (Rapsomaniki *et al.*, 2014).

The blood pressure classification set by the European Cardiology Society/European Hypertension Society is shown in Figure 1.2.

Category	Systolic		Diastolic
Optimal	<120	and	<80
Normal	120-129	and/or	80-84
High normal	130-139	and/or	85-89
Grade I hypertension	140-159	and/or	90-99
Grade 2 hypertension	160-179	and/or	100-109
Grade 3 hypertension	≥180	and/or	≥110
Isolated systolic hypertension	≥140	and	<90

<sup>a</sup>The blood pressure (BP) category is defined by the highest level of BP, whether systolic or diastolic. Isolated systolic hypertension should be graded 1, 2, or 3 according to systolic BP values in the ranges indicated.

**Figure 1.2**. Definitions and classification of office blood pressure levels in mmHg (Source: Mancia, *et al.* (2013) 2013 ESH/ESC Guidelines for the management of arterial hypertension, European Heart Journal, 34 (28): 2159-2219 by permission of Oxford University Press).

#### 1.7 Adherence and non-adherence

In the literature, the concepts 'adherence', 'compliance' and 'concordance' are being used in a synonymous manner in relation to medication-taking behaviour. However, these concepts do not have a similar meaning (Hugtenburg *et al.*, 2013; Snowden and Marland, 2013).

The adherence project which started in year 2001 by the WHO, with the objective of generating an improvement in adherence to treatments of chronic conditions defined adherence as: "the extent to which a person's behaviour – taking medication, following a diet, and/or executing lifestyle changes, corresponds with agreed recommendations from a health care provider" (WHO, 2003). The National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) in the UK defines adherence as "the extent to which the patient's action matches the agreed recommendations (National Institute for Health and Care Excellence, 2009). A clinician takes patient-related factors such as beliefs and knowledge into account when referring to the term

"adherence" and the patient may not have a choice of the medication included in the treatment (WHO 2003; Wiffen *et al.*, 2012). In this thesis when it is referenced to the level to which a patient takes their medication, the concept of adherence is being used. The term is used in the context of the explicit definition as stated by WHO in the year 2003 (WHO, 2003).

Compliance refers to if a medicine has been administered or not, i.e. how far the patient has followed the clinical practitioner's instructions on following the pharmacotherapy. It does not include an agreement between the patient and prescriber to follow the therapy (Osterberg and Blaschke, 2005; Snowden and Marland, 2013; Wiffen *et al.*, 2012).

The concept of concordance was introduced by a working group gathered by the Royal Pharmaceutical Society of Great Britain in 1995. Concordance is the approach to build an agreement between the prescriber and the patient to undertake the treatment (Snowden and Marland, 2013; Vrijens *et al.*, 2012).

Adherence rates to prescribed medicines are about 50 per cent, leading to reduced treatment benefits with the larger possibility of morbidity and mortality among patients (Nieuwlaat *et al.*, 2014; WHO, 2003). Medication wastage is also a consequence of non-adherence to pharmacotherapy (Jackson *et al.*, 2014). The societal cost becomes high when there is a cost of medicines waste due to non-adherence (Wiffen *et al.*, 2012). Non-adherence also contributes to a negative economic impact on healthcare (Garfield *et al.*, 2011; Osterberg and Blaschke, 2005).

A definition of non-adherence is patients administering <80% of what has been instructed by the prescriber (Krousel-Wood *et al.*, 2004; Nieuwlaat *et al.*, 2014). However, this 80% cut-off point has been debated (WHO, 2003). Moreover, non-adherence can also take the form of

administering more than what has been instructed (Nieuwlaat *et al.*, 2014; Osterberg and Blaschke, 2005). Despite this, it is more common with missed doses (Osterberg and Blaschke, 2005). Factors which affect adherence can be grouped into social and psychological dimensions (Lehane and McCarthy, 2007a). The World Health Organization in 2003 set out five categories of factors influencing adherence: a) Socio-economic – in general, a less developed society leads to poor adherence; b) Health care team/health system – an inadequate health care system negatively affects adherence. However, the relationship between the clinician and the patient could improve adherence; (c) Condition - the requirements of the disease which the patient encounters influences adherence e.g. disability and disease severity; (d) Therapy - factors associated with the therapy e.g. a complex drug regimen, side-effects arising from treatment and the duration of treatment; (e) Patient – there will be a negative impact on adherence if the patient possesses poor knowledge and skills to manage symptoms arising from the illness and the treatment. Patient-related factors also include attitudes, beliefs and perceptions about the disease and treatment as well as expectations of treatment. The patient could lack an understanding of the cost/benefit of treatment (WHO, 2003).

Both intentional and unintentional forms of non-adherence should be considered when examining non-adherence to medications. There is the possibility of these categories corresponding to each other, meaning there is no absolute mutual exclusiveness (Clifford *et al.*, 2008). Intentional non-adherence relates to when patients take on an active role including a reasoning process leading up to a decision of complying or not complying with instructions (Lehane and McCarthy, 2007b). The motivation of the patient and beliefs about administering medication influences intentional non-adherence. Unintentional non-adherence is connected to the capability of the patient to administer the medicine (Clifford *et al.*, 2008). Patients who

11

are unintentional non-adherent are "passive" for reasons such as for example age, forgetfulness, cost and medication side-effects (Lehane and McCarthy, 2007b). In addition, there is the role of rational and irrational behaviour when considering non-adherence (Lehane and McCarthy, 2007b). It is important to establish the type of non-adherence to reach the best choice of intervention to optimize adherence (Lowry *et al.*, 2005).

#### **1.8 Irrational non-adherence**

An irrational thought is defined as an unconscious mental process or irrational internal logic. Theories of health and adherence behaviour such as the Health Belief Model and Theory of Reasoned Action are thought to be formed on the basis that behaviour is rational (Horne *et al.*, 1999; Lehane and McCarthy, 2007b). However, there are some researchers who reason human decision-making and behaviour suffer from cognitive inconsistencies and biases. This leads to the processes of behavioural change in some instances not being objective or rational. The social cognitive theory lacks inclusion of unconscious mental processes and "irrational" internal logic in health-behaviour reasoning. Therefore, behaviour due to irrational decisionmaking could hold a partial explanation for the existence and upholding of non-adherence. Irrationality relating to non-adherence stems from a non-evidence based manoeuvre. It can be regarded as a failure to follow the prescribed regime without some definitive reasons not to e.g. side-effects and forgetfulness. There exist a few psychological theories which explain the occurrence of irrational behaviour (Lehane and McCarthy, 2007b).

Psychological defence mechanisms are unconscious self-protective instincts/dispositions from a potential threat. They keep psychological health at balance but also serve to protect against illness. However, this leads to minimal or no motivation for taking in new information or change a health behaviour such as medication adherence. Psychological reactance is a theory which describes irrational decision-making. The patient may not pay attention to treatment advice to protect and uphold their freedom even though there may be health risks involved. However, in psychological reactance, there is no strong connection to adherence behaviour. Another theory is cognitive heuristics leading to biases and not being able to think logically. An over- or underestimation of risk is seen in heuristics. Social cognition models reason that a risk/benefit analysis is done before an adherence decision is made. The way risk is interpreted could be influenced by a failing evaluation. The reasons for failure include "rules of thumb" or mental shortcuts. Hence, tasks or the availability of information could trouble the concentration of the patient on the illness and necessity of medication (Lehane and McCarthy, 2007b).

## **1.9** Theories of adherence

Explanations and models of medication adherence and non-adherence have changed over the time course. In the beginning, there was a focus on the role of physician-patient communication on patient satisfaction, understanding and forgetting as factors determining adherence. However, health behaviour research soon showed that it was not successful with information alone to modify the behaviour. Therefore, the patient's beliefs, motivation and planning activity were factors for further examination. Social cognition and self-regulatory models displayed the importance of beliefs about the illness and treatment as well as the individuals' own ability to follow treatment/advice (Jackson *et al.*, 2014).
To understand the factors behind intentional non-adherence, researchers focused on social cognitive theory. The theory considers the flows of thought which affect social behaviour. The existing psychological theories explain health beliefs in adherence (Horne *et al.*, 1999). There are so many factors of adherence appearing to be associated with adherence that there is no universal theory for adherence management. In the pilot study in Chapter 3, the intentional/unintentional sides of non-adherence are considered because they appear to be intuitively one area in community pharmacy that will be met. For example, some patients may be forgetful, another group of patients could be concerned about their medication. In the case of the therapy causing the patient to feel worse, the likelihood to recognize treatment benefits reduces (Kaplan *et al.*, 2015).

#### **1.9.1** The Health Belief Model

The Health Belief Model was constructed to provide an explanation to when an individual dismisses health-promoting behaviour or going for a screening. The model addresses that health-related behaviour, i.e. to adhere is weighed up with the observed awareness of the disease and positive effects of the behaviour. It also consists of the concept of barriers to performing the behaviour and which ideas could initiate the behaviour. The initiation of the health behaviour is dependent on stimuli. There is a connection between the health behaviour and an individual's beliefs about the threat a disease poses - the health behaviour is connected to the risks/benefits of performing the behaviour (Horne *et al.*, 2005; Ross *et al.*, 2004).

#### 1.9.2 The Necessity-Concerns framework

Patient-related factors form a strong role with regards to beliefs/perceptions about treatment, the illness and healthcare system (Foot *et al.*, 2016). Research into long-term conditions shows that key beliefs are connected to common-sense examinations of prescribed medications: the perceptions of the personal need for treatment (necessity beliefs) and concerns for potential adverse consequences (Horne *et al.*, 2013). Beliefs about medications and concerns determine medication adherence (Kjeldsen *et al.*, 2011). Medication beliefs are influenced by factors such as symptoms, decisions on dose alteration to reduce side effects and financial reasons. There is an increased likelihood of medication beliefs determining medication adherence when non-adherence is not random, meaning non-adherence at this instance is a consequence of the patient deciding to go about to take the medicine in a different way (Foot *et al.*, 2016). Belief about medications can consider intentional non-adherence is unintentional (Clifford *et al.*, 2008).

Beliefs about medicines form the *necessity-concerns framework* which has foreseen adherence in many illness categories (Foot *et al.*, 2016). The necessity-concerns framework addresses key beliefs on patients' attitudes and decisions about treatment (Horne *et al.*, 2013). The Belief about Medicines Framework is built on the Health Belief Model: when a behaviour is chosen, a cost-benefit analysis is done where the observed benefits are weighed against the observed costs (Foot *et al.*, 2016). A validated questionnaire called Belief about Medicines Questionnaire quantifies necessity beliefs and concerns which makes it possible to explore beliefs connected to adherence (Horne *et al.*, 2013).

#### 1.9.3 Meichenbaum and Turk's adherence theory

In the WHO report "Adherence to long-term therapies: evidence for action" it is mentioned an adherence model formed by authors Meichenbaum and Turk. Four different factors influence adherence: knowledge and skills, beliefs, motivation and action. A weakness in any of these factors will lead to non-adherence (WHO, 2003).

#### 1.9.4 Theory of reasoned action/Theory of planned behaviour

The Theory of reasoned action suggests that knowledge and ability of a patient to get hold of knowledge influences the development of beliefs. In a task, such as self-administering medicine the beliefs about the necessity of the medicine versus concerns of side-effects form the basis of adherence or non-adherence (Gatti *et al.*, 2009). The theory of reasoned actioned transformed into the Theory of planned behaviour indicating activity is secondary to intention. The health-behaviour is determined by intentions. The source of intention is attitude, subjective rules and the observed control over behaviour (Horne *et al.*, 2005; Ross *et al.*, 2004). Attitude relating to the behaviour is a product of the beliefs about the likely outcome and the recognized value of the outcome. The view of others regarding the behaviour and motivation to uphold these views are included in the subjective rule. Behavioural control is the dimension to which the individual recognizes to keep the behaviour under control. It is influenced by beliefs linked with control which is related to internal and external factors. Internal factors are skills and information, whereas external factors would e.g. be recognized barriers. Attitudes and subjective rules determine behaviour through intention. By contrast, observed control of behaviour has an impact on both intention and behaviour. Nonetheless, in

different circumstances, there could be variations in attitude, subjective rules and observed control over behaviour (Horne *et al.*, 2005).

#### **1.9.5** Attribution theory

Attribution theory describes the thinking processes surrounding the cause of situations (Horne *et al.*, 2005). People's perspective of social reality can be foreseen and controlled (Bowling, 2009). When negative situations arise, there is an exploration of cause and outcome. This is based on past experiences and influences the upcoming answer and the adjustment to the illness. The causal theory can influence beliefs about cure, which then determines the behaviour and adjusting to disease. There exist internal and external causes as well as additional areas: stability – the time-line of the cause of disease, globality – overall or specific cause, universality – personal or generic factors and controllability – factors which could be controlled (Horne *et al.*, 2005).

#### 1.9.6 Locus of control beliefs

The theory of controlling health was put into a measure which is referred to as health specific locus of control (HLOC). Health control is dependent on internal and external factors. Examples of internal factors are information or ability, whereas an example of an external factor would be opportunity (Bowling, 2009). A revision to HLOC was made which transformed into the multidimensional health locus of control (MHLOC). This was done due to research showing that control beliefs could be grouped into separate scales. Beliefs relating to HLOC could foresee certain health behaviours. However, the measures of locus of control cannot appraise specific health behaviours. There is not a robust evidence base for locus of

control beliefs relating to adherence. A different perspective on this is that locus of control beliefs which are specific for the circumstance is strongly related to adherence compared to locus of control beliefs about overall health (Horne *et al.*, 2005).

#### **1.9.7** Outcome efficacy and self-efficacy

Beliefs surrounding the control and performance of behaviours as well as the efficacy of beliefs were described by Bandura in 1986. There are two forms of efficacies relating to these beliefs: a) outcome efficacy which transforms into an effective outcome b) self-efficacy which determines if the individual will/will not perform the behaviour. Self-efficacy is influenced by the individual's own behaviour and others' behaviour. The individual's own behaviour is further affected by their partner. There is possibly more weight to self-efficacy when considering complex behaviours. An evidence base exists which shows a connection between self-efficacy and medication adherence. Moreover, beliefs about health control, outcome- and self-efficacy are influenced by the past and other thinking processes (Horne *et al.*, 2005).

#### **1.9.8** Stages of change model/transtheoretical model

In the stages of change model, also referred to as the transtheoretical model, a behavioural change process consists of five stages: a) Precontemplation – not thinking of behavioural change, b) Contemplation – thinking of behavioural change c) Preparation (getting ready for behavioural change) d) Action (undergoing behavioural change) e) Maintenance (behavioural change which is continued for a period). The five stages do not always run in a chronological order. Behavioural change is formed upon the present behaviour and the intention to change,

which therefore provides a foundation to comprehend the intentional behavioural aspect. For each stage, the model enables grouping of health behaviours and allows identification of interventions (Karupaiah *et al.*, 2015, WHO, 2003).

Another stages of change model termed as the Health Action Process Approach is built on Health Behaviour Model, Theory of Planned Behaviour and efficacy beliefs. The model was introduced by Schwarzer in 1992. It consists of two phases with the first phase seeking to decide the power of the intention. This phase is motivational and consists of attitudes to risk, self-efficacy and the likelihood of outcomes. The second phase referred to as volitional is when intention goes into a performance. Self-efficacy beliefs again influence this stage together with a plan and control of the performance (Horne *et al.*, 2005).

#### 1.9.9 Self-regulatory model

Leventhal's self-regulatory model built on the basis that information provided as a threat was needed to increase motivation to execute a health behaviour. Despite this, it is required a plan to execute the behaviour (Horne *et al.*, 2005). In the self-regulatory model, the health-related behaviour is determined by ideas forming themes of illness representations: identity/nature, time-line, cause, consequences and cure/control of the illness. Beliefs which surround these themes give rise to coping strategies (Ross *et al.*, 2004). These influence adherence as this is a problem focused coping strategy with the patient as the problem-solver (Horne *et al.*, 2005; Ross *et al.*, 2004). Relating to adherence, the patients will weigh the proposed treatment with beliefs about the illness. This evaluation is a dynamic process and informs the patient on whether to adhere or not. The way the treatment is being portrayed is a determining factor in the self-regulatory model, together with the plan of executing the health behaviour as well as

the assessment of the plan (Horne *et al.*, 1999, Horne *et al.*, 2005). The success of the treatment is also a determining factor. If the treatment is not successful, the patient will not continue, may change to another coping strategy or have an altered perception of the illness (Horne *et al.*, 2005; Ross *et al.*, 2004). The necessity of treatment and concerns have a larger impact on adherence than illness beliefs (Horne *et al.*, 2005). Therefore, there is a strengthening explanation of the self-regulatory model on adherence by adding an assessment of beliefs about medication (Horne *et al.*, 1999).

#### 1.9.10 Information-motivation-behavioural skills model (IMB model)

The IMB model is a model that has been used to gain an understanding of health behaviour activity (Gleason-Comstock *et al.*, 2015). It proposes that action of a behaviour seeking to improve health is determined by information, motivation and skills (Osborn and Egede, 2010; WHO, 2003). Information relates to factors as knowledge and management of the disease. It also includes knowing the risk and the behaviour to deal with the risk. The patients' beliefs, attitudes as well as social rules and support systems influence motivation. Acquisition of the required skills to put the behaviour into action forms the skills factor in the IMB model (Gleason-Comstock *et al.*, 2015; WHO, 2003). Both information and motivation can directly influence behaviour. However, there is no strong connection between information and motivation. Thus, if both information and motivation are present, it will increase the possibility for adherence (WHO, 2003).

#### **1.9.11** Medication error theory

The Medication error theory was formed by Barber in 2002 and built upon Reason's human error theory in organizations. Manoeuvres which are not safe can be divided into two categories: intended and unintended, which is like intentional and unintentional nonadherence. Thus, intentional non-adherence is grouped in a violation which is a conscious diversion from the action the patient is supposed to execute in practice. These diversions can be positive (e.g. not taking a diuretic before going on a long journey or negative (e.g. choosing not to get the medication dispensed) (Barber, 2002; Horne et al., 2005). Intentional non-adherence can also be a knowledge-based or rule-based mistake. With a mistake, a patient executes an action in which it is intended to be the correct way to go about, though the patient is not aware of the wrong action. An example of a rule-based mistake is a concern of a side-effect making the patient stop administering the medication though the patient is not experiencing the side-effect. A knowledge-based mistake could be in a situation in which the patient has no medication supply at home. The reason for this is not to be blamed at the patient. There is a decision by the patient to delay the clinic visit to get a new prescription instead of going to the pharmacy getting an emergency refill (Barber, 2002; Horne et al., 2005).

Unintentional non-adherence is categorized in slips or lapses. Slips could be for example accidentally taking the wrong pill. Slips occur due to the patient having inadequate concentration. Lapses occur due to poor memory, e.g. forgetfulness causing the patient to miss a dose (Barber, 2002; Horne *et al.*, 2005).

#### 1.9.12 Medication Adherence Model

A theoretical medication adherence framework named the Medication Adherence Model which was published in 2002 looked at the processes relating to medication adherence in patients with hypertension. The model was built on previous cognitive theories. It describes the two categories of non-adherence: intentional decision were patients miss doses and unintentional interruption where medications are not taken. The key concepts in the framework are: 1) purposeful action: starting and keeping up an adherence decision is based on need, effectiveness and safety 2) patterned behaviour: medication-taking patterns are determined by access, routine and remembering 3) feedback where information, prompts and events are used by the patient to value and evaluate the health treatment. The feedback, in turn, influences purposeful action and patterned behaviour (Johnson, 2002).

#### 1.9.13 COM-B

According to Jackson and co-workers, (2014) existing adherence models and frameworks are not sufficient. Firstly, they do not pay attention to automatic processes (e.g. habit). Secondly, there is no description of behaviours being dynamic such as the experience of adherence/non-adherence leading to change in factors (e.g. beliefs about medications). Thirdly, the factors at a holistic level are neglected, i.e. the relationship between factors determining adherence and adherence itself. In addition, there is the overlap between intentional and unintentional non-adherence. Finally, the current adherence theories do not provide information on how to go about to establish change (Jackson *et al.*, 2014).

There are behaviour change techniques which develop and refine interventions. The methods which change health-related behaviours have been described in a taxonomy with 93 techniques. It is possible in this taxonomy to categorize factors which explain health-related behaviours. This has resulted in a dynamic psychological model with mechanisms of behavioural change which is referred to as "COM-B". It builds on a US consensus meeting and existing theories of behaviour. Factors which influence medication adherence found in three studies have been added to COM-B creating a framework for choosing interventions which suggest the possible intervention and specific interventions for each component. The three components Capability, Opportunity, Motivation are interlinked which in turn affect the performance of behaviour (Jackson *et al.*, 2014).

# 1.10 Antihypertensive medicines adherence

In the late 1950s, there was the advent of safe and tolerated antihypertensive drugs e.g. thiazide diuretics. Almost a decade later, the first randomized controlled trial was conducted on blood pressure lowering agents for hypertension leading to positive cardiovascular effects. It did not take long until the importance of adherence to antihypertensive pharmacotherapy was identified (Gosmanova and Kovesdy, 2015).

Large studies show the positive effects of BP control on reduced cardiovascular morbidity and mortality (Burnier, 2006). Besides, antihypertensive drugs have clearly shown positive outcomes: 20-25% reduction in acute coronary syndrome, 30-35% reduction in stroke and 50% reduction in heart failure (Gosmanova and Kovesdy, 2015). According to WHO, identification and treatment of hypertension have shown vital health and economic benefits. Hypertension will increasingly be treated with antihypertensive medicines (Kaplan *et al.*, 2015). Despite this, hypertension is everywhere still inadequately managed. The lack of adherence to blood pressure lowering medicines plays a major role (Morgado *et al.*, 2011; WHO, 2013).

The adherence rate to blood pressure lowering medicines depends on the population being studied but is in the range between 50-70 percent (WHO, 2003; Morgado *et al.*, 2011). Rates could be higher for specific antihypertensive drug classes and in patients on monotherapy with a low number of doses (Gosmanova and Kovesdy, 2015). It is important to bear in mind that there is a difference between adherence in clinical trials and in the community. In clinical trials, there are highly motivated patients who are aware that adherence is being monitored (Burnier, 2006).

It is vital to understand the barriers which inhibit the process of reaching BP targets (Gosmanova and Kovesdy, 2015). Reasons for non-adherence to antihypertensive medications can, for example, relate to the asymptomatic nature of hypertension, the chronic requirement for treatment, complex drug regimens, costs and beliefs about medications (Kaplan *et al.*, 2015; Lee *et al.*, 2006; Morgado *et al.*, 2011; Wiffen *et al.*, 2012). Evidence shows that about 50% of patients discontinue treatment within a year, even though treatment is being offered (Kaplan, 2015; WHO, 2003).

A study conducted in England by Quine and co-workers, 2012 suggested and examined a framework for the psychological elements which determine antihypertensive medication adherence. Three groups of factors were included in the framework: a) demography, health status and medication regimen b) cognitions and motivation c) intention to adhere. Questionnaires were distributed by post to patients with hypertension from primary care centres. The first set of questionnaires examined the proposed framework and assessed

antihypertensive medication adherence using the 4-item Morisky Medication Adherence Scale (MMAS-4). After 8 weeks, antihypertensive medication was assessed with MMAS-4. The results indicate that cognitions and motivation form a major part of the framework. The authors suggest that motivational-type of interventions must especially be useful to target intentional non-adherence (Quine *et al.*, 2012).

Most hypertension patients have the goal blood pressure of <140/90 mmHg, a target which is a surrogate of adherence. There is a signal of non-adherence if the patient does not have controlled office blood pressure, even though the patient is on polypharmacy with antihypertensive drugs. Despite this, the signal of non-adherence can be skewed during office BP measurement by the patient experiencing a "white-coat"-effect: a higher office BP in comparison to ambulatory measurement. There could also be the effect of "white-coat"improved adherence surrounding the clinic visits: the patient will improve the adherence momentarily for the clinic visit. Therefore, BP should not be considered alone when assessing adherence to antihypertensive pharmacotherapy. It should be a marker used in conjunction with adherence screening tools (Gosmanova and Kovesdy, 2015).

# 1.11 Interventions to optimize antihypertensive medication adherence

The WHO in the year 2003 mentioned there is no specific approach or intervention to improve antihypertensive medication adherence. Further research is needed to which interventions are likely to improve antihypertensive medication adherence. However, it is required a behavioural change to reach optimized adherence to long-term medication therapy (WHO, 2003). This involves learning, adopting and upholding medication-taking behaviour using methods such as rewards and reminders. Interventions which are tailored are more

likely to be effective in reaching behavioural change compared to non-tailored interventions. Therefore, there is a need for comprehensive interventions which include cognitive, behavioural and affective methods which are customised. These interventions should be based on an objective assessment of the behaviour of administering medicines. In addition, clinicians should have an awareness of the prevalence of adherence in the hypertensive population (Burnier, 2006; WHO, 2003).

Patel and Taylor in 2002 conducted a study where the relationship between illness attribution, perceived control and adherence to antihypertensive medications was investigated. The study was performed in 122 patients (18 years and above) with a goal to reduce BP. Patients underwent written and follow-up telephone questions on patients' illness attributions, awareness of control and medication adherence. This study showed that acceptance of medical advice and information was dependent on beliefs about health condition. In turn, this shows that when patients' beliefs about the disease are revealed and considered, better outcomes are reached (Patel and Taylor, 2002).

Burnier, 2006 suggests that a comfortable drug regimen which is quite free of side-effects and a positive/supportive approach to treatment is the best way forward to improve adherence to antihypertensive pharmacotherapy (Burnier, 2006).

It needs to be ensured that medicines do not have a negative impact on the quality of life of the patient. Therapy-related factors such as dosage regimen can be adjusted to less frequent administrations during the day, which is shown to increase adherence. Side-effects can be a therapy-related factor, where the patient reaches a decision that side-effects outweigh the future benefits of the medication therapy. In the presence of dose-dependent side-effects, the physician may alter the dose to a lower dose. This is to increase the adherence to the

medication therapy, although with the risk of not reaching optimal BP control. Consequently, the tolerability of the medication and dosing frequency influence the medication-taking behaviour. Adherence is improved with a good patient-clinician communication as well as regular treatment follow-up. A shared-decision making approach between the patient and physician should be sought, with the selection and adjustment of the pharmacotherapy being a joint decision. Patients should be given instruction on how to use their medications in a reasonable manner - emphasizing the necessity of medication and keeping BP control. The patients' management relating to missed doses, recognizing and taking care of side-effects is crucial in obtaining optimized adherence. Training of healthcare staff is required for a non-judgemental counselling and in the proper selection of antihypertensive medications (Burnier, 2006; Osterberg and Blaschke, 2005: WHO, 2003).

Moreover, self-monitoring of BP where patients are taught to measure and monitor their own BP will be useful in achieving improved rates of antihypertensive medication adherence. This in combination with patients learning to assess their own adherence (Osterberg and Blaschke, 2005; WHO, 2003).

# 1.12 Methods of measuring medication adherence

Historically, adherence screening has been noted all the way back dating to the time of Hippocrates. There is no optimal way to measure adherence as each adherence screening tool present their own pros and cons (Osterberg and Blaschke, 2005). Rather, a triangulated approach of methods of measuring medication adherence provides a better picture and is used in research (Garfield *et al.*, 2011; Osterberg and Blaschke, 2005).

There exist direct methods or indirect methods of measuring adherence. Therapeutic drug monitoring is a direct method where the drug concentration is for example measured in blood or urine. However, these methods are costly. Indirect measures include self-report questionnaires, pill counts, assessment of treatment response, electronic monitors and assessment of refill rates using pharmacy records. Self-report questionnaires are simple in practice, though patients may not be accurate about their adherence providing a good picture to the practitioner (Osterberg and Blaschke, 2005; Wiffen *et al.*, 2012).

#### 1.12.1 Self-reported medicines adherence screening questionnaires

Before initiating the pilot study described in Chapter 3, it was not known if the Belief about Medicines Questionnaire (BMQ) would have been sufficient alone. At the same time, the 8item Morisky Medication Adherence Scale (8-item MMAS) or Medication Adherence Report Scale (MARS) could have been used alone. However, the limitation is that these questionnaires are not being precise enough. Indeed, there is no universal method to screen adherence. The intention of triangulation is to add precision to the adherence screening and to determine the robustness of the questionnaires. Thus, the triangulative approach combines the pros and cons of different adherence models which provides for a more precise adherence screening.

Sections 1.12.1.1 to 1.12.1.3 provide the theory for the self-reported medicines adherence screening questionnaires employed in the community pharmacy-based pilot study (Chapter 3).

#### 1.12.1.1 8-item Morisky Medication Adherence Scale

The 8-item Morisky Medication Adherence Scale (8-item MMAS) is a self-reported measure of medication taking. It was developed from an earlier validated 4-item scale. From the 4-item to the 8-item scale there have been added items including circumstances which surround adherence behavior. Each item in the scale measures specific medication-taking behavior. (Morisky *et al.*, 2008). The reason for choosing this measurement instrument is that compared to other self-reported medication adherence scales, the 8-item Morisky scale has already been used in a study for medication adherence of patients with hypertension and thus naturally will serve as an optimal medication adherence measurement tool for this study.

Morisky and co-workers conducted a study in the year 2008 where the primary objective was to examine the psychometric properties and test the concurrent and predictive validity of an 8-item structured, self-reported medication adherence measure in primarily low income, minority patients with hypertension. The study included 1367 patients. According to the authors of the study, the 8-item medication adherence scale was reliable and significantly associated with blood pressure control. Furthermore, it is stated in this study that the medication adherence scale is relatively simple and practical to use in clinical settings. In addition, the authors state that this instrument can be used initially to identify patients with adherence problems, and can also be used to monitor adherence over the course of the treatment (Morisky *et al.*, 2008).

An evaluation of the association and concordance of a new 8-item self-report Morisky Medication Adherence Scale (MMAS) with prescriptions claims in a managed care population consisting of older adults with hypertension was done by Krousel-Wood and co-

workers, 2009. This was a cross-sectional study were pharmacy records were taken for managed care adult hypertensive patients aged 65 years and above. A total of 87 study participants completed a survey including the 8-item MMAS. Medication Possession Ratio (MPR) was also one of the approaches used to assess adherence. This was calculated using the pharmacy data. The authors of the study conclude that the MMAS is significantly associated with antihypertensive pharmacy refill adherence. Furthermore, they state that although further validation of the MMAS is needed, it may be useful in identifying potential low medication adherers in clinical settings (Krousel-Wood *et al.*, 2009).

Holt and co-workers in 2012 conducted a cross-sectional analysis by using data from 1817 participants in the Cohort Study of Medication Adherence among Older Adults. The authors examined the association between life events, antihypertensive medication adherence and the role of coping. MMAS-8 was used to assess antihypertensive medicines adherence. Life events among the study participants that occurred 12 months before the study interview was assessed by the Holmes Rahe Social Readjustment Rating Scale (SRRS). Coping levels were assessed using an adapted version of the John Henry Active Coping Scale. The analysis showed that older adults with low coping skills and more life events had lower adherence to prescribed antihypertensive medications (Holt *et al.*, 2012).

Elliott and co-workers (2014) in a randomised controlled study evaluated the effectiveness of the New Medicines Service (NMS) in community pharmacies in England using the 8-item MMAS to assess medication adherence in patients (Elliott *et al.*, 2014).

#### 1.12.1.2 Medication Adherence Report Scale

Another questionnaire for measuring self-reported medicines adherence is the Medication Adherence Report Scale which was developed in England. This questionnaire contains five statements surrounding self-reported adherence. The statements include: forgetfulness, altering the dosage, stopping to take the medication, missing a dose and taking less than instructed. Response categories for the statements are made of a 5-point Likert scale: 1=always, 2=often, 3=sometimes, 4=rarely, and 5=never. This questionnaire is chosen as a method in the proposed study since it has been translated into Swedish with the backtranslation approved by the original author and has previously been used in a study performed in a pharmacy setting in Sweden (Mårdby *et al.*, 2007).

An examination of the intentional and unintentional aspects of medication non-adherence in patients diagnosed with hypertension was performed by Lehane and McCarthy in the year 2007. A study population consisting of 73 participants with hypertension were recruited. These patients attended outpatients' clinics of two university hospitals. MARS was included in a researcher administered questionnaire containing 3 other questionnaires (Lehane and McCarthy, 2007a).

A German translation of MARS named MARS-D was used in a study aimed at assessing whether MARS-D was an appropriate instrument for measuring patient adherence. MARS-D was sent to 1488 patients with chronic diseases and patients with risk factors for cardiovascular disease. This study concludes that preliminary psychometric evaluation of MARS-D is encouraging. The authors state that MARS-D is an appropriate measure to detect patients at risk of non-adherence (Mahler *et al.*, 2010)

The Medication Adherence Report Scale (MARS) was used in a study by Ramanath and coworkers in 2012. The objective of this study was to know the impact of clinical pharmacist interventions on medication adherence and quality of life. Their study was a prospective, randomized, interventional study with 52 patients completing the study. The authors conclude that the impact of clinical pharmacist provided patient counselling had a positive impact on medication adherence and quality of life (Ramanath *et al.*, 2012).

#### 1.12.1.3 Beliefs about Medicines Questionnaire

The Beliefs about Medicines Questionnaire is a method to assess cognitive representations of medication. It is built up of two sections: BMQ-Specific and BMQ-General. These two sections can be used either together or independently. BMQ-Specific consists of two 5-item factors. It assesses beliefs about the necessity of prescribed medication, concerns about the prescribed medication based on beliefs about the danger of dependence and long-term toxicity and the disruptive effects of medication. BMQ-General contains 2 four-item factors: it assesses the beliefs surrounding that medicines are harmful, addictive, poisons which should not be taken continuously and that medicines are overused by doctors (Horne *et al.*, 1999). The reason for choosing this questionnaire in the pilot study described in Chapter 3 is that it covers a wide range of patient perceptions on medicines use and therefore can capture the issues which patients face with their antihypertensive medicines usage with special reference to barriers to antihypertensive medicines adherence.

Both the BMQ and MARS were used in a study performed in Sweden by Mårdby and coworkers in 2007. The objective of this study was to analyze any association between general beliefs about medicines and self-reported adherence among pharmacy clients and to examine general beliefs about medicines by background variables. The questionnaire data were collected by one of the researchers who approached pharmacy clients at 7 different community pharmacies in Gothenburg, Sweden. The study population consisted of 324 pharmacy clients. 54% of these participants were considered non-adherent. In conclusion, General-Harm was associated with adherence to medication among Swedish pharmacy clients. Country of birth, education and medicine use influenced beliefs about medicines (Mårdby *et al.*, 2007).

#### 1.12.2 Pill count

Pill count involves comparing the remaining number of pills in the medicines package with the number of pills which would be remaining if the patient was adherent. Apart from being a straightforward method, there exist practical issues which are detrimental for its reliability; such as dumping pills, it may not be clear if the medicine was really administered, lack of instruction that tablet counting will be performed during research, patients bringing the pills etc. (Krousel-Wood *et al.*, 2004; Smith, 2002).

The validity of patient report, pharmacy dispensing records, and pill counts as measures of antihypertensive adherence using electronic monitoring as the validation standard was evaluated in a study by Choo and co-workers in 1999. This study included 286 members of a managed care organization who were at least 18 years of age, had prescription drug coverage and underwent monotherapy with antihypertensive medicine. Based on automated pharmacy dispensing records, prescription refill adherence was determined 12 months prior to enrollment in the study. A pill count was done during the study were pharmacists counted the remaining number of tablets in the returned medication vials when the participants did a prescription refill during the study (Choo *et al.*, 1999).

De Souza and co-workers evaluated whether adherence to a drug regimen helped to identify patients with resistant hypertension. In this study, a study population of 44 hypertensive patients was prospectively studied. These patients were resistant to a 3-drug regimen and were followed for 12 months. The pill count method and a Morisky questionnaire were used to assess adherence (de Souza *et al.*, 2009).

A pill count was used as a method in a study done by Martin and co-workers in 2011. The purpose of this study was to examine the effectiveness of a community-based, multimedia intervention on medication adherence among hypertensive adults. This study was a randomized controlled trial in rural south Alabama, United States. Study participants were 434 low-income adults receiving medication free of charge from a public health department or Federally Qualified Health Center. Registered nurses and a community health advisor assessed adherence by pill count when the study participant made a visit to the clinic to make a medication refill. The participants had to bring in their medicine bottles. Any remaining pills had to also be brought the clinic. This would enable the participant to receive a full 90-day medicine supply. Data recorded regarding the returned pills consisted of the medication name, strength, dosing, the number of pills returned and the number of pills dispensed (Martin *et al.*, 2011).

#### 1.12.3 Pharmacy refills

Medication Possession Ratio (MPR) is a method used to assess medicine adherence by using pharmacy refill data. MPR is the ratio of the total days of medication supplied to the total

days between medication refills. The value of MPR is always >0 because the numerator will be >0. An MPR=1 corresponds to 100% compliance. To patients who get different antihypertensive medicines simultaneously (polypharmacy), a separate MPR should be calculated for each medication. An average MPR can then be calculated. Attention should be given when calculating an average MPR value, due to that compliance can vary between different medicines. In fixed-dose combinations (single medication containing two or more active ingredients) only one MPR should be calculated (Halpern *et al.*, 2006).

In an observational study conducted in the United States by Schmitt and co-workers, 2007 a Veterans Affairs (VA) cohort of patients with chronic kidney disease (CKD), patterns of medication adherence for all antihypertensive classes of prescriptions during a 2-year period were examined. The primary objective of this study was to examine the independent relationship between the level of adherence observed in clinical practice, and the achieved level of blood pressure control during the entire study period. A secondary objective was to describe the patient characteristics that may be associated with the level of adherence to antihypertensive medications in a CKD cohort. The study consisted of 7227 chronic kidney disease patients receiving at least one antihypertensive prescription between 2006 and 2007. Prescription information was taken from a database containing electronic records of outpatient prescriptions/refills information and other patient data. Medication Possession Ratio was used to assess antihypertensive medicines adherence. The authors of this study state that 33% of the CKD patients had poor medication adherence and that medication adherence worsened with declining renal function. In addition, the authors state that poor medication adherence is associated with a 23% greater risk of uncontrolled hypertension. In CKD practice, monitoring and improving adherence could contribute to better outcomes (Schmitt et al., 2007).

Mabotuwana and co-workers, 2009 performed a study in New Zealand in which they developed a computational framework to identify patient cohorts with poor adherence to long-term medication through analysis of electronic prescribing patterns. This was illustrated using the electronic medical records of a New Zealand general practice among patients with hypertension and diabetes. The focus was on adherence to Angiotensin Converting Enzyme inhibitors (ACEinh) and/or angiotensin-II receptor blockers (ARB). Analysis of medication supply was based on the concept of MPR (Mabotuwana *et al.*, 2009).

MPR was included in a cohort study in China which evaluated the factors associated with adherence with ACE inhibitors. This study included all adult patients who were prescribed an ACE inhibitor and did at least 2 consecutive visits to any primary care clinics of one large territory of Hong Kong from January 2004 to June 2007. Data was obtained from a computer system adopted in the year 2000 were health care professionals were provided direct entry to the electronic clinical management system. Prescriptions at every clinical visit, the demographic details of patients and other clinical data were logged into this database. The study showed that 88% were adherent of 6408 eligible patients (Wong *et al.*, 2010).

There is the effect of noise at the beginning and/or end of the MPR data collection period, i.e. the patient already could have initiated a medicine's package when the MPR data was collected. Toward the end of the MPR data collection, the patient may yet not have completed the bottle before next medicine refill (an example shown in Figure 1.3).



Figure 1.3. Example of noise in MPR during a 3-month time frame (Source: Personal collection).

To reduce the noise, it is important to allow for an MPR data collection spanning over a long period, e.g. 6-9 months (see example in Figure 1.4)



Figure 1.4. Example of noise in MPR during a 9-month time frame (Source: Personal collection).

# 1.13 Prescribing guidelines for antihypertensive medications in Sweden and United Kingdom (UK) respectively

In Uppsala County, Sweden, the prescribing guideline recommends an ACE inhibitor (ACEinh) or generic losartan/candesartan and/or a low-dose thiazide diuretic (TD) or a calcium-channel blocker (CCB) as first-in-line antihypertensive pharmacotherapy. Betablockers (BB) are recommended in the case of co-morbidity, e.g. when having congestive heart failure or a migraine. An ACE inhibitor can be substituted with an ARB if the patient experiences side-effects such as a cough (Landstinget i Uppsala län, 2016; The Swedish Medical Products Agency, 2016). The prescribing guideline within Uppsala County largely complies with the national prescribing recommendations in Sweden:

1<sup>st</sup> choice: a) ACEinh or ARB, dihydropyridine CCB or TD b) If optimal effect not achieved with monotherapy including one antihypertensive drug class: ACEinh or ARB + CCB or TD.
c) If optimal effect not achieved including two antihypertensive drug classes: combine all three drug classes (ACEinh or ARB + CCB + TD) in full-dose

2<sup>nd</sup> choice: a) BB b) Alpha blocker (Alpha) or spironolactone if first-in-line therapy is not an adequate.

In comparison to the Swedish guidelines, NICE in the UK have categorized the choice of antihypertensive treatment into four steps:

Step 1) Patients aged <55 years: An ACEinh or a low-cost ARB. If the patient does not tolerate an ACEinh, the medication can be substituted with a low-cost ARB. Patients aged >55 years and black people (African or Caribbean origin) of all ages: CCB. In those situations where a CCB is inappropriate or not tolerated: TD. Chlortalidone or indapamide is

recommended when starting or changing diuretics. However, in those patients with BP control who already are undergoing treatment with bendroflumethiazide or hydrochlorothiazide, the pharmacotherapy can remain unchanged.

Although BB not being first-in-line antihypertensive pharmacotherapy, this drug class can be taken into account for young patients especially in the following situations: patients not tolerating or where there is a contraindication to ACEinh and ARB; female with potential to become pregnant; patients where there confirmation of increased activity in the sympathetic nervous system. If monotherapy with BB is not sufficient, a CCB should be added as dual therapy instead of a TD. The reason is to decrease the risk of the patient developing diabetes. Step 2) If BP remains uncontrolled after step 1: CCB + ACEinh or ARB. If a CCB is inappropriate or not tolerated: TD. Black people (African or Caribbean origin): ARB + CCB instead of ACEinh + CCB.

Step 3) If BP remains uncontrolled after step 2: triple therapy with ACEinh or ARB + CCB + TD.

Step 4) If the clinic BP is >140 mmHg/90 mmHg it should be treated as resistant hypertension after following triple therapy in optimal doses with ACEinh or ARB + CCB + diuretic. Four antihypertensive drugs can be considered or consulting a specialist for advice. Depending on the potassium level in blood, the patient can be prescribed either low-dose spironolactone or higher-dose TD. It is important to monitor sodium and potassium levels in the blood as well as the renal function when adding a diuretic for patients with resistant hypertension. Alpha or BB can be prescribed if diuretic pharmacotherapy is not tolerated by the patient or if contraindicated. A specialist should be consulted if BP control is not achieved with treatment including four antihypertensive drugs (National Institute for Health and Care Excellence, 2016).

Both the Swedish and NICE guidelines state that ACEinh and ARB should not be combined (National Institute for Health and Care Excellence, 2016; The Swedish Medical Products Agency, 2016). This is due to increased risk of side-effects and the absence of a combined drug effect (The Swedish Medical Products Agency, 2016).

## **1.14 Previous studies**

There have been earlier studies which have examined the potential to improve adherence to antihypertensive medications in community pharmacy, but these have limitations because they do not attempt to evaluate the adherence status of the patients and generally do not target an intervention to that status.

Dating back to 1973, an American randomised controlled trial was performed by McKinney and co-workers on a small patient population with essential hypertension at a community pharmacy with an intervention and control group (McKenney *et al.*, 1973). During almost 30 years after this study was published, there was a research gap until the year 2000. In England, Blenkinsopp and co-workers (2000) conducted a randomised controlled trial in 20 community pharmacies with 180 patients completing the study. The objective of their study was to determine the effect of a community pharmacist-led intervention on adherence to antihypertensive pharmacotherapy. Outcome measures were blood pressure control, selfreported adherence and patient satisfaction with pharmaceutical services. Pharmacists in the intervention group interviewed patients in relation to their hypertension treatment plan by using a structured protocol with questions. The authors conclude that simple intervention (oral or written information, contact with/referral to the physician) had positive effects on blood pressure control, self-reported adherence and patient satisfaction with pharmaceutical services (Blenkinsopp *et al.*, 2000).

Among studies conducted in the beginning of the 2000s, it is observed an approach to adopting different study designs (Chabot *et al.*, 2003; Garção and Cabrita, 2002; Hughes *et al.*, 2002; Taylor et al., 2003). Even though the studies being relatively small-scale, there was a build-up of outcome measures such as quality of life on patients and the economic perspective of community pharmacist interventions on healthcare (Hughes *et al.*, 2002; Zillich *et al.*, 2005). Exploring the effects of high-intensity or low-intensity interventions in subgroups were of interest in studies performed in years 2002 and 2005 (Hughes *et al.*, 2002; Zillich *et al.*, 2005).

The impact of ethnicity or socioeconomic status to blood pressure control was explored. Eight African-American patients with hypertension participated in a very small study by Taylor and co-workers in 2003 (Taylor *et al.*, 2003). Another example of focusing on an ethnic group is seen in the study by Lai and co-workers (2007) including Latino/Hispanic patients (Lai, 2007). Svarstad and co-workers (2013) conducted a study in the US with almost 500 African-American patients (Svarstad *et al.*, 2013). Chabot and co-workers (2003) reported blood pressure changes in high-income patients and low-income patients (Chabot *et al.*, 2003). Evaluation of lifestyle factors on blood pressure control, e.g. BMI, physical activity, smoking cessation, alcohol consumption and salt restriction is seen especially among the modern studies (Aguiar *et al.*, 2012; Aguwa *et al.*, 2008; Chabot *et al.*, 2003; Júnior *et al.*, 2008; Nemerovski *et al.*, 2013; Octavia and Florica, 2011; Pojskic *et al.*, 2014; Sharma *et al.*, 2014).

The modern studies are larger though with a more complex set of interventions. The studies will be explored in detail in the systematic review.

## 1.15 Community pharmacy system and adherence programmes in Sweden

The Swedish pharmacy market changed in the year 2009 following a long period of government-owned pharmacies since the year 1970. Prior to 1970, the pharmacies were privately owned. The re-regulation was done to increase the availability of pharmacies (Sporrong and Nordén-Hägg, 2014). This resulted in an increase of about 40% of pharmacies, meaning it now exists about 1300 pharmacies in Sweden (The Swedish Pharmacy Association, 2016). The achievement was especially seen in well-populated areas. The change of legislation resulted in the ownership of pharmacies to international companies, private entrepreneurs, government-owned pharmacies etc. (Sporrong and Nordén-Hägg, 2014; The Swedish Pharmacy Association, 2016). To ensure that each pharmacy met quality standards, the legislation set a condition of having a specially appointed pharmacies for this function (Sporrong and Nordén-Hägg, 2014).

In Sweden, there are three categories of pharmacy staff, two of these having dispensing rights and can counsel patients. The first one is the pharmacist with a four to five-year long education at university level, the second being the dispensing pharmacist with a two to threeyear university education. The dispensing pharmacist is a profession only available in Sweden, Norway, and Finland. The third professional staff type is the pharmacist technician with a two-year upper secondary school education. Pharmacy technicians are not allowed to dispense medicines. However, they can offer patient counselling of over-the-counter products

(Södergård, 2008; Westerlund and Björk, 2006). The Swedish pharmacies have about 300000 customers visits a day (The Swedish Pharmacy Association, 2016).

Södergård conducted a review in 2008 to identify the practice, education, and research of pharmacists in Sweden on adherence to treatment. At the time, no adherence programmes were observed in Swedish pharmacies. However, the conclusion drawn by Södergård was that practice and education on adherence would change with the re-regulation of the Swedish pharmacy market (Södergård, 2008).

In the year 2013, the Swedish government delegated the Swedish Medical Products Agency to perform a feasibility study on structured medicines reviews, to improve adherence to prescribed pharmacotherapy. The study was initiated in the year 2014 in patients on pharmacotherapy for asthma/chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Despite this, a drawback of this study is that no effect outcome was evaluated (The Swedish Medical Products Agency, 2014).

# **1.16 Thesis approach**

This chapter has provided a general introduction to the underlying theory on adherence and hypertension management in community pharmacy.

An inductive approach has been employed in the present thesis, whereby it was generally looked at the literature (not systematic) to obtain ideas to formulate the thesis approach, upon which the ideas were mind-mapped.

The general view of the literature provided a conceptual framework on how to conduct the pilot study, allowing the first stage of aims and objectives to be developed. It was thought to

perform a systematic review and then conduct a pilot study. Furthermore, the findings from the specific systematic review allowed a second iteration of the aims and objectives of the pilot study. It was clear that the existing ways to establish patients' likely adherence level were inadequate. Consequently, a novel approach to categorise patients according to their adherence status was developed.

# **1.17** Aims and objectives

# 1.17.1 Systematic review

# • Aim:

 to identify and evaluate mixed-method studies including pharmacist-led interventions within a community pharmacy setting aimed at blood pressure optimisation in patients undergoing oral antihypertensive medication therapy.

# • Objectives:

- assess the outputs from database searches for systematic review inclusion or exclusion
- summarise the included studies from the perspective of populations, interventions, comparators, outcomes and study design (PICOS)
- assess the risk of bias of included studies with The Cochrane Collaboration's tool for assessing risk of bias
- calculate effect measures for the included studies
- critically examine the included studies in the light of populations, interventions, comparators, outcomes and study design (PICOS) by performing a thematic analysis
- assess publication bias by performing a visual inspection of funnel plots and statistical testing of funnel plot asymmetry

# 1.17.2 Community pharmacy-based in vivo adherence project

# • Aims:

- to assess the feasibility of screening antihypertensive medicine adherence in community pharmacy hypertensive patients
- II) to deliver community pharmacist-led interventions targeting adherence status according to adherence subgroups to optimise blood pressure (BP)

# • Objectives:

- establish (a) any issues with the adherence screen
  - (b) any indications of outcomes from the allocated interventions
  - (c) any indication if certain interventions were detrimental

# 2 A systematic review of pharmacist-led interventions within a community pharmacy setting aimed at optimising blood pressure (BP) in patients undergoing oral antihypertensive medication therapy

The systematic review was developed in order the refine the examination of what had been done within the research domain of pharmacist-led, community pharmacy-based interventions to optimise blood pressure in patients with oral antihypertensive pharmacotherapy.

# 2.1 Introduction

Pharmacy practice and policy could possibly be transformed by pharmacist interventions being reported in systematic reviews. Appropriate evidence-based interventions may have a major role in developing the role of the pharmacist in healthcare (Charrois *et al.*, 2009). The undertaking of systematic review and meta-analysis provides a way of gaining a summary perspective and judgement on the positive or negative effects and risk of interventions within healthcare. However, studies can be of varying quality, raising questions about their impact (Liberati *et al.*, 2009). A systematic review employs a scientific approach with a research question and inclusion/exclusion criteria which determine studies to be included, assessment of study quality from the perspective of bias and outlines the results (Higgins and Green, 2011; Khan *et al.*, 2011). Quantitative results from individual studies can possibly be combined with statistical methods, known as a meta-analysis. Qualitative analysis when examining health interventions is emerging and becoming common practice in healthcare (Higgins and Green, 2011). Thematic analysis as a qualitative research method examines data by identifying, analysing and describing arrangements of data, i.e. described as themes, which are ordered in response to the research question (Braun and Clarke, 2006). Mixed-methods approaches apply both qualitative and quantitative analysis in the same study. This latter approach provides more strength to available evidence compared to solely conducting either a qualitative or quantitative analysis (Tariq and Woodman, 2013). The mixed-methods approach has become established in healthcare research (Hadi and Closs, 2015).

There should be transparent reporting of systematic reviews to facilitate judgements about the pros and cons of the studies: this led to the introduction of the quality of reporting of metaanalysis (QUOROM) statement in 1999. The statement was later updated with the preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses (PRISMA). This provides a guidance on an open and thorough dissemination of systematic reviews and meta-analyses. The participants, interventions, comparators, outcomes and study design (PICOS) approach is suggested by PRISMA, which facilitates the reader to obtain major points of significance in the systematic review (Liberati *et al.*, 2009).

The Effective Practice and Organisation of Care (EPOC) Group belongs to the Cochrane Review Group. The latter is an international collaboration aiming to make Cochrane Reviews available for practice and policy decisions. As such, the EPOC Group focuses on conducting systematic reviews for promoting healthcare practice and organisation. Thus, the EPOC Group has set requirements and criteria for the undertaking of EPOC systematic reviews (Effective Practice and Organisation of Care, 2015; Effective Practice and Organisation of Care, 2016).

There are tools for assessing quality in studies in systematic reviews. Many of these tools provide a score to different aspects of quality which will then give a summary score. Furthermore, there are tools which are based on checklists with questions. The Cochrane

Collaboration in years 2005 to 2007 developed a risk of bias assessment tool which instead enabled a domain-specific assessment of the risk of bias. It is difficult to validate the quality of assessment tools since the risk of bias assessment includes a subjective measure (Higgins and Green, 2011).

# 2.2 Research question

What is the scope of pharmacist-led interventions within a community pharmacy setting aimed at optimising blood pressure?

### 2.3 Rationale

It is thought to be a positive manoeuvre when community pharmacists counsel and intervene in patients undergoing antihypertensive treatment. However, it is not known if these interventions are positive, negative or have no effect. In addition, the research domain on community pharmacist interventions has not been particularly focused on examining the participants, interventions, comparators, outcomes and study design. Hence, the present study is a systematic attempt to examine this data coupled with a meta-analysis to possibly produce recommendations highlighting the type of intervention to be most appropriate under certain circumstances.
# 2.4 Objectives

A systematic literature review was performed to identify and evaluate mixed-method studies of community pharmacist-led interventions within a community pharmacy setting aimed at blood pressure optimisation in patients undergoing oral antihypertensive medication therapy.

# 2.5 Methods

#### 2.5.1 Protocol

A protocol was created where the research question, aims and inclusion criteria were prespecified (Appendix 5.1). The systematic review followed the PRISMA checklist (Liberati *et al.*, 2009; Shamseer *et al.*, 2015) and EPOC study design inclusion criteria (Effective Practice and Organisation of Care, 2013). As a mixed-methods study design was employed, a pragmatic approach to the EPOC study design criteria was sought, though not accommodating certain study designs. The reason for following the PRISMA protocol and EPOC criteria was that these tools are internationally recognized guidelines for systematic reviews.

#### 2.5.2 Eligibility criteria

*Participants:* 18 years and above, undergoing treatment with minimum one oral antihypertensive medicine, with or without co-morbidities, within a community pharmacy setting

*Interventions:* Interventions in a community pharmacy aimed at optimising blood pressure *Outcomes:* Blood pressure

*Study design:* A mixed-methods approach has been employed to include both qualitative and quantitative data.

### **2.5.3 Information sources**

Searches were performed in the electronic databases Cinahl Plus, Cochrane Database, Embase Classic and Embase (1947 to 7 February 2014), Ovid MEDLINE In-Process & Other Non-Indexed Citations and Ovid MEDLINE® (1946 to 9 February 2014; 16 February 2014), Ovid MEDLINE Daily Update (7 February 2014; 14 February 2014 for search term combination number 8), Ovid OLDMEDLINE (1946 to 1965) and PubMed. Grey literature was searched using Google, LexisNexis and Web of Science. There were no language restrictions in the searches. A repeated search was done in the electronic databases and Google during September 2016.

### 2.5.4 Search

Medical Subject Headings (MESH) search terms were used in accordance to the Medical Subject Headings for each electronic database: hypertension; antihypertensive agents; pharmacists; intervention studies; pharmaceutical care; medication adherence; blood pressure; pharmacies.

#### 2.5.4.1 Electronic databases

The search term combinations used for the electronic databases are stated in sections 2.5.4.1.1 - 2.5.4.1.5.

## 2.5.4.1.1 Cinahl Plus

- (MH "hypertension") AND (MH "antihypertensive agents") AND (MH "pharmacists") OR (MH "pharmacy, retail") AND (MH "experimental studies") AND (MH "medication compliance") AND (MH "blood pressure")
- (MH "pharmacists") AND (MH "antihypertensive agents") AND (MH "experimental studies") AND (MH "medication compliance") AND (MH "blood pressure")
- (MH "pharmacy, retail") AND (MH "hypertension") AND (MH "experimental studies")
   AND (MH "medication compliance") AND (MH "blood pressure")
- 4. (MH "pharmacy, retail") AND (MH "antihypertensive agents") AND (MH "experimental studies") AND (MH "medication compliance") AND (MH "blood pressure")
- (MH "pharmacists") AND (MH "hypertension") AND (MH "medication compliance") AND (MH "blood pressure")
- (MH "pharmacists") AND (MH "antihypertensive agents") AND (MH "medication compliance") AND (MH "blood pressure")
- (MH "pharmacy, retail") AND (MH "hypertension") AND (MH "medication compliance") AND (MH "blood pressure")
- (MH "pharmacy, retail") AND (MH "antihypertensive agents") AND (MH "medication compliance") AND (MH "blood pressure")

#### 2.5.4.1.2 Cochrane Database

- hypertension AND antihypertensive agents AND (pharmacists OR pharmacies) AND (intervention studies OR pharmaceutical care) AND medication adherence AND blood pressure
- pharmacists AND antihypertensive agents AND (intervention studies OR pharmaceutical care) AND medication adherence AND blood pressure
- pharmacies AND hypertension AND (intervention studies OR pharmaceutical care) AND medication adherence AND blood pressure
- pharmacies AND antihypertensive agents AND (intervention studies OR pharmaceutical care) AND medication adherence AND blood pressure
- pharmacists AND hypertension AND medication adherence AND pharmaceutical care AND blood pressure
- pharmacists AND antihypertensive agents AND medication adherence AND pharmaceutical care AND blood pressure
- pharmacies AND hypertension AND medication adherence AND pharmaceutical care AND blood pressure
- pharmacies AND antihypertensive agents AND medication adherence AND pharmaceutical care AND blood pressure

#### 2.5.4.1.3 Embase

- 1. hypertension/ and antihypertensive agent/ and pharmacist/ or pharmacy/ and intervention study/ or pharmaceutical care/and medication compliance/ and blood pressure/
- pharmacist/ and antihypertensive agent/ and intervention study/ or pharmaceutical care/ and medication compliance/ and blood pressure/
- pharmacy/ and hypertension/ and intervention study/ or pharmaceutical care/ and medication compliance/ and blood pressure/
- pharmacy/ and antihypertensive agent/ and intervention study/ or pharmaceutical care/ and medication compliance/ and blood pressure/
- pharmacist/ and hypertension/ and medication compliance/ and pharmaceutical care/ and blood pressure/
- pharmacist/ and antihypertensive agent/ and medication compliance/ and pharmaceutical care/ and blood pressure/
- pharmacy/ and hypertension/ and medication compliance/ and pharmaceutical care/ and blood pressure/
- pharmacy/ and antihypertensive agent/ and medication compliance/ and pharmaceutical care/ and blood pressure/

#### 2.5.4.1.4 Ovid MEDLINE

- hypertension/ and antihypertensive agents/ and pharmacists/ or pharmacies/ and intervention studies/ or pharmaceutical services/ and medication adherence/ and blood pressure/
- pharmacists/ and antihypertensive agents/ and intervention studies/ or pharmaceutical services/ and medication adherence/ and blood pressure/
- pharmacies/ and hypertension/ and intervention studies/ or pharmaceutical services/ and medication adherence/ and blood pressure/
- 4. pharmacies/ and antihypertensive agents/ and intervention studies/ or pharmaceutical services/ and medication adherence/ and blood pressure/
- pharmacists/ and hypertension/ and medication adherence/ and pharmaceutical services/ and blood pressure/
- pharmacists/ and antihypertensive agents/ and medication adherence/ and pharmaceutical services/ and blood pressure/
- pharmacies/ and hypertension/ and medication adherence/ and pharmaceutical services/ and blood pressure/
- pharmacies/ and antihypertensive agents/ and medication adherence/ and pharmaceutical services/ and blood pressure/

#### 2.5.4.1.5 PubMed

- hypertension AND antihypertensive agents AND pharmacists OR pharmacies AND intervention studies OR pharmaceutical care AND medication adherence AND blood pressure
- pharmacists AND antihypertensive agents AND intervention studies OR pharmaceutical care AND medication adherence AND blood pressure
- pharmacies AND hypertension AND intervention studies OR pharmaceutical care AND medication adherence AND blood pressure
- pharmacies AND antihypertensive agents AND intervention studies OR pharmaceutical care AND medication adherence AND blood pressure
- pharmacists AND hypertension AND medication adherence AND pharmaceutical care AND blood pressure
- pharmacists AND antihypertensive agents AND medication adherence AND pharmaceutical care AND blood pressure
- pharmacies AND hypertension AND medication adherence AND pharmaceutical care AND blood pressure
- pharmacies AND antihypertensive agents AND medication adherence AND pharmaceutical care AND blood pressure

## 2.5.4.2 Grey literature

## 2.5.4.2.1 Google

- Search performed on April 30<sup>th</sup>, 2014 on first 20 outputs with search term combination number 1. Repeated search on May 9<sup>th</sup> and May 13<sup>th</sup>, 2014 on first 100 outputs.
- Search performed on May 13<sup>th</sup>, 2014 with search term combination numbers 2-9 on first 100 outputs.
- Search performed on August 10<sup>th</sup>, 2014 with search term combination number 10 on first 100 outputs.

Random search performed in Google:

- on February 6<sup>th</sup>, 2015 with search term combination number 11. Repeated search on June 4<sup>th</sup>, 2015
- on April 13<sup>th</sup>, 2015 with search term combination number 12. Repeated search on June 3<sup>rd</sup>, 2015
- on May 24<sup>th</sup>, 2015 with search term combination number 13
- on May 3<sup>rd</sup>, 2015 with search term combination number 14

- 1. hypertension adherence community pharmacy
- hypertension AND antihypertensive agents AND pharmacists OR pharmacies AND intervention studies OR pharmaceutical care AND medication adherence AND blood pressure
- pharmacists AND antihypertensive agents AND intervention studies OR pharmaceutical care AND medication adherence AND blood pressure
- pharmacies AND hypertension AND intervention studies OR pharmaceutical care AND medication adherence AND blood pressure
- pharmacies AND antihypertensive agents AND intervention studies OR pharmaceutical care AND medication adherence AND blood pressure
- pharmacists AND hypertension AND medication adherence AND pharmaceutical care AND blood pressure
- pharmacists AND antihypertensive agents AND medication adherence AND pharmaceutical care AND blood pressure
- pharmacies AND hypertension AND medication adherence AND pharmaceutical care AND blood pressure
- pharmacies AND antihypertensive agents AND medication adherence AND pharmaceutical care AND blood pressure
- 10. hypertension compliance community pharmacy
- 11. hypertension community pharmacy
- 12. pharmaceutical care blood pressure
- 13. blood pressure control pharmacy
- 14. hypertension community pharmacy

## 2.5.4.2.2 LexisNexis

All searches in LexisNexis performed under Sources: All News, All Languages

- Search performed on March 23<sup>rd</sup>, 2014 with citations 1-8.
- Search performed on April 2<sup>nd</sup>, 2014 with citation 9.
- 1. Lau et al., 2010
- 2. George et al., 2010
- 3. Fikri-Benbrahim et al., 2012
- 4. Svarstad et al., 2013
- 5. Svarstad et al., 2009
- 6. Aguiar et al., 2012
- 7. Robinson et al., 2010
- 8. Aguwa et al., 2008
- 9. Planas et al., 2009

# 2.5.4.2.3 Web of Science

- Search performed on March 23<sup>rd</sup>, 2014 with citations 1-8.
- Search performed on April 2<sup>nd</sup>, 2014 with citation 9.
- 1. Lau et al., 2010
- 2. George et al., 2010
- 3. Fikri-Benbrahim et al., 2012
- 4. Svarstad et al., 2013

- 5. Svarstad et al., 2009
- 6. Aguiar et al., 2012
- 7. Robinson *et al.*, 2010
- 8. Aguwa et al., 2008
- 9. Planas et al., 2009

## 2.5.5 Study selection

Studies were selected independently by two reviewers (the author and a Professor of Clinical Pharmacy). Any disagreements in study selection were resolved by discussion between the two reviewers.

## 2.5.6 Data collection process

Searches were performed in the electronic databases and grey literature. Study authors were contacted to retrieve additional data or obtain clarification relating to a specific study which revolved around whether the full study had been published, the name of authors, study design, bias, blood pressure data, data enabling calculation of odds ratio or mean difference.

### 2.5.7 Data items

The information which was collected from studies followed the headings Participants, Interventions, Comparators, Outcomes, Study Design (PICOS) from the PRISMA protocol (Liberati *et al.*, 2009; Shamseer *et al.*, 2015).

#### 2.5.8 Summary measures

The effect measures were calculated as odds ratios (OR) with 95% confidence intervals using random effects model for dichotomous outcomes, i.e. those studies reporting the proportion of patients with controlled and uncontrolled systolic blood pressure (SBP) and diastolic blood pressure (DBP) respectively at the end of the study. In the studies were proportions of patients were not separately reported for SBP and DBP, both these two outcomes were grouped together as a combined outcome and an OR with 95% confidence interval using random effects model was calculated. Blood pressure control was interpreted as defined in the individual study. Among those studies not reporting data supporting the calculation of an OR, the mean difference was calculated using the random effects model based on end study mean SBP and mean DBP values (continuous outcomes). All data were derived from results being reported as intention-to-treat. Forest plots were created in the software Review Manager version 5.3.5 (The Nordic Cochrane Centre, 2014).

### 2.5.9 Planned methods of analysis

A measure of consistency for the meta-analysis was performed using the  $I^2$  statistic. This followed thresholds as stated in the Cochrane Handbook: 0 % to 40%: not important; 30% to 60%: moderate heterogeneity; 50% to 90%: substantial heterogeneity; 75% to 100%: considerable heterogeneity (Higgins and Green, 2011).

#### 2.5.10 Additional analyses

A narrative, qualitative summary was performed as a thematic analysis according to the methodology proposed by Braun and Clarke (2006) (Braun and Clarke, 2006). The studies were read through initially to note down initial ideas. During a second phase, the studies were re-read with a focus on coding the entire data set. The codes were collated from each study and categorized under the headings of Participants, Interventions, Comparators, Outcomes and Study designs (PICOS) (Braun and Clarke, 2006; Liberati *et al.*, 2009; Shamseer *et al.*, 2015). Thematic maps for each heading in PICOS were created based on the occurrence of the codes under each heading. The final themes were then created as a summary of the thematic maps.

#### 2.5.11 Risk of bias in individual studies and across studies

The risk of bias was assessed for each included study according to The Cochrane Collaboration's tool for assessing risk of bias. This risk of bias tool was chosen since it was a universal tool applied in systematic reviews. Although the risk of bias tool is used to only assess the risk of bias in randomized controlled trials, the tool was adapted for use in the mixed-methods approach. Where the study design was cluster-randomized, additional risk of bias was assessed including the elements recruitment bias, baseline imbalance, loss of clusters, incorrect analysis, and comparability of individually randomized trials (Higgins and Green, 2011). An overall study risk of bias was evaluated for each paper based on individual risk items.

# 2.5.12 Publication bias 2.5.12.1 Funnel plots

Publication bias was assessed by the construction of funnel plots using the software Review Manager version 5.3.5 (The Nordic Cochrane Centre, 2014). Funnel plots with and without grey literature were created for a) odds ratio as an effect estimate of SBP and DBP as a combined outcome and b) mean difference as an effect estimate of SBP and DBP respectively. Funnel plots were not created for odds ratio of SBP or DBP alone since the number of studies were too low to perform the analysis.

#### 2.5.12.2 Testing for funnel plot asymmetry

Funnel plot asymmetry was tested statistically by performing the arcsine version of the test suggested by Rücker and co-workers (Higgins and Green, 2011; Rücker *et al.*, 2008). The arcsine-Thompson test suggested by Rücker and co-workers was performed using the R statistics meta package on odds ratio as the effect estimate of SBP and DBP as a combined outcome (Appendix 5.2) (Rücker *et al.*, 2008; R Core Team, 2016; Schwarzer *et al.*, 2015; Schwarzer, 2016). The test was only performed on odds ratio as an effect estimate of SBP and DBP and DBP and DBP as a combined outcome since the Cochrane Handbook suggests there be a minimum of 10 studies when testing for funnel plot asymmetry (Higgins and Green, 2011).

## 2.6 Results

#### 2.6.1 Study selection

Identification of 535 records was obtained through searching in the electronic databases. From these 535 records, duplicates were removed narrowing the number to 10 records. An additional 20 records were identified and screened through grey literature searches in Google, LexisNexis and Web of Science resulting in 30 records screened in total. A further 9 records were excluded because a non-pharmacy healthcare profession was mainly involved in the study, the study design was not exclusively a community pharmacy setting, a high-risk cardiovascular population was involved, no blood pressure outcome was recorded, no blood pressure results were reported, only an abstract was available, or press releases relating to study authors were involved. Twenty-one full-text articles were included in the final systematic review. Among these, all 21 studies underwent qualitative synthesis and 13 studies included in the quantitative synthesis. See flow diagram in Figure 2.1 illustrating the identification process of studies for the systematic review.



Figure 2.1. A flow chart illustrating the process of identifying studies for the systematic review.

# 2.6.2 Study characteristics: Participants, Interventions, Comparators, Outcomes, Study Design (PICOS)

The characteristics according to the PICOS classification of the included studies are presented in Table 2.1. Among the included studies there is a mixture of papers from different points across the timeline starting from the year 1973 onward. In total, there were 21 included studies (11 randomized controlled trials (RCTs), 2 before-after studies (BASs), 3 nonrandomised controlled trials (NRCTs), 1 repeated measures study (RMS) and 4 prospective cohort studies (PCSs)). Study duration among the studies varied from 3-15 months. Study visits to a community pharmacy ranged from weekly to quarterly intervals. In total, there were 2509 patients who completed the studies. In general, the patients were within the age of 50 to 60 years. The studies included counselling, BP measurement, referral to/contact with a physician, informational materials, reminder aids and diary keeping as interventions. The blood pressure outcome was highly variable across the studies.

	Outcomes (Mean BP change between baseline and final visit)	BP by pharmacist investigator: SG: Before: SBP: 155 mmHg DBP: 98 mmHg After: No data BP by physician: SG: SBP: 8 mmHg ↓ DBP: 2 mmHg ↑ CG: SBP: 5 mmHg ↑	Low IG: SBP: 9 mmHg ↓ DBP: 3 mmHg ↓ High IG: SBP: 5 mmHg ↓ DBP: 9 mmHg ↓ CG: SBP: 26 mmHg ↓ DBP: 12 mmHg ↓
	Comparisons	se, cg	High IG, Low IG, CG
	Interventions	<ul> <li>Counselling</li> <li>Session</li> <li>Informational</li> <li>material</li> <li>Referral</li> <li>to/contact with</li> <li>physician</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Counselling</li> <li>BP</li> <li>BP</li> <li>measurement</li> <li>Referral</li> <li>Referral</li> <li>to/contact with physician</li> <li>Informational materials</li> <li>Reminder aids</li> <li>Diary</li> </ul>
	Participants	Patients with hypertension Average age 58 years SG years SG	Newly commenced on AH drug therapy (Inclusion criteria age stated >18 years and ≥25 years Mean age 52 years Low IG, 58 years High IG, 53 years CG
	Outcome measures	<ul> <li>BP control</li> <li>study patient knowledge of hypertension and its treatment</li> <li>AH AD</li> <li>ADR incidence</li> <li>Patient acceptance</li> <li>professional time</li> <li>recommendations to patients and physicians</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>AD rates (drug and non-drug interventions)</li> <li>BP control</li> <li>ADR incidence</li> <li>ADR incidence</li> <li>reduced CV complications</li> <li>QoL</li> <li>Teduction in health care expenditure</li> </ul>
	Number of patients completed	49	21
	Total number of patients	20	£
0	Study design	<ul> <li>RCT</li> <li>StDu: 5 months</li> <li>IG CPV: Monthly visits for 5 months</li> <li>CG CPV: not reported</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>RCT</li> <li>StDu: 12 months</li> <li>Low IG CPV: Baseline, 3 months, 6 months, 9 months, 12 months</li> <li>High IG CPV: Monthly visits for</li> <li>12 months</li> <li>CG CPV: Baseline, 12 months</li> </ul>
	Authors, year	McKenney <i>et al.</i> , 1973	Hughes <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 2002

Table 2.1. Summary table of included studies in the systematic review displaying authors, year of publication, study design, total number of patients, number of patients on patients completed, outcome measures, participants, interventions, comparisons and outcomes (mean BP change between baseline and final visit). Author, year in italics=study not meeting EPOC study design criteria.

	Study design	Total number of patients	Number of patients completed	Outcome measures	Participants	Interventions	Comparisons	Outcomes (Mean BP change between baseline and final visit)
RC     Stl     St	T Du: 6 months CPV: Monthly s for 6 months i CPV: Baseline after study pletion, lication refill s	100	82	• BP control • DRPs	Patients with essential hypertension On drug treatment for 66 months Mean age 67 years IG, 64 years CG	<ul> <li>Counselling</li> <li>BP</li> <li>BP</li> <li>measurement</li> <li>Referral</li> <li>Referral</li> <li>to/contact with</li> <li>physician</li> <li>Informational</li> <li>materials</li> </ul>	IG, CG	IG: SBP: 23 mmHg ↓ DBP: 13 mmHg ↓ CG: SBP: 5 mmHg ↓ DBP: 5 mmHg ↓
BA     BA     Stl     Stl     visit:	S Du: 3 months V: Monthly s for 3 months	×	œ	<ul> <li>AH drug therapy AD</li> <li>BP control</li> <li>patient satisfaction</li> </ul>	African Americans with hypertension diagnosis Mean age 63 years	<ul> <li>Counselling</li> <li>BP</li> <li>BP</li> <li>measurement</li> <li>Referral</li> <li>Referral</li> <li>to/contact with</li> <li>physician</li> <li>Informational</li> <li>materials</li> <li>Reminder aids</li> </ul>	ВА	SBP: 15 mmHg ↓ DBP: 14 mmHg ↓

Outcomes (Mean BP change between baseline and final visit)	IG: High-income patients SBP: 8 mmHg ↓ DBP: 7 mmHg ↓ Low-income patients: SBP: 1 mmHg ↑ DBP: 0.4 mmHg ↑ DBP: 1 mmHg ↑ DBP: 4 mmHg ↓ Low-income patients: SBP: 3 mmHg ↓ DBP: 2 mmHg ↓	LI IG: SBP: 9 mmHg
Comparisons	IG (High income, Low income), CG (High income, Low income)	н IG П IG
Interventions	<ul> <li>Counselling</li> <li>BP</li> <li>BP</li> <li>measurement</li> <li>Referral</li> <li>Referral</li> <li>Informational</li> <li>materials</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Counselling</li> <li>BP</li> <li>BP</li> <li>measurement</li> <li>Referral</li> <li>Referral</li> <li>Information</li> <li>Information</li> <li>MBPM, HBPM</li> <li>log book</li> </ul>
Participants	Patients with hypertension Majority of patients age ≥60 years	Patients with hypertension diagnosis Mean age 66 years LI IG, 64 years HI IG
Outcome measures	<ul> <li>BP levels</li> <li>drug treatment AD</li> <li>physical activity</li> <li>alcohol consumption</li> <li>BMI</li> <li>factors affecting AD in hypertensive patients</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>AD</li> <li>BP difference</li> <li>Health resource utilization</li> <li>Pharmacist</li> <li>recommendations</li> </ul>
Number of patients completed	100	117
Total number of patients	111	125
Study design	<ul> <li>NRCT</li> <li>StDu: 9 months</li> <li>StDu: 3 visits at baseline and 3 visits after INT (home visits with minimum 1 week intervals)</li> <li>Medication refill visits at pharmacy (INT initiated at a medication refill visit)</li> </ul>	•RCT • StDu: 3 months • Ll IG: Baseline, 4 weeks • Hl IG: Baseline, 4 weeks, 6-8 weeks, 12 weeks
Authors, year	Chabot <i>et</i> <i>dl.</i> , 2003	Zillich et al., 2005

Authors, year	Study design	Total number of patients	Number of patients completed	Outcome measures	Participants	Interventions	Comparisons	Outcomes (Mean BP change between baseline and final visit)
Júnior et al., 2008	<ul> <li>PCS</li> <li>StDu: 12 months</li> <li>CPV: Monthly visits for 12 months</li> </ul>	30	30	• DTPs • BMI • BP control	Elderly outpatients with hypertension Mean age 66 years	<ul> <li>Counselling</li> <li>Referral</li> <li>to/contact with</li> <li>physician</li> </ul>	ВА	SBP: 18 mmHg ↓ DBP: 12 mmHg ↓
Planas <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 2009	<ul> <li>RCT</li> <li>StDu: 9 months</li> <li>IG CPV: Monthly visits for 9 months</li> <li>CG CPV: Baseline, 3</li> <li>months, 6 months,</li> <li>9 months</li> </ul>	52	40	• BP control • AH AD	Patients with hypertension and diabetes Mean age 64 years IG, 65 years CG	<ul> <li>Counselling</li> <li>BP measurement</li> <li>Referral</li> <li>to/contact with</li> <li>physician</li> </ul>	CG, IG	IG: SBP: 17 mmHg ↓ *DBP: 5 mmHg ↓ CG: SBP: 3 mmHg ↑ *DBP: 1 mmHg ↑ *data obtained by e-mail correspondence with study author (Planas, 2015a; Planas 2015b).
Robinson <i>et</i> al., 2010	<ul> <li>NRCT</li> <li>StDu: 12 months</li> <li>IG CPV: Monthly visits for 12 months</li> <li>CG CPV: Monthly visits for 12 visits for 12 months</li> </ul>	376	376	<ul> <li>BP control vs. not participating</li> <li>QoL</li> <li>better medication- taking practices vs. not participating</li> </ul>	Patients with hypertension Age not reported	<ul> <li>Counselling</li> <li>BP</li> <li>BP</li> <li>measurement</li> <li>Informational</li> <li>materials</li> <li>Referral</li> <li>to/contact with</li> <li>physician</li> </ul>	PcG, UcG	PCG: SBP: 10 mmHg ↓ DBP: 3 mmHg ↓ UCG: SBP: 3 mmHg ↓ DBP: 1 mmHg ↓

Study d	esign	Total number of patients	Number of patients completed	Outcome measures	Participants	Interventions	Comparisons	Outcomes (Mean BP change between baseline and final visit)
<ul> <li>RCT</li> <li>StDu: 6 months</li> <li>IG CPV: monthly visits for 6 months</li> <li>CG CPV: not reported</li> </ul>	100	0	100	• BP control • BMI	Patients with essential hypertension from urban environment Aged 51- 65 years	<ul> <li>Counselling</li> <li>BP</li> <li>measurement</li> <li>Referral</li> <li>to/contact with</li> <li>physician</li> </ul>	PCG, WB (UCG)	PCG: SBP: 19 mmHg ↓ DBP: 17 mmHg ↓ WB: SBP: 7 mmHg ↓ DBP: 4 mmHg ↓
<ul> <li>RCT</li> <li>StDu: 15 months</li> <li>G CPV: 12 visits</li> <li>CG CPV: 2 visits</li> <li>with minimum 14</li> <li>months interval</li> </ul>	11	8	8	<ul> <li>Patients' knowledge</li> <li>QoL</li> <li>BP control</li> <li>change in satisfaction</li> <li>and knowledge of</li> <li>pharmacists</li> </ul>	Patients with hypertension Undergoing pharmaco- therapy for >6 months Aged ≥31 Years	<ul> <li>Counselling</li> <li>BP measurement</li> </ul>	SG, CG	SG: *SBP: 6 mmHg ↓ *DBP: 2 mmHg ↓ CG: *SBP: 5 mmHg ↓ *DBP: 2 mmHg ↓ *BP at final visit measured as arterial BP.
<ul> <li>PCS</li> <li>StDu: 10 months</li> <li>StDu: 10 monthly visits for 10 months</li> </ul>	51		ŝ	<ul> <li>BP control</li> <li>pulse pressure</li> <li>AH AD</li> <li>reduction of</li> <li>anthropometric indices</li> </ul>	Elderly patients with diagnosed essential hypertension and uncontrolled BP Aged 66-68 years	<ul> <li>Counselling</li> <li>BP</li> <li>BP</li> <li>measurement</li> <li>Informational</li> <li>Informational</li> <li>materials</li> <li>Referral</li> <li>Referral</li> <li>to/contact with</li> <li>physician</li> </ul>	BA	SBP: 27 mmHg ↓ DBP: 10 mmHg ↓

Outcomes (Mean BP change between baseline and final visit)	SPB: 1 mmHg ↓ DPB: 1 mmHg ↓	lG: SBP: 14 mmHg ↓ DBP: 9 mmHg ↓ CG: SBP: 8 mmHg ↓ DBP: 7 mmHg ↓
Comparisons	BA, SGr	CG, IG
Interventions	<ul> <li>Counselling</li> <li>BP</li> <li>BP</li> <li>measurement</li> <li>Information- al materials</li> <li>Diary</li> <li>Referral</li> <li>to/contact</li> <li>with</li> <li>physician</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Counselling</li> <li>BP</li> <li>BP</li> <li>measurement</li> <li>Information-</li> <li>Information-</li> <li>al materials</li> <li>al materials</li> <li>Referral</li> <li>to/contact</li> <li>with</li> <li>physician</li> </ul>
Participants	WSU Own identification of hypertension/pre- hypertension diagnosis Aged 51 years (not reported if average or mean age)	African American patients with hypertension Mean age 53 years IG, 53 years CG
Outcome measures	<ul> <li>BP control</li> <li>% of patients with LS goals</li> <li>AH AD</li> <li>patient knowledge and satisfaction</li> <li>modification of CV risk factors</li> </ul>	• AH AD • BP control
Number of patients completed	152	493
Total number of patients	152	576
Study design	<ul> <li>PCS</li> <li>StDu: 6 months</li> <li>CPV: Four visits with 6 weeks intervals during 6 months.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>RCT</li> <li>StDu: 12 months</li> <li>IG CPV: Monthly INT visits for 6 months, follow-up 6 and 12 months from baseline</li> <li>CG visits: Baseline visit, follow-up 6 and 12 months from</li> </ul>
Authors, year	Nemerovski et al., 2013	Svarstad <i>et</i> al., 2013

Outcomes (Mean BP change between baseline and final visit)	IG: SBP: 14 mmHg ↓ DBP: 6 mmHg ↓ CG: SBP: 5 mmHg ↓ DBP: 4 mmHg ↓	UCG: SBP: 5 mmHg ↓ DBP: 4 mmHg ↓ PCG: SBP: 10 mmHg ↓ DBP: 5 mmHg ↓	SBP: 12 mmHg↓ DBP: 10 mmHg↓
Comparisons	CG, IG	PCG, UCG, SGr, HCG	BA
Interventions	<ul> <li>Counselling</li> <li>BP measurement</li> <li>Informational materials</li> <li>Referral</li> <li>to/contact with physician</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Counselling</li> <li>BP</li> <li>BP</li> <li>measurement</li> <li>Informational</li> <li>materials</li> <li>Reminder aids</li> <li>Referral</li> <li>Referral</li> <li>to/contact with</li> <li>physician</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Counselling</li> <li>BP measurement</li> <li>Informational materials</li> </ul>
Participants	<ul> <li>Patients</li> <li>with</li> <li>whertension</li> <li>Mean age 57</li> <li>years IG, 57</li> <li>years CG</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Patients with primary</li> <li>hypertension</li> <li>Mean age 67 years PCG, 67 years UCG</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Patients with hypertension diagnosis</li> <li>Mean age 60 years</li> </ul>
Outcome measures	<ul> <li>BP control</li> <li>AD AH therapy</li> <li>smoking status and FQ</li> <li>FQ of PE</li> <li>BMI</li> <li>drug costs</li> <li>INT costs</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>proportion self- reporting AH AD on AD questionnaires</li> <li>BP control</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>change in knowledge and lifestyle practices (management of hypertension)</li> <li>BP change</li> </ul>
Number of patients completed	118	354	50
Total number of patients	153	395	50
Study design	<ul> <li>RCT</li> <li>StDu: 6 months</li> <li>IG CPV: Monthly visits for 6 months</li> <li>CG CPV: Monthly visits for 6 months</li> <li>Monthly visits for 6 months</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>RCT</li> <li>StDu: 6 months</li> <li>IG CPV: Baseline,</li> <li>a months, 6</li> <li>months</li> <li>CG CPV:</li> <li>Baseline, 6 months</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>BAS</li> <li>StDu: 8 months</li> <li>StDu: 8 months</li> <li>CPV: Baseline, 2 months, 4 months, 8 months</li> </ul>
Authors, year	Pojskic <i>et</i> al., 2014 (Pojskic, 2014a)	Stewart <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 2014	Sharma et al., 2014

#### Abbreviations for Table 2.1:

AD=Adherence; ADR=Adverse drug reaction; AH=Antihypertensive; BA=Before and After; BAS=Before and After Study; BMI=Body Mass Index; BP=Blood Pressure; CG=Control Group; CKD=chronic kidney disease; COPD=chronic obstructive pulmonary disease; CPV=Community pharmacy visits; CV=cardiovascular; DAA=Dose administration aid; DBP=Diastolic Blood Pressure; DRP=Drug-related problem; DTP=drug therapy-problem; EAP=Employee Assistance Program for disease management; ED=Educational; fin=final BP reading; FQ=Frequency; GP=General Practitioner; HBPM=home blood pressure monitoring; HCG=Hidden Control Group; HI=High-intensity; HMR=Home medicines review; IG=Intervention Group; ini=initial BP reading; INT=Intervention; LI=Low-intensity; LS=Lifestyle; MNCHP=Model Neighborhood Comprehensive Health Program, Inc.; MTM=Medication Therapy Management; MUR=Medication use review; NRCT=Non-randomised controlled trial; OC=Patients serve as their own control; PC=Pharmaceutical Care; PCG=Pharmacist Care Group; PCS=Prospective cohort study; PE=Physical Exercise; PHCU=primary health care unit; PMP=Patient medication profile; QoL=Quality of Life; RCT=Randomised controlled trial; RMS=Repeated measures study; RR=Refill reminder; S-A=Selfadminister; SBP=Systolic Blood Pressure; SCS=Smoking cessation program; SD: Standard deviation; SG=Study group; SGr=Subgroup; StDu=Study duration; TABS=Tool for Adherence Behaviour Screening; TG=Test group; UCG=Usual Care Group; WB=Witness batch; WSU= Wayne State University employees participating in employer wellness plan

Since the meta-analysis was performed there have been identified 6 extra studies (3 RCTs, 1

BAS and 2 PCS) (see Table 2.2). Study duration varied from 2 weeks to 9 months. In total

734 patients completed these studies. The BP outcome across the studies in Table 2.2 was

highly variable.

Authors, year	Study design	Total number of patients	Number of patients completed	Outcomes (Mean BP change between baseline and final visit)
Sookaneknun et al., 2004	<ul><li>RCT</li><li>StDu: 9 months</li></ul>	235	227	IG: SBP: 23 mmHg ↓ DBP: 14 mmHg ↓
	<ul> <li>Study sites: a university community pharmacy and two primary care units</li> </ul>			CG: SBP: 18 mmHg
Erhun et al., 2005	<ul><li>PCS</li><li>StDu: 6 months</li></ul>	51	37	SBP: 42 mmHg↓ DBP: 22 mmHg↓
Oparah et al., 2006	• BAS • StDu: 6 months	42	36	SBP: 50 mmHg↓ DBP: 29 mmHg↓
DiDonato <i>et al.,</i> 2014	<ul><li>RCT</li><li>StDu: 6 months</li></ul>	302	275	IG MS: SBP: 4 mmHg
				IG ED: SBP: 10 mmHg ↓ DBP: 3 mmHg ↓
				CG: SBP: 9 mmHg ↓ DBP: 3 mmHg ↓

**Table 2.2.** Summary table of extra studies which have been identified since the meta-analysis was performed. The table displays authors, year of publication, study design, total number of patients, number of patients completed and outcomes (mean BP change between baseline and final visit). Author, year in italics=study not meeting EPOC study design criteria.

Authors, year	Study design	Total number of patients	Number of patients completed	Outcomes (Mean BP change between baseline and final visit)
Pistja and Themeli, 2015a (Pistja and Themeli, 2015b)	• RCT • StDu: 9 months	200	120	IG: SBP: 6 mmHg ↓ DBP: 1 mmHg ↓ CG: SBP: 2 mmHg ↓ DBP: 1 mmHg ↓
Noble et al., 2016	• PCS • StDu: 2 weeks	39	39	SBP: 8 mmHg人 DBP: 3 mmHg人

Abbreviations for Table 2.2: BAS=Before and After Study; CG=Control Group; DBP=Diastolic Blood Pressure; IG=Intervention Group; IG ED=Intervention Group Education; IG MI=Intervention Group Medication Synchronization; PCS=Prospective cohort study; RCT=Randomised controlled trial; SBP=Systolic Blood Pressure; StDu=Study duration

#### 2.6.3 Results of individual studies

A meta-analysis with odds ratios as an effect estimate was performed on 10 out of 21 studies with SBP and DBP as a combined outcome. Of 21 studies, 3 studies underwent a meta-analysis with odds ratios for SBP or DBP outcomes respectively.

Meta-analysis with mean difference was used as an effect estimate for 7 out of 21 included studies analysing both SBP and DBP respectively.

It was not possible to go forward with meta-analysis throughout all 21 studies because of study design or data not being available to support the calculation of effect estimates.

From Figures 2.2 to 2.6 all studies are relatively small-scale. The more modern studies appear to have a larger weighting. It is important to bear in mind when comparing the Forest plots scaling in each figure differ to present the data in an acceptable format.

#### 2.6.3.1 Odds ratio

Examination of the Forest plots in Figures 2.2 to 2.4 shows the mean values for each study are in the control group area in the Forest plot with large confidence intervals observed in the older studies.

# 2.6.3.1.1 Systolic blood pressure (SBP) and diastolic blood pressure (DBP) as a combined outcome

Odds ratio as an effect estimate of SBP and DBP as a combined outcome is presented as a Forest plot in Figure 2.2. The meta-analysis for SBP and DBP as a combined outcome employed a random effects model including 1252 patients where the pooled effect of 0.33 mmHg increase in BP (95% CI, 0.23 mmHg to 0.47 mmHg, p<0.00001) implies no BP change. As seen in Figure 2.2, heterogeneity between studies relating to SBP and DBP as a combined outcome may not be relevant or is moderate ( $\chi^2$ =15.32, df=10, p=0.12, I<sup>2</sup>=35%).

	Interven	tion	Contr	<u> </u>	0	odds Ratio (Non-event)	Odds Ratio (Non-event)
Study or Subgroup	Events	Total	Events	Total	Weight	M-H, Random, 95% Cl Yea	Ir M-H, Random, 95% Cl
McKenney et al., 1973	1	24	m	5	5.2%	0.23 [0.05, 1.01] 197	
Garção and Cabrita., 2002	34	41	15	4	9.0%	0.12 [0.04, 0.33] 200	2
Hughes et al., 2002. High INT	9	~	7	~	1.8%	0.07 [0.00, 0.97] 200	2
Hughes et al., 2002. Low INT	m	~	2	~	2.5%	0.53 [0.06, 4.91] 200	2
Chabot et al., 2003. High income group	6	<del>1</del>	<del>1</del> 0	õ	5.8%	0.32 [0.08, 1.27] 200	۳ ۳
Planas et al., 2009	12	25	<del>.</del>	15	2.6%	0.08 [0.01, 0.68] 200	6
Robinson et al., 2010	39	78	14	62	13.7%	0.29 [0.14, 0.61] 201	+ 0
Skowron et al., 2011	22	28	ω.	56	8.8%	0.34 [0.12, 0.96] 201	
Fikri-Benbrahim et al., 2012	61	87	48	88	16.5%	0.50 [0.27, 0.93] 201	2
Svarstad et al., 2013	104	208	103	287	23.8%	0.56 [0.39, 0.81] 201	+
Pojskic et al., 2014	32	39	43	79	10.4%	0.26 [0.10, 0.66] 201	4 V
Total (95% Cl)		557		695	100.0%	0.33 [0.23, 0.47]	•
Total events	332		275				
Heterogeneity: Tau <sup>2</sup> = 0.11; Chi <sup>2</sup> = 15.32, <sup>(</sup> Test for overall effect: Z = 5.98 (P < 0.0000	df= 10 (P = 01)	= 0.12);	l <sup>z</sup> = 35%				0.002 0.1 1 10 500 Favours [Control] Favours [Intervention]

**Figure 2.2.** Odds ratio as an effect estimate with SBP and DBP as a combined outcome is displayed for each individual study as well as in a Forest plot. The pooled effect is presented both numerically and in the Forest plot. A random effects model was employed in this meta-analysis. Heterogeneity between studies is indicated as an 1<sup>2</sup> value.

## 2.6.3.1.2 Systolic blood pressure (SBP)

Odds ratio as an effect estimate of SBP is presented as a Forest plot in Figure 2.3. The metaanalysis for SBP employed a random effects model including 263 patients where the pooled effect of 0.29 mmHg increase in SBP (95% CI, 0.12 mmHg to 0.72 mmHg, p=0.007) implies no SBP change. As seen in Figure 2.3. heterogeneity between studies relating to SBP is moderate ( $\chi^2$ =3.78, df=2, p=0.15, I<sup>2</sup>=47%).

Odds Ratio (Non-event)	Year M-H, Random, 95% Cl	1 2007	1 2009	2012	•		0.005 0.1 1 10 Favours (Control) Favours (Intervention)
Odds Ratio (Non-event)	M-H, Random, 95% CI	0.23 [0.06, 0.82]	0.10 [0.02, 0.56]	0.51 [0.27, 0.96]	0.29 [0.12, 0.72]		
	Weight	28.8%	19.9%	51.2%	100.0%		*
Control	Total	21	15	88	125		; I² = 47(
	Events	5	2	51		28	° = 0.15),
Intervention	Total	26	25	87	138		df=2(F 7)
	Events	15	15	63		693	hi <sup>z</sup> = 3.78, 3 (P = 0.00
	Study or Subgroup	Carvalho and Nagavi, 2007	Planas et al., 2009	Fikri-Benbrahim et al., 2012	Total (95% CI)	Total events	Heterogeneity: Tau <sup>2</sup> = 0.30; C Test for overall effect: Z = 2.66

**Figure 2.3.** The odds ratio as an effect estimate of SBP is displayed for individual studies as well as in a Forest plot. The pooled effect is presented both numerically and in the Forest plot. A random effects model was employed in this meta-analysis. Heterogeneity between studies is indicated as an  $I^2$  value.

## 2.6.3.1.3 Diastolic blood pressure (DBP)

Odds ratio as an effect estimate of DBP is presented as a Forest plot in Figure 2.4. The metaanalysis for DBP employed a random effects model including 263 patients where the pooled effect of 0.28 mmHg increase in DBP (95% CI, 0.04 mmHg to 2.08 mmHg, p=0.21) is indicative of no BP change. As seen in Figure 2.4 heterogeneity between studies relating to DBP is substantial ( $\chi^2$ =9.20, df=2, p=0.01, I<sup>2</sup>=78%).



Figure 2.4. The odds ratio as an effect estimate of DBP is displayed for individual studies as well as in a Forest plot. The pooled effect is presented both numerically and in the Forest plot. A random effects model was employed in this meta-analysis. Heterogeneity between studies is indicated as an  $I^2$  value.
### 2.6.3.2 Mean difference2.6.3.2.1 Systolic blood pressure (SBP)

Mean difference as an effect estimate of SBP is presented as a Forest plot in Figure 2.5. The meta-analysis for SBP employed a random effects model including 1173 patients where the pooled effect is a 9.65 mmHg decrease in SBP (95% CI, -5.34 mmHg to -13.96 mmHg, p<0.00001). There is an indication of a positive effect when mean difference is plotted as an effect estimate for SBP. As seen in Figure 2.5 heterogeneity between studies relating to SBP is substantial ( $\chi^2$ =20.52, df=6, p=0.002, I<sup>2</sup>=71%).



Figure 2.5. The mean difference as an effect estimate of SBP is displayed for individual studies as well as in a Forest plot. The pooled effect is presented both numerically and in the Forest plot. A random effects model was employed in this meta-analysis. Heterogeneity between studies is indicated as an I<sup>2</sup> value.

#### 2.6.3.2.2 Diastolic blood pressure (DBP)

Mean difference as an effect estimate of DBP is presented as a Forest plot in Figure 2.6. The meta-analysis for DBP employed a random effects model including 1173 patients where the pooled effect is a 5.38 mmHg decrease in DBP (95% CI, -1.25 mmHg to -9.52 mmHg, p=0.01). There is an indication of a positive effect when mean difference is plotted as an effect estimate for DBP. As seen in Figure 2.6 heterogeneity between studies relating to DBP is substantial ( $\chi^2$ =52.03, df=6, p<0.00001, I<sup>2</sup>=88%).

	Inte	rvention	_	ű	introl			Mean Difference	Mean Difference	
Study or Subgroup	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Total	Weight	IV, Random, 95% Cl Year	IV, Random, 95% CI	
Garção and Cabrita., 2002	73.32	8.2	41	78.59	8.55	41	15.6%	-5.27 [-8.90, -1.64] 2002	ł	
Hughes et al., 2002. High and Low IG	78	9.1876	14	87	12.1	~	8.6%	-9.00 [-19.17, 1.17] 2002	•	
Planas et al., 2009	73.72	10.75	25	76.13	10.62	15	12.0%	-2.41 [-9.24, 4.42] 2009	ŀ	
Skowron et al., 2011	83	9.9	28	88	9.2	56	14.8%	-5.00 [-9.39, -0.61] 2011	ł	
Octavia and Florica, 2011	76.16	7.42	50	91.31	12.48	50	15.2%	-15.15 [-19.17, -11.13] 2011	ł	
Svarstad et al., 2013	82.67	10.27	207	86.71	13.57	287	17.0%	-4.04 [-6.14, -1.94] 2013	+	
Stewart et al., 2014	80.21	10.81	176	78.84	11.24	176	16.8%	1.37 [-0.93, 3.67] 2014	+	
Total (95% CI)			541			632	100.0%	-5.38 [-9.52, -1.25]	•	
Heterogeneity: Tau <sup>2</sup> = 25.02; Chi <sup>2</sup> = 52.0 Test for overall effect: Z = 2.55 (P = 0.01)	)3, df= 6 )	(P < 0.00	001); F	% 88% =					-20 -10 0 10 -20 -10 Eavours [Contro	ol] 20

.

**Figure 2.6.** The mean difference as an effect estimate of DBP is displayed for individual studies as well as in a Forest plot. The pooled effect is presented both numerically and in the Forest plot. A random effects model was employed in this meta-analysis. Heterogeneity between studies is indicated as an  $I^2$  value.

## 2.6.4 Additional analysis2.6.4.1.1 Thematic analysis

The themes and corresponding sub-themes emanating from the review papers are presented in Table 2.3. Interventions, Outcomes and Study design are the most significant: sub-themes principally involve Population and Comparators. However, even though certain sub-themes are listed, they were not always evident in all studies.

**Table 2.3.** Themes and subthemes from the thematic analysis. Themes are displayed as headings. Bullet points show the sub-themes which occur in studies indicated as numbered references.

#### Population

- *Hypertension* [1-21]
- Patient screening [1-21]
- Population characteristics [1-21]
- Therapy [1-8, 10-21]\*
- \*not in [9]

#### Interventions

- Blood pressure [1-21]
- Pharmaceutical care [1-21]
- Resources [1-21]
- Setting [1-21]
- *Staff* [1-21]
- Drug-related problems [1-15, 17-21] \*not in [16]
- Non-pharmacological treatment lifestyle modification [1-17, 19-21] \*not in [18]
- *Adherence* [1-7, 9-16, 18-21] \*not in [8, 17]
- *Guidelines* [2-8, 10-21] \*not in [1, 9]
- *Training* [2, 4-11, 13-15, 17-21]\* \*not in [1, 3, 12, 16]
- *Quality of life* [2, 3, 7, 9, 12, 15, 17-19]\* \*not in [1, 4-6, 8, 10, 11, 13, 14, 16, 20, 21]
- Economy [4, 7, 10, 11, 14, 18, 19, 21]\*
  \*not in [1-3, 5, 6, 8, 9, 12, 13, 15-17, 20]

Continuation of Table 2.3				
Compa	rators			
•	Control [2-7, 10, 12-15, 17-19]*			
	*not in [1, 8, 9, 11, 16, 20, 21]			
•	$[111] Intervention [5, 5-7, 15, 17, 18]^*$			
•	$\frac{101 \text{ m} [1, 2, 4, 6-12, 14-10, 19-21]}{17 \text{ m} [14, 15, 17, 18]*}$			
•	*not in [1-13, 16, 19-21]			
Outcomes				
•	Blood pressure [1-21]			
•	Adherence [1-7, 9-16, 18-21]*			
	*not in [8, 17]			
•	<i>Pharmacotherapy</i> [1, 2, 4-8, 10-15, 17-21]*			
	*not in [3, 9, 16]			
•	Non-pharmacological treatment – lifestyle modification [1-8, 10-12, 14, 16, 19]*			
	*not in [9, 13, 15, 17, 18, 20, 21]			
•	Satisfaction with service [3, 4, 7, 10, 11, 14, 17-20]*			
	*not in [1, 2, 5, 6, 8, 9, 12, 13, 15, 16, 21]			
•	$Caralovascular Pisk [1, 4, 7, 8, 11-14, 18]^*$			
•	$\begin{array}{c} \text{(Interms)} \\ \text{(Interms)} \\$			
•	*not in $\begin{bmatrix} 1 & 4 & 5 & 6 & 8 & 10 & 11 & 13 & 14 & 16 & 20 & 21 \end{bmatrix}$			
•	Perceptions [3 4 7 11 14 18 19]*			
	*not in [1, 2, 5, 6, 8, 9, 10, 12, 13, 15-17, 20, 21]			
•	<i>Economy</i> [4, 7, 14, 18, 19]*			
	*not in [1-3, 5, 6, 8-13, 15-17, 20, 21]			
•	<i>Knowledge</i> [3, 10, 11, 16, 17]*			
	*not in [1, 2, 4-9, 12-15, 18-21]			
•	<i>Health resource usage</i> [7, 21]*			
	*not in [1-6, 8-20]			
Study design				
-	Paralina abayantovistica [1 21]			
•	Baseline characteristics [1-21]			
•	Data collection [1-21] Pacaultmant/sevening [1, 21]			
	Staff[1,21]			
	Study duration [1-21]			
•	Barriers [1 2 4 6-11 13-15 18-21]*			
	*not in [3, 5, 12, 16, 17]			
•	<i>Ethics</i> [3-9, 13-21]*			
	*not in [1, 2, 10-12]			
•	<i>Bias</i> [2-7, 9, 11, 13-15, 18, 19, 21]*			
	*not in [1, 8, 10, 12, 16, 17, 20]			
•	Funding [1, 2, 5, 8, 11, 13, 15-21]*			
	*not in [3, 4, 6, 7, 9, 10, 12, 14]			
•	Blinding [3-6, 14, 18, 19, 21]*			
	*not in [1, 2, /-13, 15-1/, 20]			
•	$\frac{1}{100} \frac{100}{100} \frac{100}$			

*Numbered references in Table 2.3:* **1.** Aguiar *et al.*, 2012; **2.** Aguwa *et al.*, 2008; **3.** Carvalho and Nagavi, 2007; **4.** Chabot *et al.*, 2003; **5.** Fikri-Benbrahim *et al.*, 2012; **6.** Garção and Cabrita, 2002; **7.** Hughes *et al.*, 2002; **8.** Júnior *et al.*, 2008; **9.** Lai, 2007; **10.** McKenney *et al.*, 1973: **11.** Nemerovski *et al.*, 2013; **12.** Octavia and Florica, 2011; **13.** Planas, *et al.*, 2009; **14.** Pojskic *et al.*, 2014; **15.** Robinson *et al.*, 2010; **16.** Sharma *et al.*, 2014; **17.** Skowron *et al.*, 2011; **18.** Stewart *et al.*, 2014; **19.** Svarstad *et al.*, 2013; **20.** Taylor *et al.*, 2003; **21.** Zillich, *et al.*, 2005

#### 2.6.5 Risk of bias within studies

Risk of bias within the included studies with the dimension of bias (entry), the assessment of risk of bias (judgement) and the evidence for the assessment (support for judgement) with quotes and comments is presented in Table 5.1 in Appendix 5.2.

Risk of bias across studies is shown in Table 2.4. The overall risk among most of the studies involves high or unclear risk.

**Table 2.4.** Risk of bias across studies: an overall risk of bias assessment for each included study based on the risk of bias judgements made within the individual domains of The Cochrane Collaboration's tool for assessing risk of bias (see Table 5.1 in Appendix 5.2). Author, year in italics=study not meeting EPOC study design criteria.

Author year	Overall risk
MoVonnou at al. 1072	Unalger rick
Hugher ( 1 2002	Unclear risk
Hugnes et al., 2002	Unclear risk
2002	Unclear risk
Taylor et al., 2003	High risk
Chabot et al., 2003	Unclear risk
Zillich et al., 2005	High risk
Carvalho and Nagavi,	
2007	Unclear risk
Lai, 2007	High risk
Aguwa et al., 2008	High risk
Júnior et al., 2008	Unclear risk
Planas et al., 2009	Unclear risk
Robinson et al., 2010	High risk
Octavia and Florica, 2011	Unclear risk
Skowron <i>et al.</i> , 2011	Unclear risk
Aguiar et al., 2012	High risk
Fikri-Benbrahim et al.,	
2012	High risk
Nemerovski et al., 2013	Unclear risk
Svarstad et al., 2013	Low risk
Pojskic et al., 2014	
(Pojskic, 2014a)	High risk
Stewart et al., 2014	Low risk
Sharma et al., 2014	High risk

#### 2.6.7 Publication bias

A comparison of funnel plots based on effect estimates odds ratio and mean difference respectively with and without grey literature is demonstrated in this section.

### 2.6.7.1 Odds ratio: Systolic blood pressure (SBP) and diastolic blood pressure (DBP) as a combined outcome

#### 2.6.7.1.1 Visual interpretation of the funnel plot including grey literature

Figure 2.7 displays a funnel plot based on odds ratio as an effect estimate of SBP and DBP as a combined outcome. Grey literature has been included the funnel plot. Visual inspection is suggestive of a funnel, but there is also clear asymmetry on the right-hand side. Consequently, the visual interpretation indicates publication bias is less likely to be present.



**Figure 2.7.** Funnel plot based on odds ratio as an effect estimate of SBP and DBP as a combined outcome. Grey literature has been included this funnel plot. Visual inspection is suggestive of a funnel, but there is also clear asymmetry on the right-hand side. Thus, this indicates publication bias is less likely to be present.

#### 2.6.7.1.2 Statistical analysis of funnel plot asymmetry

The statistical analysis of funnel plot asymmetry shows a significant result (t=2.82, df=9, p=0.020) indicating asymmetry when grey literature is included the funnel plot.

#### 2.6.7.1.3 Visual interpretation of the funnel plot excluding grey literature

Figure 2.8 demonstrates a funnel plot based on odds ratio as an effect estimate of SBP and DBP as a combined outcome. Grey literature has been excluded the funnel plot. Visual inspection is indicating a funnel, but clearly, there is asymmetry because there are only four studies.



**Figure 2.8.** Funnel plot based on odds ratio as an effect estimate of SBP and DBP as a combined outcome. Grey literature has been excluded this funnel plot. Visual interpretation is indicating a funnel, but clearly, there is asymmetry because there are only four studies. Excluded grey literature consists of McKenney *et al.*, 1973; Garção and Cabrita., 2002; Hughes *et al.*, 2002. Low INT; Chabot *et al.*, 2003. High income group; Skowron *et al.*, 2011; Pojskic *et al.*, 2014.

# 2.6.7.2 Mean difference2.6.7.2.1 Systolic blood pressure (SBP)2.6.7.2.1.1 Visual interpretation of the funnel plot including grey literature

Figure 2.9 displays a funnel plot based on mean difference as an effect estimate of SBP. Grey literature has been included the funnel plot. Visual inspection is suggestive of a funnel, but there is also asymmetry. This indicates publication bias is less likely to be present.



**Figure 2.9.** Funnel plot based on mean difference as an effect estimate of SBP. Grey literature has been included this funnel plot. There is a suggestion of a funnel, but there is also asymmetry. Consequently, there is an indication of publication bias less likely of being present.

#### 2.6.7.2.1.2 Visual interpretation of the funnel plot excluding grey literature

Figure 2.10 demonstrates a funnel plot based on mean difference as an effect estimate of SBP. Grey literature has been excluded the funnel plot. Visual inspection is indicating a funnel, but clearly, there is asymmetry because there are only three studies.



**Figure 2.10.** Funnel plot based on mean difference as an effect estimate of SBP. Grey literature has been excluded this funnel plot. Visual inspection is indicating a funnel, but clearly, there is asymmetry because there are only three studies. Excluded grey literature consists of Garção and Cabrita., 2002; Hughes *et al.*, 2002. High and Low IG; Octavia and Florica, 2011; Skowron *et al.*, 2011.

### 2.6.7.2.2 Diastolic blood pressure (DBP)2.6.7.2.2.1 Visual interpretation of the funnel plot including grey literature

Figure 2.11 displays a funnel plot based on mean difference as an effect estimate of DBP. Grey literature has been included the funnel plot. Visual inspection is suggestive of funnel plot asymmetry.



**Figure 2.11.** Funnel plot based on mean difference as an effect estimate of DBP. Grey literature has been included this funnel plot. Visual inspection is suggestive of funnel plot asymmetry.

#### 2.6.7.2.2.2 Visual interpretation of the funnel plot excluding grey literature

Figure 2.12. demonstrates a funnel plot based on mean difference as an effect estimate of DBP. Grey literature has been excluded the funnel plot. Visual inspection is suggestive of funnel plot asymmetry when excluding grey literature.



**Figure 2.12.** Funnel plot based on mean difference as an effect estimate of DBP. Grey literature has been excluded this funnel plot. Visual inspection is suggestive of funnel plot asymmetry. Excluded grey literature consists of Garção and Cabrita., 2002; Hughes *et al.*, 2002. High and Low IG; Octavia and Florica, 2011; Skowron *et al.*, 2011.

#### 2.7 Discussion

This systematic review came about recognizing the need to identify and evaluate mixedmethod studies on community pharmacist-led interventions within a community pharmacy setting aimed at blood pressure optimisation in patients undergoing oral antihypertensive medication therapy. The formulation of a structured question is a recommended pathway to conduct a systematic review (Khan *et al.*, 2011). In contrast to what is somewhat considered a norm in the undertaking of systematic reviews, the present systematic review employed a mixed-method approach aiming to capture the evidence base in its entirety regardless of study design. Hadi and co-workers (2014) pinpoint that mixed-methods research would have a positive impact on pharmacy practice research (Hadi *et al.*, 2014). To date and to what is known, this is the first comprehensive systematic review to have been undertaken within the current research domain using such an approach. Hence, this carries a risk in that there are studies containing a high risk of bias which could undermine the quality of the systematic review. Despite this, the present systematic review was primarily a scoping exercise constructed to explore the availability of evidence within the research domain.

#### 2.7.1 Study selection process

Five different electronic biomedical databases were selected in which there was a varying quantity of search outputs, despite carefully selected MESH search term combinations tailored in accordance to each database. Interestingly, the grey literature provided a larger amount of records for screening compared to electronic databases.

Overall, the systematic review generated 21 studies for inclusion, a number which is moderate considering the time-scale since 1973. This could possibly reflect the change the pharmacist profession has undergone from preparation and dispensing of medications to working with patients in a pharmaceutical care perspective (Van Wijk *et al.*, 2005).

#### 2.7.2 Summary of the evidence 2.7.2.1 Participants

First and foremost, the patient screening process being the initial phase of the study is vital to recruit patients with the characteristics of interest. As studies have been performed on different ethnic groups, patients with differing socio-economic status, patients with comorbidity and a wide age span among patients of 50 or 60 years, the question remaining is how to screen patients in a standardized way to provide an individually tailored approach to the community pharmacy service. Thus, one approach could involve the creation of an algorithm in the context of patient characteristics, screening and recruitment process to establish which subsets of patients should be recruited in the light of a likely benefit from community-pharmacist-led intervention/s.

Secondly, across the time-scale from the older studies to the modern ones, there appears to be a trend towards inclusion of a larger number of patients in studies. Likewise, there is a varying number of patients completing the studies which is a known hurdle in clinical trials - to retain patients throughout the study. Indeed, this infers again that attention should be paid toward the screening process of patients at recruitment, to maximize the possibility of keeping the patients until study completion. A viable complementary approach to self-referred patients would be physician referral of patients to the community pharmacy service.

Thirdly, the finding that the pharmacotherapy sub-theme was not mentioned in any included studies inhibits knowledge of the pharmacotherapeutic factors contributing to blood pressure control, e.g. drug class, monotherapy, polypharmacy, duration of antihypertensive medication therapy. Indeed, apart from the pharmacotherapeutic data available at the community pharmacy, after obtaining the patient's consent, the community pharmacist/researcher should seek assistance from the physician to confirm relevant patient characteristics and pharmacotherapeutic data enabling the delivery of patient-centred and tailored intervention/s. The researcher/clinician approaching the patient during the screening/recruitment process will undoubtedly raise an awareness in the patient and may act as an intervention itself which potentially could be a Hawthorn effect. This is recognized in an Australian study by Bajorek and co-workers (2016) as BP measurement was performed as part of the patient screening process. The screening process could even have restricted patient recruitment (Bajorek et al., 2016). However, it is worthwhile to note that whilst this could have an impact on study results, it may be difficult in certain situations to avoid the BP measurement step of the patient screening process. What is more important is there being a setup in studies to evaluate potential covariates.

#### 2.7.2.2 Interventions

To begin, the interventions among the studies consisted of referral to/contact with a physician, informational materials, counselling, BP measurement, reminders and diary keeping. In fact, the interventions appear to be applied generally to the hypertensive population, without acknowledgment of the highly individual attitude to drug-based therapies and which intervention is responsible for the blood pressure outcome. Among the studies in the present

systematic review, there is a complexity of interventions. In general, this agrees with a conclusion drawn in the year 2014 Cochrane review by Nieuwlaat and co-workers. Interventions to improve adherence to medications in a set of different medical conditions was investigated by an analysis of RCTs. The authors mention the steps of improving adherence to chronic medical conditions is currently complex (Nieuwlaat *et al.*, 2014). In addition, the results from the meta-analysis of the current systematic review show that interventions do not produce any or only a minor positive effect. Thus, based on the evidence in the present systematic review, there is a need for standardization of interventions.

A systematic review was conducted by the International Society for Pharmacoeconomics and Outcomes Research (ISPOR) on interventions aiming at improving antihypertensive medication adherence in patients with essential hypertension. Publications ranging from the year 1979 to 2009 with various interventions and modes of delivering the interventions, as well as in various settings were included in their review. The authors bring forth several noteworthy limitations in studies aimed at improving antihypertensive medication adherence: interventions not being based on the determinants of non-adherence, not a proper description of the interventions, lack of consistency in adherence measurement, absence of studies relating antihypertensive medication adherence to blood pressure control, improper reporting of blood pressure and adherence. However, the authors mention that interventions which target medication knowledge among patients are likely to be clinically meaningful with regards to improving antihypertensive medication adherence. Nevertheless, it is unclear if this would result in blood pressure control. The authors also discuss there were some studies which included many interventions. In this situation, it is not clear whether a combination of

interventions or a single intervention leads to the positive outcome (Gwadry-Sridhar *et al.*, 2013).

A Cochrane review by Schroeder and colleagues from 2004 aimed to assess the extent of different interventions in improving adherence to antihypertensive medications. The authors reviewed 38 RCTs including 58 different interventions in adult patients with hypertension in ambulatory care settings. They concluded that simplifying the dosing regimen is recommended as the primary step to improve adherence, although its effect on blood pressure outcome was not investigated. By contrast to the review by Gwadry-Sridhar and co-workers in 2013, educating the patient is not a promising strategy to optimising adherence. However, it is noted that because of the poor quality of included studies, their results should be interpreted with caution (Schroeder *et al.*, 2004).

A Cochrane review from 2010 by Glynn and co-workers studied the effectiveness of interventions aimed at improving blood pressure control in hypertensive patients in ambulatory settings. Again, educational interventions alone were not successful, this time regarding achieving blood pressure control (Glynn *et al.*, 2010).

Furthermore, the outcome of the thematic analysis shows that an appropriate level of community pharmacist competence is required when delivering interventions to hypertensive patients. It is vital that preparation of community pharmacists prior to delivering interventions is properly defined. Bajorek and co-workers (2015) evaluated a training programme preparing 17 community pharmacists for hypertension management. The study showed that simulated and inter-professional training using different methods was effective. However, training could be improved (Bajorek *et al.*, 2015).

#### 2.7.2.3 Comparators

From the time of the first study included in this systematic review, (1973) onward, the RCT was progressively introduced into community pharmacy research which included intervention and control groups. This type of comparison now dominates the evidence base. On a positive note, this brings about good study quality since RCT's will provide the lowest risk of bias. Another approach being taken is through a partition of intervention and control groups into subgroups when the groups possess variables of interest to be compared. Thus, this is a positive move toward individualized approach since BP outcomes may vary between different subsets of patients. By contrast, there are some studies which use a before-and-after study comparison which may increase the risk of bias, ultimately resulting in poor study quality (Khan *et al.*, 2011; Wiffen *et al.*, 2012).

#### 2.7.2.4 Outcomes

#### 2.7.2.4.1 Blood pressure (BP) outcome

First, the blood pressure outcome among the studies is highly variable reflecting the differences in study design. Indeed, the present meta-analysis shows conflicting outcomes depending on the mode of calculating effect estimates; either there is no effect or an intimation of a positive effect on blood pressure. This makes it valuable to bear in mind that an elongated positioning of the studies is obtained when plotting mean differences in comparison to only plotting odds ratios. Despite this, the contribution of some patients may be experiencing a mild degree of a white-coat effect could be making the blood pressure values not as optimal as they could be. Explanations to the outcome of the meta-analysis can be traced back to two possible factors: a) many of the pharmacy interventions relating to usage of 106

medicines are simplistic and as such do not work bearing in mind that some manoeuvres which community pharmacists take with a good intention could make matters worse and/or b) the quality of some studies is low, ultimately resulting in poor results. It is not thought that the identification of extra studies since the meta-analysis was performed in the present systematic review will change the direction of the meta-analytic outcome since the BP results in these extra studies are highly variable.

Secondly, it would appear that previous research is based on the premise that intervention/s lead to positive outcome/s. A systematic review by Cheema and co-workers (2014) reviewed community pharmacist-led interventions in blood pressure control, concluding that such actions provide a clinically important contribution to hypertension management (Cheema *et al.*, 2014). The authors' approach of only including studies with randomized controlled design restricts the acquisition of the full evidence base within the research domain of community pharmacist-led interventions in optimizing blood pressure making it difficult to ensure comparability of BP outcome with the present systematic review.

Santschi and co-workers (2014) performed a meta-analysis by joining two previous systematic reviews. The analysis consisted of 39 RCTs with 14224 patients. The authors concluded that pharmacist interventions improved the management of BP. However, there was a spectrum of the efficacy of the interventions ranging from no effect to a large effect on BP. In addition, the analysis also included studies with study settings other than community pharmacy and in collaboration with other members of the healthcare team. Moreover, there was a substantial heterogeneity in BP between studies (Santschi *et al.*, 2014).

Morgado and co-workers (2011) conducted a literature review and meta-analysis to evaluate the impact of pharmacist-led interventions on antihypertensive medication adherence and

blood pressure reduction. The review included 15 studies with different study designs including 3280 patients in total. Again, this review also included studies performed outside of a community pharmacy setting. Interventions which improved antihypertensive medication adherence resulted in significantly lowered BP. Furthermore, the authors noted that most interventions resulting in improved adherence were complex. The meta-analysis was performed on 8 studies including 2619 patients showing significant improvements in SBP, DBP and achieving BP control (Morgado *et al.*, 2011).

In fact, the present systematic review shows there currently is no proper evidence to support the premise in earlier research of intervention/s leading to positive outcome/s. Therefore, interventions may have no impact or even a negative impact.

Thirdly, study settings other than community pharmacy is recurrent. This is also the case in the systematic review by Stewart and colleagues (2015) in which there were studies which had a focus on cardiovascular disease programs especially with relevance to antihypertensive medication adherence or persistence (Stewart *et al.*, 2015). The method and location of BP measurement should be precise as this may have an impact on varying BP results, i.e. when BP is measured by a community pharmacist, another member of health care staff or the patient alone by home blood pressure measurement.

#### 2.7.2.4.2 Other outcome measures

The evidence base points to an array of outcome measures. Thus, in some circumstances measuring several variables causes confusion into which target outcomes researchers intend to explore and what implications these outcomes would have on community pharmacy practice. The inclusion of non-pharmacologic treatment as an intervention should not be

underrepresented as this is a complement to the pharmacotherapeutic approach. However, researchers should instead be rigid in the choice of outcome measures with relevance to the development of a community pharmacy-based service. Previous systematic reviews, in general, support the evaluation of the economic aspect/cost-effectiveness of interventions (Glynn *et al.*, 2010; Schroeder *et al.*, 2004) Moreover, the evidence base lacks the assessment of attitudes to antihypertensive medication adherence as attitudes form an integral part of determining adherence, thus resulting in BP control. Further investigation is warranted into the impact of the community pharmacy interventions on quality of life of hypertensive patients. Future studies should ensure use of validated data collection tools for the purposes of obtaining reliable data.

#### 2.7.2.5 Study design

The measures of consistency indicate the existence of heterogeneity between the included studies. Indeed, a large portion of the studies in the present systematic review are not well-designed. Study durations between 3-15 months and a varying frequency of study visits to the community pharmacy do not provide a clear picture of what is a standardized period of investigation or frequency of community pharmacy visits. Information on barriers surrounding current designs is lacking. Barriers should be highlighted to facilitate the development of improved study designs. Consequently, current designs are overly complicated and variable requiring standardization.

#### 2.7.3 Risk of bias

There are studies in the present systematic review which are clearly at high risk of bias of which we cannot base practice and policy on. However, there are studies which are assessed to be unclear in risk: this type of evidence makes it difficult to plan policy since there is no evidence available to support the judgement. This renders studies in the present systematic review with unclear risk of bias to be suspect.

In addition, the thematic analysis has provided an indication of control groups not solely receiving usual care. The methodological approach of interventions being delivered to a control group during an ongoing study or towards study completion could possibly result in the advent of bias.

Moreover, the process of blinding patients in research on systems involving pharmaceutical interventions is not always achievable (Machado *et al.*, 2007; Morgado *et al.*, 2011; Mossialos *et al.*, 2013). Thus, non-blinding of patients increases the likelihood of bias in studies. It can be inferred that standardising the study design will inherently reduce bias. In general, this proposition is supported by Nieuwlaat and co-workers, 2014 who indicated bias can be reduced by applying appropriate study designs (Nieuwlaat *et al.*, 2014).

### 2.7.3.1 The Cochrane Collaboration's tool for assessing risk of bias versus other quality assessment tools

There exist various tools to assess bias in studies: older tools usually provide a summary score of bias for the study examined. The summary score method is simple in its approach. However, there have been raised issues concerning the summary score approach since it has been found to be inconsistent. Furthermore, such inconsistency causes an issue when bias is being assessed in non-RCT studies. As such, The Cochrane Collaboration's tool for assessing risk of bias instead utilises a domain-specific approach to bias which includes a degree of flexibility when assessing the risk of bias without the requirement of providing a number to bias (Katikireddi *et al.*, 2015).

The Cochrane Collaboration's tool for assessing risk of bias was employed in the present systematic review. Although this tool was constructed and validated for use in RCTs, the present systematic review did not restrict its use of this tool solely to RCTs. Being aware that there is an immediate high risk of bias in a non-RCT when using the tool, it really provides no reason not to be able to extend assessment for application into other study designs, even though there exist specific tools to assess bias in non-RCT studies such as the Risk Of Bias In Non-randomized Studies - of Interventions (ROBINS-I tool) (Sterne *et al.*, 2016). Using different types of risk of bias assessment tools in the same systematic review would possibly provide non-comparable assessments between studies in the mixed-methods approach. Consequently, The Cochrane Collaboration Tool for risk of bias assessment was incorporated into the mixed-methods design.

#### 2.7.3.2 Publication bias and funnel plot asymmetry

Visual interpretation of the funnel plots shows the presence of funnels and/or asymmetry in the funnels. However, the statistical test for assessing funnel plot asymmetry indicates asymmetry. It is known that visual interpretation of funnel plots is subjective. Hence, there is a possibility that there are reasons other than publication bias which could possibly explain the contrasting outcomes of the visual interpretation of the funnel plots and the statistical analysis of funnel plot asymmetry. In the literature, there have been suggested potential

reasons such as poor methodological quality, heterogeneity between studies and chance itself (Higgins and Green, 2011). Nevertheless, the importance of grey literature screening when performing a systematic review cannot be underestimated. The screening facilitates the retrieval of as many studies as possible which may reduce the risk of publication bias.

#### 2.7.4 Limitations

The database searches retrieved certain outputs which were ostensibly very interesting but unfortunately did not meet the inclusion criteria for the systematic review. An example of this is seen in the paper by Blenkinsopp and co-workers which did not report any clinical values to substantiate adherence (Blenkinsopp *et al.*, 2000). This is particularly disappointing with a condition such as hypertension, where there is a very clear relationship between the clinical markers, i.e. blood pressure and adherence itself. Amariles and co-workers in 2012 performed a study which included a community pharmacy-based pharmaceutical care process referred to as the "Dader Method" (Amariles *et al.*, 2012). Although an interesting process, their study included a high-risk cardiovascular population not being representative for the present systematic review.

Some studies did not report data or consisted of a study design which did not make it possible to include the studies in the effect estimates calculations. Therefore, the present meta-analysis was narrowed to be performed on 13 out of 21 studies. When contact information was available for the author/s, attempts were made to contact the author/s to obtain supporting data to enable the calculation of the effect estimate, though this approach was not always successful. Because of this, it is of importance that when possible, data that is required to enable the calculation of effect estimates are reported. In some included studies, proportions

of patients were not separately reported for SBP and DBP. It might be argued that treating the outcomes SBP and DBP separately might be more robust, but since there was not much data, it was better to calculate something from the available data. The expectation is that SBP and DBP would increase or decrease in a linked manner. Rare exceptions to this aspect exist. However, the exceptions were unlikely to be met.

The analysis of funnel plot asymmetry could have been more robust: there was not sufficient data to create funnel plots for odds ratio of SBP and DBP respectively. Criteria for the statistical analysis of funnel plot asymmetry for continuous outcomes did not allow analysis of the funnel plot based on mean difference as an effect estimate of SBP or DBP.

Since the present study employed a mixed-methods approach, targeting the EPOC study design criteria in a pragmatic way was not always applicable to certain studies. There exists no structure such as PRISMA for reporting of research utilizing a mixed-methods approach (Hadi *et al.*, 2014). However, the studies in the present systematic review which did not fully adhere to the EPOC study design criteria and/or PRISMA protocol have been indicated in the results section and it is considered that this limitation will not have an impact on the quantitative and qualitative outputs of this systematic review.

#### 2.8 Conclusion

In conclusion, the evidence-base is not consistent on community pharmacist-led interventions which optimise blood pressure in patients undergoing oral antihypertensive medication therapy. A clear strategy to target patients who will likely have a benefit from the community pharmacy service is required. This could be facilitated by physicians referring patients to the community pharmacy as a complement to patient self-referral. A collaboration between the community pharmacist and physician could contribute to confirming relevant clinical parameters in the patient.

Generic interventions for optimizing BP are being applied to the hypertensive patient population. In addition, together with previous systematic reviews aimed at improving blood pressure in hypertensive patients, it is clear from the evidence base of the present systematic review that there exists a multiplicity of interventions which are overly complex and do not indicate the effectiveness of different interventions. Blood pressure outcomes of the interventions do not point to a positive outcome. It is possible that certain interventions could result in no effect on BP or possibly even have a negative impact on BP. In addition, recommendations for interventions that are most appropriate under different circumstances is needed in future studies. Thus, ensuring a patient-centred approach by individually tailored interventions would pave the way for the provision of high-quality studies.

The existence of an array of study outcomes made it difficult to focus on what researchers wanted to achieve to develop an effective community pharmacy-based service. New well-designed studies providing evidence on outcomes at both community pharmacy and the patient level is required. Also needed is a standardized methodology with randomized controlled study design together with the standardisation of interventions. These measures would increase the likelihood of minimizing bias making it possible to form a solid foundation on which to build practice and policy.

### 3 A pilot study evaluating the impact of community pharmacist-led interventions to optimize antihypertensive medicines adherence

The findings from the general literature and systematic review were refined into the experimental methodological approach in this pilot study to evaluate the adherence subgroups.

#### 3.1 Introduction

#### 3.1.1 Pharmaceutical care service

The pharmacy profession has changed since the introduction of clinical pharmacy in the 1980s. The view has become more toward safe, effective, rational and individualizing therapy to the patient. Evolving technology has also resulted in a change in community pharmacy with examples such as mail-order and internet (Allen Jr *et al.*, 2012). As the science of medication emerges and becomes more complex, an adequate number of community pharmacists with a specific level of knowledge is needed. The pharmacist is the logical choice to provide pharmaceutical care (Cipolle *et al.*, 2012, Puspitasari *et al.*, 2016). The human lifespan continues to increase resulting in polypharmacy as chronic illnesses evolve. Likewise, the number of prescribers is increasing. Thus, it is not foreign to understand this complexity leading to drug-related problems. At the patient level, the occurrence of drug-related problems and non-adherence reflect that medications are not properly managed. Here medication management has an essential role (Cipolle *et al.*, 2012).

The concept of medication management is seen from two perspectives: the prescriptioncentred approach or a patient-centred approach. The latter is separated from the dispensing process (Cipolle *et al.*, 2012). Disease state management forming the patient-centred approach looks at improving adherence to treatment for the individual patient. This encompasses planning in collaboration with patients and other healthcare staff, communication with the physician and documentation of the management of disease (Allen Jr *et al.*, 2012). At the same time, the shift from the dispensing process and supplication of other pharmacy products to offering pharmaceutical care services presents its own challenges (Puspitasari *et al.*, 2016). An attempt by the WHO has been made to provide guidance on investigations relating to a pharmacist-led, community pharmacy-based hypertension management program. The EuroPharm Forum and WHO CINDI Programme in 2005 produced a guidance document on pharmacy-based hypertension management. The reason is to increase blood pressure control in the community by including pharmacists to prevent, detect and manage hypertension. Continuous documentation of the activities and evaluation of the project are included (WHO, 2005). Despite this, the guideline does not recognize that patients have individual attitudes to therapy. Consequently, the outcome may not be the same in patients who receive the generic intervention.

#### 3.1.2 Study design

The before-and-after study design is commonly used in pharmacy practice research. Data collection is performed on variable/s at baseline and at follow-up after the intervention. Following this, the before and after data is compared. Despite the study design is simplistic, there is no inclusion of a control group making it difficult to know if the changes are caused by the intervention or if confounding factors are involved. At the same time, the data

collection can be designed to confirm if other factors are involved in producing change (Smith, 2002; Tsuyuki *et al.*, 2014).

A feasibility or pilot study provides an investigation on the efficacy and practical aspects of a study before going on to conducting a larger trial. Thus, any issues in the small-scale study can be captured and hopefully rectified before deciding to proceed with a larger study. In pharmacy research, it is common to employ triangulation. This will from different angles relate the study aims and objectives or validity of data to the combined use of various paths, methods and/or data within the same research investigation. Each single method used in triangulation will have its own pros and cons (Smith, 2002; Smith, 2010).

#### 3.2 Methods

#### 3.2.1 Research proposal

The original research proposal for this pilot study is found in Appendix 5.4.

#### 3.2.2 Ethical approval

Ethical approval for this study was obtained from Regional Ethical Review Board in Uppsala, case number 2013/017 (Appendix 5.5).

#### 3.2.3 Study design

This pilot study was an open-label, prospective, longitudinal before-and-after study of sixmonth duration with patients being their own control conducted in a single community pharmacy in Uppsala, Sweden.

#### **3.2.4** Patient recruitment

Patients aged 18 and above, who had been prescribed at least one antihypertensive agent or fixed combination of antihypertensive medications, for at least 3 months were recruited. All participants could understand, write and speak Swedish. Medication refills were completed at the study pharmacy throughout the duration of the study. Patients who were not self-administering medicines or those participating in other clinical studies were excluded from the present investigation.

Patients presenting with prescriptions for antihypertensive agents were approached sequentially and were provided with the study patient information leaflet (Appendix 5.5) and invited to participate. They were given at least 24 hours to consider participation. If they expressed interest to participate, an appointment with the study pharmacist at the community pharmacy was done during which opportunity to ask questions about the study was given and they were asked to complete and sign a consent form (Appendix 5.6). This appointment also served as the baseline visit.

On entry into the study, each participant was assigned an individual three-digit participant code to anonymize data. Patient information was stored electronically protected by TrueCrypt data encryption technology.

#### 3.2.5 Study visits

All study visits were performed in the community pharmacy with the study pharmacist.

#### 3.2.5.1 Visit 0 (Baseline visit)

At the 40-minute baseline visit in the community pharmacy, participants completed an assessment of attitudes to antihypertensive medication adherence. This was performed through a triangulated approach using self-reported Morisky Medication Adherence Scale (8-item MMAS - in Swedish translation obtained from the original author), Medication Adherence Report Scale (MARS), and Belief about Medicines Questionnaire (BMQ). The latter 2 questionnaires were in Swedish translation with both forward and back translation approved by its original author (Holt *et al.*, 2012; Horne *et al.*, 1999; Krousel-Wood *et al.*, 2009; Lehane and McCarthy, 2007; Mahler *et al.*, 2010; Morisky *et al.*, 2008; Mårdby *et al.*, 2007; Ramanath *et al.*, 2012).

Seated pulse, systolic and diastolic blood pressure measurements were made following 5 minutes' rest (Mancia *et al.*, 2007; O'Brien *et al.*, 2005; The British Hypertension Society, 2012). Measurements were made using a clinically validated electronic blood pressure monitor (model 705 IT OMRON HEALTHCARE Co., Ltd. Kyoto, Japan) and 3 readings were made to check for conformity (The British Hypertension Society, 2012; The British Hypertension Society, 2016). It is considered the patient was most relaxed during the last repeat blood pressure measurement. The participant was informed about the results from the blood pressure and pulse measurement.

### 3.2.5.2 Visit 1 (Interventions) – 3-months from baseline3.2.5.2.1 Adherence screening questionnaire scoring

The scale scoring for the questionnaires was performed in accordance with instructions from the original authors. Low adherence on the 8-item MMAS was considered as a scale score of <6, medium adherence 6 to <8, and high adherence at the maximum 8-item MMAS score of 8. Ranges of the adherence scale score and adjusted mean score in the MARS questionnaire were between 5-25 and 1-5 respectively. For the BMQ, each of the four subscales could have a scale score range of 1-5.

Participants were allocated into one of four adherence groups: adherent (A), intentional nonadherent rational (IR), intentional non-adherent irrational (II) and unintentional non-adherent (U). However, as the categorization of patients progressed, it became apparent that a small number of patients could be allocated to two adherence subgroups simultaneously.

#### 3.2.5.2.2 The adherence subgroup categorization process

Patients were assigned to the A subgroup when maximum adherence scores were obtained on both the 8-item MMAS and MARS. Both the MARS and 8-item MMAS consist of questions dealing with intentional and unintentional non-adherence. Moreover, these questions can be categorized from the perspective of rationality or irrationality. Figures 3.1 to 3.3. set out a schematic illustration on how the questionnaires used during the adherence screening enabled adherence subgroup categorization.

Suspicions of non-adherence were always considered when the scores on the 8-item MMAS and MARS were below maximum. In these circumstances, the study pharmacist reviewed questionnaire responses to identify where the patient had provided answers that reduced the adherence score. These questions were then categorized as intentional or unintentional nonadherence. The set thresholds in questionnaire scores for the adherence subgroup categorization process were based on intuition. Consequently, the occurrence of the

your medications? Once in a while, Sometimes, Usually or All the time. .4. When you travel or leave home, do you sometimes forget to bring along your blood pressure medication? How often do you have difficulty remembering to take all Did you take your blood pressure medicine yesterday? Do you sometimes forget to take your blood pressure ∍ pills? When you feel like your blood pressure is under control, do you sometimes stop taking your medicine? reasons other than forgetting. Thinking over the past two medication without telling your doctor, because you felt weeks, were there any days when you did not take your People sometimes miss taking their medications for Have you ever cut back or stopped taking your 8-item MMAS = blood pressure medicine?\* worse when you took it? some people. Do you ever feel hassled about sticking to your Taking medication everyday is a real inconvenience for reasons other than forgetting. Thinking over the past two People sometimes miss taking their medications for weeks, were there any days when you did not take your ≝ blood pressure treatment plan? blood pressure medicine?\*

\*Either rational or irrational depending on judgement made by study pharmacist taking into account the holistic picture of the patient's questionnaire responses.

question in the actual 8-item MMAS questionnaire. The categorization follows into intentional non-adherent rational (II), intentional non-adherent irrational (II) or unintentional non-adherent (U) adherence sub-types based on the responses the patient has provided in the questionnaire. Use of the @MMAS is protected by Figure 3.1. Categorization of the 8-item MMAS responses into sub-types of adherence. Number codes set before the questions indicate the numbering of the US copyright laws. Permission for use is required. A license agreement is available from: Donald E. Morisky, ScD, ScM, MSPH, Professor, Department of Community Health Sciences, UCLA School of Public Health, 650 Charles E. Young Drive South, Los Angeles, CA 90095-1772.

intentional versus unintentional non-adherence among these questions determined if the

patient was intentional or unintentional non-adherent.


**Figure 3.2.** Categorization of MARS responses into sub-types of adherence. Codes before each statement indicate the numbering of the statement in the MARS questionnaire. The categorization into intentional non-adherent irrational (II) or unintentional non-adherent (U) adherence sub-types was based on the responses the patient provided in the questionnaire.

For example, the patient may have responded that they had forgotten to take their blood pressure medication and that taking medication caused the patient to worry. This indicated unintentional non-adherent behavior resulting in allocation to the U subgroup.

The division into rational or irrational was performed after the study pharmacist again looked at each question in MARS and 8-item MMAS to which the patient had provided answers that reduced the adherence score. Each question was noted as either rational or irrational. Thus, the occurrence of rationality versus irrationality questions was a deciding factor into the categorization. In addition, this categorization was further refined by the patient's BMQ responses. This was done by the study pharmacist by examining the individual scale scores and the responses from the necessity, concern, overuse and harm scales (Figure 3.3).



**Figure 3.3.** Categorization of BMQ responses into rational or irrational. Code before the belief statement indicates the numbering of the statement in the BMQ questionnaire. The categorization into rational or irrational was based on the responses the patient provided in the questionnaire. Some belief responses were regarded as either rational or irrational depending on a judgement made by the study pharmacist when the entire perspective of the patient's questionnaire responses was examined.

The necessity beliefs were all assessed as being rational beliefs. Therefore, the occurrence of

a score of 4-5 (Agree – Strongly Agree) on the necessity scale pointed toward rationality.

However, if the score was between 3-1 (Uncertain – Strongly Disagree) it was a pointer that

the patient was more toward the irrational side. The beliefs which made up the concern,

overuse and harm scales were assessed as being irrational. Hence, a score of 4-5 would indicate irrationality whereas scores 3-1 would point toward rationality.

Thus, we can see that the frequency of intentional versus unintentional non-adherence responses on the 8-item MMAS, MARS and rationality versus irrationality on the 8-item MMAS, MARS and BMQ decided the adherence subgroup categorization.

#### 3.2.5.2.3 Interventions

At a study visit to the study community pharmacy three months from baseline, interventions intuitively designed to optimize adherence were delivered to each patient based on their individual results received on the 8-item MMAS, MARS and BMQ adherence screens. Participants received one of the following interventions provided by the study pharmacist according to their adherence subgroup categorization:

- A: patients visited the community pharmacy to receive a generic patient medication explanation leaflet (I) describing facts on adherence to antihypertensive medication therapy and steps to be taken to improve adherence (Appendix 5.7).
- IR: patients visited the community pharmacy to receive a patient medication explanation leaflet (I).
- II: patients received targeted counselling (C) explaining their condition, medication mechanism, importance and outcomes of adherence (this targeted counselling took place in a separate, calm and quiet room in the pharmacy building). Counselling was

completed in a maximum 30 minutes per patient. The patient was during the counselling session also given a patient medication explanation leaflet (I).

• U: patients received targeted counselling (C). Patients also received a patient medication explanation leaflet (I) and a reminder sheet (R) for use at home in a convenient, prominent position. The reminder sheet was customized to each patient, featuring tick boxes to demonstrate if and when a dose was taken (Appendix 5.8).

## **3.2.5.2.4** Deviations from the intervention protocol

There were situations necessitating deviation from the intervention protocol in which an alternative intervention or combinations of interventions were used. Such situations arose when questionnaire data was equivocal and indicated to address particular adherence issues.

#### 3.2.5.2.5 Patients requesting BP and pulse measurement at visit 1

At visit 1 there were patients who requested for BP and pulse measurement, despite this not being a part of the study protocol.

#### 3.2.5.3 Visit 2 (Final visit) – 6 months from baseline

At a final 40-minute study visit to the community pharmacy, patients completed 8-item MMAS, MARS and BMQ questionnaires. Blood pressure and pulse measurements were recorded.

# 3.2.6 Statistics3.2.6.1 Power calculation

The calculation for the approximate sample sizes that would be required in each adherence subgroup for 80% power at the 5% significance level when comparing various proportions was performed in Microsoft Excel 2010 (Microsoft Corporation, 2010). The chosen success rate was titrated to the number of patients considered to be recruited in the authentic practice situation, i.e. the number of patients required in each adherence subgroup for 80% power at 5% significance level: 70% success, 30% failure for intervention was 25 patients in each adherence subgroup.

#### 3.2.6.2 Statistical software

Microsoft Excel 2010 was used to perform the calculations of the descriptive statistics (Microsoft Corporation, 2010). IBM SPSS Statistics version 22 was used to perform all the other statistical analysis (IBM Corp., 2013).

## 3.2.6.3 Significance levels

The definitions for the significance levels are: *significant* when p<0.05, *very significant* when p<0.01 and *highly significant* when p<0.001.

## **3.2.6.4 Descriptive statistics**

Descriptive statistics including mean, median, standard deviation (StDev) and standard error (SE) were calculated in Microsoft Excel 2010 (Microsoft Corporation, 2010).

#### 3.2.6.5 The Shapiro-Wilk test of normality and the Wilcoxon-signed rank test

The Shapiro-Wilk test of normality was performed to obtain information on whether the blood pressure and pulse data at visit 0 and visit 2 followed a normal distribution. The blood pressure and pulse data at visit 0 and visit 2 did not fully comply to follow a normal distribution. Because of this, the nonparametric Wilcoxon signed-rank test was performed to analyse the mean changes in systolic BP (SBP), diastolic BP (DBP) and pulse between visit 0 and visit 2. P values of <0.05 were taken as significant for both the Shapiro-Wilk test of normality and the Wilcoxon-signed rank test.

#### 3.2.6.6 Spearman correlation

A Spearman correlation was performed to see if a correlation existed between the scores from the adherence screens (8-item MMAS, MARS and BMQ) and the outcomes SBP, DBP and pulse. This was performed in the overall study population, A and U subgroups. The correlation was not performed for the other subgroups as the patient numbers were too low. Raw data from each of the adherence screens (Morisky, MARS, BMQ) were treated as a continuum ( $0 \rightarrow x$ ) and a Spearman correlation was performed with the outcomes SBP, DBP and pulse (repeat measurements, last repeat measurements) at visit 0 and visit 2 respectively. The statistic was two-tailed with significance levels p<0.01 and p<0.05.

## 3.2.6.7 Multivariate analysis of variance (MANOVA) and multivariate analysis of covariance (MANCOVA)

Multivariate analysis of variance (MANOVA) was performed to analyse between-groups differences at visit 0 and visit 2 respectively. For visit 0 the independent variable was the adherence subgroups, whereas for visit 2 the statistic was performed with the adherence subgroups and allocated interventions as independent variables. The mean values of blood pressure and pulse repeats were the dependent variables. Post-hoc analysis with Tukey's HSD and Bonferroni was performed to explore statistically significant univariate outcomes.

To test potential covariates which could influence the blood pressure and pulse results, multivariate analysis of covariance (MANCOVA) was performed to test the relationship between groups and possibly influencing covariates. MANCOVA was performed sequentially for each covariate (SBP based on repeat measurements at visit 0, DBP based on repeat measurements at visit 0, pulse based on repeat measurements at visit 0, medication group, month at visit 0, gender of patient, age of patient at visit 0, patient on monotherapy/polypharmacy) to either establish them or reject them as possibly interfering factors. Post-hoc analysis of univariate outcomes was carried out with Bonferroni adjustment. The multivariate analysis was separately taken in the light of the following criteria for MANOVA and MANCOVA (Mayers, 2013):

#### MANOVA

- categorical independent variables
- normally distributed dependent variables
- not too many deviations
- acceptable correlation between dependent variables

- homogeneity of variance between groups
- equal correlation between dependent variables between groups
- not too many dependent variables

## MANCOVA

- correlation between the covariate and dependent variables
- if the covariate is dependent on independent variables
- covariates measured before interventions
- covariate and dependent variables normally distributed
- enough sample sizes and equal sample sizes
- homogeneity of regression slopes (covariate and dependent variable)

Both MANOVA and MANCOVA were planned to be performed on a pragmatic basis. However, all criteria were not always met and the interpretations of the MANOVA and MANCOVA results should be taken considering these constraints. In addition, ANOVA is a statistic which can stand medium level of deviation from normality (Petrie and Sabin, 2009). For MANOVA and MANCOVA p-values of <0.05 were taken as significant.

## 3.3 Results

#### 3.3.1 Study duration

The study lasted from March 27<sup>th</sup>, 2013 to December 9<sup>th</sup>, 2014. Results were analyzed on an intention-to-treat basis.

#### 3.3.2 Study population

The overall study population was 153 patients of which 147 patients completed all study visits. Six patients withdrew after visit 0. Reasons for withdrawal were that patient number 517 and 518 cited time constraints, patient 562 halted antihypertensive pharmacotherapy according to the physician's recommendation, patient 651 cited personal circumstances, whereas patient 652 cited both personal circumstances and time constraints. Patient 532 did not provide a reason for study withdrawal.

In the overall study population, there were 77 male and 76 female patients. Mean age of the overall patient population was 66 years. There were 73 patients on monotherapy and 80 patients on polypharmacy.

The overall study population is presented in Table 3.1. in which the changes in SBP, DBP and pulse between visit 0 and visit 2 are shown. The desired outcome was a blood pressure change >0 equating to a reduction in mean SBP and DBP between visit 0 and 2. A blood pressure change <0 equated to an increase in mean SBP and DBP between visit 0 and 2. The antihypertensive pharmacotherapy for each patient is classified according to medication groups. In addition, adherence subgroup and the interventions delivered for each patient are shown.

130

Blood pressure and pulse results in the results section are all based on repeat measurements unless otherwise stated.

From Table 3.1, changes in BP for patients on mono or dual therapy indicate a positive change: a blood pressure reduction occurring between visit 0 and 2. Patients on triple, quadruple and quintuple therapies mainly have a negative change in blood pressure, i.e. their blood pressure getting worse.

PN	ChSBP	ChDBP	ChPulse	AHMG	ADSG	INT
500	38	17	8	TD+(ACEinh)*	II	C+I
568	-11	-24	6	LD	II	C+I
522	-6	10	17	TPSD	A AND II	C+I
630	-6	-1	3	TPSD	U	C+I+R
506	-6	-10	4	BB	U	C+I+R
507	5	-3	-7	BB	A AND IR	C+I
523	-7	3	2	BB	А	C+I
534	6	6	7	BB	U	C+I+R
540	21	3	-4	BB+(ARB)* +(ARBHCT)*	U	C+I+R
542	12	12	2	BB	А	Ι
549	15	8	-4	BB	А	Ι
561	-3	-4	2	BB	А	C+I
567	15	11	1	BB	U	C+I+R
596	14	3	6	BB	А	Ι
617	-1	0	0	BB	II	C+I
620	2	-5	-7	BB	А	Ι
626	-6	-13	-1	BB	А	Ι
518				ССВ		
519	5	13	10	ССВ	U	C+I+R
545	0	-1	-8	ССВ	А	Ι
553	12	11	-6	ССВ	А	Ι

**Table 3.1.** Overall study populations with change in SBP, DBP and pulse between visit 0 and visit 2, their antihypertensive pharmacotherapy classified according to medication groups, adherence subgroups and the allocated intervention. Participants highlighted in italics are patient drop-outs.

				Continuation of Table 3.1		
PN	ChSBP	ChDBP	ChPulse	AHMG	ADSG	INT
557	-21	-15	3	ССВ	U	C+I+R
563	7	7	11	ССВ	U	C+I+R
577	17	8	8	ССВ	U	C+I+R
580	-6	-5	11	ССВ	А	Ι
587	6	5	-7	ССВ	А	C+I
592	32	23	28	CCB+(BB)*	А	C+I
610	-7	-5	-1	ССВ	U	C+I+R
614	-3	1	-2	ССВ	U	C+I+R
618	-9	-5	-5	ССВ	А	Ι
638	17	11	-11	ССВ	А	Ι
646	1	-1	5	ССВ	U	C+I+R
648	-3	-10	-9	ССВ	U	C+I+R
514	5	0	0	ACEinh	U	C+I+R
527	-21	-6	3	ACEinh	A AND IR	Ι
551	8	6	-3	ACEinh	U	C+I+R
569	-25	-6	2	ACEinh	А	Ι
582	3	-3	11	ACEinh	U	C+I+R
586	-20	-16	10	ACEinh	А	Ι
589	-8	-6	-2	ACEinh	II AND U	C+I+R
590	-8	-5	6	ACEinh	А	C+I
600	-10	-3	1	ACEinh	U	C+I+R
601	-14	-10	-5	ACEinh	U	C+I+R
604	15	18	5	ACEinh	U	C+I+R
607	3	5	2	ACEinh	IR AND U	C+I+R

				Continuation of Table 3.1		
PN	ChSBP	ChDBP	ChPulse	AHMG	ADSG	INT
611	-8	-4	4	ACEinh	U	C+I+R
612	4	-1	-2	ACEinh	II AND U	C+I+R
644	-13	-6	3	ACEinh	А	Ι
647	-16	-11	0	ACEinh	А	Ι
652				ACEinh		
503	-4	-2	-4	ACEinhHCT	A AND IR	Ι
521	25	17	-18	ACEinhHCT	U	C+I+R
539	-11	-9	0	ACEinhHCT	U	C+I+R
555	11	2	23	ACEinhHCT	U	C+I+R
574	7	2	-3	ACEinhHCT	U	C+I+R
616	18	7	-9	ACEinhHCT	U	C+I+R
541	-9	-8	5	ARB	U	C+I+R
558	-3	0	-7	ARB	А	C+I
562				ARB		
564	-12	-8	8	ARB	U	C+I+R
571	-10	-11	3	ARB	U	C+I+R
572	6	7	-3	ARB	А	C+I
619	17	-5	-8	ARB	А	Ι
629	29	4	-18	ARB	А	Ι
632	24	13	2	ARB	U	C+I+R
633	35	18	3	ARB	А	Ι
641	23	1	-3	ARB	А	Ι
512	-2	2	-2	ARBHCT	А	Ι
547	-10	-5	13	ARBHCT	U	C+I+R
578	15	9	-8	ARBHCT	U	C+I+R

				Continuation of Table 3.1		
PN	ChSBP	ChDBP	ChPulse	AHMG	ADSG	IN
591	-18	-1	5	ARBHCT	А	Ι
595	-4	-6	-18	ARBHCT	U	C+I-
628	29	15	-8	ARBHCT	А	Ι
556	16	-2	-20	TD+ACEinh	А	Ι
643	24	12	-12	TD+ACEinh	U	C+I-
621	-3	-6	1	TD+ARB	U	C+I-
516	-3	-8	0	LD+TPSD	II	C+I-
588	9	1	3	LD+BB	U	C+I-
536	17	2	-3	LD+CCB	II	C+
505	36	8	7	LD+ACEinh	U	C+I-
529	3	4	4	LD+ACEinhHCT	A AND II	C+
502	14	9	-8	PSD+BB	А	Ι
613	6	5	5	PSD+ARB	А	Ι
520	-2	-2	4	TPSD+ACEinh	А	Ι
513	-3	5	-3	BB+CCB	A AND II	C+
537	-10	-8	-9	BB+CCB	U	C+I-
552	13	4	21	BB+CCB	А	C+
575	-5	-8	2	BB+CCB	А	C+
609	8	4	3	BB+CCB	А	C+
636	12	8	-4	BB+CCB	U	C+I-
650	-5	-7	-8	BB+CCB	U	C+I-
544	28	1	1	BB+ACEinh	А	Ι
550	3	0	12	BB+ACEinh	А	C+
585	19	5	-8	BB+ACEinh	А	C+
602	14	12	-5	BB+ACEinh+(ARB)*	А	I

				Continuation of Table 3.1		
PN	ChSBP	ChDBP	ChPulse	AHMG	ADSG	INT
606	8	8	1	BB+ACEinh	А	C+I
608	3	5	1	BB+ACEinh	U	C+I+R
627	15	-2	-11	BB+ACEinh	А	Ι
640	-5	-1	-7	BB+ACEinh	А	Ι
525	15	10	-3	BB+ARB	U	C+I+R
528	-23	-18	-19	BB+ARB	U	C+I+R
603	-6	-7	6	BB+ARB	А	C+I
631	3	-10	3	BB+ARB	А	C+I
634	3	-1	0	BB+ARB	А	Ι
583	-1	1	-3	BB+ARBHCT	II	C+I
649	-15	-3	-6	BB+ARBHCT	А	C+I
511	0	-4	8	CCB+ACEinh	А	Ι
535	13	6	13	CCB+ACEinh	U	C+I+R
573	-22	-5	10	CCB+ACEinh	А	Ι
570	-20	-9	-7	CCB+ACEinhHCT	А	C+I
581	-6	-5	-17	CCB+ACEinhHCT	U	C+I+R
598	1	1	-3	CCB+ACEinhHCT	U	C+I+R
615	15	7	-24	CCB+ACEinhHCT	А	Ι
622	2	6	1	CCB+ACEinhHCT	U	C+I+R
645	31	15	-3	CCB+ACEinhHCT	II	C+I
	18	9	1	CCB+ARB	U	
504	10	-	-	+(ARBHCT)*	Ũ	C+I+R
510	-46	-24	-6	CCB+ARB	II	C+I
524	0	10	1	CCB+ARB	А	Ι
543	12	2	13	CCB+ARB	U	C+I+R
501	30	19	-8	CCB+ARBHCT	А	Ι

				Continuation of Table 3.1		
PN	ChSBP	ChDBP	ChPulse	AHMG	ADSG	INT
526	13	9	4	CCB+ARBHCT	А	Ι
531	12	9	3	CCB+ARBHCT	А	Ι
559	6	1	-5	CCB+ARBHCT	II	C+I
593	-10	-7	16	CCB+ARBHCT+(BB)*	II	Ι
594	1	-6	-12	CCB+ARBHCT	А	Ι
599	-1	11	0	CCB+ARBHCT	U	C+I+R
	20	17		TD+LD+CCB		<u></u> .
625	-28	-1/	-5	+(TPSD)*+(ACEinh)*	11	C+I
538	-18	-18	0	TD+BB+ARB	U	C+I+R
565	5	1	5	TD+BB+ARB	А	Ι
548	-5	-12	-14	TD+CCB+ACEinh	А	C+I
532				LD+PSD+ARB		<u></u> .
554	13	2	3	LD+BB+ACEinh	II	C+I
639	-2	-7	-3	LD+BB+ARB	A AND II	C+I
576	7	12	7	TPSD+CCB+ARB	U	C+I+R
508	-6	-9	-2	BB+CCB+ACEinh	A AND IR	Ι
517				BB+CCB+ACEinh		
560	12	1	3	BB+CCB+ACEinh	А	C+I
566	-10	-1	-7	BB+CCB+ACEinh	U	C+I+R
623	-9	-13	-9	BB+CCB+ACEinh	U	C+I+R
635	6	4	-25	BB+CCB+ACEinh	A AND II	C+I
651				BB+CCB+ACEinh		
515	-1	-5	4	BB+CCB+ACEinhHCT	А	Ι
584	7	0	-5	BB+CCB+ACEinhHCT	U	C+I+R
597	14	5	-2	BB+CCB+ARBHCT	IR AND U	C+I+R

				Continuation of Table 3.1		
PN	ChSBP	ChDBP	ChPulse	AHMG	ADSG	INT
624	20	9	-5	BB+CCB+ARBHCT	U	C+I+R
637	-7	-3	-1	TD+PSD+CCB+ARB	А	Ι
509	2	-6	-8	LD+PSD+BB+ACEinh	U	C+I+R
530	-11	-11	-11	LD+PSD+BB+ACEinh	U	C+I+R
605	-14	0	0	LD+PSD+BB+ACEinh	А	C+I
	10	1	0	TPSD+CCB+ACEinh		
533	-10	-4	9	+ARB	А	Ι
	6	5	6	TD+LD+BB+CCB	П	
546	-0	5	0	+ACEinh	11	C+I
	10	2	0	LD+TPSD+BB+CCB	T	
642	10	-2	0	+ACEinh	U	C+I+R
				PSD+CCB+ACEinh		
579	-13	-8	-14	+BBCCB+Alpha	U	C+I+R

Abbreviations for Table 3.1: ACEinh=Angiotensin Converting Enzyme (ACE) inhibitor; ACEinhHCT= Angiotensin Converting Enzyme (ACE) inhibitor and hydrochlorothiazide; ADSG=Adherence subgroup; AHMG=Antihypertensive medication group; Alpha=Alpha blocker; ARB=Angiotensin-II receptor blocker; ARBHCT=Angiotensin-II receptor blocker; and hydrochlorothiazide; BB=Beta-blocker; BBCCB=Beta-blocker and calcium channel blocker; CCB=Calcium-channel blocker; ChDBP=Change in diastolic blood pressure; ChPulse=Change in pulse; ChSBP=Change in systolic blood pressure; INT=Intervention; LD=Loop diuretic; PN=Participant number; PSD=Potassium-sparing diuretic; TD=Thiazide diuretic; TPSD=Thiazide and potassium-sparing diuretic; (xy)\*=Add-on drug after visit 0

#### 3.3.2.1 Adherence subgroups

These are the 8 adherence subgroups with the n values for each subgroup (Table 3.2). The largest adherence subgroups are the A (n=62) and U (n=59) subgroups being similar in patient numbers. These are followed by the II (n=13) subgroup. The (A and IR) (n=4) and (A and II) (n=5) subgroups are also similar with small patient numbers. The (IR and U) and (II and U) subgroups are very small each consisting of 2 patients.

**Table 3.2.** Number (n) of patients in each adherence subgroup. The largest adherence subgroups are the A (n=62) and U (n=59) subgroups, followed by II (n=13). They are then followed by the smaller subgroups A and II (n=5), A and IR (n=4). The (IR and U) and (II and U) subgroups consist of very small numbers, n=2 in each subgroup.

Adherence	
subgroups	n
Α	62
A AND IR	4
A AND II	5
II	13
IR AND U	2
II AND U	2
U	59

A=adherent; IR=intentional non-adherent rational; II=intentional non-adherent irrational; U=unintentional non-adherent

#### **3.3.3 Deviations from study protocol**

For a few patients, there were a small number of deviations from the study protocol to accommodate the authentic community pharmacy practice situation. At the request of three patients: participants 501, 502 and 539, rather than measuring the BP at the community pharmacy, they were measured in the patients' domiciliary environment. It was acknowledged that a patient may be more relaxed in their home compared to the community pharmacy. For participant 605 a larger cuff size was used since a smaller cuff size was not comfortable. Patient 535 had almost a 7-month study duration to facilitate the scheduling of the last study visit. Participant 588 had to stop administering antihypertensive medication 14 days prior to visit 2 by request of the physician. Similarly, participant 625 stopped administering antihypertensive medication 4 weeks prior to visit 2, though this patient intended to contact the physician to restart the therapy. Despite this, on examination of the results there really no difference in their results and performance, so they were included in the cohort.

## 3.3.4 Baseline (visit 0) analysis

The multivariate analysis at visit 0 showed the between-group difference in blood pressure and pulse at visit 0 to be significant (p<0.05). The p-values of the four different test statistics in the multivariate analysis are shown in Table 3.3. Univariate analysis showed a significant difference for pulse at visit 0 (p<0.05). See the test statistic for the univariate analysis in Table 3.3.

MANOVA visit 0			
Multivariate	F statistic	p value	
Pillai's			
Trace=0.095	F(6, 270)=2.24	0.040	
Wilk's λ=0.91	F(6, 268)=2.25	0.039	
Hotelling's			
Trace=0.10	F(6, 266)=2.27	0.038	
Roy's Largest			
Root=0.089	F(3, 135)=4.00	0.009	
Univariate	F statistic	p value	
Pulse visit 0	F(2, 136)=4.30	0.015	

**Table 3.3.** MANOVA at visit 0. Multivariate analysis showed a significant between-group difference (p<0.05) on BP and pulse at visit 0 as shown by four test statistics: Pillai's Trace, Wilk's  $\lambda$ , Hotelling's Trace and Roy's Largest Root. The univariate analysis displayed a significant difference (p<0.05) for pulse at visit 0.

## **3.3.5** Deviation from intervention protocol

A deviation from the intervention protocol was necessary for 25 patients. Table 3.4 indicates to which patients these deviations occurred and on what basis the deviation was done. In general, deviations were more common for adherence subgroup A.

A subgroup,	<b>-</b>		MADO	DM ()
Participant number	Intervention	8-item MMAS*	MARS	BMQ
523	C+I			Specific Necessity score 1.4
548	C+I			Specific Necessity score 2.8
550	C+I			Specific Necessity score 3.6
				Agree BS5, General Overuse
552	C+I			score 3, Agree BG1
				Strongly Agree BS2, Uncertain
	~ -			BS5, BS9, Agree BG1, BG7,
558	C+I			Uncertain BG8
				Uncertain BS2, BS5, Agree
				BS11, General Overuse score 3.3,
560	C+I			Agree BG8
				Specific Necessity score 2.4,
				Agree BS2, BS11, Uncertain
561	C+I			BS5, Agree BG8
				Specific Necessity score 2.6,
				Agree BS2, BS5, BS9, Gen
				Overuse score 3, General Harm
570	C+I			score 2.6
				Specific Necessity score 3.4,
				Agree BS2, BS5, BS9, Uncertain
572	C+I			BG7, BG8
				Specific Necessity score 3,
				Uncertain BS9, General Overuse
	C I I			score 4.3, General Harm score
5/5	C+I			<u>3.2</u>
				Specific Necessity score 2.6,
				Uncertain BS6, BS9, General
<b>5</b> 95	$C \mid I$			Overuse score 5, General Harm
202	C+I			Scole 2.0
597	C I I			Specific Necessity score 2,
387	C+I			Uncertain BG7, BG8
				Specific Concerns score 3.4,
				Agree DS2 DS0 Agree DC1
500	C + I			Agree $D02$ , $D09$ , Agree $B01$ ,
390	UTI			DU0. Strongly Disagree DS2
				Judigiy Disaglee DSJ, Uncertain DS2, DS0, DS11
				Agree DS5 Strengly Agree DC1
				Agree BC3 BC6 BC8
502	C+I			Agree DU5, DU0, DU0, Uncertain BG7
392	UTI			

**Table 3.4.** Patients to which deviations occurred from the intervention protocol. The evidence for the deviations is shown. Codes for the questions and statements in the actual adherence screening questionnaires are indicated in this table.

		Continuation of Table 3.4		
A subgroup, Participant number	Intervention	8-item MMAS*	MARS	ВМО
				Specific Necessity score 2.6,
603	C+I			Specific Concerns score 2.7, General Overuse score 4
605	C+I			Uncertain BS6, BS11, BG7
606	C+I			Specific Necessity score 3, Specific Concerns score 2.8, Agree BS5, General Overuse score 3.7 (Agree BG7, BG 8, participant note on BG7, BG8: not always/sometimes)
609	C+I			Uncertain BS2, Agree BS5, BS9, BS11. General Overuse score 2.7
631	C+I			Specific Necessity score 2.4, Specific Concerns score 2.5, Agree BS2, General Overuse score 3
649	C+I			Specific Concerns score 3, Agree BS5, BS8, BS9, General Overuse score 3
A and IR subgroup, Participant number	Intervention	8-item MMAS*	MARS	BMQ
507	C+I			Specific Necessity score 2.6, Strongly Agree BG5
II subgroup, Participant number	Intervention	8-item MMAS*	MARS	BMO
питост		Yes on question	Rarely	ymd
516	C+I+R	number 3	M3	

Abbreviations for Table 3.4: C=counselling; I=medication explanation leaflet; R=reminder sheet. \*Use of the ©MMAS is protected by US copyright laws. Permission for use is required. A license agreement is available from: Donald E. Morisky, ScD, ScM, MSPH, Professor, Department of Community Health Sciences, UCLA School of Public Health, 650 Charles E. Young Drive South, Los Angeles, CA 90095-1772.

## 3.3.6 Patients requesting blood pressure (BP) and pulse measurement at visit 1

There were 30 patients who requested BP and pulse measurement during visit 1. However, the readings for these measurements are not reported in this thesis since they do not contribute to the study aims and objectives.

#### 3.3.7 Blood pressure (BP) and pulse results

The BP and pulse results at visit 0 and visit 2 for the cohort and each adherence subgroup is shown in the following section. The results are based on *repeat* BP measurements or *last repeat* BP measurement as noted in each figure/table.

#### 3.3.7.1 Cohort (n=153)

Table 3.5 shows two different ways of representing the BP and pulse results based on either a) repeat measurements or b) the last repeat measurement.

In general, the BP and pulse results at visit 0 based on repeat measurements do not differ when compared to the last repeat measurement. The BP and pulse results at visit 0 and visit 2 are displayed in Table 3.5. SBP at visit 0 is around 140 mmHg, DBP at around 80 mmHg and a pulse surrounding 70 beats/minute. When reaching visit 2 the SBP reaches 137 mmHg, a DBP still around 80 mmHg and pulse at about 70 beats/minute.

The change in blood pressure and pulse between visit 0 and visit 2 is displayed in Table 3.6. A statistically significant result was obtained on the change in SBP between visit 0 and 2 for the overall study population based on repeat blood pressure measurements. There was no change in DBP, almost no change in pulse. In addition, there was BP control in the cohort.

Visit 0 (repeats)	SBP (mmHg)	DBP (mmHg)	Pulse (beats/minute)	Visit 2 (repeats)	SBP (mmHg)	DBP (mmHg)	Pulse (beats/minute)
Mean	140	62	69	Mean	137	62	69
Median	139	79	67	Median	136	80	68
StDev	17	10	12	StDev	16	10	11
SE	1	1	1	SE	1	1	1
Visit 0 (last repeat)	SBP (mmHg)	DBP (mmHg)	Pulse (beats/minute)	Visit 2 (last repeat)	SBP (mmHg)	DBP (mmHg)	Pulse (beats/minute)
Mean	138	62	69	Mean	137	78	69
Median	138	78	68	Median	135	79	67
StDev	17	10	12	StDev	16	10	11
SE	1	1	1	SE	1	1	1

Table 3.5. BP and pulse results for the cohort (n=153) at visit 0 and visit 2 respectively.

Abbreviations: StDev: Standard deviation; SE=Standard error

**Table 3.6.** Changes in SBP, DBP and pulse between visit 0 and visit 2 are shown for the cohort (n=153).

Change between visit 0 and visit 2 (repeats)	SBP (mmHg)	DBP (mmHg)	Pulse (beats/minute)
Mean	*	0	-1
Median	2	0	0
StDev	14	6	6
SE	1	1	1
Change between visit 0 and visit 2 (last repeat)	SBP (mmHg)	DBP (mmHg)	Pulse (beats/minute)
Mean	2	0	0
Median	2	1	0
StDev	15	10	8
SE	1	1	Ч

\*Statistically significant (Wilcoxon signed-rank test: p=0.049) Abbreviations: StDev: Standard deviation; SE=Standard error

#### 3.3.7.2 Adherent (A) subgroup (n=62)

Table 3.7. shows two different ways of representing the BP and pulse results based on a) repeat measurements or b) the last repeat measurement. In general, the BP and pulse results at visit 0 based on repeat measurements do not differ when compared to the last repeat measurement.

Table 3.7 displays the BP and pulse results at visit 0 and visit 2. The SBP at visit 0 is around 140 mmHg, DBP at around 80 mmHg and a pulse surrounding 70 beats/minute. When reaching visit 2 the SBP reaches a level of 136 mmHg, a DBP almost remaining at 80 mmHg and a pulse at about 70 beats/minute.

Changes in blood pressure and pulse between visit 0 and visit 2 is displayed in Table 3.8. The A subgroup generally showed small improvements in SBP and DBP and almost no change in pulse between visit 0 and visit 2. This adherence subgroup had a stable BP control.

Visit 0 (repeats)	SBP (mmHg)	DBP (mmHg)	Pulse (beats/minute)	Visit 2 (repeats)	SBP (mmHg)	DBP (mmHg)	Pulse (beats/minute)
Mean	140	29	69	Mean	136	78	70
Median	138	80	68	Median	136	78	69
StDev	18	10	12	StDev	14	თ	11
SE	2	1	2	SE	2	1	1
Visit 0 (last repeat)	SBP (mmHg)	DBP (mmHg)	Pulse (beats/minute)	Visit 2 (last repeat)	SBP (mmHg)	DBP (mmHg)	Pulse (beats/minute)
Mean	139	78	70	Mean	136	78	70
Median	137	79	68	Median	137	79	68
StDev	17	10	12	StDev	15	10	11
SE	2	1	2	SE	2	1	1

Table 3.7. BP and pulse results for the A subgroup (n=62) at visit 0 and visit 2 respectively.

Abbreviations: StDev: Standard deviation; SE=Standard error

Change between visit 0 and visit 2 (repeats)	SBP (mmHg)	DBP (mmHg)	Pulse (beats/minute)
Mean	4	1	-1
Median	S	0	1
StDev	14	8	6
SE	2	1	Ч
Change between visit 0 and visit 2 (last repeat)	SBP (mmHg)	DBP (mmHg)	Pulse (beats/minute)
Mean	3	1	0
Median	2	1	1
StDev	15	6	8
SE	2	1	1

**Table 3.8.** Changes in SBP, DBP and pulse between visit 0 and visit 2 are shown for A subgroup (n=62).

Abbreviations: StDev: Standard deviation; SE=Standard error

#### 3.3.7.2.1 Within-group blood pressure (BP) changes in Adherent (A) subgroup

The changes in SBP and DBP between visit 0 and visit 2 for each patient in subgroup A (n=62) are demonstrated in Figures 3.4 (repeat measurements) and 3.5 (last repeat measurement). It is shown that subgroup A generally has small improvements in SBP and DBP. Patients in this subgroup exhibit a stable BP control. Apart from the clinically acceptable -10 to +10 mmHg band, there is seen a large variability in BP results between patients reaching up to about 70 mmHg in SBP and 20 mmHg in DBP.



**Figure 3.4.** Change in SBP and DBP between visit 0 and visit 2 based on repeat BP measurements for each patient in adherence subgroup A (n=62).



**Figure 3.5.** Change in SBP and DBP between visit 0 and visit 2 based on last repeat BP measurement for each patient in adherence subgroup A (n=62).

#### 3.3.7.3 Adherent and Intentional non-adherent rational (A and IR) subgroup (n=4)

Table 3.9 shows two different ways of representing the BP and pulse results based on a) repeat measurements or b) the last repeat measurement. In general, the BP and pulse results based on repeat measurements do not differ when compared to the last repeat measurement. Table 3.9 displays the BP and pulse results at visit 0 and visit 2. SBP at visit 0 is around 130 mmHg, DBP at around 70 mmHg and a pulse at 61 beats/minute. When reaching visit 2 the SBP reaches a level of about 140 mmHg, a DBP almost at 75 mmHg and a pulse at 64 beats/minute.

The change in blood pressure and pulse between visit 0 and visit 2 is displayed in Table 3.10. The A and IR subgroup showed a worsening in BP and pulse between visit 0 and 2. Despite this, there is a stable BP control in this adherence subgroup in relation to the target SBP <140 mmHg and DBP <90 mmHg.

Vicit 0	CBD	DBD	Dulco	Vicit J	CBD	DBD	Bulco
(repeats)	,mmHg)	(mmHg)	beats/minute)	visit z (repeats)	,umHg)	(mmHg)	(beats/minute)
Mean	132	69	61	Mean	138	74	64
Median	131	70	64	Median	140	76	65
StDev	11	11	13	StDev	ß	11	10
SE	9	9	8	SE	œ	9	6
Visit 0 (last repeat)	SBP (mmHg)	DBP (mmHg)	Pulse (beats/minute)	Visit 2 (last repeat)	SBP (mmHg)	DBP (mmHg)	Pulse (beats/minute)
Mean	131	68	61	Mean	140	73	64
Median	131	69	64	Median	142	75	65
StDev	13	11	13	StDev	10	11	6
SE	7	9	7	SE	9	9	5

**Table 3.9.** BP and pulse results for the A and IR subgroup (n=4) at visit 0 and visit 2 respectively.

Abbreviations: StDev: Standard deviation; SE=Standard error

visit 0 and visit 2 are shown for A and	
DBP and pulse between	
Changes in SBP,	(n=4).
Table 3.10.	IR subgroup

e between visit 0 and SBP (i visit 2 (repeats)	Mean	Median	StDev	SE	e between visit 0 and SBP (i isit 2 (last repeat)	Mean	Median	StDev	SE
mmHg)	-7	Ъ	11	9	mmHg)	6-	۲-	14	8
DBP (mmHg)	-5	-4	ε	2	DBP (mmHg)	-5	-4	2	1
Pulse (beats/minut	ų	'n	4	2	Pulse (beats/minut	с-	4-	4	£

Abbreviations: StDev: Standard deviation; SE=Standard error

## **3.3.7.3.1** Blood pressure (BP) levels at visit 0 and visit 2 in Adherent and Intentional nonadherent rational (A and IR) subgroup

The SBP and DBP at visit 0 and visit 2 for each patient in subgroup A and IR (n=4) are demonstrated in Figures 3.6 and 3.7. The figures highlight the SBP at visit 0 is around 130 mmHg, DBP at around 70 mmHg. When reaching visit 2 the SBP reaches a level of about 140 mmHg, a DBP almost at 75 mmHg. In general, there is a stable BP control in the A and IR subgroup in relation to the target SBP <140 mmHg and DBP <90 mmHg, despite there being a worsening in BP between visit 0 and visit 2.



Figure 3.6. SBP and DBP at visit 0 and visit 2 based on repeat BP measurements for each patient in adherence subgroup A and IR (n=4).



Figure 3.7. SBP and DBP at visit 0 and visit 2 based on last repeat BP measurement for each patient in adherence subgroup A and IR (n=4).

## **3.3.7.3.2** Within-group blood pressure (BP) changes between visit 0 and visit 2 in Adherent and Intentional non-adherent rational (A and IR) subgroup

The changes in SBP and DBP between visit 0 and visit 2 for each patient in subgroup A and IR (n=4) are demonstrated in Figures 3.8 and 3.9. There is a worsening in BP and pulse between visit 0 and visit 2. Despite this, there is generally a stable BP control in the A and IR subgroup in relation to the target SBP <140 mmHg and DBP <90 mmHg.



**Figure 3.8**. Change in SBP and DBP between visit 0 and visit 2 based on repeat BP measurements for each patient in adherence subgroup A and IR (n=4).



**Figure 3.9.** Change in SBP and DBP between visit 0 and visit 2 based on last repeat BP measurement for each patient in adherence subgroup A and IR (n=4).

#### 3.3.7.4 Adherent and Intentional non-adherent irrational (A and II) subgroup (n=5)

Table 3.11 shows two different ways of representing the BP and pulse results based on a) repeat measurements or b) the last repeat measurement. In general, the BP and pulse results at visit 0 based on repeat measurements do not differ when compared to the last repeat measurement.

The BP and pulse results at visit 0 and visit 2 are displayed in Table 3.11. SBP at visit 0 is around 140 mmHg, DBP at around 80 mmHg and a pulse around 70 beats/minute. There is a slight difference in BP results at visit 2 based on repeat measurements or the last repeat measurement. Considering the repeat measurements, when reaching visit 2 the SBP reaches 140 mmHg, a DBP of 74 mmHg and a pulse of 70 beats/minute. At visit 2 the last repeat measurement displays an SBP of 136 mmHg, DBP at 70 mmHg and a pulse of 71 beats/minute.

The change in blood pressure and pulse between visit 0 and visit 2 is displayed in Table 3.12. The A and II subgroup had mixed outcome in SBP – some improvement and some worsening, an improvement in DBP and almost no change in pulse between visit 0 and visit 2. Despite this, there is a stable BP control in the A and II subgroup in relation to the target SBP <140 mmHg and DBP <90 mmHg.
Visit 0 (repeats)	SBP (mmHg)	DBP (mmHg)	Pulse (beats/minute)	Visit 2 (repeats)	SBP (mmHg)	DBP (mmHg)	Pulse (beats/minute)
Mean	139	77	68	Mean	140	74	70
Median	138	74	64	Median	137	72	72
StDev	10	7	13	StDev	13	∞	7
SE	Ŋ	ε	7	SE	9	4	4
Visit 0 (last repeat)	SBP (mmHg)	DBP (mmHg)	Pulse (beats/minute)	Visit 2 (last repeat)	SBP (mmHg)	DBP (mmHg)	Pulse (beats/minute)
Mean	139	80	69	Mean	136	70	71
Median	142	78	66	Median	134	71	72
StDev	6	9	13	StDev	13	ø	9
SE	Ŋ	ε	9	SE	7	4	ε

Table 3.11. BP and pulse results for the A and II subgroup (n=5) at visit 0 and visit 2 respectively.

**Table 3.12.** Changes in SBP, DBP and pulse between visit 0 and visit 2 are shown A and II subgroup (n=5).

Change between visit 0 and visit 2 (repeats)	SBP (mmHg)	DBP (mmHg)	Pulse (beats/minute)
Mean	-1	ß	-2
Median	-2	4	٣-
StDev	ß	9	15
SE	2	ß	ø
Change between visit 0 and visit 2 (last repeat)	SBP (mmHg)	DBP (mmHg)	Pulse (beats/minute)
Mean	2	10	-2
Median	7	8	0
StDev	8	9	15
SE	4	£	7

#### **3.3.7.4.1** Blood pressure (BP) levels at visit 0 and visit 2 in Adherent and Intentional nonadherent irrational (A and II) subgroup

The SBP and DBP at visit 0 and visit 2 for each patient in subgroup A and II (n=5) are demonstrated in Figures 3.10 and 3.11. There is a mix of SBP levels between patients at both visit 0 and visit 2. It is also about the two different ways of representing the BP as either being based on repeat measurements or last repeat measurement. However, the DBP is generally  $\leq$ 90 mmHg. Nonetheless, overall there is a stable BP control in the A and II subgroup in relation to the target SBP <140 mmHg and DBP <90 mmHg.



Figure 3.10. SBP and DBP at visit 0 and visit 2 based on repeat BP measurements for each patient in adherence subgroup A and II (n=5).



Figure 3.11. SBP and DBP at visit 0 and visit 2 based on last repeat BP measurement for each patient in adherence subgroup A and II (n=5).

### **3.3.7.4.2** Within-group blood pressure (BP) changes between visit 0 and visit 2 in Adherent and Intentional non-adherent irrational (A and II) subgroup

The changes in SBP and DBP between visit 0 and visit 2 for each patient in subgroup A and II (n=5) are demonstrated in Figures 3.12. and 3.13. In some patients, there is an improvement in SBP, whereas some patients have a worsening in SBP. This is also about the two different ways of representing the BP as either being based on repeat measurements or last repeat measurement. Overall, there is an improvement in DBP in this adherence subgroup. Despite this, generally, there is a stable BP control in the A and II subgroup in relation to the target SBP <140 mmHg and DBP <90 mmHg.



**Figure 3.12.** Change in SBP and DBP between visit 0 and visit 2 based on repeat BP measurements for each patient in adherence subgroup A and II (n=5).



**Figure 3.13.** Change in SBP and DBP between visit 0 and visit 2 based on last repeat BP measurement for each patient in adherence subgroup A and II (n=5).

#### 3.3.7.5 Intentional non-adherent irrational (II) subgroup (n=13)

Table 3.13. shows two different ways of representing the BP and pulse results based on a) repeat measurements or b) the last repeat measurement.

In general, the BP and pulse results at visit 0 based on repeat measurements do not differ when compared to the last repeat measurement.

BP and pulse results at visit 0 and visit 2 are displayed in Table 3.13. SBP at visit 0 is around 150 mmHg, DBP at around 80 mmHg and a pulse around 70 beats/minute. At visit 2 the SBP remains around 150 mmHg, DBP has increased to about 85 mmHg and a pulse at 67 beats/minute. As these results show, there is no BP control in subgroup II.

The change in blood pressure and pulse between visit 0 and visit 2 is displayed in Table 3.14. The II subgroup showed almost no change in SBP, a small worsening in DBP and a small improvement in pulse between visit 0 and visit 2.

Visit 0 (repeats)	SBP (mmHg)	DBP (mmHg)	Pulse (beats/minute)	Visit 2 (repeats)	SBP (mmHg)	DBP (mmHg)	Pulse (beats/minute)
Mean	151	83	68	Mean	151	86	67
Median	142	82	67	Median	144	89	67
StDev	24	13	12	StDev	28	11	ø
SE	7	4	ε	SE	∞	ß	2
Visit 0 (last repeat)	SBP (mmHg)	DBP (mmHg)	Pulse (beats/minute)	Visit 2 (last repeat)	SBP (mmHg)	DBP (mmHg)	Pulse (beats/minute)
Mean	150	81	68	Mean	149	85	67
Median	142	79	68	Median	143	87	68
StDev	23	12	12	StDev	27	10	6
SE	7	4	ĸ	SE	∞	ε	2

Table 3.13. BP and pulse results for the II subgroup (n=13) at visit 0 and visit 2 respectively.

Change between visit 0 and visit 2 (repeats)	SBP (mmHg)	DBP (mmHg)	Pulse (beats/minute)
Mean	0	'n	7
Median	-1	1	0
StDev	22	13	7
SE	9	4	2
Change between visit 0 and visit 2 (last repeat)	SBP (mmHg)	DBP (mmHg)	Pulse (beats/minute)
Mean	1	ç.	1
Median	m	0	-2
StDev	23	13	7
SE	7	4	2

**Table 3.14.** Changes in SBP, DBP and pulse between visit 0 and visit 2 are shown for II subgroup (n=13).

# 3.3.7.5.1 Blood pressure (BP) levels at visit 0 and visit 2 in Intentional non-adherent irrational (II) subgroup

The SBP and DBP at visit 0 and visit 2 for each patient in subgroup II (n=13) are demonstrated in Figures 3.14 and 3.15. The figures indicate an SBP at visit 0 around 150 mmHg and DBP being around 80 mmHg. At visit 2 the SBP remains around 150 mmHg, whereas DBP has increased to about 85 mmHg. As seen in Figures 3.14 and 3.15, patients in the II subgroup had high SBP values at both visit 0 and visit 2, thereby having no BP control.



Figure 3.14. SBP and DBP at visit 0 and visit 2 based on repeat BP measurements for each patient in adherence subgroup II (n=13).



Figure 3.15. SBP and DBP at visit 0 and visit 2 based on last repeat BP measurement for each patient in adherence subgroup II (n=13).

## 3.3.7.5.2 Within-group blood pressure (BP) changes between visit 0 and visit 2 in Intentional non-adherent irrational (II) subgroup

The changes in SBP and DBP between visit 0 and visit 2 for each patient in subgroup II

(n=13) are demonstrated in Figures 3.16 and 3.17. The II subgroup showed almost no change

in SBP, a small worsening in DBP. Subgroup II did not exhibit BP control.



**Figure 3.16.** Change in SBP and DBP between visit 0 and 2 based on repeat BP measurements for each patient in adherence subgroup II (n=13).



**Figure 3.17.** Change in SBP and DBP between visit 0 and 2 based on last repeat BP measurement for each patient in adherence subgroup II (n=13).

# 3.3.7.6 Intentional non-adherent rational and Unintentional non-adherent (IR and U) subgroup (n=2)

Table 3.15. shows two different ways of representing the BP and pulse results based on a) repeat measurements or b) the last repeat measurement. SBP at visit 0 and visit 2 based on repeat measurements differed when compared to the last repeat measurement results. This did not apply to DBP or pulse results. BP and pulse results at visit 0 and visit 2 are displayed in Table 3.15. Considering repeat measurements, the SBP at visit 0 is 140 mmHg, whereas at visit 2 SBP is 131 mmHg. Based on last repeat measurement SBP at visit 0 is 133 mmHg and drops to 128 mmHg at visit 2.

Overall, DBP at visit 0 is around 70 mmHg and a pulse around 60-65 beats/minute. At visit 2 the DBP drops to around 65 mmHg and a pulse at 63 beats/minute. The BP results indicate a BP control in subgroup IR and U.

The change in blood pressure and pulse between visit 0 and visit 2 is displayed in Table 3.16. The IR and U subgroup showed an improvement in BP and almost no change in pulse between visit 0 and visit 2.

Visit 0 (repeats)	SBP (mmHg)	DBP (mmHg)	Pulse (beats/minute)	Visit 2 (repeats)	SBP (mmHg)	DBP (mmHg)	Pulse (beats/minute)
Mean	140	71	62	Mean	131	66	63
Median	140	71	62	Median	131	66	63
StDev	18	1	19	StDev	25	0	16
SE	18	1	19	SE	25	0	16
Visit 0 (last repeat)	SBP (mmHg)	DBP (mmHg)	Pulse (beats/minute)	Visit 2 (last repeat)	SBP (mmHg)	DBP (mmHg)	Pulse (beats/minute)
Mean	133	70	64	Mean	128	65	63
Median	133	70	64	Median	128	65	63
StDev	18	1	19	StDev	25	2	16
SE	18	1	19	SE	25	2	16

Table 3.15. BP and pulse results for the IR and U subgroup (n=2) at visit 0 and visit 2 respectively.

auogroup (m z).			
Change between visit 0 and visit 2 (repeats)	SBP (mmHg)	DBP (mmHg)	Pulse (beats/minute)
Mean	6	ъ	0
Median	6	ъ	0
StDev	8	0	£
SE	8	0	ſ
Change between visit 0 and visit 2 (last repeat)	SBP (mmHg)	DBP (mmHg)	Pulse (beats/minute)
Mean	ъ	ъ	1
Median	5	ß	1
StDev	8	£	ĸ
SE	8	£	ĸ

**Table 3.16.** Changes in SBP, DBP and pulse between visit 0 and visit 2 are shown for IR and U subgroup (n=2).

## **3.3.7.6.1** Blood pressure (BP) levels at visit 0 and visit 2 in Intentional non-adherent rational and Unintentional non-adherent (IR and U) subgroup

The SBP and DBP at visit 0 and visit 2 for each patient in subgroup IR and U (n=2) are demonstrated in Figures 3.18 and 3.19. There is a difference when SBP at visit 0 and visit 2 is displayed as either being based on repeat measurements or the last repeat measurement. However, this did not apply to the DBP and pulse results. The mean value of SBP at visit 0 is 140 mmHg, whereas at visit 2 the SBP drops to 131 mmHg. Based on last repeat measurement, the mean value of SBP at visit 0 is 133 mmHg and drops to 128 mmHg at visit 2. Overall, DBP at visit 0 is around 70 mmHg, whereas at visit 2 the DBP drops to around 65 mmHg. The results indicate a BP control in this adherence subgroup.



Figure 3.18. SBP and DBP at visit 0 and visit 2 based on repeat BP measurements for each patient in adherence subgroup IR and U (n=2).



Figure 3.19. SBP and DBP at visit 0 and visit 2 based on last repeat BP measurement for each patient in adherence subgroup IR and U (n=2).

# 3.3.7.6.2 Within-group blood pressure (BP) changes between visit 0 and visit 2 in Intentional non-adherent rational and Unintentional non-adherent (IR and U) subgroup

The changes in SBP and DBP between visit 0 and visit 2 for each patient in subgroup IR and U (n=2) are demonstrated in Figures 3.20 and 3.21. The IR and U subgroup showed an improvement in BP control between visit 0 and visit 2. The results indicate a BP control in this adherence subgroup.



Figure 3.20. Change in SBP and DBP between visit 0 and 2 based on repeat BP measurements for each patient in adherence subgroup IR and U (n=2).



**Figure 3.21.** Change in SBP and DBP between visit 0 and 2 based on last repeat BP measurement for each patient in adherence subgroup IR and U (n=2).

# 3.3.7.7 Intentional non-adherent irrational and Unintentional non-adherent (II and U) subgroup (n=2)

Table 3.17. shows two different ways of representing the BP and pulse results based on a) repeat measurements or b) the last repeat measurement. In general, there was a difference based on repeat measurements in comparison to the last repeat measurement results. BP and pulse results at visit 0 and visit 2 are displayed in Table 3.17. Considering repeat measurements, the SBP at visit 0 is 127 mmHg, DBP 75 mmHg and pulse at 73 beats/minute. At visit 2 the SBP is 129 mmHg, DBP 78 mmHg and a pulse at 75 beats/minute. Based on last repeat measurement, SBP at visit 0 is 117 mmHg, DBP at 75 mmHg and pulse at 72 beats/minute. At visit 2 the SBP is 129 mmHg, DBP at 81 mmHg and pulse at 78 beats/minute. The BP results indicate a BP control in subgroup II and U.

The change in blood pressure and pulse between visit 0 and visit 2 is displayed in Table 3.18. The II and U subgroup showed a worsening in BP and pulse between visit 0 and visit 2.

Mean     127       Median     127       StDev     9       SE     9	75 75 0	73 73 13 13	Mean			(pears/minute)
Median 127 StDev 9 SE 9	75 0	73 13 13	:	129	78	75
StDev 9 SE 9	0 0	13 13	Median	129	78	75
<b>SE</b> 9	c	13	StDev	0	ε	14
	D		SE	0	ε	14
Visit 0 (last SBP repeat) (mmHg)	DBP (mmHg)	Pulse (beats/minute)	Visit 2 (last repeat)	SBP (mmHg)	DBP (mmHg)	Pulse (beats/minute)
Mean 117	75	72	Mean	129	81	78
Median 117	75	72	Median	129	81	78
StDev 10	3	14	StDev	0	ß	15
<b>SE</b> 10	ε	14	SE	0	Ŋ	15

vel
cti
spe
re
it 2
vis
pu
0 a
sit
ť
() a
Ξ
p (I
lno.
bgr
su
I U
anc
Π
the
for
ts I
ssul
e re
uls
d p
an
BP
1
3.1
le
[ab

Change between visit 0 and visit 2 (repeats)	SBP (mmHg)	DBP (mmHg)	Pulse (beats/minute)
Mean	-2	'n	-2
Median	-2	'n	-2
StDev	8	£	0
SE	8	S	0
Change between visit 0 and visit 2 (last repeat)	SBP (mmHg)	DBP (mmHg)	Pulse (beats/minute)
Mean	-12	9	9
Median	-12	9-	9-
StDev	10	2	1
SE	10	2	1

**Table 3.18.** Changes in SBP, DBP and pulse between visit 0 and visit 2 are shown for II and U subgroup (n=2).

## **3.3.7.7.1** Blood pressure (BP) levels at visit 0 and visit 2 in Intentional non-adherent irrational and Unintentional non-adherent (II and U) subgroup

The SBP and DBP at visit 0 and visit 2 for each patient in subgroup II and U (n=2) are demonstrated in Figures 3.22 and 3.21. There is a general difference in BP results based on the way the results are being portrayed – either as repeat measurements or last repeat measurement. Considering repeat measurements, the mean value of SBP at visit 0 is 127 mmHg and DBP 75 mmHg. At visit 2 the SBP is 129 mmHg and DBP 78 mmHg. Based on last repeat measurement, mean value of SBP at visit 0 is 117 mmHg and DBP 75 mmHg. At visit 2 the SBP at visit 0 is 117 mmHg and DBP 75 mmHg. At visit 2 the SBP at visit 0 is 117 mmHg and DBP 75 mmHg. At visit 2 the SBP at visit 0 is 117 mmHg and DBP 75 mmHg. At visit 2 the SBP at visit 0 is 117 mmHg and DBP 75 mmHg. At visit 2 the SBP at visit 0 is 117 mmHg and DBP 75 mmHg. At visit 2 the SBP at visit 0 is 117 mmHg and DBP 75 mmHg.



Figure 3.22. SBP and DBP at visit 0 and visit 2 based on repeat BP measurements for each patient in adherence subgroup II and U.



Figure 3.23. SBP and DBP at visit 0 and visit 2 based on last repeat BP measurement for each patient in adherence subgroup II and U (n=2).

### **3.3.7.7.2** Within-group blood pressure (BP) changes between visit 0 and visit 2 in Intentional non-adherent irrational and Unintentional non-adherent (II and U) subgroup

The changes in SBP and DBP between visit 0 and visit 2 for each patient in subgroup II and U (n=2) are demonstrated in Figures 3.24 and 3.25. The II and U subgroup showed a worsening in BP between visit 0 and visit 2. However, the results indicate a BP control in this adherence subgroup.



Figure 3.24. Change in SBP and DBP (between visit 0 and 2) based on repeat BP measurements for each patient in adherence subgroup II and U (n=2).



Figure 3.25. Change in SBP and DBP (between visit 0 and 2) based on last repeat BP measurement for each patient in adherence subgroup II and U.

#### 3.3.7.8 Unintentional non-adherent (U) subgroup (n=59)

Table 3.19 shows two different ways of representing the BP and pulse results based on a) repeat measurements or b) the last repeat measurement. There was basically was no difference in BP and pulse based on repeat measurements in comparison to the last repeat measurement. BP and pulse results at visit 0 and visit 2 are displayed in Table 3.19. The table shows the SBP at visit 0 being around 140 mmHg, DBP at 80 mmHg and pulse at 69 beats/minute. At visit 2 the SBP is 135 mmHg, DBP 80 mmHg and a pulse around 70 beats/minute. The U subgroup had BP control.

The change in blood pressure and pulse between visit 0 and visit 2 is displayed in Table 3.20. There was in the U subgroup a small improvement in SBP and almost no change in DBP or pulse between visit 0 and visit 2.

Visit 0 (repeats)	SBP (mmHg)	DBP (mmHg)	Pulse (beats/minute)	Visit 2 (repeats)	SBP (mmHg)	DBP (mmHg)	Pulse (beats/minute)
Mean	138	80	69	Mean	135	80	70
Median	140	80	67	Median	135	81	68
StDev	13	8	12	StDev	13	10	12
SE	2	1	2	SE	2	1	2
Visit 0 (last repeat)	SBP (mmHg)	DBP (mmHg)	Pulse (beats/minute)	Visit 2 (last repeat)	SBP (mmHg)	DBP (mmHg)	Pulse (beats/minute)
Mean	137	80	69	Mean	135	80	69
Median	138	80	68	Median	135	79	66
StDev	13	6	12	StDev	13	10	12
SE	2	1	2	SE	2	1	2

**Table 3.19.** BP and pulse results for the U subgroup (n=59) at visit 0 and visit 2 respectively.

**Table 3.20.** Changes in SBP, DBP and pulse between visit 0 and visit 2 are shown for U subgroup (n=59).

Change between visit 0 and visit 2 (repeats)	SBP (mmHg)	DBP (mmHg)	Pulse (beats/minute)
Mean	£	0	Ļ
Median	2	0	0
StDev	13	6	6
SE	2	1	1
Change between visit 0 and visit 2 (last repeat)	SBP (mmHg)	DBP (mmHg)	Pulse (beats/minute)
Mean	2	J	0
Median	Ч	1	1
StDev	13	10	6
SE	2	1	1

# 3.3.7.8.1 Within-group blood pressure (BP) changes between visit 0 and visit 2 in Unintentional non-adherent subgroup (U)

The changes in SBP and DBP between visit 0 and visit 2 for each patient in subgroup U (n=59) are demonstrated in Figures 3.26 and 3.27. There was in the U subgroup a small improvement in SBP and almost no change in DBP. This adherence subgroup had a BP control.



Figure 3.26. Change in SBP and DBP (between visit 0 and 2) based on repeat BP measurements for each patient in adherence subgroup U.



Figure 3.27. Change in SBP and DBP (between visit 0 and 2) based on last repeat BP measurement for each patient in adherence subgroup U.

### 3.3.7.9 Comparison on between-group blood pressure (BP) results: subgroups Adherent (A) (n=62) and Unintentional non-adherent (U) (n=59)

Subgroups A (n=62) and U (n=59) are pretty much matched groups with similar sizes. It is worthwhile to do a comparison on these subgroups to determine between-group differences in SBP and DBP at visit 0 and visit 2 respectively.

The SBP and DBP at visit 0 for each patient in subgroups A or U are demonstrated in Figures 3.28 and 3.30. Likewise, the SBP and DBP at visit 2 is demonstrated in Figures 3.29 and 3.31. For subgroup A, the mean value of SBP at visit 0 is around 140 mmHg and DBP around 80 mmHg (Figures 3.28 and 3.30). When reaching visit 2 the mean value of SBP reaches a level of 136 mmHg and a DBP almost remaining at 80 mmHg (Figures 3.29 and 3.31). Thus, this adherence subgroup has a stable BP control.

Subgroup U had at visit 0 an SBP at around 140 mmHg and a DBP at 80 mmHg (Figures 3.28 and 3.30). At visit 2 the SBP is 135 mmHg and DBP at 80 mmHg (Figures 3.29 and 3.31). Thus, the U subgroup had BP control.

Figures 3.28, 3.29, 3.30 and 3.31 confirm that there is a wider scatter in BP data in the A subgroup in comparison to the U subgroup.



**Figure 3.28.** SBP and DBP at visit 0 based on repeat BP measurements for each patient in adherence subgroups A (n=62) and U (n=59).



**Figure 3.29.** SBP and DBP at visit 2 based on repeat BP measurements for each patient in adherence subgroups A (n=62) and U (n=59).



Figure 3.30. SBP and DBP at visit 0 based on last repeat BP measurement for each patient in adherence subgroups A (n=62) and U (n=59).



Figure 3.31. SBP and DBP at visit 2 based on last repeat BP measurement for each patient in adherence subgroups A (n=62) and U (n=59).

#### 3.3.8 Scores from adherence screens

Scores from questionnaires used in adherence screens at visit 0 and visit 2 are presented in Table 3.21 as mean values for the overall study population and each adherence subgroup. When everything was piled together to compare the results on adherence screens from visit 0 with visit 2, there is really no difference.

Table 3.2	1. Mean v	alues of	scores from	questionn	aires use	d in adheren	ce screens f	for the co	hort and ea	ich adherence
subgroup.	There is r	eally no	difference v	when every	thing is	piled togethe	er comparin	g the sco	res at visit	0 and visit 2.

<u>Visit 0</u>							
	8-item MMAS <sup>1*</sup>	MARS score <sup>2</sup>	MARS adj. <sup>3</sup>	BMQN <sup>4</sup>	BMQC <sup>5</sup>	BMQO <sup>6</sup>	BMQH <sup>7</sup>
Cohort (n=153)	7.5	24.3	4.9	3.7	2.1	3.0	2.1
A (n=62)	8.0	25.0	5.0	3.7	1.9	2.9	2.0
A and IR (n=4)	8.0	25.0	5.0	3.8	2.1	2.4	2.2
A and II (n=5)	8.0	25.0	5.0	3.8	2.6	3.2	2.8
II (n=13)	6.9	22.9	4.6	3.8	2.7	3.4	2.5
IR and U (n=2)	6.5	23.0	4.6	4.3	2.0	3.5	1.9
II and U (n=2)	7.5	21.5	4.3	3.0	1.8	3.5	1.6
<u>U (n=59)</u>	7.0	23.9	4.8	3.6	2.1	3.0	2.2
	-						
<u>Visit 2</u>							
	8-item MMAS <sup>1*</sup>	MARS score <sup>2</sup>	MARS adj. <sup>3</sup>	<b>BMQN<sup>4</sup></b>	BMQC <sup>5</sup>	BMQO <sup>6</sup>	BMQH <sup>7</sup>
Cohort (n=153)	7.6	24.4	5.0	3.6	2.0	3.1	2.1
A (n=62)	7.9	24.7	4.9	3.6	1.9	3.0	1.9
A and IR (n=4)	8.0	25.0	5.0	3.4	2.2	2.4	2.0
A and II (n=5)	8.0	25.0	5.0	4.2	2.3	3.2	2.4
II (n=13)	7.6	24.1	4.8	3.8	2.5	3.3	2.3
IR and U (n=2)	8.0	25.0	5.0	3.9	2.3	3.3	2.4
II and U (n=2)	6.5	23.5	4.7	3.3	1.9	3.4	1.7
	7 4	22.0	5 2	25	2.0	2 1	2.1

<sup>1</sup>8-item Morisky Medication Adherence Scale score <sup>2</sup>Medication Adherence Report Scale score <sup>3</sup>Medication Adherence Report Scale adjusted mean score <sup>4</sup>Beliefs about Medicines Questionnaire Specific Necessity score <sup>5</sup>Beliefs about Medicines Questionnaire Specific Concerns score <sup>6</sup>Beliefs about Medicines Questionnaire General Overuse score <sup>7</sup>Beliefs about Medicines Questionnaire Harm score \*Use of the ©MMAS is protected by US copyright laws. Permission for use is required. A license agreement is available from: Donald E. Morisky, ScD, ScM, MSPH, Professor, Department of Community Health Sciences, UCLA School of Public Health, 650 Charles E. Young Drive South, Los Angeles, CA 90095-1772.

#### 3.3.9 Spearman correlation

Spearman correlation was performed to see if a correlation existed between the scores from the adherence screens (8-item MMAS, MARS, and BMQ) and the outcomes SBP, DBP, and pulse. Inspection of the results showed that BMQ scale scores were dominant with significant and very significant correlations to SBP, DBP and pulse outcomes. The significant and very significant results from this analysis are displayed in Tables 3.22 and 3.23 (see asterisks).

**Table 3.22.** Significant and very significant results from Spearman correlations for the cohort (n=153). A Spearman correlation was performed with the scores from the adherence screening questionnaires and the SBP, DBP and pulse outcomes (repeat measurements, last repeat measurements) at visit 0 and visit 2 respectively.

<i>Cohort</i> ( <i>n</i> =153)				
	Repeat			
	measurements			
Adherence screen	Visit 0	Spearman's rho	p value	n
8-item MMAS <sup>1</sup>	DBP	-0.17***	0.033	153
BMQ Necessity				
scale	DBP	-0.22*	0.006	153
BMQ Necessity		**		
scale	Pulse	0.19	0.018	153
BMQ Concerns		*		
scale	DBP	0.22	0.005	153
BMQ Overuse	(DD	o <b>o</b> c*	0.001	1.50
scale	SBP	0.26	0.001	153
BMQ Overuse	DDD	0.22*	0.005	1.52
scale	DBP	0.23	0.005	153
	Repeat			
	measurements			
Adherence screen	Visit 2	Spearman's rho	p value	n
8-item MMAS <sup>1</sup>	SBP	0.17**	0.036	147
	T4 4			
	Last repeat			
A dharanaa saraan	Wisit 0	Spearman's rho	n value	n
Aunerence screen		0.16**	<u>p value</u>	152
MARS score	DBL	-0.10	0.046	155
mean score	DRP	-0.16**	0.048	153
BMO Necessity	DDI	-0.10	0.040	155
scale	DRP	-0.19**	0.016	153
BMO Necessity	001	0.17	0.010	100
scale	Pulse	0.19**	0.022	153
<b>BMQ Concerns</b>				
scale	DBP	0.23*	0.005	153
<b>BMQ Overuse</b>				
scale	SBP	$0.28^{*}$	< 0.001	153
BMQ Overuse				
scale	DBP	0.24*	0.003	153
BMQ Harm scale	SBP	0.16**	0.043	153
	Last repeat			
	measurement			
Adherence screen	Visit 2	Spearman's rho	p value	n
8-item MMAS <sup>1</sup>	SBP	0.19**	0.022	147

\*=statistically significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed) \*\*=statistically significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed) <sup>1</sup>Use of the ©MMAS is protected by US copyright laws. Permission for use is required. A license agreement is available from: Donald E. Morisky, ScD, ScM, MSPH, Professor, Department of Community Health Sciences, UCLA School of Public Health, 650 Charles E. Young Drive South, Los Angeles, CA 90095-1772.

**Table 3.23.** Statistically significant results from Spearman correlations for adherence subgroups A (n=62) and U (n=59). A Spearman correlation was performed with the scores from the adherence screening questionnaires and the SBP, DBP and pulse outcomes (repeat measurements, last repeat measurements) at visit 0 and visit 2 respectively.

Adhoronco scroon	Repeat measurements Visit 0	Snearman's rho	n valuo	n
BMQ Concerns scale	DBP	0.29 <sup>**</sup>	0.023	62
BMQ Concerns scale	Pulse	-0.35*	0.005	62
Adherence screen	Last repeat measurement Visit 0	Spearman's rho	p value	n
BMQ Concerns scale BMQ Concerns	DBP	0.26**	0.043	62
Divide Concerns	Pulse	-0.36*	0.004	62

	Repeat measurements			
Adherence screen	Visit 0	Spearman's rho	p value	n
BMQ Necessity scale BMO Overuse	SBP	-0.34*	0.008	59
scale	DBP	0.31**	0.017	59
Adherence screen	Last repeat measurement Visit 0	Spearman's rho	n value	n
BMQ Necessity scale	SBP	-0.36*	0.005	59
BMQ Concerns scale BMO Overuse	DBP	0.29**	0.028	59
scale	DBP	0.34*	0.008	59

\*=statistically significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed) \*\*=statistically significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed)

#### 3.3.10 Multivariate analysis of variance (MANOVA)

Post-hoc analysis with Tukey's HSD and Bonferroni showed significantly higher SBP (p<0.05) in II subgroup compared to subgroups A or U. The post-hoc analysis also showed patients who received interventions C+I had significantly higher SBP (p<0.05) in comparison to patients receiving either of the interventions I or C+I+R (Table 3.24).

**Table 3.24.** Post-hoc analysis for MANOVA at visit 2. The post-hoc analysis with Tukey's HSD and Bonferroni showed a significantly higher SBP (p<0.05) in II subgroup compared to A and U subgroups. Patients who received interventions C+I had significantly higher SBP (p<0.05) compared to patients receiving interventions I or C+I+R.

Post-hoc analysis			
(Tukey's HSD)	Mean difference in visit		
adherence subgroups	2 SBP (mmHg)	Standard error	p value
Subgroup II - Subgroup A	15	5	0.030
Subgroup II - Subgroup U	16	5	0.016
Post-hoc analysis			
(Bonferroni) adherence	Mean difference in visit		
subgroups	2 SBP (mmHg)	Standard error	p value
Subgroup II - Subgroup A	15	5	0.040
Subgroup II - Subgroup U	16	5	0.020
Post-hoc analysis			
	3.6 3100 1 1.1.		
(Tukey's HSD)	Mean difference in visit		
(Tukey's HSD) interventions	Mean difference in visit 2 SBP (mmHg)	Standard error	p value
(Tukey's HSD) interventions Interventions C+I -	Mean difference in visit 2 SBP (mmHg)	Standard error	p value
(Tukey's HSD) interventions Interventions C+I - Interventions I	Mean difference in visit   2 SBP (mmHg)   8	Standard error	<b>p value</b> 0.047
(Tukey's HSD) interventions Interventions C+I - Interventions I Interventions C+I -	Mean difference in visit 2 SBP (mmHg) 8	Standard error	<b>p value</b> 0.047
(Tukey's HSD) interventions Interventions C+I - Interventions C+I - Interventions C+I+R	Mean difference in visit 2 SBP (mmHg) 8 9	Standard error 3 3	<b>p value</b> 0.047 0.020
(Tukey's HSD) interventions Interventions C+I - Interventions C+I - Interventions C+I+R Post-hoc analysis	Mean difference in visit <b>2 SBP (mmHg)</b> 8 9	Standard error 3 3	p value 0.047 0.020
(Tukey's HSD) interventions Interventions C+I - Interventions C+I - Interventions C+I - Post-hoc analysis (Bonferroni)	Mean difference in visit 2 SBP (mmHg) 8 9 Mean difference in visit	Standard error 3 3	p value 0.047 0.020
(Tukey's HSD) interventions Interventions C+I - Interventions C+I - Interventions C+I - Post-hoc analysis (Bonferroni) interventions	Mean difference in visit 2 SBP (mmHg) 8 9 Mean difference in visit 2 SBP (mmHg)	Standard error 3 3 Standard error	p value 0.047 0.020 p value
(Tukey's HSD) interventions Interventions C+I - Interventions C+I - Interventions C+I+R Post-hoc analysis (Bonferroni) interventions Interventions C+I -	Mean difference in visit 2 SBP (mmHg) 8 9 Mean difference in visit 2 SBP (mmHg)	Standard error 3 3 Standard error	p value 0.047 0.020 p value
## 3.3.11 Multivariate analysis of covariance (MANCOVA)

Post-hoc analysis with Bonferroni adjustment showed significantly higher DBP (p<0.05) in II subgroup compared to subgroup IR and U when having monotherapy/polypharmacy as a covariate (Table 3.25).

**Table 3.25.** Post-hoc analysis with monotherapy/polypharmacy as a covariate. The post-hoc analysis with Bonferroni adjustment showed a significantly higher DBP (p<0.05) in II subgroup compared to subgroup IR and U.

Post-hoc analysis (Bonferroni) adherence	Mean difference in visit		
subgroups	2 DBP (mmHg)	Standard error	p value
Subgroup II - Subgroup IR			
and U	24	8	0.040

### 3.4 Discussion

## **3.4.1** Screening of antihypertensive medication adherence and blood pressure (BP) assessment of community pharmacy hypertensive patients

The present pilot study sought to I) assess the feasibility of performing adherence screening in community pharmacy hypertensive patients, II) to deliver community pharmacist-led interventions targeting adherence status according to adherence subgroups to optimise blood pressure (BP) and III) establish (a) any issues with the adherence screen (b) any indications of outcomes from the allocated interventions (c) any indication if certain interventions were detrimental.

This pilot study shows potential value in screening antihypertensive adherence in community pharmacy. Patients can be categorized into different adherence subgroups. In addition, the present study indicates that generic interventions might not suit all patients. Certain adherence subgroups appear to react negatively to the pharmaceutical interventions used, possibly with detrimental outcomes on adherence and their blood pressure control.

The power calculation should be interpreted in the light of the present study is a feasibility study. Despite some subgroups not reaching the 25-patient target, the target number of patients was achieved for the A and U subgroups. Results from the present study show that there exist subgroups which are more definitive than others. This is reflected by the number of patients in each subgroup. The A (n=62), II (n=13), U (n=59) subgroups all appear to be discrete groupings. By contrast, the IR subgroup (n=0) appears not to be discrete. In addition, there is a cross-over between subgroups A and IR (n=4), A and II (n=5), IR and U (n=2), II and U (n=2). The subgroups with the smaller numbers of patients appear to be the more problematic groups. Intuitively, the smaller subgroups consist of patients with more issues,

e.g. patients who may worry about their medicines and those patients who change their views. The findings from this study indicate that patients who appear to conform to specific adherence sub-type groups are likely to require personalised interventions to facilitate the enhancement of their adherence. It is likely that these interventions will differ depending on the subgroup attribution. However, the exact nature of the optimal intervention requires further confirmation studies.

Tracking results of the changes in SBP and DBP across adherence subgroups results often deviate from the clinically acceptable -10 to +10 mmHg band, exhibiting more extreme changes as indicators of patient adherence worsen. This confirms that poor medication adherence results in unsatisfactory blood pressure control in the present pilot study.

## 3.4.2 Patients requesting for blood pressure (BP) and pulse measurement at visit 1

BP and pulse measurement at visit 1 demonstrates the importance of the community pharmacist as a provider of information and extended clinical services in healthcare, i.e. a clinician with the competence of performing hands-on examinations and making clinical decisions. The present study also demonstrates examples of patients requesting a hands-on physical examination involving diagnostics from community pharmacists.

#### 3.4.3 Blood pressure (BP) outcome in the cohort

The mean age of the patients in the study cohort was 66 years, an age group with high SBP probably resulting at least in part from arterial stiffness increasing with age. The obtained statistical significant SBP change between visit 0 and 2 is clinically meaningful as SBP is the most important BP marker regarding cardiovascular risk (Kaplan *et al.*, 2015; Warrell, 2010).

Elevated SBP has a larger effect on angina, myocardial infarction, and peripheral arterial disease. However, compared to SBP, an elevated DBP has a stronger effect on abdominal aortic aneurysm (Rapsomaniki *et al.*, 2014).

## 3.4.4 Blood pressure (BP) outcome in adherence subgroups3.4.4.1 Adherent (A) subgroup (n=62)

Patients in subgroup A generally exhibited blood pressure change between -10 to +10 mmHg over the study period and therefore appear to be adherent: their adequate blood pressure control reflecting the use of antihypertensive medication in an appropriate, stable manner. However, the present study results indicate that targeted pharmacist intervention may produce some additional benefits in blood pressure control even in this adherent group. A significant number of patients in the A subgroup exhibited optimal blood pressure control. However, there was a significant level of noise in the blood pressure data. The variance in BP readings in the A subgroup could possibly be explained if some patients have deliberately manipulated their responses in assessments of their attitudes towards adherence, which is a known limitation of self-reported adherence screening (Wiffen *et al.*, 2012).

#### 3.4.4.2 Intentional non-adherent rational (IR) subgroup (n=0)

The IR subgroup did not appear to be a discrete grouping making it appropriate to consider possible flaws in the adherence subgroup categorization. The adherence screening questionnaires may not accurately assess these patients. However, another explanation is that pharmacological management is generally adequate in the patient cohort.

It is postulated that in an efficient healthcare system, the extent of any IR subgroup would be low: findings otherwise might imply poor prescribing. Almost 50% of patients discontinue administering their antihypertensive medication during the first year of treatment (Kaplan *et al.*, 2015; Mancia *et al.*, 2013). Therefore, the likelihood of identifying patients who conform to an IR group type, from patients newly commenced on antihypertensive therapy would be higher compared to those who have already been stabilized on antihypertensive pharmacotherapy for a significant period.

#### 3.4.4.3 Intentional non-adherent irrational (II) subgroup (n=13)

Patients in the intentional non-adherent irrational subgroup exhibited highly variable blood pressure control (some worse, some better). Post-hoc analysis from MANOVA at visit 2 showed that in this subgroup there was a significantly higher SBP compared to A and U subgroups. It is likely that II patients have a higher blood pressure, which indicates they are probably not taking their therapy. The present pilot study may well indicate that community pharmacist intervention in those patients with irrational beliefs about antihypertensive medicines (the II subgroup) could reinforce such misbeliefs leading to further deterioration in their blood pressure control.

As clinical practitioners, pharmacists need to be aware that practice interventions are not necessarily universally good in outcome in certain subsets of the patient population. Hence, the present pilot study indicates the proposition for targeted interventions on an individual basis. Working on the ethical principle "*primum non nocere*" (first do no harm), this aspect of improving patient adherence requires further study in terms of identifying risks associated with pharmaceutical interventions.

## 3.4.4.4 Mixed subgroups: Adherent and Intentional non-adherent rational (A and IR) (n=4); Adherent and Intentional non-adherent irrational (A and II) (n=5); Intentional nonadherent rational and Unintentional non-adherent (IR and U) (n=2); Intentional nonadherent irrational and Unintentional non-adherent (II and U) (n=2)

The inconsistency in adherence subgroup allocation resulting from the application of the 8item MMAS, MARS and BMQ necessitated some patients being simultaneously assigned into four different mixed adherence categories: A and IR; A and II; IR and U; II and U.

Patients who were allocated to subgroups A and IR or A and II appeared to exhibit stable BP control; generally, these patients were close to being fully adherent.

Subgroup IR and U showed an improvement in BP, whereas the II and U subgroup had a worsening in BP. A possible explanation is that the IR and U subgroup may have benefited from the intervention. Also, it could be that the scope of IR is diminished in comparison to U within this subgroup considering there being good therapeutics in the entire cohort. The explanation for a worsening in BP for the II and U subgroup could possibly be traced back to the reasoning for the BP outcome in the II subgroup. In any case, the patient numbers were very low in the IR and U, II and U subgroups. Hence, the blood pressure results for these two mixed adherence subgroups should be interpreted with caution.

## 3.4.4.5 Unintentional non-adherent (U) subgroup (n=59)

The present study indicates the potential for improvements in blood pressure control through targeted pharmaceutical intervention in those patients appearing to be unintentionally non-adherent. The intervention package provided to this adherence subgroup shows it may be effective in reaching blood pressure reduction.

# 3.4.5 Comparability with other studies and covariates influencing blood pressure (BP) outcome

Comparability of study results has not been carried out since no other studies have been found reporting similar results. Therefore, it is difficult to pinpoint definite reasons for the obtained BP results in this pilot study. However, examining factors which determine blood pressure variability provide a possible guidance to reasons although not being definite.

There are numerous factors that could affect blood pressure. Some patients would have controlled BP due to being adherent to the oral antihypertensive medication therapy and good antihypertensive therapeutics. In those patients where there is a reduction in BP, patients may, for example, commence an exercise regimen or implement a dietary measure to reduce sodium intake. By contrast, a BP elevation could be caused by a white-coat effect or stress prior to or during the study visit. Moreover, in Sweden, there is a long season with a cold climate. The fact that visit 0 and/or visit 2 could have occurred during the cold season may have contributed to increased peripheral resistance in some patients, thereby causing a BP elevation.

As there is an indication of significance to a covariate such as monotherapy/polypharmacy, a larger study would probably show some significant issues with covariates which are of importance in future planning of adherence research and in the therapy and assessment of hypertension. Consequently, some of the variations in blood pressure might be explained by factors not controlled for in the study design. Nonetheless, the results are strongly suggestive that patients with hypertension can be routinely allocated to generic adherence subtypes in a community pharmacy, with the intent of targeting appropriate interventions to optimize antihypertensive medication adherence.

It has been shown that with some disease states, increasing polypharmacy results in lower adherence for various reasons (Anthierens *et al.*, 2010; Lehane and McCarthy, 2007; WHO, 2003; Volpe *et al.*, 2010). By large, the interventions C+I+R or C+I was provided to patients on more than two antihypertensive drugs. These patients had a worsening in BP, showing these interventions were provided when non-adherence was present. This suggests that it may well be medication non-adherence that causes the negative values in blood pressure. Despite non-adherence, it should be investigated if there are pathophysiological factors contributing to the resistant hypertensive state. This would best be done by the pharmacist referring the patient to a specialist hypertension clinic.

### 3.4.6 Interventions and blood pressure (BP) outcome

The questionnaire scores from adherence screens at visit 0 and 2 strictly underpin the hypothesis that any adherence intervention probably will not work for everybody. Besides, the post-hoc analysis in MANOVA at visit 2 showed that to patients which interventions C+I was delivered exhibited a worsening in blood pressure outcome. This being intuitively correct since C+I was to a great extent delivered to the II subgroup, whereas intervention I was targeted to the A subgroup and C+I+R to the U subgroup, suggesting there is a possibility that reinforcement of multiple interventions in those patients who are accepting of these methods may be the best way forward. Consequently, there are indications in the present study that in patients who are adherent, informatics and basic reminder interventions may be suitable and in patients who are intentionally or unintentionally non-adherent, reminders could be effective.

## 3.4.7 Variability in blood pressure (BP) and pulse results

The reflection of a significant statistical between-group difference at visit 0 and a nonsignificant between-group difference at visit 2 in a pragmatic approach portrays the variability in the BP and pulse results that are leading to flaws in the statistics which need to be interpreted with caution.

Inspection of the numerical values of BP and pulse results at visit 0 and visit 2 display a numerical variation. See examples 1-3 in Figures 3.32 to 3.37.



**Figure 3.32.** Box-and-whisker plot with systolic blood pressure (mmHg) based on repeat measurements at visit 0 and visit 2 for adherence subgroup A.



Figure 3.33. Box-and-whisker plot with systolic blood pressure (mmHg) based on repeat measurements at visit 0 and visit 2 for adherence subgroup A and IR.

Figures 3.32 and 3.33 show the SBP levels for A and A and IR subgroups at visit 0 and visit 2 respectively. Arrows initiating from box number 1 point at the SBP levels at visit 0 and visit 2 for each of these two adherence subgroups. It is seen a higher SBP level for A subgroup both at visit 0 and visit 2 in comparison to the SBP levels for subgroup A and IR.



Figure 3.34. Box-and-whisker plot with diastolic blood pressure (mnHg) based on repeat measurements at visit 0 and visit 2 for adherence subgroup II.



Figure 3.35. Box-and-whisker plot with diastolic blood pressure (mmHg) based on repeat measurements at visit 0 and visit 2 for adherence subgroup A and II.

Figures 3.34 and 3.35 show the DBP levels for II and A and II subgroups at visit 0 and visit 2 respectively. Arrows initiating from box number 1 point at the DBP levels at visit 0 and visit 2 for each of these two adherence subgroups. It is seen a higher DBP level for II subgroup both at visit 0 and visit 2 in comparison to the DBP levels for subgroup A and II.



Figure 3.36. Box-and-whisker plot with a pulse (beats/minute) based on repeat measurements at visit 0 and visit 2 for adherence subgroup A.



Figure 3.37. Box-and-whisker plot with a pulse (beats/minute) based on repeat measurements at visit 0 and visit 2 for adherence subgroup A and II.

Figures 3.36 and 3.37 show the pulse levels for A and A and II subgroups at visit 0 and visit 2 respectively. Arrows initiating from box number 1 point at the pulse levels at visit 0 and visit 2 for each of these two adherence subgroups. It is seen a higher pulse level for A subgroup at both visit 0 and visit 2 compared to pulse levels for subgroup A and II.

Although a pragmatic statistic approach has been employed, this does not match up to a situation when some subgroups relative to other subgroups at visit 0 would have higher levels of BP and pulse resulting in a larger magnitude of BP and pulse change relative to other subgroups once reaching visit 2 due to all adherence subgroups ending up at the same BP and pulse level at visit 2.

#### 3.4.8 Limitations

First, this pilot study was a relatively modest size study in a single community pharmacy. It was too small to accommodate the constraints of the statistical methods employed. However, evidence from this small study shows that within the constraints of the statistical tests there are some significant findings. In a larger study, this would maybe show some larger issues with adherence and the major cardiovascular parameters. Thus, it is possible that a larger study allowing discrimination of larger numbers of patients in each adherence subgroup would show significant differences in important cardiovascular parameters relevant to hypertension.

Secondly, the questionnaires used for the adherence screens were used outside of their validation, i.e. how they are supposed to be used. Since there was no proper correlation between the questionnaires scores from the adherence screens and the blood pressure outcomes, it is not the fault of the questionnaires. Rather, it must do with the way the

questionnaires were employed in the study. The questionnaires were merely used as tools to categorize patients in adherence subgroups and not used in their strictest sense as adherence screens. There was no validation of the thresholds of questionnaire scores in this study. Each of the questionnaires used in adherence screens in this study has been validated previously, but only for evaluation of adherence to a single agent.

Thirdly, there is a potential limitation in that a patient may respond differently to a general adherence scale when applied to a specific pathological condition. However, it has been assumed that scales developed to be non-specific for disease could be applied to hypertension. Furthermore, the current study design did not restrict to patients receiving antihypertensive monotherapy, rather patients were asked to consider their therapy for hypertension in general. Besides, there was no confirmation of the patient's diagnosis of hypertension with the patient's physician. It was mainly considered that the patient was on oral antihypertensive pharmacotherapy. It is possible that patients' attitudes to adherence might vary between different antihypertensive drugs even though they are prescribed for the same condition. Finally, the study pharmacist not making a full objective judgement during adherence subgroup categorization could create a potential bias. It is also recognized that the study pharmacist and/or patients were not blinded in the present study creating a possibility for selection bias and a Hawthorne effect. There is a potential flaw that patients may sit between adherence groups, which is a limitation when doing this in practice. Despite this, it informs about the future requirement for a refinement of the allocation process to simplify this process for use in community pharmacy practice.

#### 3.4.9 Restrictions on the use of pharmacy refill data

The intention was to calculate pharmacy refill data from pill count and an electronic dispensing database. It was soon clear that the pill count method did not work due to reasons such as the patient forgetting to bring the medicine/s bottle/s to the study pharmacy during medicine refills etc.

In the Swedish community pharmacy system, the study pharmacist could have collected pharmacy refill data from the Swedish electronic dispensing database *Läkemedelsförteckningen*. If it was done, MPR would have shown or not shown an interesting result. However, the attempt to use MPR was halted due to structural methodological reasons. The electronic dispensing database was not feasible because the study pharmacist's understanding of Swedish law is that it does not permit using the data in the dispensing database for research purposes, despite prior ethical approval and patient consent. Nonetheless, in another healthcare system, MPR might show an interesting result.

#### 3.4.10 Future work

To refine the methods, it would be of importance to confirm with the medical practitioner the number of patients with a hypertension diagnosis and identify the number of patients who visit the physician and then do not even present their prescription. In a future study, when screening medication adherence, the effect of the total drug load of the patient should be considered including therapies for conditions other than hypertension.

To build on this pilot study the first step is to conduct a larger comparative trial to evaluate if targeted community pharmacist-led interventions really work. It would be necessary to test

various combinations of interventions in different sub-types e.g. would IR subgroup benefit from counselling to establish the nature of their rational problem and implement any solutions. This would be done by performing a four-armed parallel randomized trial with subdivision into study groups. There would be measures of adherence in all four study groups. To see if the study groups behave differently the intentional non-adherent patients would be in group A and B. Group A would receive an intervention with reminders, whereas group B would receive an informatics type of intervention. Unintentional non-adherent patients would belong to either group C or D. Group C would receive reminders targeting forgetfulness, whereas group D would receive informatics.

The second step would involve a larger study to confirm the prevalence of the smaller adherence subgroups and identify the measures to which the patients in these subgroups would respond to. In these smaller subgroups, the patients might be really showing significance in pathology and negative outcomes. There is at least one small, but important group of individuals who are resistant to being adherent. However, due to the relatively small patient cohort in the present study, the results should be treated with caution and a larger study should be conducted.

## 3.5 Conclusions

The pilot study has shown that it is likely to be useful to categorize community pharmacy hypertensive patients into adherence subgroups based on their responses to questionnaire format adherence screens. It is feasible to deliver different intuitively designed community pharmacist-led interventions to each adherence subgroup to optimize antihypertensive medication adherence whilst assessing blood pressure control and changes in attitudes to

adherence. The results from the smaller subgroups form a small, but still an important group of patients who are problematic from an adherence perspective. The present study is suggestive of that there are likely to be exposed significances in a larger comparative trial.

## 4 General discussion

This chapter will provide a general discussion based on the studies described in chapters 2 and 3.

# 4.1 The research domain community pharmacy practice, hypertension, and adherence

The current research programme was focused on community pharmacy practice in relation to cardiovascular disease, specifically examining patients with hypertension in a community pharmacy setting. It might be argued the systematic review presented in Chapter 2 solely focused on studies with an outcome to optimize blood pressure, whereas the community pharmacy-based *in vivo* adherence project in Chapter 3 examined the optimisation of patients' antihypertensive adherence with the intent to optimize BP control. Indeed, the overarching theme of the present research was not the specifics of patients' adherence to antihypertensive medication. Rather, the focus was aimed at ensuring that BP was improved in patients, albeit that the participants' primary therapy comprised antihypertensive pharmacotherapy. Developments in pharmacy practice have promoted disease state management, i.e. not explicitly concentrating on medicines management, as a clear focus for pharmacy

practitioners, with the patient and the illness at the centre of care. Patient adherence to medication is often used as an outcome measure for research (Armour *et al.*, 2008). Hence, in the present community pharmacy studies a convenient model to use to optimize BP was through assessment of antihypertensive medication adherence with accompanying BP measurement.

## 4.2 Research findings

## 4.2.1 A systematic review of pharmacist-led interventions within a community pharmacy setting aimed at optimising blood pressure (BP) in patients undergoing oral antihypertensive medication therapy

A systematic review was conducted (see Chapter 2) to explore the scope of the evidence-base within the research domain of mixed-method studies. The focus was community pharmacistled interventions within a community pharmacy setting aimed at blood pressure optimisation in patients undergoing oral antihypertensive medication therapy. The overall aim of the systematic review was to explore the research area as a scoping exercise.

### 4.2.1.1 Findings from the systematic review

Outputs in varying quantity were derived from five selected electronic biomedical databases. Visual interpretation of funnel plots with grey literature revealed publication bias. However, the statistical test for funnel plot asymmetry showed the opposite. These opposing findings highlight the subjective role of visual inspection of funnel plots. In addition, these observations point to the possibility of reasons other than publication bias to explain funnel plot asymmetry such as poor methodological quality, heterogeneity between studies and chance (Higgins and Green, 2011).

#### 4.2.1.1.1 Patients

It is highlighted in the present systematic review that patient screening should be standardized. A standardization process could involve the creation of an algorithm in relation to patient characteristics, screening, and recruitment. Moreover, community pharmacy working together with GPs has an important function in the framework to optimize adherence (Herborg *et al.*, 2008). Collaboration with physicians and other healthcare staff would provide points of referral of patients to the community pharmacy. This would facilitate the foundation on to which to build the community pharmacist's provision of pharmaceutical care to patients. However, it should be noted that this would be a complementary methodological approach to self-referred patients. In addition, in those healthcare systems where clinical data sharing is allowed, such an inter-professional collaboration would enable clinical data sharing.

#### 4.2.1.1.2 Interventions

There is a wide spectrum of pharmaceutical interventions targeted at improving patient adherence: this raises the problem of which interventions are effective (and in which situations). Established interventions are often complex and appear to be delivered to patients without consideration of individual attitudes to pharmacotherapy (Horne *et al.*, 2001; Hugtenburg *et al.*, 2013; Nieuwlaat *et al.*, 2014; Stewart *et al.*, 2014; Stewart *et al.*, 2015). Currently, the evidence from the present systematic review points to community pharmacybased, pharmacist-led interventions lead to a positive effect, no effect or a negative effect. Hence, it may even be detrimental to intervene in some patients.

Since the present feasibility study in Chapter 3 appears to indicate that patients could be subgrouped according to their attitudes to adherence, there is a need for well-designed studies which could establish the patient subgroups likely to benefit from particular intervention. In addition, those patients who may not benefit from pharmaceutical intervention should be identified.

#### 4.2.1.1.3 Comparators

In the present systematic review, there is a wide representation of the randomised controlled trial study design with intervention and control groups. From the perspective of the risk of bias, the RCT design provides the lowest risk. However, there are studies in the present systematic review with a before-and-after comparison resulting in increased risk of bias (Khan *et al.*, 2011; Wiffen *et al.*, 2012). Indeed, there also exist evaluations of outcomes in patient subgroups, which is a starter to recognizing the individual patient approach to pharmaceutical interventions.

#### 4.2.1.1.4 Outcomes

Blood pressure outcome among the studies in the present systematic review is highly variable mirroring the variation in study design among the included studies. The present meta-analysis shows interventions either leading to no effect or a minor positive effect on BP. Consequently, the outcome of the meta-analysis is possible since pharmaceutical interventions with regards to medicines usage are simplistic. As such, these interventions do not work. In the light of this, it should be recognized that manoeuvres which community pharmacists take with a good intention could even be detrimental to patients. In fact, the outcome from the present meta-analysis stands in contrast to the premise of earlier research where it appears that intervention/s produce a positive effect. Another possible explanation relating to the meta-analytic outcome is the low quality of some studies in the present systematic review leading to unsatisfactory results. Among the studies in the present systematic review, there is an array

of outcomes to which researchers investigate, making it difficult to know which outcomes are of relevance for assessing the pharmacy service.

#### 4.2.1.1.5 Study design

Measures of consistency show heterogeneity existing between the included studies in the present systematic review. Different study designs among the studies in the present systematic review make the research unnecessarily complex. Moreover, the barriers on current study designs are not represented in the evidence-base. Thus, all this calls for a requirement of standardization of study design. Standardising the study design would mean to apply a study design which lowers the risk of bias. This would include the study population rigorously being defined. Moreover, it should be considered if the patient is on monotherapy or polytherapy since the total drug load would have an impact on adherence. In addition, the patient's attitudes to different antihypertensive medications may vary. Study duration should set to last at least 6 months, allowing for an optimal data collection period. Adherence assessment would include a triangulative approach of different adherence screening tools considering different adherence models have their own strengths and limitations.

## 4.2.2 A pilot study evaluating the impact of community pharmacist-led interventions to optimize antihypertensive medicines adherence

The community pharmacy-based *in vivo* adherence study (see Chapter 3) sought to assess the feasibility of screening antihypertensive medicine adherence in community pharmacy hypertensive patients and delivering pharmacist-led interventions targeting adherence status according to adherence subgroups to optimise blood pressure (BP). The pilot study was

performed in a 153-ambulatory hypertensive patient population at a community pharmacy in Uppsala, Sweden with 147 patients completing all study visits.

The study findings indicate that it is possible and beneficial to categorize patients into different adherence subgroups, which supports the concept that generalised adherence interventions might not suit all patients. Furthermore, the pilot study highlights the potential value in screening antihypertensive adherence in community pharmacy. It is feasible to perform this service in a community pharmacy.

In some adherence subgroups identified in the present study, certain targeted interventions appear to optimize BP when compared to other interventions. For example, pharmaceutical interventions involving memory aids or reminders appear to be particularly effective in those patients exhibiting an unintentional attitude towards their non-adherence. By contrast, there was some indication that patients in certain adherence subgroups react negatively to pharmaceutical interventions possibly with detrimental outcomes on adherence and their blood pressure control. Using reminder interventions in those exhibiting intentional, irrational attitudes to non-adherence could well reinforce negative perceptions of medicines usage exacerbating the avoidance of prescribed medication use.

### 4.2.2.1 Blood pressure (BP) outcomes 4.2.2.1.1 Cohort (n=153)

There was a statistically significant SBP reduction between visit 0 and visit 2 in the cohort. This outcome is of clinical importance since it is highlighted SBP is a marker connected to cardiovascular risk, but it is also shown that an elevated SBP has a larger effect on angina, myocardial infarction, and peripheral arterial disease. By contrast, an elevated DBP has a

stronger connection to abdominal aortic aneurysm (Kaplan *et al.*, 2015; Rapsomaniki *et al.*, 2014; Warrell, 2010).

#### 4.2.2.1.2 Adherent subgroup (A) (n=62)

Patients in subgroup A had a stable blood pressure control although showing administration of antihypertensive medicines in a stable manner. The results indicate the intervention resulted in additional benefit for this subgroup. There is noise in the BP data, possibly indicating that some patients may not have given accurate indications of their attitudes to adherence, which is a known limitation of self-reported adherence (Wiffen *et al.*, 2012). Patients in this subgroup are unlikely to be at risk unless contrary clinical evidence is obtained.

#### 4.2.2.1.3 Intentional non-adherent rational (IR) subgroup (n=0)

There was no IR subgroup existing alone which raises two possible explanations: I) there either may be a flaw in the adherence subgroup categorization and/or II) there is good therapeutics in the entire cohort.

#### 4.2.2.1.4 Intentional non-adherent irrational (II) subgroup (n=13)

The II subgroup had highly variable BP control. In addition, post-hoc analysis from MANOVA at visit 2 showed a significantly higher SBP compared to A and U subgroups. Therefore, it is intuitive that those patients having higher BP are not using their antihypertensive medication optimally. Hence, pharmacists should be aware that delivering interventions to patients with irrational beliefs may strengthen the position of their beliefs, resulting in worsened BP control.

## 4.2.2.1.5 Mixed subgroups: Adherent and Intentional non-adherent rational (A and IR) (n=4); Adherent and Intentional non-adherent irrational (A and II) (n=5); Intentional nonadherent rational and Unintentional non-adherent (IR and U) (n=2); Intentional nonadherent irrational and Unintentional non-adherent (II and U) (n=2)

There was inconsistency in the allocation process resulting from the application of 8-item MMAS, MARS and BMQ. Thus, patients were categorized in mixed adherence subgroups A and IR; A and II; IR and U; II and U. Patients in the A and IR; A and II subgroups had stable BP control considering these patients were almost fully adherent. Subgroup IR and U showed an improvement in BP possibly showing a beneficial effect of the intervention. Another possible explanation is the scope of IR being low compared to U since there may be good therapeutic control in the cohort. The II and U subgroup showed a worsening in BP control, possibly owing to the II portion of this mixed subgroup. The patient numbers in the IR and U; II and U subgroups were very low. Consequently, the results for these two subgroups should be treated with caution.

#### 4.2.2.1.6 Unintentional non-adherent (U) subgroup (n=59)

BP improvements for the U subgroup was achieved showing the intervention package may be effective in reaching BP reductions for this subgroup.

## 4.3 Implications for the profession, practice, and policy

Accessibility of the community pharmacy and pharmacist to the public potentially constitutes a positive environment for disease management programmes. Being a complementary function to the general practitioner, the pharmacist can assist in the management of hypertension (WHO, 2005). The community pharmacy-based *in vivo* project in Chapter 3 has highlighted the feasibility of conducting a pharmacist-led, community pharmacy-based hypertension service.

The findings from the present feasibility study suggest that patients should not receive generic interventions irrespective of their adherence status. Hence, the findings stand in direct contrast to the interventional approach included in the RCT investigating the effectiveness of the New Medicines Service (NMS) in England. The NMS is a community pharmacy service in England provided to patients prescribed a new medication for a chronic condition. To participate in the service, patients can be self-referred, referred by their prescriber or identified by the community pharmacist. The intervention being face-to-face or telephone consultation with the patient one to two weeks after including the patient into the service. A follow-up consultation is held two to three weeks after the initial consultation. During the consultation, drug-related problems the patient is experiencing will be resolved. Referral to the prescriber may done if required (Elliott *et al.*, 2014; Elliott *et al.*, 2016). However, the intervention in the NMS is generic in nature and does not consider that patients have individual attitudes to adherence.

The systematic review in Chapter 2 has examined the patient screening process, to establish which patients are likely to benefit from the community pharmacy service. The present study has investigated the contribution of the community pharmacist in hypertension management being suggestive of pharmacist-led interventions leading to highly variable outcomes being positive, negative or no effect. Again, this indicates that generic pharmacist-led interventions cannot be delivered to ambulatory hypertensive patients in a community pharmacy. Thus, beginning to look at groups of patients for individual interactions with interventions is the proper way to go forward.

Indeed, the community pharmacy-based *in vivo* adherence project suggests a way forward to categorize patients into adherence subgroups based on their adherence status assessed through a set of adherence screening questionnaires whilst assessing BP and pulse. Consequently, it appears that the community pharmacist could direct the pharmacy service to those patients who are in greatest need of interventions. In addition, there is an indication that some pharmaceutical interventions could be avoided where they might be detrimental to certain patients.

Notwithstanding the above, the research base needs to be expanded to obtain definitive results on which to base practice and policy. This would enhance the possibility of extending the role of the community pharmacist to patient-centred hypertension care and make the community pharmacy a hub for hypertension management being a complementary approach to the physician. A standardization of processes relating to the delivery of community pharmacy services in patients with hypertension is required.

As suggested by Mancia and co-workers, a team-based approach may be the best way forward for hypertension management (Mancia *et al.*, 2013). A different perspective has been taken in the present studies. In fact, the system for hypertension management suggested here could be a point were "at risk" hypertensive patients are referred to by physicians and other healthcare staff. Collaboration with the physician would enable the confirmation of the hypertension diagnosis and other clinical data. However, at present, when a pharmacist needs to obtain clinical data, this is often hampered owing to legal aspects, links between professions and healthcare system factors (Farris *et al.*, 2005; Mansoor *et al.*, 2015). Efforts should be put into investigating solutions to overcoming these challenges. Information for the pharmacist to obtain during assessment consist of patient data, disease data and drug data (Cipolle *et al.*, 2012).

For the delivery of pharmaceutical care in pharmacy practice, it requires a management system which embraces logistics, evaluation and financial aspects, e.g. adequate number of competent pharmacists and pharmacy staff, private or semi-private space, availability of literature, a management system to schedule appointments and documenting the pharmaceutical care (Cipolle *et al.*, 2012; Puspitasari *et al.*, 2015). Moreover, the location of the pharmacy, as well as a neighbouring GP practice, increases the likelihood of implementation of the service (Puspitasari *et al.*, 2015).

Hence, accommodating special pharmacists on appointment to fully take on the role of patient-centred pharmaceutical care is mandatory. The level of community pharmacist competency is a relevant parameter to ensure delivery of quality pharmaceutical care. In addition, it is of importance to establish the working role of the community pharmacist in order not to cross the professional boundaries of other health care staff.

## 4.4 Limitations

### 4.4.1 Systematic review

During the screening process, the databases retrieved some interesting studies (Amariles *et al.*, 2012; Blenkinsopp *et al.*, 2000). However, these studies did not meet the systematic review inclusion criteria.

A draw-back in some studies is that they did not report data for inclusion in the meta-analysis or assessing publication bias. It was not always successful to reach study authors to obtain data even though the contact information was available.

The application of the EPOC study design criteria was affected by the mixed-methods approach. However, the studies which did not conform to the EPOC study design criteria were marked in the results section in Chapter 2. Even though the systematic review employed a mixed-methods approach, it is considered not to have any impact on the quantitative and qualitative outputs.

## 4.4.2 Community pharmacy-based in vivo adherence project

This was a small-scale study, though a large-scale from the perspective of this pilot study being conducted by an independent single researcher in a single community pharmacy. Thus, there was no expectation to obtain fully definitive results. However, the results are highly suggestive of there being groups of patients who are resistant to therapy/intervention and there being variability within a specific adherence subgroup. Therefore, this pilot study provides an intimation of points were the likely success will be.

For the community pharmacy-based *in vivo* adherence project, a pragmatic approach to the statistical analysis was sought. However, this was not always feasible and the results were interpreted in the light of those constraints.

#### 4.4.2.1 Non-pharmacological interventions

It is recognized that non-pharmacological interventions such as recommending physical activity and restricting sodium in the diet can be valuable and have a pronounced effect on BP

(Mancia *et al.*, 2013; Nadar and Lip, 2009; Warrell *et al.*, 2010). In the community pharmacybased *in vivo* adherence project, non-pharmacological interventions were not measured relating to performing or following any of those kinds of interventions. It was not considered if the patient initiated or halted any non-pharmacologic intervention and any potential impact it could have on BP. In addition, there was no measurement included on any change in following non-pharmacologic interventions.

There is no strong evidence in the pilot study to suggest that patients were changing their behaviour relating to non-pharmacologic interventions during the study. Consequently, there is not much reason to believe changes in non-pharmacological behaviour had any impact on BP readings.

#### 4.4.2.2 Challenges encountered during the research endeavor

There was no real issue in recruiting patients for the pilot study. Besides, there was a low amount of patient drop-outs. This shows there is a public interest for community pharmacybased, pharmacist-led services. Working collaboratively between the UK and Sweden unmasked some unexpected challenges, as community pharmacy regulations and operating systems somewhat differ between these countries. This led to some redesign of the planned research methods and data collection: differences between ethical permissions and patient data management systems were of most significance in necessitating these modifications. Nonetheless, pharmaceutical research such as the community pharmacy-based *in vivo* adherence project has been able to utilize a shared experience and knowledge to promote the advancement of pharmaceutical care to improve BP in patients with hypertension. As the endorsed definition of pharmaceutical care includes improved quality of life, neither an assessment of the quality of life aspect or a pharmacoeconomic evaluation was conducted in the community pharmacy-based *in vivo* project (Hepler and Strand, 1990). Also, the project did not follow the research proposal on a setup with monotherapy or polypharmacy groups. The reason for this was not being able to frame these outcome measures within the authentic practice situation, considering that all research was carried out by a single researcher in a single community pharmacy. In addition, MPR was not used due to the understanding of the Swedish law that does not permit collection of MPR data in pharmacy practice. Moreover, the adherence screening questionnaires were not used as adherence measurement tools to measure adherence, rather to allocate patients into adherence subgroups. Despite this, the project went along meeting all the other stated aims and objectives.

#### 4.4.2.3 Study design

The gold standard in clinical research is to conduct a blinded randomized controlled trial. However, as the community pharmacy-based *in vivo* adherence project employed a beforeand after study design with a single researcher in a single community pharmacy, it is difficult to know how to conduct a blinded trial as there are different elements to different patients by default. In addition, in a community population, there is always the risk of contamination in the study by a patient receiving one type of intervention talking to another patient receiving another type of intervention.

It is acknowledged, in terms of bias, that there are potentially more reliable, less risk methodological approaches. However, since this was a pilot study being conducted by a single researcher in a single community pharmacy with a defined patient population, the

before-and-after design was deemed to be the most robust as each patient was their own control. There is a possibility of risk of bias from the perspective of the single investigator/assessor. However, the psychosocial way to influence the risk on BP readings and questionnaire responses is judged not to have any larger impact on the results.

#### 4.4.2.4 Interventions and persistence in blood pressure (BP) control

The present pilot study did not incorporate a study design which enabled to explore the persistence of effect caused by the interventions. This requires a different study over a longer period to investigate such an effect. It was not feasible to carry out such a long study within the specified time frame. Consequently, it is not known if these types of interventions lead to persistence in effect.

A pharmacist is likely to see a hypertensive patient more often than a general practitioner as they collect refills of their medication. Intuitively, any kind of intervention involving regular reminders and interaction with the community pharmacy is likely to give persistent and beneficial effects. However, providing the patient with education does not cause a persistent effect on behaviours surrounding medicines administration (Lee *et al.*, 2006). A systematic review by Conn and co-workers, 2016 provided an assessment of studies with adherence interventions in adult patients with adherence issues. The authors conclude face-to-face interventions being important as well as connecting medication-taking with routines and reminders. The latter is more likely to produce a persistent effect since it is a continuous intervention in comparison to when a patient receives education, which is provided at a single time point or within a set time frame (Conn *et al.*, 2016). In contrast, there is an intimation in the present pilot study there being a certain subgroup where it might be detrimental to be

persistent in reminders and such an approach may reinforce the incorrect views in those patients who do not respond well to traditional medications and interventions.

## 4.5 Future directions

### 4.5.1 General considerations

As suggested in Chapter 3, a first step is to conduct a larger comparative trial to evaluate if targeted community pharmacist-led interventions really work. It would be necessary to test various combinations of interventions in different adherence subgroups. The systematic review and community pharmacy-based *in vivo* adherence project indicate the possibility of negative outcome arising from pharmacist-led interventions. There is an indication of at least one resistant patient subgroup to pharmacist-led interventions. Thus, caution with pharmacist-led interventions to a certain subset of patients. A future study should establish the prevalence of these patient subgroups and a decision pathway on how to proceed with treating these patients. Some patients may require referral to specialist hypertension care. There is a definite possibility to gear up towards a longer study duration with improved study design such as the application of RCT trials and conducting larger multi-centre studies to provide definite evidence for the community pharmacy-based service. This would possibly throw light on the methodological deviations occurring in the community pharmacy-based *in vivo* adherence project and pave the way for refinement of the methods.

In addition, further future work would include:

 Going forward to evaluate the interventions in each adherence subgroup relating to effect and persistence in effect bearing in mind any subgroup being resistant to pharmaceutical interventions which could reinforce the incorrect views of the patients.

- Antihypertensive medicines adherence would be interesting to investigate as an outcome measure. In those healthcare systems where it is allowed to go forward with MPR, it would be of interest to explore this outcome looking at MPR at different time points.
- Consider a study design with data collection through a triangulated methodological approach which manifests the data collection from different perspectives possibly creating more robust data.
- A collaborative approach with GPs and other healthcare staff should be sought. Not all same health-systems have the same attitudes on physician and community pharmacy interactions. However, there is a huge opportunity for community pharmacists to take on these clinical pharmacy roles in situations where the setting is such not being feasible to provide sufficient physicians or where physicians claim to be underfunded and overworked. Therefore, this study has shown that it is physically and technically possible that patients can be monitored in the community pharmacy. In a future study, it would be interesting to investigate if the methods used in this pilot study could equally be applied to the management of other disease states.
- The working role of the community pharmacist in the light of a changing professional role should be defined, not crossing the borders of the other
healthcare professions which could lead to an acceptance of the extended pharmacist role by other healthcare staff.

- To embrace the concept of pharmaceutical care, quality of life as an outcome measure should be included and assessed.
- Further investigation into the aspect of pharmacist prescribing as an interventional element. In a randomized controlled trial conducted by Tsuyuki and co-workers, 2015, in community pharmacies, hospitals and primary care teams in Alberta, Canada, the impact of pharmacist prescribing on BP control was investigated in patients 18 years and above. The results were a clinically and statistically significant effect of pharmacist prescribing on BP control (Tsuyuki *et al.*, 2015).
- Pharmacists, professional pharmacist organizations, other healthcare staff and governments should through communication make the community pharmacy services known to the public.

### 4.5.2 Financing pharmaceutical care service in community pharmacy

Pharmacy services are moving into being a part of both the professional practice as well as the business model (Moullin *et al.*, 2013). Payers of the service will tend to look at the benefit of a safe and rational use of medicines (Cipolle *et al.*, 2012). However, payment for service in the community pharmacy has not been taken forward to the larger arena. For example, in

Australia, an agreement between the professional organization for community pharmacists and the government has resulted in remuneration for pharmaceutical services in community pharmacy. However, the community pharmacy is required to meet certain criteria to receive this payment (Puspitasari *et al.*, 2015).

In community pharmacy, the cost of dispensing prescription medicines is declining (Cipolle *et al.*, 2012; Puspitasari *et al.*, 2015). This results in a larger amount of prescriptions required to be filled to gain profit in the pharmacy business. As such, interventions aimed at the time of refill may not produce the best results and distort the prescription-handling process (Cipolle *et al.*, 2012).

There is a call for pharmacoeconomic evaluations to provide evidence on the costeffectiveness of interventions relating to hypertension (Santschi *et al.*, 2015). Evaluations such as these would possibly increase the likelihood of securing funding for future studies and reimbursement for community pharmacy implementation of the service. Reimbursement and cost for the service are the responsibilities of the governments, health insurance companies, pharmacists, researchers, pharmacy companies and patients (Hourihan *et al.*, 2003; Maher *et al.*, 2014). For the pharmacy service to be successful, there should be a minimum requirement of delivering pharmaceutical care to 10-15 patients a day (Cipolle *et al.*, 2012).

### 4.6 Conclusion

Tying together the systematic review and the community pharmacy-based *in vivo* project results in a joint effort for an opportunistic role for the community pharmacist to bring together a service intended to optimize patients' BP. There are challenges along the way, though future studies have the possibility to influence the evidence-base which will form the basis to include the fully developed pharmaceutical care service into practice and policy. Regarding this, this thesis has established:

- It is feasible for ambulatory hypertension patients to attend a community pharmacy-based hypertension management program with pharmacist-led interventions aimed at optimizing BP.
- There is a possibility in a community pharmacy to deliver targeted pharmacistled interventions tailored to the patient's adherence status, although bearing in mind for certain patients, pharmaceutical interventions may have a detrimental effect. As such, there is a need to establish the subgroups which need or do not need the pharmaceutical intervention package.
- A collaborative approach with GP's and other healthcare staff should be sought as a point of referral of "at risk" patients to benefit from the pharmacy service as well as for clinical data sharing for the benefit of optimizing the hypertension therapy of the patient.
- A multi-centre randomized controlled trial with the utilization of adherence screening tools through a triangulated approach to categorizing patients into adherence subgroups together with an interventional approach individually tailored to the patient's adherence status would be the next step to build upon the research conducted in this thesis.

### **5** Appendices

### 5.1 Systematic review protocol

**Research question:** What is the scope of pharmacist-led interventions within a community pharmacy setting aimed at optimising blood pressure?

**Aim:** To perform a systematic literature review to identify and evaluate studies aimed at blood pressure optimisation in patients undergoing oral antihypertensive medication therapy.

### Process

### • Study population:

Patients 18 years and above, undergoing treatment with at least one oral antihypertensive medicine, community pharmacy setting, no language restrictions on obtained papers

- Study design: Mixed-methods design
- Interventions: Interventions in a community pharmacy aimed at blood pressure optimisation
- Search terms and key words (MESH):
- pharmacists hypertension antihypertensive agents medication adherence pharmacies intervention studies pharmaceutical care
- pharmacists antihypertensive agents intervention studies medication adherence pharmaceutical care

3. pharmacies hypertension intervention studies medication adherence pharmaceutical care

- pharmacies antihypertensive agents intervention studies medication adherence pharmaceutical care
- 5. pharmacists hypertension medication adherence pharmaceutical care
- 6. pharmacists antihypertensive agents medication adherence pharmaceutical care
- 7. pharmacies hypertension medication adherence pharmaceutical care
- 8. pharmacies antihypertensive agents medication adherence pharmaceutical care

### • Appropriate databases

PubMed, Embase, Medline, Cinahl, Cochrane Database

Grey literature was searched using LexisNexis, Web of Science and Google.

### • Study outcome measures

Interventions leading to blood pressure optimisation

# 5.2 R Code for testing of funnel plot asymmetry based on odds ratio as an effect estimate of systolic blood pressure (SBP) and diastolic blood pressure (DBP) as a combined outcome

*#loading the meta package* 

> library(meta)

Loading 'meta' package (version 4.4-1).

*#importing data from RevMan 5* 

> hypertension<-read.rm5("hypertension.csv", numbers.in.labels=FALSE)

*#calculating arscine test* 

> hyper <- metabin(event.e, n.e, event.c, n.c, data=hypertension, sm="ASD")

*#testing for funnel plot asymmetry* 

> metabias(hyper, method.bias="mm")

Linear regression test of funnel plot asymmetry (methods of moment)

data: hyper

t = 2.8174, df = 9, p-value = 0.02013

alternative hypothesis: asymmetry in funnel plot

sample estimates:

bias se.bias slope

 $1.78580484\ 0.63384252\ 0.08530217$ 

assessment within studies with the Cochrane Collaboration Tool for assessing risk of bias. Risk of bias within the studies (entry), the assessment of risk of bias (judgement) and the evidence for the assessment with quotes and comments is presented.		ment Support for judgement	R Quote: "Male and female patients were listed separately and numbered consecutively. Patients with even numbers were assigned to the control group; patients with odd numbers were assigned to the study group." Comment: Probably not done.	Quotes: "Patients with even numbers were assigned to the control group; patients with odd numbers were assigned to the study group. This division resulted in two groups with similar age, sex, race, and level of hypertension characteristics" "Study patients were approximately 15 pounds heavier in weight. The total number of patients is to of the study moved outside" Comment: Probably not done.	R Comment: Blinding not reported.	R Comment: Blinding not reported.	Quotes: "Even though appointments were missed, no study patient was lost to medical or pharmaceutical follow-up during the study period." "Five control patients were lost to medical or pharmaceutical follow-up during the study period in the study period follow-up during the study period follow-up during the study period in the study period in the study period for mation on how missing data was dealt with and reasons for missing data.	R Comment: Study protocol not available, but it is clear the published report included all expected outcomes (including those pre-specified)	R Comment: Insufficient information to permit judgement of "Low risk" or "High risk".
c of bias as s with the ( gement) w		Judgeme	HR	HR	UR	UR	НК	LR	UR
<b>Table 5.1.</b> Risk included studie: (support for jud	McKenney <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 1973	Entry	RSG	AC	ВРР	BOA	IODA	SR	OB

5.3

236

Hughes <i>et al.</i> , 2002		
Entry	Judgement	Support for judgement
RSG	LR	Quote: "using a table of random numbers." Comment: Probably done.
AC	НК	Quotes: "The groups differed in their composition but this is likely to be due to the small numbers recruited into each." "Some patients expressed disappointment at assignment to the Control group" Comment: Probably not done.
ВРР	UR	Comment: Blinding not reported.
BOA	UR	Comment: Blinding not reported.
IODA	НК	Quote: "Patients lost to follow up are not included in the final analysis as there is no post intervention data for comparison." their inclusion in analysis would produce more favourable result towards the disease management model" "Reasons for withdrawal amongst intervention groups varied." Comment: Probably not done.
SR	LR	Comment: Study protocol available and all of the study's pre-specified (primary and secondary outcomes) have been reported in the pre-specified way.
OB	UR	Comment: Insufficient information to permit judgement of "Low risk" or "High risk".

	Support for judgement	Quote: "patients were randomly assigned" Comment: Support for sequence generation entry not sufficient. Attempt with e-mail correspondence with author to clarify details on randomisation. No response from author.	Quote: "Because the research pharmacist assigned patients to the two groups, the study was only single-blinded. This could have introduced bias." Comment: Probably not done.	Quote: "Because the research pharmacist assigned patients to the two groups, the study was only single-blinded. This could have introduced bias. In addition, the research pharmacist took all blood pressure readings; measurements made by patients, physicians, or nurses were not part of the study." Comment: Single-blinded. blinded.	Quote: "Because the research pharmacist assigned patients to the two groups, the study was only single-blinded. This could have introduced bias" Comment: Probably not done.	Quotes: "Five patients in the intervention group were dropped from the study. The reasons for discontinuation were missing more than one scheduled interview (n = 2), patient's lack of belief in any health-related added value in the study (n = 2), and patient moved out of the area (n = 1). Seven patients in the control group were dropped four for missing the final scheduled interview and three because of repeated difficulties in contacting them. "We registered no significant differences between the demographic, clinical, therapeutic, and lifestyle variables of those patients excluded from follow-up and those who completed the study. These variables were comparable for the two groups at baseline." Comment: Probably not done. No intention to treat analysis, data collected for drop-outs not reported.	Comment: Study protocol not available, but it is clear the published report included all expected outcomes (including those pre-specified)	Comment: Insufficient information to permit judgement of "Low risk" or "High risk".	
	Judgemen	UR	HR	UR	HR	UR	LR	UR	
Garção and Cabrita, 2002	Entry	RSG	AC	ВРР	BOA	IODA	SR	OB	

	Judgement Support for judgement	HR Quote: "A pretest-posttest design was used" Comment: Probably not done.	HR Comment: Probably not done. Due to the study design used.	HR Comment: Blinding not reported.	HR Comment: Blinding not reported.	UR Quote: "Of the twenty-five patients targeted to participate in the study, eight patients completed the study. Attrition and lack of participation were largely due to patients' unwillingness to participate for the length of the study period." Comment: Not clear if it was only possible to recruit eight patients. Not been able to establish contact with study authors.	LR Comment: Study protocol not available, but it is clear the published report included all expected outcomes (including those pre-specified).	UR Comment: Insufficient information to permit judgement of "Low risk" or "High risk".	
Taylor et al., 2003	Entry	RSG	AC	ВРР	BOA	IODA	SR	OB	

	dgement Support for judgement	HR Quote: "The population was not randomized and the baseline distribution of many variables differed between the control and intervention groups." Comment: Probably not done.	HR Quote: "screening of each pharmacy database was performed to identify patients aged 18–80 years who had received at least 1 antihypertensive agent during the 30-day period preceding the beginning of the study. Potentially eligible patients were contacted by phone by pharmacists." Comment. Probably not done.	UR Quote: "BP values were based on 9 measurements performed by blinded research assistants". Comment: Blinding of patients not reported.	LR Quote: "BP values were based on 9 measurements performed by blinded research assistants". Comment: Probably done.	UR Quotes: "Drop-outs included 4 patients who refused to pursue the study, 6 patients with whom contact was lost, and 1 deceased patient." "Since 9 patients refused to indicate their family income, the stratified analyses included 91 subjects." Comment: Probably not done. No intention to treat analysis, data collected for drop-outs not reported.	HR Quotes from full text paper: "In high-income patients, a significantly greater proportion of patients in the intervention group had their BP controlled with an SBI <140 mm Hg and a DBP <90 mm Hg compared with those in the control group after adjustmentfor age and baseline level of BP control (69% vs. 42%; OR 6.2; p = 0.073). Difference between groups was not significant for low-income patients (OR 1.11; p = 0.895)." "was conducted to assess the impact of a pharmacist intervention program on BP levels, drug treatment adherence, physical activity, alcohol consumption, body mass index, and factors affecting adherence in hypertensive patients." Comment: Proportion patients with controlled BP in the intervention group for low-income patients with controlled BP in the intervention program on BP levels.	UR Comment: Insufficient information to permit judgement of "Low risk" or "High risk".	
ot <i>et al.</i> , 2003	intry	RSG	AC	ВРР	BOA	ODA	SR	OB	
Chabot ( 200	Entr	RSG	AC	BPF	BO∕	IOD,	SR	OB	

Zillich et al., 2005		
Entry	Judgement	Support for judgement
RSG	HR	Quote: "Last, selection bias may minimize the ability to generalize this study. Recruitment and participation of both pharmacies and patients was voluntary and unblinded." Comment: High risk
AC	НК	Quote: " It is possible that pharmacists in the HI group recruited patients whom they felt would be the best participants in the intervention.". Comment: High risk
ВРР	НК	Quote: "Recruitment and participation of both pharmacies". Comment: High risk and patients was voluntary and unblinded."
BOA	НК	Quotes: "Recruitment and participation of both pharmacies and patients was voluntary and unblinded." "Therefore, reductions in BP may be attributed to several factors including the LI intervention. Additional factors such as regression to the mean, Hawthorne effect, and secular effects may contribute to the findings." Comment: High risk
IODA	LR	Quote: "Missing data were minimal and statistical imputation methods were employed but did not affect analysis results." Quote from email correspondence with author: "As the study was completed more than 10 years ago, I am afraid I no longer have the details about the specific approach we used for the missing data. As the missing data did not affect the overall analyses, we likely reported the intent-to-treat in the paper." (Zillich, 2015) Comment: Low risk
ĸ	Ξ	Quotes: "From baseline, SBP declined 13.4 mmHg in the HI group and 9.0mmHg in the LI group (P<.01 for within-group comparison from baseline to final visit). Similarly, DBP declined significantly from baseline in each group (P<.01 for within-group comparisons)." "During the study, 38 patients in the HI group had antihypertensive medication added or increased. Conversely, 16 patients in the LI group had antihypertensive medication added or increased. Twenty-nine separate antihypertensive medications were added in the HI group compared with 14 in the LI group." Comment: DBP change within-group comparison not mentioned in narrative, only in figure. Comparison of changes in antihypertensive pharmacotherapy reported for both High-intensity and low-intensity intervention groups even though pharmacist recommendations/treatment recommendations was not part of the intervention for Low-intensity intervention group.
OB	UR	Comment: Insufficient information to permit judgement of "Low risk" or "High risk".

	Support for judgement	n block randomized into test or control group." Comment: Process of selecting blocks not clear.	alment is not described	tive, open label, block randomized, study." "During each follow-up, the research pharmacist, educated patients belonging to the test se" Comment: Researcher meeting patients. Blinding not reported.	tive, open label, block randomized, study." "During each follow-up, the research pharmacist, educated patients belonging to the test se"Comment: Researcher delivering intervention. Blinding not reported.	ts were enrolled into the study. Eleven patients (18.96 %) were lost to follow up. Of the seven patients lost to follow up in the control oke and could not return for follow up, three patients expressed a lack of interest to continue with the study (despite motivation form vo patients were out of station and therefore missed their follow-ups and one patient" "Of the 47 patients who completed all follow-not done. No intention to treat analysis mentioned in full text paper, not clear from full text paper if data collected for drop-outs is	vailable and all of the study's pre-specified (primary and secondary outcomes) have been reported in the pre-specified way.	mation to permit judgement of "Low risk" or "High risk".	
		Quote: "patients were then block randomized into	Comment: Method of concealment is not described	Quotes: "This was a prospective, open label, block re group, regarding their disease," Comment: Resear	Quote: "This was a prospective, open label, block ra group, regarding their disease,"Comment: Researc	Quote: "A total of 58 patients were enrolled into the group, one patient had a stroke and could not return the research pharmacist), two patients were out of s ups," Comment: Probably not done. No intention t reported.	Comment: Study protocol available and all of the stu	Comment: Insufficient information to permit judgen	
	Judgement	NU	NU	НК	НК	UR	LR	UR	
Carvalho and Nagavi, 2007	Entry	RSG	AC	ВРР	BOA	IODA	SR	OB	

	ludgement Support for judgement	RSG Quote: "Quasi-Experimental Time Series Design". Comment: Probably not done.	HR Comment: Probably not done. Due to the study design used.	HR Comment: Blinding not reported.	HR Comment: Blinding not reported.	HR Quote:"A total of 103 patients were enrolled in the study. Fifty-three patients (50.5%) completed the entire hypertension disease-management program provided by community pharmacists during the nine-month study period. The high attrition rate was because some patients did not complete the QOL survey at the end of the program." Comment: Attempt with e-mail correspondence with author to clarify details on incomplete data. No response from author.	LR Comment: Study protocol not available, but it is clear the published report included all expected outcomes (including those pre-specified).	UR Comment: Insufficient information to permit judgement of "Low risk" or "High risk".
	Judgement	RSG	HR	НК	НК	Н	LR	UR
Lai, 2007	Entry	RSG	AC	ВРР	BOA	IODA	SR	OB

	gement Support for judgement	HR Quote: "A non-randomised, crossover design was used. Patients served as their own control. Forty hypertensive patients were registered for the study after oral consent was obtained." Comment: Probably not done.	HR Comment: Probably not done. Due to the study design used.	UR Comment: Blinding not reported.	UR Comment: Blinding not reported.	HR Quote: "Forty patients were recruited for the study. Twenty-four patients (60%) completed the study." Quote from author by e-mail correspondence: "Most of the participants dropped because they relocated from Port Harcourt (work reasons, visits etc). Others did not continue because they refill their medications in different pharmacies. Analysis was "per protocol" basis." (Ekwunife, 2014) Comment: No information is stated about reasons for attrition/exclusions in full paper. Missing outcome data for 16 patients not completing study is not reported in the full paper. Analysis done "per protocol".	HR Quote: "Main outcome measure Blood pressure and quality of life measured before implementation of pharmaceutical care and at the end served as main outcome measures. Other end-points assessed at baseline and at the end of investigation included smoking cessation, adherence to therapy, exercise, salt restriction, alcohol moderation and self blood pressure measurement." Comment: Body Mass Index (BMI) and drug-related problems (DRP :s) not pre-specified.	UR Comment: Insufficient information to permit judgement of "Low risk" or "High risk".	
al.,	Judg					_			
Aguwa et 2008	Entry	RSG	AC	ВРР	BOA	IODA	SR	OB	

al.,	Judgement	LR Quote: "Using a generated random number list" Comment: I	HR Quotes: "Eligible individuals meeting the study criteria were re control group based on a previously generated random numb have been more highly motivated than the average patient." (	UR Comment: Blinding not reported.	UR Comment: Blinding not reported.	HR Quote: "Intention-to-treat analyses were conducted. If a parti represent the 9-month level. Participants who dropped out of Not a complete intention to treat analysis.	LR Comment: Study protocol not available, but it is clear the publ	UR Comment: Insufficient information to permit judgement of "L	
	Support for judgement	obably done.	erred to the patient scheduler, who randomly assigned them to either the intervention or the list." "because of potential selection bias among program participants. These individuals may mment: Probably done.			oant did not complete the study, his or her last blood pressure level was carried forward to he study before the 3-month visit were excluded from analyses." Comment: Probably not done.	hed report included all expected outcomes (including those pre-specified).	/ risk" or "High risk".	

Robinson et al., 2010 al., 2010 BPP BDA BDA IODA IODA SR	Judgement HR HR HR HR	Support for judgement           Bupport for judgement           Concrete: "PC pharmacies were selected based on the number of hypertension prescriptions dispensed in the stores, store location, and input from the district managers." "To identify patients of moments throwing the some comported from the School pharmacy is non-unrent UC control group." To identify patients who may benefit from the PC program, each pharmacy? in the some selected by their district manager to serve as a concurrent UC control group." To identify patients who may benefit from the PC program, each pharmacy? Sutomated prescription diabase was queried to identify patients" Initial contact with each patient receiving care in a PC or UC pharmacy or the patient section of PC versus UC pharmacy." This patients who may benefit from the PC program, each pharmacy? The patients with each patient travele possible that patients are noted in the study may have visted both pharmacy groups without realing nut. "This, with the section of PC versus UC pharmacy?" The possible that patients are noted in the study may have visted both pharmacy groups without reging not." The possible that they serve people with varying socioeconomic backgrounds. These passible differences in socioeconomics may have also played a role in regard to medication adherence, including losses to follow-up." Comment: Probably not done.           Comment: Blinding not reported.         Corrent content is an in the spontations being served by the pharmacy group without reported.           Comment: Blinding not reported.         Corrent is socioeconomic backgrounds. These possible differences in socioeconomics may pharmacy group and not connect.           Comment: Blinding not reported.         Corrent is a not preserved by the pharmacide pharence in socioeconomics may pharmacy group arealso pharencin the
OB	UR	comment: Insufficient information to permit judgement of "Low risk" or "High risk".

	Support for judgement	Quote: "Randomization of community pharmacies to control and study group was done by generation of random numbers by computer software." Comment: Probably done.	Quote: "Randomization of community pharmacies to control and study group was done by generation of random numbers by computer software." Comment: Probably done.	Quotes: "The researchers' team responsible for coordination of this project did not interfere in any way with the pharmacists' actions during this program; however, the website was prepared, its role was to facilitate exchange of information between pharmacists. Pharmacists were also informed about the possibility of consulting with the researchers team by e-mail, phone or personally during the entire period of project duration." "Assignment to the study group could be the reason for resignation from the study of a large part of community pharmacies." Comment: Blinding not reported.	Quote: "The researchers' team responsible for coordination of this project did not interfere in any way with the pharmacists' actions during this program; however, the website was prepared, its role was to facilitate exchange of information between pharmacists. Pharmacists were also informed about the possibility of consulting with the researchers team by e-mail, phone or personally during the entire period of project duration." Comment: Blinding not reported.	Quote: "The analysis of results was conducted according to Intention of treat (ITT) and Per Protocol (PP) methods. Data of all patients who had at least two visits and filled out at the first and last meeting the knowledge questionnaires were included to the ITT analysis. In addition, pharmacists that took care of those patients filled out one of the questionnaires were evaluated. Data of patients who had planned number of visits (≥12 in the study group and 2 in the control group) were evaluated in PP analysis only if their pharmacists fulfilled two times the knowledge and satisfaction questionnaire." Comment: Potentially inappropriate application of intertion to treat analysis.	Quotes: "At the last visit it was observed that patients from the study group have been taken one antihypertensive and two cardiovascular diseases medications more than they declared at the initial visit. The number of dispensed medications did not change in the control group." "Increased number of dispensed medications did not have any effect on therapy efficacy" "The analysis of results was conducted according to Intention of treat (ITT) and Per Protocol (PP) methods. Data of all patients who had at least two visits and filled out at the first and last meeting the knowledge questionnaires were included to the ITT analysis. In addition, pharmacists that took care of those patients filled out one of the questionnaires were evaluated. Data of patients who had planned number of visits (≥12 in the study group and 2 in the control group) were evaluated in PP analysis only if their pharmacists fulfilled two times the knowledge and satisfaction questionnaire." Comment: No justification for reporting number of medications. No reasoning/justification for the modified intention to treat and per protocol analysis making the validity of the results to be questioned.
	Judgement	LR	LR	UR	UR	Н	μ
Skowron <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 2011	Entry	RSG	AC	ВРР	BOA	IODA	ĸ

		Continuation of Skowron <i>et al.</i> , 2011, OB
Entry	Judgement	Support for judgement
RB	UR	Quotes: "The randomization of community pharmacies to the study and control group were done due to avoid unintended increase in quality of standard pharmaceutical services, but it might have influenced the number and characteristic of patients enrolled into the study and control group." "Despite this limitation we did not observe the differences in characteristic of patients and control group." "Despite this judgement of "Low risk" or "High risk".
BI	НК	Quotes: "The control and study group differed in terms of education, age and place of residence." "Six community pharmacies (15 pharmacists) from study group and three (10 pharmacists) from control group resigned before the first meeting with patients. Therefore the first meeting was carried on for 34 patient and 84 in study and control group, respectively." Comment: High risk.
гос	HR	"Six community pharmacies (15 pharmacists) from study group and three (10 pharmacists) from control group resigned before the first meeting with patients. Therefore the first meeting was carried on for 34 patient and 84 in study and control group, respectively." Comment: High risk
IA	НК	Comment: Analysis not taking clustering into account.
CWIRT	UR	Comment: Insufficient information to permit judgement of "Low risk" or "High risk".

I									l
	t Support for judgement	Quote: "a nonrandomized" Comment: Probably not done.	Quotes: "a nonrandomized" "During a 1-month period, all elderly patients (aged 60–75 years) who visited the pharmacy to receive antihypertensive medications were identified as potential candidates for the study." Comment: Probably not done.	Quote: "the research pharmacist took all blood pressure readings; measurements made by patients, physicians, or nurses were not part of the study." Comment: Quote provides provides indication that staff were not blinded. Blinding of patients not reported.	Quote: "the research pharmacist took all blood pressure readings; measurements made by patients, physicians, or nurses were not part of the study." Comment: Probably not done.	"Only data for patients completing the study were included." Comment: Probably not done.	Comment: Probably done. Reporting of drug related problems in the results section.	Comment: Insufficient information to permit judgement of "Low risk" or "High risk".	
	Judgemen	НК	нк	UR	НК	HR	НК	UR	
Aguiar et al., 2012	Entry	RSG	AC	ВРР	BOA	IODA	SR	OB	

Fikri- Benbrahim <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 2012		
Entry	Judgement	Support for judgement
RSG	HR	Quote: "A coin toss was used to determine the group assignment of the first recruited patient, and subsequent patients were assigned on an alternating basis to the two groups." Comment: Probably not done.
AC	НК	Quote: "A coin toss was used to determine the group assignment of the first recruited patient, and subsequent patients were assigned on an alternating basis to the two groups. The assignment method was known only to the study coordinator. After visits 1, 2, and 3 (initial phase), the participating pharmacist contacted the study coordinator to determine the assignment to each patient to the control or intervention group. Comment: Probably not done.
ВРР	HR	Quotes: "the pharmacists who provided the intervention in this study were not blinded." "Also, there may have been contamination between the intervention and the control group (i.e., the control group may have received more attention than usual)." "Both scenarios could explain the baseline-to-endpoint reduction in SBP observed in the control group." Comment: Probably not done. No information if patients were blinded.
BOA	НК	Quotes: "the pharmacists who provided the intervention in this study were not blinded." "Also, there may have been contamination between the intervention and the control group (i.e., the control group may have received more attention than usual)." "Both scenarios could explain the baseline-to-end point reduction in SBP observed in the control group." Comment: Probably not done.
IODA	L	Quotes: "Additional analyses were conducted according to the intent-to-treat principle." "Assuming that all patients dropping out during the follow-up had the same BP value at the endpoint as at baseline, the intent-to-treat analysis demonstrated that the results for the intervention group remained better than those for the control group" "Assuming that all patients who dropped out during the follow-up the control group" "Assuming that all patients who dropped out during the control group" "Assuming that all patients who dropped out during the follow-up period had uncontrolled BP (2140/90 mm Hg), the intent-to treat analysis showed a higher rate of BP control in the intervention group versus the control group"
SR	LR	Comment: Study protocol not available, but it is clear the published report included all expected outcomes (including those pre-specified).
OB	UR	Comment: Insufficient information to permit judgement of "Low risk" or "High risk".

	Support for judgement	Quotes: "This pharmacy hypertension service was offered to employees participating in the Wayne State Wellness Warriors Program." "Self-declared hypertensive patients met with the pharmacist" "High baseline rates and maintenance of commitment to the goals over the 6-month program may be due to participant selection from patients already engaged in the Wellness Warriors Program, in which lifestyle and wellness are key topics." Comment: Probably not done.	Comment: Probably not done. Due to the study design used.	Comment: Blinding not reported.	Comment: Blinding not reported.	Comment: Insufficient information to permit judgement of "Low risk" or "High risk".	Quote: "A subgroup of patients who were not at their blood pressure goal at baseline (n=62) was evaluated post hoc." Comment: Probably done. Reporting of baseline characteristics in table with "all participants" and "not at goal at baseline" as separate groups. Comment: Subgroup analysis not mentioned in methods section/among main outcome measures.	Comment: Insufficient information to permit judgement of "Low risk" or "High risk".	
	Judgement	HR	НК	UR	UR	UR	НК	UR	
Nemerovski et al., 2013	Entry	RSG	AC	ВРР	BOA	IODA	SR	OB	

	Support for judgement	Quote from study protocol: "The study statistician used computer software to randomize the 28 sites". Comment: Probably done.	Quote from study protocol: "The study statistician used computer software to randomize the 28 sites into an intervention group (TC) and a control group" Quote from full text paper: "All screenings were conducted by project assistants, who were hired and supervised by investigators, blinded to pharmacy allocation, and trained to obtain consents and three blood pressure readings with 30-second intervals between readings. " "Study groups were similar on demographics, blood pressure, number of drugs, missed doses, and barriers to adherence (Table 1). Physical activity level varied by group and was entered into all models." Comment: Probably done.	Quotes from full text paper: "Pharmacy allocation was concealed from patients until investigators verified that enrollment goals were met at their pharmacy." "All screenings were conducted by project assistants, who were hired and supervised by investigators, blinded to pharmacy allocation, and trained to obtain consents and three blood pressure readings with 30-second intervals between readings." Comment: Patients not blinded. Risk of patients knowing pharmacy allocation.	Quote from full text paper: "All screenings were conducted by project assistants, who were hired and supervised by investigators, blinded to pharmacy allocation, and trained to obtain consents and three blood pressure readings with 30-second intervals between readings. " "Blinded interviewers reassessed 94.8% of all patients at 6 months and 85.6% at 12 months." Quote from study protol: "The primary outcomes (BP control and reductions in BP) were measured 6 and 12 months after enrollment by data collectors blinded to the patient's assigned group" Comment: Probably done.	Quote from full text paper: "The primary analysis included all patients based on the intent-to-treat concept." Comment: Probably done.	Quote from study protocol: "Secondary end points were changes in adherence monitoring and intervention, patient adherence and barriers to adherence, prescribing, and cost-effectiveness." Quote from full text paper: "Fourth, research is needed to evaluate the optimal duration of intervention for different subgroups, validity of items for measuring patient perceptions of pharmacist performance, and cost effectiveness of different strategies." Comment: Probably done. Cost-effectiveness not reported in full-text paper.
	Judgement	LR	LR	НК	LR	LR	HR
Svarstad <i>et</i> al., 2013	Entry	RSG	AC	ВРР	BOA	IODA	SR

		Continuation of Svarstad <i>et al.</i> , 2013, OB
Entry	Judgement	Support for judgement
RB	LR	Quote: "Black patients who took at least one blood pressure prescription were encouraged to attend one of the screenings using study posters, flyers, gift card incentives, and interest forms distributed at study pharmacies and several churches.9 All screenings were conducted by project assistants, who were hired and supervised by investigators, blinded to pharmacy allocation, and trained to obtain consents and three blood pressure readings with 30-second intervals between readings."
BI	LR	Quote: Study groups were similar on demographics, blood pressure, number of drugs, missed doses, and barriers to adherence (Table 1). Physical activity level varied by group and was entered into all models." Comment: Low risk.
гос	LR	Quote from full text paper: "The primary analysis included all patients based on the intent-to-treat concept." Comment: Low risk. 28 clusters reported for in total. No loss of clusters among these 28.
۲I	LR	Quotes: "between-group comparison adjusting for cluster randomization" "controlling for cluster randomization and covariates."Comment: Low risk
CWIRT	UR	Comment: Insufficient information to permit judgement of "Low risk" or "High risk".

	Judgement Support for judgement	LR Quote from the final paper: "Pharmacies from each region were randomly assigned" Quote from author by e-mail correspondence: "We used a random number table to assign the pharmacies to either the intervention or control group." (Pojskic, 2014b) Comment: Probably done.	LR Quote: "The randomization was conducted at the pharmacy level, in order to avoid contamination at the patient level" Comment: Probably done.	HR Quote: "Neither the patients nor the pharmacists were blinded with respect to their group assignment." Comment: Probably not done.	Auote: "Neither the patients nor the pharmacists were blinded with respect to their group assignment. Given the transparent nature of pharmacist intervention, blinding was not feasible." Comment: Probably not done.	HR Quote from author by email correspondence: "The final report (as posted on our website) reflects only the patients who completed the entire study (all 7 appointments) - there was a total of 118 patients. We originally recruited 154 but some dropped out due to various reasons. We did perform an intention to treat analysis though it's not reported in the final paper." (Pojskic, 2014b) Comment: Figure explaining 35 patients dropping out and reasons for drop-out, but not stating within which groups this occurs. Imbalance in numbers in both control and intervention groups. No report/analysis of missing outcome data in final paper.	HR Quotes: "While the difference between the two groups was not statistically significant (p=0.125), the trend was clearly favourable for the intervention group. This improvement in BMI in the intervention group is likely due to a number of factors, including changes in diet and frequency of physical exercise (report below). In particular, all study pharmacists reported that the enrolled patients had greater awareness of the sodium levels in products and made healthier dietary choices as a result of pharmacist counselling." "Patient is doing well with maintaining his exercise program. He is also reading labels to check sodium level before purchasing foods at the grocery store. He is dealing with stress at work and is trying to find a way to minimize these stressors." Comment: Indicating positive outcomes which are not statistically significant in a positive light with narratives.
Pojskic <i>et al.,</i> 2014 (Pojskic, 2014a)	Entry	RSG	AC	ВРР	BOA	IODA	S

		Continuation of Pojskic <i>et al.</i> , 2014 (Pojskic, 2014a), OB
Entry	Judgement	Support for judgement
RB	HR	Quote: "Neither the patients nor the pharmacists were blinded with respect to their group assignment.". Comment: Probably likely with recruitment bias since the pharmacists were not blinded to their group assignment.
BI	LR	"Table 4. Pharmacy characteristics by group" "Pharmacy level descriptive characteristics, including mean and standard deviation for the number of patients were reported." "Adjustment was made in these models for the intra-cluster correlation within pharmacies by allowing pharmacies to be modeled as a random effect." Comment: Reporting of base-line characteristics of clusters done and statistical adjustment done.
гос	HR	Quotes: "Out of the 38 pharmacies originally recruited for this study, 11 dropped out due to their inability to recruit any patients and/or staffing issues." Comment: High risk.
Ч	LR	Quotes: "Pharmacy level descriptive characteristics, including mean and standard deviation for the number of patients were reported." "Adjustment was made in these models for the intra-cluster correlation within pharmacies by allowing pharmacies to be modeled as a random effect." "Because this study utilized a cluster sampling technique (with each cluster being a pharmacy), the above sample size was then adjusted for the variance inflation factor, using the following formula" Comment: Comment: Comment: Comment: Comment: Comment and be account.
CWIRT	UR	Comment: Insufficient information to permit judgement of "Low risk" or "High risk".

	Judgement Support for judgement	LR Quote: "Randomization was performed at the pharmacy level to avoid any contamination likely to result from the same pharmacy i both intervention and control group patients. The randomization process was carried out by one of the investigators using the 'seal Comment: Probably done.	LR Quote: "The randomization process was carried out by one of the investigators using the 'sealed envelope technique'." Comment: P	HR Quote: "non-blinded" Comment: Probably not done.	HR Quote: "non-blinded" Comment: Probably not done.	LR Quote: "Analysis was performed under the intention-to-treat principle". Comment: Probably done.	HR Quotes from study protocol: "The primary outcomes of the HAPPY trial are changes in patient adherence and persistence at the end of measured subjectively using the self-reported Morisky scale [16] and the Tool for Adherence Behaviour Screening (TABS) [17] and obje medication refill data (e.g. MedsIndex score) "Secondary outcomes include changes in patients' BP control, satisfaction with and willingness to pay for the service and economic benefits. "The Beliefs and Behaviour Questionnaire [17] patient experiences, attitudes and beliefs regarding their health and treatment and the 8-item short Assessment of Quality of Life (AQ, measure health-related quality of Iife." Quotes from full text paper: "The primary outcome was change in the proportion of patients set the Morisky scale at the end of 6 months. Patient non-adherence was defined by a Morisky score of greater than zero. Secondary outcome the Morisky scale at the and of 6 months. Patient non-adherence was defined by a Morisky score of greater than zero. Secondary outcome the Robult of 15 or more between the (adherence and non-adherence) was regarded as good adherence. "As improvements in the outcomes were dependent upon each patients propulations of specific interest, exploratory analyses were planned for the following subgroups" Comment: Probably done. Su mentioned in study protocol.	
stewart <i>e</i> <i>al.</i> , 2014	Entry	RSG	AC	ВРР	BOA	IODA	ĸ	

		Continuation of Stewart <i>et al.</i> , 2014, OB
Entry	Judgement	Support for judgement
RB	UR	Comment: Insufficient information to permit judgement.
BI	LR	Quote: "There were no significant differences between groups." Quote: "Baseline characteristics between groups were compared using chi-square tests for equal proportion and reported as numbers (percentages)." Quote: "To control for the effects of cluster randomization, group changes were compared using mixed linear and nonlinear modelling for normally and non-normally distributed data, respectively, with individual pharmacies treated as a random effect." Comment: Low risk of baseline imbalance.
гос	LR	Loss of clusters from PCG: No longer interested = 1; Loss of clusters from UCG: No longer interested = 3 Did not meet inclusion criteria = 1. Comment: Missing data have been dealt with using appropriate methods.
Ρ	LR	Quote: "To control for the effects of cluster randomization, group changes were compared using mixed linear and nonlinear modelling for normally and non- normally distributed data, respectively, with individual pharmacies treated as a random effect" Comment: Low risk of incorrect analysis.
CWIRT	UR	Comment: Insufficient information to permit judgement of "Low risk" or "High risk".

	Support for judgement	tion study" "The participants included in the study were patients diagnosed with hypertension attending "a pharmacist- , and Friday every week at Sankalpa pharmacy". Comment: Probably not done.	tion study" "The participants included in the study were patients diagnosed with hypertension attending "a pharmacist- , and Friday every week at Sankalpa pharmacy" "Initially, patients meeting the inclusion criteria were recruited to the sent." Comment: Probably not done.	als, including two community pharmacists, a nurse, and a physician, was involved in the intervention programme. The sd (i.e., one-to-one counselling) and consisted of three counselling sessions." "The intervention programme consisted of ent: Probably not done.	all the socio-demographic variables and initial BP were recorded, and their baseline level of knowledge and lifestyle of nine months, patients' levels of knowledge and lifestyle modification practices were reassessed and their blood n programme consisted of face-to-face counselling sessions." Comment: Probably not done.	mit judgement of "Low risk" or "High risk".	vel, as there was a statistically significant difference between the literate and illiterate patients in terms of KP score tween these two subgroups after the intervention was conducted. However, as shown in Table 6, there were no in these two subgroups in terms of their knowledge, practice, and blood pressure controll. "However, the educational awareness and practice. Literate patients had significantly higher scores compared to illiterate patients. This emphasises us of the patients for their treatment strategy." "Most patients were aware of the role of salt intake in the management ing it was poor. Additionally, their medication compliance was poor, as was the habit of doing physical exercise. The lo physical exercise?", and "How often do you avoid fatty food intake?" was "Never" in most cases. However, overall over a fatter the intervention, as revealed by the change in knowledge and practice scores shown in Table 5." Comment: and selective reporting of positive outcomes as narratives.	mit judgement of "Low risk" or "High risk".
		Quotes: "single-cohort pre-/post-intervention study" "The partici led hypertension clinic" Sunday, Thursday, and Friday every week	Quotes: "single-cohort pre-/post-intervention study" "The partici led hypertension clinic" Sunday, Thursday, and Friday every weel study following their verbal informed consent." Comment: Proba	Quotes: "A team of healthcare professionals, including two comn educational intervention was individualised (i.e., one-to-one cou face-to-face counselling sessions." Comment: Probably not done.	Quote: "In the first visit to the pharmacy, all the socio-demograp practices were also recorded. At the end of nine months, patient pressure was recorded." "The intervention programme consisted	Comment: Insufficient information to permit judgement of "Low	Quotes: "To control for the educational level, as there was a stati before the intervention, a comparison between these two subgroups statistically significant differences between these two subgroups status of the patients was found to affect awareness and practice the need to consider the educational status of the patients for th of hypertension, but their practice regarding it was poor. Additio answer to the question, "How often you do physical exercise?", a knowledge and practice significantly improved after the interven Conflicting reporting of subgroup analysis and selective reporting	Comment: Insufficient information to permit judgement of "Low
	Judgement	НК	HR	HR	HR	UR	Ξ	UR
Sharma et al., 2014	Entry	RSG	AC	ВРР	BOA	IODA	S	OB

#### Abbreviations for Table 5.1:

AC=Allocation concealment (selection bias); BI= Baseline imbalance; BOA=Blinding of outcome assessment (detection bias); BPP=Blinding of participants and personnel (performance bias); CWIRT=Comparability with individually randomized trials; HR=High risk; IA=Incorrect analysis; IODA=Incomplete outcome data addressed (attrition bias); LOC=Loss of clusters; LR=Low risk; OB=Other bias; RB=Recruitment bias; RSG=Random sequence generation (selection bias); SR=Selective reporting (reporting bias); UR=Unclear risk

## 5.4 Research Proposal Abstract

The aim of this research is to evaluate pharmacist-led intervention among patients in a singlecommunity pharmacy to improve antihypertensive medicines adherence. This investigation will consist of a longitudinal before-and-after study, undertaken at a single-community pharmacy in Uppsala, Sweden. Ethics approval will be sought for at ethics board in Sweden. Patients recruited should be at least 18 years old or above, having minimum one prescription on an antihypertensive medicine, been using the medicine/s for the past 3 months and should get the medicine refill done at the study pharmacy while the study is ongoing. The participants will be serving as their own controls. The study duration is set to 6 months. Data will be collected at baseline and after a 6-month follow-up: adherence (8-item Morisky Medication Adherence Scale, Medication Adherence Report Scale, Medication Possession Ratio), a questionnaire on patient perception on medicines (Belief about Medicines Questionnaire) and a pharmacoeconomic evaluation of the pharmacist-led intervention. The intervention will be implemented after 3 months from baseline.

### **Research** question

Can pharmacist-led adherence intervention/s in a single-community pharmacy contribute to improved antihypertensive medication adherence?

### **Aims and Objectives**

*Aim:* to evaluate pharmacist-led intervention/s among patients in a single-community pharmacy to improve antihypertensive medication adherence.

### **Objectives:**

- measure the change in blood pressure, pulse and antihypertensive medicine adherence
- establish the cost-effectiveness of a pharmacist intervention in improving antihypertensive medicines adherence

### **Research design**

- Longitudinal before-and-after study
- Single community pharmacy in Uppsala, Sweden
- Six-month study duration
- Two study groups run in parallel: monotherapy and polypharmacy
- Patients serve as their own control
- Quantitative measurement at baseline (first visit) and after 6 months (last visit): blood pressure and pulse, 8-item Morisky scale (8-item MMAS), Medication Adherence Report Scale (MARS) Medication Possession Ratio (MPR), Belief about Medicines Questionnaire (BMQ)
- Intervention implemented after 3 months from baseline
- Pharmacoeconomic evaluation of the implemented pharmacist-led intervention

This study uses a triangulated research approach which revolves around:

- 1. Personal contact and review of elements
- 2. Self-reported scale devices: 8-item MMAS, MARS, and BMQ
- 3. The long-term chronic historical record of the usage of medication

The project will be undertaken as a longitudinal before-and-after study in a single-community pharmacy in Uppsala, Sweden. There will be two study groups run in parallel: one group with patients having one antihypertensive agent (monotherapy) and the other group in which each participant has two or more antihypertensive medicines (polypharmacy). Patients will serve as their own control. A significant reduction in blood pressure is in this project set out to be 10 mmHg systolic pressure and 5 mmHg in diastolic pressure.

The research procedure is as follows:

### 1. Participant recruitment

Participants being dispensed antihypertensive medicines at the dispensing counter at the pharmacy will be approached by the dispensing pharmacist (researcher) and will be informed about the study with the following information: "There will be an ongoing study here at this pharmacy for patients undergoing treatment with blood pressure lowering medicines. This study is aimed at evaluating if a pharmacist can contribute to improving patient blood lowering medicines taking. Does this sound interesting to you?". The participant will also be asked by the researcher for how long they have been taking antihypertensive medicine/medicines. If they inform that they are interested to participate, they will be handed the participant information leaflet which they should carefully read through. They will then be given at least 24 hours to decide whether they would like to participate. If they decide to participate, they should contact the researcher either by phone/e-mail and a date is mutually agreed upon when the patient can return to the pharmacy to meet the researcher and opportunity will be given to ask questions and discuss the study. If the eligible participant then after this decides that he/she wants to participate,

an informed consent will be handed the eligible participant and this consent sheet should be carefully read through and then signed by both the participant and the researcher. Informed consents will be stored in a locked safe at the pharmacy, accessible only to the researcher, two pharmacy managers, and pharmacy managers' assistant.

1.1. After signing the informed consent, the participant will be assigned a participant code (number). They will be asked by the researcher for how long they have been taking antihypertensive medicine/medicines and which antihypertensive medicine/s they are currently taking. The researcher will ask the participants permission to approach their GP/prescriber. The researcher will then go and approach the prescriber with the full details of this project. It will be explained to the them that under Swedish law the researcher is not allowed to download prescription data from the pharmacy dispensing computer system in front of the researcher, so, therefore, the researcher is requesting their assistance which is legal on how many prescriptions they wrote and what for and if the researcher can have permission to ask your practice manager to give the researcher that data when a patient has given the researcher ethical consent to do so. The GP/prescriber/practice manager can be provided with copies of the ethical consent and the researcher will not trouble the GP/prescriber each time if the practice manager could provide the researcher this data off the prescribing system. This information will be registered electronically linking it with the participant code. The participant will be assigned to a monotherapy or poly pharmacy study arm depending if they are taking one or more antihypertensive medicines.
- 1.2. The participant will be handed a protocol sheet where the participant must record when they begin to take the first pill in the medicine/s bottle/s. Participant names will not appear on any of these data collection papers, only the assigned participant code. Patient name, demographic details, assigned participant codes and which medicines they are taking will be stored in a master computer file in two USB memory sticks (one backup) which both will be protected by encryption using the encryption software TrueCrypt. These two USB memory sticks will be stored in a locked safe in the pharmacy only accessible to the researcher, 2 pharmacy managers, and one pharmacy managers' assistant.
- 2. Data collection questionnaires

The participant will be handed the questionnaires containing the 8-item MMAS, MARS, and BMQ which the participant will be partially facilitated by the pharmacist to answer in a quiet room in the pharmacy building. After the participant has filled out the questionnaires these will be handed back to the researcher.

#### 3. Blood pressure and pulse measurement

The participant will then be asked to be seated on a chair in a quiet room in the pharmacy and rest for 5 minutes (Mancia *et al.*, 2007; O'Brien *et al.*, 2005; The British Hypertension Society, 2012). Blood pressure and pulse of the participant will then be measured using the clinically validated electronic blood pressure monitor Omron 705-IT and take up to 3 readings to check for continuity (The British Hypertension Society, 2012). Step 1.1, 1.2, 2 and 3 is set to take maximum 1 hour. Blood pressure data will be recorded on a separate paper sheet for each participant containing only the participant code. The participant will also be informed about the result of the blood pressure and pulse measurement.

## 4. Pill count

The participant will be asked to bring their medication bottles to the pharmacy to enable the researcher to perform pill counts. This will be done each time the participant comes to the pharmacy for medicines refill (usually after 3 months or depending on the prescribed amount). Now the participant would have to bring in the pill count protocol to show it to the researcher.

#### 5. Intervention

After 3 months from baseline, the intervention will be implemented for each participant based on their individual results received on the 8-item MMAS and MARS. Participants will be contacted preferably by telephone and informed about the intervention and should visit the pharmacy. Depending on the individual 8-item MMAS and MARS results participants receive the following intervention separately or in combination/s will be implemented:

(a) Targeted counselling from the pharmacist – explaining the disease state, medication mechanism and importance, outcomes and importance of adherence (this targeted counselling will take place in a separate, calm and quiet room in the pharmacy building). The time duration for this counselling is maximum 30 minutes per participant.

- (b) A patient medication explanation leaflet (titrated to the individual patient's drugs regime/condition
- (c) A reminder sheet (to be put up at home in a convenient, prominent position) that is titrated to the individual patient and has tick boxes to show when and if a dose was taken.
- 6. After 6 months from the first blood pressure measurement visit, the participant should make their last study visit to the pharmacy. The participant will be handed the questionnaires containing the 8-item MMAS, MARS, and BMQ which the participant will be partially facilitated by the pharmacist to answer in a quiet room in the pharmacy building. After the participant has filled out the questionnaires these will be handed back to the researcher in the pharmacy.
- 7. For blood pressure measurement, the participant will be asked to be seated on a chair in a separate, quiet room in the pharmacy and rest for 5 minutes (Mancia *et al.*, 2007; O'Brien *et al.*, 2005; The British Hypertension Society, 2012). Blood pressure and pulse of the participant will then be measured using the clinically validated electronic blood pressure monitor Omron 705-IT and take up to 3 readings to check for continuity (The British Hypertension Society, 2012). Step 1.1 and 1.2 is set to take around 1 hour. Blood pressure data will be recorded on a separate paper sheet for each participant containing only the participant code. The participant will after this also be informed about the result of the blood pressure measurement. Step 4 and 5 should take maximum 45 minutes per participant.

*A pharmacoeconomic evaluation of delivering a pharmacist-led intervention will be done throughout the duration of the study:* 

 Cost per increment: How much it costs to deliver 1 mmHg in blood pressure reduction (cost per unit change in clinical outcome) – Following data will be considered: The measured change in systolic, diastolic and mean arterial pressure.

Capital cost will be calculated during the study duration addressing questions such as:

- How much time does it take to administer various counselling as a pharmacist?
- How much does the pharmacist cost per minute and per hour?
- If a special counselling area does not exist how much will this cost?
- Cost of paper?
- Waste cost of the medication is calculated: Physical pill count provides information how much is wasted or not. Level of adherence data obtained from 8-item MMAS and MARS will also provide data on waste cost. Drug cost is available through The Dental and Pharmaceutical Benefits Agency, TLV website (Tandvård- och Läkemedelsförmånsverket, 2012).

#### Population and sample

Inclusion criteria: age at least 18 and above, must be having at least one active prescription on an antihypertensive medicine or fixed combinations of antihypertensive medicine, been using the medicine within the past 3 months, medicine refill done only at the study pharmacy throughout the duration of the study, can understand, write and speak Swedish.

Exclusion criteria: Not self-administering medicine, participating in another clinical study

#### **Research instruments**

Blood pressure and pulse measurement using a clinically validated blood pressure monitor accordingly to The British Hypertension Society (The British Hypertension Society, 2012). Adherence: (8-item Morisky Medication Adherence Scale, Medication Adherence Report Scale, Medication Possession Ratio), a questionnaire on patient perception on medicines (Belief about Medicines Questionnaire) and a pharmacoeconomic evaluation of the pharmacist-led intervention.

#### Ethics

The researcher will apply for ethics approval through the Central Ethical Review Board, Sweden. Ethical issues will involve dealing with human subjects and dealing/gathering personal/confidential data. No identity of any participant will be disclosed in the dissemination of the results. The participant is free to withdraw from the study at any time without giving a reason and no penalty is involved at any stage.

### Impact

The impact of this research is to show the significance of antihypertensive medicines adherence check in a pharmacy by a pharmacist is beneficial to contribute to the best pharmacist-led intervention which not only shows to increase antihypertensive medicines adherence, but also results in a decrease in blood pressure and pulse, an increase of quality in life and simultaneously is a cost-effective approach.

270

# 5.5 Approval by Regional Ethical Review Board



## 5.6 Information for research participants

Evaluation of pharmacist-led intervention for improving adherence to treatment with antihypertensive medicines

*Background and Purpose* The purpose of this research project is to evaluate the efforts made by a pharmacist at a community pharmacy to improve adherence to antihypertensive medication therapy.

*Inquiry concerning participation* You are asked to participate in this project because you have in the last three months undergone treatment with antihypertensive medicines. We have gained access to this information because you have collected your medications at Apoteksamariten AB. To participate, you are at least 18 years of age, have at least one active prescription on antihypertensive medicine, you are not participating in another clinical trial, you can self-administer the medicine, and that you can understand, speak and write Swedish unhindered.

*How will the study be conducted?* The study will be conducted at Apoteksamariten AB in Uppsala for 6 months and you are asked to visit Apoteksamariten AB at regular intervals.

• Your blood pressure and your pulse will be measured by the researcher (the pharmacist) during your visit to Apoteksamariten AB at the beginning and end of the study. You will also at each of these two occasions get to answer three different questionnaires which show your adherence to your antihypertensive medication

therapy as well as your beliefs about medications. Every visit were blood pressure and pulse measurement is carried out as well as answering the three questionnaires is expected to take up to 40 minutes.

- You will get a paper protocol and if you been dispensed a refill of your antihypertensive medications from the pharmacy, you should make a note of the date on which you started taking your medications. During the 6-month study period, you should always pick up your medication at Apoteksamariten AB.
- Every time you pick up a refill of your antihypertensive medication you should bring your recently used medicine's package. The researcher will count the remaining pills in the medicine's package. If for any reason you would pick up your medicine at another pharmacy, you should inform the researcher of this to take account of this in the research results/analysis.
- The researcher will with your permission contact the doctor who has prescribed your anti-hypertensive medicine. The researcher will also explain what this project is about. The researcher will then ask for your doctor's help to provide the researcher with information on the number of prescriptions written for you, and for what purpose and date the prescription/s were written.
- Three months after the beginning of the study it will be conducted an intervention aimed at increasing your adherence to your antihypertensive medicines treatment. The intervention is one of the following or a combination of the following:

- (a) Targeted counselling from the pharmacist explaining the disease state, medication mechanism, outcomes and importance of adherence. Counselling will take place in the pharmacy. This counselling will take a maximum of 30 minutes.
- (b) An information leaflet about antihypertensive medication/s which is titrated to your medication therapy.
- (c) A reminder sheet (to be put up at home in a prominent position) that is titrated to you with tick boxes to show when and if a dose was taken.

*What are the risks?* The possible risks in this project are that you can feel anxious over your antihypertensive medication therapy, any issues about privacy (to talk about your medications in an open pharmacy environment) and feel embarrassed/singled out to participate in a study. Another potential risk is if the automatic blood pressure monitor used provides incorrect results during blood pressure and pulse measurement. If any problem occurs during the study which puts the safety of the participant and/or the researcher at risk, the project will immediately be stopped until the problem has been investigated and resolved.

Are there any advantages? The project's effects are unknown.

#### Dealing with data and confidentiality

• All personal data collected in this project are stored and handled in accordance with the Swedish Personal Data Act (1998:204). Responsible for the personal data is Apoteksamariten AB. According to the Personal Data Act, you have the right to once a year at no cost receive all the details about you which are handled and, where

necessary, to have any errors corrected. Contact person is researcher Amirthan Amirthalingam (see contact information under the heading Responsibility).

- Your answers and results will be dealt with to avoid unauthorized access to them. The researcher is a licensed pharmacist and covered by the obligation of professional secrecy applying within health care. You will be assigned an individual participant code. Data will be handled both in paper and electronic form. All material in paper form will only contain your participant code except the consent form which will include your name and personal identity number. The consent form is securely stored at Apoteksamariten AB. Participant code along with your name and your contact information is stored electronically protected by encryption technology.
- Anonymous data will be shared with the University of Birmingham in the United Kingdom which is the academic institution that supervises the study. Personal information is retained until the researcher's doctoral thesis is approved. If the study is being published and presented to the public your identity will not be revealed. If you want to take part of your results in the study or the full study results, we will make sure you do so.

*Insurance, compensation* Insurance for participation in this study is provided through Länsförsäkringar which is the insurance company Apoteksamariten AB is connected to. No compensation is provided for participation in this study, nor travel expenses, loss of income etc. *Voluntariness* Participation in the project is voluntary. You may, at any time and without specific explanation withdraw your study participation without any impact on your usual care.

*What happens if something goes wrong or if you have complaints?* You should then immediately contact either the researcher or the independent contact person listed below.

# Responsibility

Researcher:	Independent contact person:		
Amirthan Amirthalingam,	Kristina Fritjofsson		

*Principal Researcher:* (communicates in English) John Marriott, Professor of Clinical Pharmacy

Pharmacy, Pharmacology and Therapeutics Section,
School of Clinical and Experimental Medicine,
College of Medical and Dental Sciences (CMDS),
Medical School Building, University of Birmingham,
Edgbaston, B15 2TT, United Kingdom

## 5.7 Consent form

**Project title:** Evaluation of pharmacist-led intervention for improving adherence to treatment with antihypertensive medicines

I have read the information sheet (information for research participants) and I have also been given an oral explanation of the research project by the researcher. I have had the opportunity to ask questions and discuss participation in the study and the study in general, and received at least 24 hours for me to decide whether I want to participate in the study or not. I give my consent to the treatment of my personal data as described in the information for research participants. I give the researcher permission to contact my doctor who prescribed my antihypertensive medicines to get information on how many prescriptions on antihypertensive medications has been written to me and for what purpose and what date the prescription/s are written. I also give permission for the researcher to give my doctor a copy of this consent form, if my doctor requires this. I am aware that my participation in the study is voluntary and that I may at any time cancel my participation without providing an explanation, and that this will not affect my treatment or continuing care. I agree to participate in the study.

**Study participant** 

Place and date:

Study participant's signature: Study participant's personal identity number:

\_\_\_\_\_

Study participant's name:

Researcher

Place and date:

The researcher's signature:

The researcher's name

# 5.8 Information leaflet for improving your blood pressure medicine's adherence

In the year 2000, hypertension existed in 26% of the adult population. It is estimated to be responsible for 4% of the global disease burden. It is a world-wide public health problem. Lowered blood pressure can lead to a reduction in the incidence of stroke and cardiovascular heart disease. According to WHO, treatment of hypertension has shown to prevent cardiovascular diseases, extend and enhance life. Despite this, hypertension is everywhere still inadequately managed. The lack of adherence to blood pressure lowering medicines plays a major role. The concept adherence can be defined as to which extent the patient follows instructions to the treatment which has been prescribed. It is a concept which is non-judgmental and is not thought to be used to blame the treatment, patient or prescriber.

Non-adherence can exist due to many reasons, for example, due to adverse effects, poor instructions, and poor memory. Low adherence is very common: adherence rates to prescribed medicines are about 50% (on a 0-100% scale). This is particularly critical when the treatment response relates to the dose and therapy schedule. In turn, this leads to reduced treatment benefits. The adherence rate to blood pressure lowering medicines depends on the population being studied but is in the range between 50-70 percent. The purpose of this information sheet is to improve your blood pressure medicine's adherence.

- Consult your doctor to make sure that you have understood the disease state.
- Consult your doctor and/or pharmacist to make sure that you have understood the benefit of your treatment.
- Take your medicine only as instructed on your medication label and instructed by your doctor. Ask your doctor or pharmacist if you do not know and/or understand how to take your medicine.
- Never by yourself decide to alter the dose or stop taking the medicine before consulting with your doctor.
- Consult your doctor or pharmacist if you are concerned about possible side-effects or the risks of the treatment.
- Consult your doctor or pharmacist if you experience unpleasant side effects from your treatment.
- Consult your doctor and/or pharmacist if you encounter issues with tablet form, medicines combination, the timing of the dose/s, the cost of the treatment and insurance coverage of the medicine.
- Store your medicine bottle in an environment accordingly to the instructions on your medicine bottle. Make this storage environment will be easily accessible for you.
- Visit your local pharmacy and ask the pharmacy staff to help you with dose aids that will help you remember to take your medicine as prescribed by your doctor.
- When travelling remember to bring your medicine with you and take it as instructed on the label and instructed by your doctor.

- Find a pharmacy which is easily accessible to you. Ask somebody you trust for help when you are not able to visit the pharmacy and make your medicine refill by yourself.
- Make sure to have your blood pressure checked at regular intervals and that there will be a continuous follow-up of your treatment by your doctor.

# 5.9 Reminder sheet

Participant code

#### Reminder sheet

Year:\_\_\_\_\_ Month:\_\_\_\_\_

On this reminder sheet we kindly ask you to add a check mark when you have taken the dose/s of your blood pressure lowering medicine accordingly to your doctor's prescribed dosage.

Drug name:	Strength:	Drug name:	Strength:
1	16	1	16
2	17	2	17
3	18	3	18
4	19	4	19
5	20	5	20
6	21	6	21
7	22	7	22
8	23	8	23
9	24	9	24
10	25	10	25
11	26	11	26
12	27	12	27
13	28	13	28
14	29	14	29
15	30	15	30
	31		31
Drug name:	Strength:	Drug name:	Strength:

Drug name:	Strength:	Drug name:	Drug name: Strength:	
1	16	1	16	
2	17	2	17	
3	18	3	18	
4	19	4	19	
5	20	5	20	
6	21	6	21	
7	22	7	22	
8	23	8	23	
9	24	9	24	
10	25	10	25	
11	26	11	26	
12	27	12	27	
13	28	13	28	
14	29	14	29	
15	30	15	30	
	31		31	

# 6 List of references

- Aguiar, P.M., Balisa-Rocha, B.J., Brito, G.C. and Lyra, D.P. Jr. (2012) 'Pharmaceutical care program for elderly patients with uncontrolled hypertension', *J Am Pharm Assoc*, 52, pp. 515–518.
- Aguwa, C.N., Ukwe, C.V. and Ekwunife, O.I. (2008) 'Effect of pharmaceutical care programme on blood pressure and quality of life in a nigerian pharmacy', *Pharm World Sci*, 30, pp. 107–110.
- Allen Jr, L.V. (Editor-in-Chief) (2012) Remington: The Science and Practice of Pharmacy (22nd edn), London: Pharmaceutical Press.
- Amariles, P., Sabater-Hernández, D., García-Jiménez, E., Rodríguez-Chamorro, M.Á, Prats-Más, R., Marín-Magán, F., Galán-Ceballos, J.A., Jiménez-Martín, J. and Faus, M.J. (2012) 'Effectiveness of Dader Method for pharmaceutical care on control of blood pressure and total cholesterol in outpatients with cardiovascular disease or cardiovascular risk: EMDADER-CV randomized controlled trial', *J Manag Care Pharm.*, 18(4), pp. 311-323.
- Anthierens, S., Tansens, A., Petrovic, M. and Christiaens, T. (2010) 'Qualitative insights into general practitioners views on polypharmacy', *BMC Fam Pract*, 11:65.
- Armour, C.L., Smith, L. and Krass, I. (2008) 'Community Pharmacy, Disease State Management, and Adherence to Medication', Disease Management & Health Outcomes, 16(4), pp. 245-254.
- Bajorek, B.V., Lemay, K.S., Magin, P.J., Roberts, C., Krass, I. and Armour, C.L. (2015)
   'Preparing pharmacists to deliver a targeted service in hypertension management: evaluation of an interprofessional training program', *BMC Med Educ*, 15:157.
- Bajorek, B., Lemay, K.S., Magin, P., Roberts, C., Krass, I. and Armour, C.L. (2016) 'Implementation and evaluation of a pharmacist-led hypertension management service in primary care: outcomes and methodological challenges', *Pharm Pract (Granada)*, 14(2):723, pp. 1-13.

- Barber, N. (2002) 'Should we consider non-compliance a medical error?', *Qual Saf Health Care*, 11(1), pp. 81-84.
- Blenkinsopp, A., Phelan, M., Bourne, J. and Dakhil, N. (2000) 'Extended adherence support by community pharmacists for patients with hypertension: a randomised controlled trial', *Int J Pharm Pract*, 8, pp. 165-175.
- Bowling, A. (2009) *Research Methods in Health: Investigating Health and Health Services.* 3<sup>rd</sup> edn. Berkshire: Open University Press.
- Braun V. and Clarke V. (2006) 'Using thematic analysis in psychology', *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 3:2, pp. 77-101.
- Burnier, M. (2006) 'Medication Adherence and Persistence as the Cornerstone of Effective Antihypertensive Therapy', *Am J Hypertens*, 19, pp. 1190–1196.
- Carvalho, S. and Nagavi, B.G. (2006) *Impact of Community Pharmacy based patient* education on the Quality of Life of Hypertensive Patients, MSc in Pharmacy Dissertation, Rajiv Gandhi University of Health Sciences Bangalore, Karnataka, India.
- Carvalho, S. and Nagavi, B.G. (2007) 'Impact of Community Pharmacy based patient education on the Quality of Life of Hypertensive Patients', *Indian J.Pharm. Educ. Res.*, 41(2), pp. 164-169.
- Chabot, I., Moisan, J., Grégoire, J-P. and Milot, A. (2003) 'Pharmacist Intervention Program for Control of Hypertension', *Ann Pharmacother*, 37, pp. 1186-1193.
- Charrois, T.L., Durec, T. and Tsuyuki, R.T. (2009) 'Systematic reviews of pharmacy practice research: methodologic issues in searching, evaluating, interpreting, and disseminating results', *Ann Pharmacother*, 43(1), 118-122.
- Cheema, E., Sutcliffe, P. and Singer, D.R.J. (2014) 'The impact of interventions by pharmacists in community pharmacies on control of hypertension: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials', *Br J Clin Pharm*, 78, pp. 1238-1247.

- Choo, P.W., Rand, C.S., Inui, T.S., Lee, M.L., Cain, E., Cordeiro-Breault, M., Canning, C. and Platt, R. (1999) 'Validation of Patient Reports, Automated Pharmacy Records, and Pill Counts with Electronic Monitoring of Adherence to Antihypertensive Therapy', *Med Care*, 37(9), pp. 846-857.
- Cipolle, R.J., Strand, L.M. and Morley, P.C. (2012) Pharmaceutical Care Practice: The Patient-Centered Approach to Medication Management (3rd ed). Minnesota: McGraw-Hill Education.
- Clifford, S., Barber, N. and Horne R. (2008) 'Understanding different beliefs held by adherers, unintentional nonadherers, and intentional nonadherers: application of the Necessity-Concerns Framework', *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, 64, pp. 41–46.
- Conn, V.S., Ruppar, T.M., Enriquez, M. and Cooper, P. (2016) 'Medication adherence interventions that target subjects with adherence problems: Systematic review and meta-analysis', *Res Social Adm Pharm*, 12(2), pp. 218-246.
- de Souza, W.A., Sabha, M., de Faveri Favero, F., Bergsten-Mendes, G., Yugar-Toledo, J.C. and Moreno, H. (2009) 'Intensive Monitoring of Adherence toTreatment Helps to Identify ''True'' Resistant Hypertension', *J Clin Hypertens*, 11(4), pp. 183-191.
- DiDonato, K.L., Vetter, K.R., Liu, Y., May, J.R. and Hartwig, D.M. (2014) 'Examining the Effect of a Medication Synchronization or an Education Program on Health Outcomes of Hypertensive Patients in a Community Pharmacy Setting', *Inov Pharm*, 5(3): Article 175. Available at: <u>http://pubs.lib.umn.edu/ innovations/vol5/iss3/15</u> (Accessed: 8 September 2016).
- Effective Practice and Organisation of Care (EPOC) (2013) What study designs should be included in an EPOC review? EPOC Resources for review authors. Oslo: Norwegian Knowledge Centre for the Health Services. Available at: <u>http://epoc.cochrane.org/epoc-specific-resources-review-authors</u> (Accessed: 12 June 2015).
- Effective Practice and Organisation of Care (EPOC) (2015) *EPOC Resources for review authors. Oslo: Norwegian Knowledge Centre for the Health Services.* Available at: http://epoc.cochrane.org/epoc-specific-resources-review-authors (Accessed: 9 June 2016).

Effective Practice and Organisation of Care (EPOC) (2016) Available at: <u>http://epoc.cochrane.org/</u> (Accessed: 9 June 2016).

Ekwunife, O. (2014) E-mail to Amirthan Amirthalingam, August 20.

Elliott, R.A., Boyd, M.J., Salema, N-E., Davies, J., Barber, N., Mehta, R.L., Tanajewski, L., Waring, J., Latif, A., Gkountouras, G., Avery, A.J., Chuter, A., Craig C. (2016)
'Supporting adherence for people starting a new medication for a long-term condition through community pharmacies: a pragmatic randomised controlled trial of the New Medicine Service', *BMJ Qual Saf*, 25, pp. 747-758.

Elliott, R.A., Boyd, M.J., Waring, J., Barber, N., Mehta, R., Chuter, A., Avery, A.J., Tanajewski, L., Davies, J., Salema, N-E., Latif, A., Gkountouras, G., Craig, C. and Watmough, D. (2014) *A randomised controlled trial and economic evaluation with qualitative appraisal comparing the effectiveness and cost effectiveness of the New Medicines Service in community pharmacies in England. The University of Nottingham.* Available at: <u>http://www.nottingham.ac.uk/~pazmjb/nms/downloads/report/files/assets/common/do</u> <u>wnloads/108842%20A4%20Main%20Report.v4.pdf</u> (Accessed: 26 February 2016).

- Erhun, W.O., Agbani, E.O. and Bolaji, E.E. (2005) 'Positive benefits of a pharmacistmanaged hypertension clinic in Nigeria', *Public Health*, 119(9), pp. 792-798.
- Farris, K.B., Fernandez-Llimos, F. and Benrimoj, S.I. (2005) 'Pharmaceutical care in community pharmacies: practice and research from around the world', *Ann Pharmacother*, 39(9), pp. 1539-1541.

Fikri-Benbrahim, N. (2014) E-mail to Amirthan Amirthalingam, September 8.

- Fikri-Benbrahim, N., Faus, M.J., Martínez-Martínez, F., Alsina, D.G. and Sabater-Hernández, D. (2012) 'Effect of a pharmacist intervention in Spanish community pharmacies on blood pressure control in hypertensive patients', *Am J Health-Syst Pharm*, 69, pp. 1311-1318.
- Foot, H., La Caze, A., Gujral, G. and Cottrell, N. (2016) 'The necessityconcerns framework predicts adherence to medication in multiple illness conditions: A meta-analysis', *Patient Educ Couns*, 99(5), pp. 706-717.

- Garção, J.A. and Cabrita, J. (2002) 'Evaluation of a Pharmaceutical Care Program for Hypertensive Patients in Rural Portugal', *J Am Pharm Assoc*, 42(6), pp. 858-864.
- Garfield, S., Clifford, S., Eliasson, L., Barber, N. and Willson, A. (2011) 'Suitability of measures of self-reported medication adherence for routine clinical use: a systematic review', *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 11:149, pp. 1-9.
- Gatti, M.E., Jacobson, K.L., Gazmararian, J.A., Schmotzer, B. and Kripalani, S. (2009) 'Relationships between beliefs about medications and adherence', *Am J Health-Syst Pharm*, 66, pp. 657-664.
- George, J., McNamara K., Jackson, S., Hughes, J., Peterson, G., Bailey, M., Hsueh, A., Lau, R., Bortoloetto, D. and Stewart, K. (2010) Oral Session 5 Communication and adherence with medicines. 'The HAPPY trial: a randomised controlled trial of a community pharmacy-based intervention for improving patient adherence to antihypertensive medicines', *International Journal of Pharmacy Practice*, 18, pp. 21-26.
- Gleason-Comstock, J<sup>-</sup>, Streater, A., Ager, J., Goodman, A., Brody, A., Kivell, L., Paranjpe, A., Vickers, J., Mango, L., Dawood, R. and Levy, P. (2015)
  'Patient education and follow-up as an intervention for hypertensive patients discharged from an emergency department: a randomized control trial study protocol', *BMC Emerg Med*, 15:38, pp. 1-9.
- Glynn, L.G., Murphy, A.W., Smith, S.M., Schroeder, K. and Fahey, T. (2010) 'Interventions used to improve control of blood pressure in patients with hypertension', *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, Issue 3.
- Gosmanova, E.O. and Kovesdy, C.P. (2015) 'Adherence to antihypertensive medications: is prescribing the right pill enough?', *Nephrol Dial Transplant*, 30, pp. 1649–1656.
- Grimes, L. and Barnett, N. (2014) Consultation skills for pharmacy practice: taking a patientcentred approach: A CPPE distance learning programme for pharmacy professionals. Available at: <u>http://www.consultationskillsforpharmacy.com/docs/docb.pdf</u> (Accessed: 2 May 2016).

- Gwadry-Sridhar, F.H., Manias, E., Lal, L., Salas, M., Hughes, D.A., Ratzki-Leewing, A. and Grubisic, M. (2013) 'Impact of interventions on medication adherence and blood pressure control in patients with essential hypertension: a systematic review by the ISPOR medication adherence and persistence special interest group', *Value Health*, 16(5), pp. 863-871.
- Hadi, M.A. and Closs, S.J. (2015) 'Applications of mixed-methods methodology in clinical pharmacy research'. To be published in *Int J Clin Pharm*, [Preprint]. Available at: <u>http://link.springer.com/article/10.1007%2Fs11096-015-0231-z</u> (Accessed: 30 May 2016).
- Hadi, M.A., Alldred, D.P., Closs, S.J. and Briggs, M. (2014) 'Mixed-methods research in pharmacy practice: recommendations for quality reporting. Part 2', *Int J Pharm Pract*, 22, pp. 96-100.
- Halpern, M.T., Khan, Z.M., Schmier, J.K., Burnier, M., Caro, J.J., Cramer, J., Daley, W.L., Gurwitz, J. and Hollenberg, N.K. (2006) 'Recommendations for Evaluating Compliance and Persistence With Hypertension Therapy Using Retrospective Data', *Hypertension*, 47, pp. 1039-1048.
- Herborg, H., Haugbølle, L.S., Sørensen, L., Rossing, C. and Dam, P. (2008) 'Developing a generic, individualised adherence programme for chronic medication users', *Pharmacy Practice*, 6(3), pp. 148–157.
- Hepler C.D. and Strand L.M. (1990) 'Opportunities and responsibilities in pharmaceutical care', *Am J Hosp Pharm*, 47(3), pp. 533–543.
- Higgins, J.P.T. and Green, S. (eds.) (2011) Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions Version 5.1.0 [updated March 2011]. The Cochrane Collaboration. Available at: http://www.cochrane-handbook.org (Accessed: 9 July 2016).
- Holt, E.W., Muntner, P., Joyce, C., Morisky, D.E., Webber, L.S. and Krousel-Wood, M. (2012) 'Events, Coping, and Antihypertensive Medication Adherence Among Older Adults The Cohort Study of Medication Adherence among Older Adults', *Am J Epidemiol*, 176 (Suppl) 7, pp. S64-71.

- Horne, R., Chapman, S.C.E., Parham, R., Freemantle, N., Forbes, A. and Cooper, V. (2013) 'Understanding Patients' Adherence-Related Beliefs about Medicines Prescribed for Long-Term Conditions: A Meta-Analytic Review of the Necessity-Concerns Framework', *PLoS ONE*, 8(12): e80633, pp. 1-24.
- Horne, R., Clatworthy, J., Polmear, A. and Weinman, J. (2001) 'A Sub-study of the ASCOT Trial, Do hypertensive patients' beliefs about their illness and treatment influence medication adherence and quality of life?', *Journal of Human Hypertension*, 15:Suppl 1, S65–S68.
- Horne, R., Weinman, J. and Hankins, M. (1999) 'The beliefs about medicines questionnaire: The development and evaluation of a new method for assessing the cognitive representation of medication', *Psychology & Health*, 14(1), pp. 1-24.
- Horne, R., Weinman, J., Barber, N., Elliott, R., Morgan, M., Cribb, A. and Kellar, I. (2005) Concordance, adherence and compliance in medicine taking. Report for the National Co-ordinating Centre for NHS Service Delivery and Organisation R & D (NCCSDO). Available at: <u>http://www.nets.nihr.ac.uk/\_\_data/assets/pdf\_file/0009/64494/FR-08-1412-076.pdf</u> (Accessed: 14 March 2016).
- Hourihan, F., Krass, I. and Chen, T. (2003) 'Rural community pharmacy: a feasible site for a health promotion and screening service for cardiovascular risk factors', *Aust J Rural Health*, 11(1), pp. 28-35.
- Hughes, J., Keen, N., Dillon, M. and Maricic, T. (2002) Hypertension: Improving patient compliance and clinical outcomes through community pharmacist managed care. Available at: http://www.guild.org.au/docs/default-source/public-documents/servicesand-programs/research-and-development/Third-Agreement-R-and-D/2001-055/finalreport.pdf?sfvrsn=0 (Accessed: 13 May 2014).
- Hugtenburg, J.G., Timmers, L., Elders, P.J., Vervloet M. and van Dijk, L. (2013) 'Definitions, variants, and causes of nonadherence with medication: a challenge for tailored interventions', *Preference and Adherence*, 7, pp. 675–682.

IBM Corp. (2013) IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows, (Version 22.0) [Computer program].

- Jackson, C., Eliasson, L., Barber, N and Weinman, J. (2014) 'Applying COM-B to medication adherence: a suggested framework for research and interventions', *The European Health Psychologist*, 16, pp. 7–17.
- Johnson, M.J. (2002) 'The Medication Adherence Model: A Guide for Assessing Medication Taking', *Res Theory Nurs Pract*, pp. 179-192.
- Júnior, D. P., Marcellini, P.S. and Pelá, I.R. (2008) 'Effect of pharmaceutical care intervention on blood pressure of elderly outpatients with hypertension', *Brazilian Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences*, 44, pp. 451-457.
- Kaplan, N.M., Victor, R.G. and Flynn, J.T. (2015) *Kaplan's Clinical Hypertension*. 11<sup>th</sup> edn. Philadelphia: Wolters Kluwer.
- Karupaiah, T., Wong, K., Chinna, K., Arasu, K. and Chee, W. (2015) 'Metering Self-Reported Adherence to Clinical Outcomes in Malaysian Patients With Hypertension: Applying the Stages of Change Model to Healthful Behaviors in the CORFIS Study', *Health Educ Behav*, 42(3), pp. 339-351.
- Katikireddi, S.V., Egan, M. and Petticrew, M. (2015) 'How do systematic reviews incorporate risk of bias assessments into the synthesis of evidence? A methodological study', *J Epidemiol Community Health*, 69(2), pp. 189-195.
- Khan, K., Kunz, R., Kleijnen, J. and Antes, G. (2011) Systematic reviews to support evidence-based medicine: how to review and apply findings of healthcare research. 2<sup>nd</sup> edn. London: Hodder & Stoughton Ltd.
- Kjeldsen, L.J., Bjerrum, L., Herborg, H., Knudsen, P., Rossing, C. and Søndergaard, B. (2011) 'Development of new concepts of non-adherence measurements among users of antihypertensives medicines', *Int J Clin Pharm*, 33(3), pp. 565-572.
- Kotchen, T.A. (2011) 'Historical trends and milestones in hypertension research: a model of the process of translational research', *Hypertension*, 58(4), pp. 522-538.
- Kotchen, T.A. (2014) 'Developing hypertension guidelines: an evolving process', *Am J Hypertens*, 27(6), pp. 765-772.

- Krousel-Wood, M., Islam, T., Webber, L.S., Re, R.N., Morisky, D.E. and Muntner, P. (2009) 'New medication adherence scale versus pharmacy fill rates in hypertensive seniors', *Am J Manag Care*, 15(1), pp. 59–66.
- Krousel-Wood, M., Thomas, S., Muntner, P. and Morisky, D. (2004) 'Medication adherence: a key factor in achieving blood pressure control and good clinical outcomes in hypertensive patients', *Current Opinion in Cardiology*, 19(4), pp. 357-362.
- Lacruz, M. E., Kluttig, A., Hartwig, S., Löer, M., Tiller, D., Greiser, K. H., Werda, K. and Haerting, J. (2015) 'Prevalence and Incidence of Hypertension in the General Adult Population: Results of the CARLA-Cohort Study', *Medicine*, 94(22), e952. pp. 1-7.
- Lai, L.L. (2007) 'Community Pharmacy-Based Hypertension Disease-Management Program in a Latino/Hispanic-American Population', *Consult Pharm*, 22(5), pp. 411-416.

Landstinget i Uppsala Län (2016) *Rekommenderade läkemedel för vuxna 2016-2017*. Available at: http://www.lul.se/Global/Extran%c3%a4t/V%c3%a5rdgivare/L%c3%a4kemedelsenhe ten/Dokument/Reklistan/17-087%20Rek-lista%20vuxna%2016-17\_web.pdf (Accessed: 3 August 2017).

- Lau, R. Stewart, K., McNamara, K.P., Jackson, S.L., Hughes, J.D., Peterson, G.M., Bortoletto, D.A., McDowell, J., Bailey, M.J., Hsueh, A. and George, J. (2010) 'Evaluation of a community pharmacy-based intervention for improving patient adherence to antihypertensives: a randomised controlled trial', *BMC Health Services Research*, 10:34, pp. 1-7.
- Lee, J.K., Grace, K.A. and Taylor, A.J. (2006) 'Effect of a pharmacy care program on medication adherence and persistence, blood pressure, and low-density lipoprotein cholesterol: a randomized controlled trial', *JAMA*, 296(21), pp. 2563-2571.
- Lehane, E. and McCarthy, G. (2007a) 'An examination of the intentional and unintentional aspects of medication nonadherence in patients diagnosed with hypertension', *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, 16, pp. 698–706.
- Lehane, E. and McCarthy, G. (2007b) 'Intentional and unintentional medication nonadherence: a comprehensive framework for clinical research and practice? A discussion paper' *Int J Nurs Stud*, 44(8), pp. 1468-1477.

- Liberati, A., Altman, D.G., Tetzlaff, J., Mulrow, C., Gøtzsche, P.C., Ioannidis, J.P., Clarke, M., Devereaux, P.J., Kleijnen, J. and Moher, D. (2009) 'The PRISMA statement for reporting systematic reviews and meta-analyses of studies that evaluate healthcare interventions: explanation and elaboration', *BMJ*, 339:b2700.
- Lowry, K.P., Dudley, T.K., Oddone, E.Z. and Bosworth, H.B. (2005) 'Intentional and unintentional nonadherence to antihypertensive medication', *Ann Pharmacother*. 39(7-8), pp. 1198-1203.
- Mabotuwana, T., Warren, J. and Kennelly, J. (2009) 'A computational framework to identify patients with poor adherence to blood pressure lowering medication'. *Int J Med Inform*, 78(11), pp. 745-756.
- Machado, M., Bajcar, J., Guzzo, G.C. and Einarson, T.R. (2007) 'Sensitivity of Patient Outcomes to Pharmacist Interventions. Part II: Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis in Hypertension Management', *Ann Pharmacother*, 41, pp. 1770-1781.
- Maher, J.H., Lowe, J.B., Hughes, R. and Anderson, C. (2014) 'Understanding community pharmacy intervention practice: Lessons from intervention researchers', *Res Social Adm Pharm*, 10(4), pp. 633-646.
- Mahler, C., Hermann, K., Horne, R., Ludt, S., Haefeli, W.E., Szecsenyi, J. and Jank, S. (2010)
   'Assessing reported adherence to pharmacological treatment recommendations. Translation and evaluation of the Medication Adherence Report Scale (MARS) in Germany', *Journal of Evaluation in Clinical Practice*, 16, pp. 574–579.

- Mancia, G., De Backer, G., Dominiczak, A., Cifkova, R., Fagard, R., Germano, G., Grassi, G., Heagerty, A.M., Kjeldsen, S.E., Laurent, S., Narkiewicz, K., Ruilope, L., Rynkiewicz, A., Schmieder, R.E., Struijker Boudier, H.A., Zanchetti, A., Vahanian, A., Camm, J., De Caterina, R., Dean, V., Dickstein, K., Filippatos, G., Funck-Brentano, C., Hellemans, I., Kristensen, S.D., McGregor, K., Sechtem, U., Silber, S., Tendera, M., Widimsky, P., Zamorano, J.L., Kjeldsen, S.E., Erdine, S., Narkiewicz, K., Kiowski, W., Agabiti-Rosei, E., Ambrosioni, E., Cifkova, R., Dominiczak, A., Fagard, R., Heagerty, A.M., Laurent, S., Lindholm, L.H., Mancia, G., Manolis, A., Nilsson, P.M., Redon, J., Schmieder, R.E., Struijker-Boudier, H.A., Viigimaa, M., Filippatos, G., Adamopoulos, S., Agabiti-Rosei, E., Ambrosioni, E., Bertomeu, V., Clement, D., Erdine, S., Farsang, C., Gaita, D., Kiowski, W., Lip, G., Mallion, J.M., Manolis, A.J., Nilsson, P.M., O'Brien, E., Ponikowski, P., Redon, J., Ruschitzka, F., Tamargo, J., van Zwieten, P., Viigimaa, M., Waeber, B., Williams, B., and Zamorano, J.L., (2007) '2007 Guidelines for the management of arterial hypertension: The Task Force for the Management of Arterial Hypertension of the European Society of Hypertension (ESH) and of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC)', European Heart Journal, 28(12), pp. 1462–1536.
- Mancia, G., Fagard, R., Narkiewicz, K., Redon, J., Zanchetti, A., Böhm, M., Christiaens, T., Cifkova, R., De Backer, G., Dominiczak, A., Galderisi, M., Grobbee, D.E., Jaarsma, T., Kirchhof, P., Kjeldsen, S.E., Laurent, S., Manolis, A.J., Nilsson, P.M., Ruilope, L.M., Schmieder, R.E., Sirnes, P.A., Sleight, P., Viigimaa, M., Waeber, B., Zannad, F., Redon, J., Dominiczak, A., Narkiewicz, K., Nilsson, P.M., Burnier, M., Viigimaa, M., Ambrosioni, E., Caufield, M., Coca, A., Olsen, M.H., Schmieder, R.E., Tsioufis, C., van de Borne, P., Zamorano, J.L., Achenbach, S., Baumgartner, H., Bax, J.J., Bueno, H., Dean, V., Deaton, C., Erol, C., Fagard, R., Ferrari, R., Hasdai, D., Hoes, A.W., Kirchhof, P., Knuuti, J., Kolh, P., Lancellotti, P., Linhart, A., Nihoyannopoulos, P., Piepoli, M.F., Ponikowski, P., Sirnes, P.A., Tamargo, J.L., Tendera, M., Torbicki, A., Wijns, W., Windecker, S., Clement, D.L., Coca, A., Gillebert, T.C., Tendera, M., Rosei, E.A., Ambrosioni, E., Anker, S.D., Bauersachs, J., Hitij, J.B., Caulfield, M., De Buyzere, M., De Geest, S., Derumeaux, G.A., Erdine, S., Farsang, C., Funck-Brentano, C., Gerc, V., Germano, G., Gielen, S., Haller, H., Hoes, A.W., Jordan, J., Kahan, T., Komajda, M., Lovic, D., Mahrholdt, H., Olsen, M.H., Ostergren, J., Parati, G., Perk, J., Polonia, J., Popescu, B.A., Reiner, Z., Rydén, L., Sirenko, Y., Stanton, A., Struijker-Boudier, H., Tsioufis, C., van de Borne, P., Vlachopoulos, C., Volpe, M. and Wood, D.A. (2013) '2013 ESH/ESC Guidelines for the management of arterial hypertension: the Task Force for the Management of Arterial Hypertension of the European Society of Hypertension (ESH) and of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC)', European Heart Journal, 34(28), pp. 2159-2219.
- Mansoor, S.M., Krass, I., Costa, D.S. and Aslani, P. (2015) 'Factors influencing the provision of adherence support by community pharmacists: A structural equation modeling approach', Res Social Adm Pharm, 11(6), pp. 769-783.

- Mårdby, A-C., Åkerlind, I. and Jörgensen, T. (2007) 'Beliefs about medicines and selfreported adherence among pharmacy clients', *Patient Education and Counseling*, 69, pp. 158–164.
- Martin, M.Y., Kim, Y.I., Kratt, P., Litaker, M.S., Kohler, C.L., Schoenberger, Y.M., Clarke, S.J., Prayor-Patterson, H., Tseng, T.S., Pisu, M. and Williams, O.D. (2011)
  'Medication Adherence Among Rural, Low-Income Hypertensive Adults: A Randomized Trial of a Multimedia Community-Based Intervention', *Am J Health Promot*, 25(6), pp. 372–378.
- Mayers, A. (2013) *Introduction to Statistics and SPSS in Psychology*. Harlow: Pearson Education Limited.
- McKenney, J.M., Slining, J.M., Henderson, H.R., Devins, D. and Barr, M. (1973) 'The Effect of Clinical Pharmacy Services on Patients with Essential Hypertension', *Circulation*, 48, pp. 1104-1111.
- Microsoft Corporation. (2010) *Microsoft Excel 2010*, (Version 14.0.7166.5000) [Computer program].
- Morgado, M.P., Morgado S.R., Mendes, L.C., Pereira, L.J. and Castelo-Branco, M. (2011) 'Pharmacist interventions to enhance blood pressure control and adherence to antihypertensive therapy: Review and meta-analysis', *Am J Health-Syst Pharm*, 68(3), pp. 241-253.
- Morisky, D.E., Ang, A., Krousel-Wood, M. and Ward, H.J. (2008) 'Predictive Validity of a Medication Adherence Measure in an Outpatient Setting', *J Clin Hypertens*, 10(5), pp. 348-354.
- Mossialos, E., Naci, H. and Courtin, E. (2013) 'Expanding the role of community pharmacists: Policymaking in the absence of policy-relevant evidence?', *Health Policy*, 111, pp. 135-148.
- Moullin, J.C., Sabater-Hernández, D., Fernandez-Llimos, F. and Benrimoj, S.I. (2013) 'Defining professional pharmacy services in community pharmacy', *Res Social Adm Pharm*, 9(6), pp. 989-995.

Nadar, S. and Lip, G. (Eds.) (2009) Hypertension. Oxford University Press.

- National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) (2016) *Hypertension in adults: diagnosis and management*. Available at: <u>https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg127/chapter/1-Guidance#choosing-antihypertensive-drug-treatment-2</u> (Accessed 3 August 2017).
- National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) (2009) *Medicines adherence: involving patients in decisions about prescribed medicines and supporting adherence.* Available at: https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg76/resources/medicines-adherenceinvolving-patients-in-decisions-about-prescribed-medicines-and-supportingadherence-975631782085 (Accessed: 29 April 2016).
- Nemerovski, C.W., Young, M., Mariani, N., Bugdalski-Stutrud, C. and Moser, L.R. (2013) 'Project ImPACT: Hypertension Outcomes of a Pharmacist-Provided Hypertension Service'. *INNOVATIONS in pharmacy*, 4:3: Article 126: pp. 1-9, Available at: <u>http://www.pharmacy.umn.edu/innovations/prod/groups/cop/@pub/@cop/@innov/doc uments/article/cop\_article\_459152.pdf</u> (Accessed: 30 April 2014).
- Nieuwlaat, R., Wilczynski, N., Navarro, T., Hobson, N., Jeffery, R., Keepanasseril, A., Agoritsas, T., Mistry, N., Iorio, A., Jack, S., Sivaramalingam, B., Iserman, E., Mustafa, R.A., Jedraszewski, D., Cotoi, C. and Haynes. R.B. (2014) 'Interventions for enhancing medication adherence', *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, Issue 11.
- Noble, K., Brown, K., Medina, M., Alvarez, F., Young, J., Leadley, S., Kim, Y. and DiCarlo, L. (2016) 'Medication adherence and activity patterns underlying uncontrolled hypertension: Assessment and recommendations by practicing pharmacists using digital health care', *Journal of the American Pharmacists Association*, 56:3, pp. 310 -315.
- O'Brien, E., Asmar, R., Beilin, L., Imai, Y., Mancia, G., Mengden, T., Myers, M., Padfield, P., Palatini, P., Parati, G., Pickering, T., Redon, J., Staessen, J., Stergiou, G. and Verdecchia, P. (2005) 'Practice guidelines of the European Society of Hypertension for clinic, ambulatory and self blood pressure measurement' *Journal of Hypertension*, 23, pp. 697–701.

- Octavia, B.R. and Florica, P. (2011) 'Researches upon Practical Implementation of the "Pharmaceutical Care" Concept in a Community Pharmacy-based in Romania', *Current Health Sciences Journal*, 37, pp. 92-95.
- Oparah, A.C., Adje, D.U. and FO Enato, E. (2006) 'Outcomes of pharmaceutical care intervention to hypertensive patients in a Nigerian community pharmacy', *International Journal of Pharmacy Practice*, 14, pp. 115-122.
- Osborn, C.Y. and Egede, L.E. (2010) 'Validation of an Information-Motivation-Behavioral Skills model of diabetes self-care (IMB-DSC)', *Patient Educ Couns*, 79(1), pp. 49-54.
- Osterberg, L. and Blashke, T. (2005) 'Adherence to medication', *N Engl J Med*, 353, pp.487-497.
- Patel, R.P. and Taylor, S.D. (2002) 'Factors Affecting Medication Adherence in Hypertensive Patients', *Ann Pharmacother*, 36, pp. 40-45.
- Petrie, A. and Sabin, C. (2009) *Medical Statistics at a Glance*. 3<sup>rd</sup> edn. Chichester: John Wiley & Sons Ltd.
- Pistja, E. and Themeli, A. (2015a) Pharmacists, valuable members of the hypertension management team. Available at: <u>https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Alba\_Themeli/publication/296086240\_Pharmaci</u> <u>sts\_valuable\_members\_of\_the\_hypertension\_management\_team/links/57c5319708ae9</u> <u>b0c824c3526.pdf?origin=publication\_list</u> (Accessed: 11 October 2016).
- Pistja, E. and Themeli, A. (2015b) 'Pharmacists, valuable members of the hypertension management team', *Eur J Cardiovasc Nurs*, 14(S1), S1-S120.

Planas, L.G. (2015a) E-mail to Amirthan Amirthalingam, March 24.

Planas, L.G. (2015b) E-mail to Amirthan Amirthalingam, May 20.

Planas, L.G., Crosby, K.M., Mitchell, K.D. and Farmer, K.C. (2009) 'Evaluation of a hypertension medication therapy management program in patients with diabetes', J Am Pharm Assoc, 49, pp. 164–170.

Pojskic, N. (2014a) E-mail to Amirthan Amirthalingam, 5 May.

Pojskic, N. (2014b) E-mail to Amirthan Amirthalingam, July 18.

- Pojskic, N., Jackson, M., Malek, A. and Camino, S. (2014) Impact of Community Pharmacist Interventions in Hypertension Management on Patient Outcomes: A Randomized Controlled Trial, Ontario Pharmacists Association and Green Shield Canada. Available at: <u>https://www.opatoday.com/Media/Default/Reports/Hypertension%20Study%20-%20Final%20Report%20(January%208%202014).pdf</u> (Accessed: 30 April 2014).
- Puspitasari, H.P., Aslani, P. and Krass, I. (2015) 'The influence of pharmacy and pharmacist characteristics on the secondary prevention of cardiovascular disease', *Int J Clin Pharm*, 37(5), pp. 834-843.
- Puspitasari, H.P., Costa, D.S., Aslani, P. and Krass, I. (2016) 'An explanatory model of community pharmacists' support in the secondary prevention of cardiovascular disease', *Res Social Adm Pharm*, 12(1), pp. 104-118.
- Quine, L., Steadman, L., Thompson, S. and Rutter, D.R. (2012) 'Adherence to antihypertensive medication: proposing and testing a conceptual model' , *Br J Health Psychol*, 17(1), pp. 202-219.
- Rapsomaniki, E., Timmis, A., George, J., Pujades-Rodriguez, M., Shah, A.D., Denaxas, S., White, I.R., Caulfield, M.J., Deanfield, J.E., Smeeth, L., Williams, B., Hingorani, A. and Hemingway, H. (2014) 'Blood pressure and incidence of twelve cardiovascular diseases: lifetime risks, healthy life-years lost, and age-specific associations in 1.25 million people', *Lancet*, 383, pp. 1899–1911.
- R Core Team (2016) R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. Available at: <u>https://www.R-project.org</u> (Accessed: 26 June 2016).

- Ramanath, K.V., Balaji, D.B.S.S., Nagakishore, C.H., Kumar, S.M. and Bhanuprakash, M. (2012) 'A Study on Impact of Clinical Pharmacist Interventions on Medication Adherence and Quality of Life in Rural Hypertensive Patients', *Young Pharm*, 4(2), pp. 95–100.
- Robinson, J.D., Segal, R., Lopez, L.M. and Doty, R.E. (2010) 'Impact of a Pharmaceutical Care Intervention on Blood Pressure Control in a Chain Pharmacy Practice', *Ann Pharmacother*, 44, pp. 88-96.
- Ross, S., Walker, A. and MacLeod, M.J. (2004) 'Patient compliance in hypertension: role of illness perceptions and treatment beliefs', *J Hum Hypertens*, 18(9), pp. 607-613.
- Royal Pharmaceutical Society (2013) Medicines Optimisation: Helping patients to make the most of medicines. Good practice guidance for healthcare professionals in England. Available at: <u>https://www.rpharms.com/promoting-pharmacy-pdfs/helping-patients-make-the-most-of-their-medicines.pdf</u> (Accessed: 2 May 2016).
- Rücker, G., Schwarzer, G. and Carpenter, J. (2008) 'Arcsine test for publication bias in metaanalyses with binary outcomes', *Stat Med*, 27(5), pp. 746-763.
- Santschi, V., Chiolero, A., Colosimo, A.L., Platt, R.W., Taffé, P., Burnier, M., Burnand, B. and Gilles, P. (2014) 'Improving Blood Pressure Control Through Pharmacist Interventions: A Meta-Analysis of Randomized Controlled Trials', *J Am Heart Assoc*, 3(2):e000718, pp.1-12.
- Santschi, V., Tsuyuki, R.T. and Paradis, G. (2015) 'Evidence for pharmacist care in the management of hypertension', *Can Pharm J (Ott)*, 148(1), pp. 13-16.
- Schmitt, K.E., Edie, C.F., Laflam, P., Simbartl, L.A. and Thakar, C.V. (2010) 'Adherence to Antihypertensive Agents and Blood Pressure Control in Chronic Kidney Disease', Am J Nephrol, 32, pp. 541–548.
- Schroeder, K., Fahey, T. and Ebrahim, S. (2004) 'Interventions for improving adherence to treatment in patients with high blood pressure inambulatory settings', Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews, Issue 3.

- Schwarzer, G. (2016). meta: General Package for Meta-Analysis. R package version 4.4-1. Available at: <u>https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=meta</u> (Accessed: 26 June 2016).
- Schwarzer, G., Carpenter, J.R. and Rücker, G. (2015) *Meta-Analysis with R (Use R!)*. Switzerland: Springer International Publishing.
- Shamseer, L., Moher, D., Clarke M, Ghersi, D., Liberati, A., Petticrew, M., Shekelle, P. and Stewart, L.A. (2015) 'Preferred reporting items for systematic review and metaanalysis protocols (PRISMA-P) 2015: elaboration and explanation', *BMJ*, 349:g7647.
- Sharma, S., Bhuvan, K.C., Alrasheedy, A.A., Kaundinnyayana, A. and Khanal, A. (2014) 'Impact of a community pharmacy-based educational intervention on patients with hypertension in Western Nepal', *Australasian Medical Journal*, 7, pp. 304–313.
- Skowron, A., Polak, S. and Brandys, J. (2011) 'The impact of pharmaceutical care on patients with hypertension and their pharmacists', *Pharmacy Practice*, 9(2), pp. 110-115. Available at: <u>http://pharmacypractice.org/vol09/pdf/110-115.pdf</u> (Accessed: 13 May 2014).
- Smith, F. (2002) Research Methods in Pharmacy Practice. London: Pharmaceutical Press.
- Smith, F.J. (2010) *Conducting Your Pharmacy Practice Research Project*. 2<sup>nd</sup> edn. London: Pharmaceutical Press.
- Snowden, A. and Marland, G. (2013) 'No decision about me without me: concordance operationalised', *J Clin Nurs*, 22: pp. 1353–1360.
- Sookaneknun, P., Richards, R.M., Sanguansermsri J. and Teerasut, C. (2004) 'Pharmacist involvement in primary care improves hypertensive patient clinical outcomes', *Ann Pharmacother*, 38(12), pp. 2023-2028.
- Södergård B. (2008) 'Adherence to treatment: what is done in Sweden? Practice, education and research', *Pharmacy Practice (Granada)*, 6(4), pp. 171-177.
- Sporrong, S. K. and Nordén-Hägg, A. (2014) 'Trends in pharmacy staff's perception of patient safety in Swedish community pharmacies after reregulation of conditions', *Pharmacy Practice*, 12(4):502, pp. 1-5.
- Stanfield, C.L. (2013) Principles of Human Physiology: Pearson New International Edition. 5<sup>th</sup> edn. Boston: Pearson Education.
- Steddon, S., Ashman, N., Chesser, A. and Cunningham, J. (2014) *Oxford Handbook of Nephrology and Hypertension*. 2<sup>nd</sup> edn. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Sterne, J.A.C., Higgins, J.P.T. and Reeves, B.C. (2016) on behalf of the development group for ROBINS-I: a tool for assessing Risk Of Bias In Non-randomized Studies of Interventions, Version 7 March 2016. Available at: <u>http://www.riskofbias.info</u> (Accessed: 27 April 2016).
- Stewart, K., George, J., Jackson, S.L., Peterson, G.M., Hughes, J.D., Mc Namara, K.P., Bailey, M.J., Hsueh, A., McDowell, J., Bereznicki, L. and Gee, P. (2015) *Increasing Community Pharmacy Involvement in the Prevention of Cardiovascular Disease*. Available at: <u>http://guild.org.au/docs/default-source/public-documents/services-andprograms/research-and-development/Fourth-Agreement-R-and-D/2007-08-10/fullfinal-report.pdf?sfvrsn=0 (Accessed: 1 November 2015).</u>
- Stewart, K., George, J., Mc Namara, K.P., Jackson, S.L., Peterson, G.M., Bereznicki, L.R., Gee, P.R., Hughes, J.D., Bailey, M.J., Hsueh, Y.A., McDowell, J.M., Bortoletto, D.A. and Lau, R. (2014) 'A multifaceted pharmacist intervention to improve antihypertensive adherence: a cluster-randomized, controlled trial (HAPPy trial)', J *Clin Pharm Ther*, 39(5), pp. 527-534.
- Svarstad, B.L., Kotchen, J.M., Shireman, T.I., Brown, R.L., Crawford, S.Y., Mount, J.K., Palmer, P.A., Vivian, E.M. and Wilson, D.A. (2013) 'Improving refill adherence and hypertension control in black patients: Wisconsin TEAM trial', *J Am Pharm Assoc*, 53, pp. 520-529.
- Svarstad, B.L., Kotchen, J.M., Shireman, T.I., Crawford, S.Y., Palmer, P.A., Vivian, E.M. and Brown, R.L. (2009) 'The Team Education and Adherence Monitoring (TEAM) Trial: Pharmacy Interventions to Improve Hypertension Control in Blacks', *Circ Cardiovasc Qual Outcomes*, 2, pp. 264-271.

- Tandvård- och Läkemedelsförmånsverket (The Dental and Pharmaceutical Benefits Agency) (2012) Available at: <u>http://www.tlv.se/Upload/MEDPrice.xls</u> (Accessed: 10 December 2012).
- Tariq, S. and Woodman, J. (2013) 'Using mixed methods in health research', *JRSM Short Rep*, pp. 1-8.
- Taylor, S.D., Frazier, M., Shimp, L.A. and Boyd, E.L. (2003) 'Implementing Pharmaceutical Care in an Inner City Pharmacy: Hypertension Management and Elderly African Americans', *Journal of Aging & Pharmacotherapy*, 13:1, pp. 63-76.
- The British Hypertension Society (2012) Blood pressure measurement with electronic blood pressure monitors. Available at: http://www.bhsoc.org/files/8413/4390/7770/BP\_Measurement\_Poster\_-\_\_\_Electronic.pdf (Accessed: 2 December 2012).
- The British Hypertension Society (2016) Blood Pressure Monitors Validated for Clinical Use. Available at: <u>http://bhsoc.org/files/2814/5710/6732/Clinical\_Use.pdf</u> (Accessed: 2 May 2016).
- The Nordic Cochrane Centre, The Cochrane Collaboration (2014) *Review Manager (RevMan)* (Version 5.3.5) [Computer program].
- The Swedish Medical Products Agency (2014) *Att genomföra strukturerade läkemedelssamtal på svenska apotek, Dnr:1.1-2013-02150.* Available at: https://lakemedelsverket.se/upload/omlakemedelsverket/NLS/strukturerade\_lakemedelssamtal\_slutrapport\_2014-12-11.pdf (Accessed: 1 November 2015).
- The Swedish Medical Products Agency (2016) *Läkemedelsboken: Hypertoni*. Available at: <u>http://www.lakemedelsboken.se/kapitel/hjarta-karl/hypertoni.html</u> (Accessed: 3 August 2017).
- The Swedish Pharmacy Association (2016) *Apoteksbranschen*. Available at: <u>http://www.sverigesapoteksforening.se/apoteksbranschen/</u> (Accessed: 15 May 2016).

- Tsuyuki, R.T., Houle, S.K.D., Charrois, T.L., Kolber, M.R., Rosenthal, M.M., Lewanczuk, R., Campbell, N.R.C., Cooney, D., Finlay A., McAlister, F.A. and RxACTION Investigators (2015) 'Randomized Trial of the Effect of Pharmacist Prescribing on Improving Blood Pressure in the Community: The Alberta Clinical Trial in Optimizing Hypertension (RxACTION)', *Circulation*, 132(2): pp. 93-100.
- Tsuyuki, R.T. (2014) 'Designing pharmacy practice research trials', *Can J Hosp Pharm*, 67(3), pp. 226-229.
- Van Wijk, B.L., Klungel, O.H., Heerdink, E.R. and de Boer, A. (2005) 'Effectiveness of interventions by community pharmacists to improve patient adherence to chronic medication: a systematic review', *Ann Pharmacother*, 39(2), pp. 319-328.
- Volpe, M., Chin, D. and Paneni, F. (2010) 'The challenge of polypharmacy in cardiovascular medicine', *Fundam Clin Pharmacol*, 24(1), pp. 9-17.
- Vrijens, B., De Geest, S., Hughes, D.A., Przemyslaw, K., Demonceau, J., Ruppar, T., Dobbels, F., Fargher, E., Morrison, V., Lewek, P., Matyjaszczyk, M., Mshelia, C., Clyne, W., Aronson, J.K., Urquhart, J., ABC Project Team. (2012) 'A new taxonomy for describing and defining adherence to medications', *British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology*, 73(5), pp. 691–705.
- Ward, J.P.T. and Linden, R. (2013) *Physiology at a Glance*. 3<sup>rd</sup> edn. Chichester: John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.
- Warrell, D.A., Cox, T.M. and Firth, J.D. (eds.) (2010) *Oxford Textbook of Medicine*. 5<sup>th</sup> edn. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- West, R. and Isom, M. (2014) 'Management of patients with hypertension: general practice and community pharmacy working together', *Br J Gen Pract*, 64(626), pp. 477–478.
- Westerlund, T.L.O. and Björk, T.H. (2006) 'Pharmaceutical care in community pharmacies: practice and research in Sweden', *Ann Pharmacother*. 40(6), pp. 1162-1169.
- WHO (1994) The Role of the Pharmacist in the Health Care System. Available at: <u>http://apps.who.int/medicinedocs/pdf/h2995e/h2995e.pdf</u> (Accessed: 15 November 2015).

- WHO (2003) Adherence to long-term therapies: evidence for action. Available at: http://www.who.int/entity/chp/knowledge/publications/adherence\_full\_report.pdf?ua= 1 (Accessed: 6 November 2015).
- WHO (2013) A global brief on hypertension Silent killer, global public health crisis. Available at: http://www.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/79059/1/WHO\_DCO\_WHD\_2013.2\_eng.pdf ?ua=1 (Accessed: 6 November 2015).
- WHO. Regional Office for Europe (2005) Pharmacy-based hypertension management model: protocol and guidelines: a joint CINDI/EuroPharm Forum project, Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe.
- Wiedenmayer, K., Summers, R.S., Mackie, C.A., Gous, A.G.S., Everard, M., Tromp, D.,
  World Health Organization, International Pharmaceutical Federation (2006)
  Developing pharmacy practice: a focus on patient care: handbook. Geneva: World Health Organization.
- Wiffen, P., Mitchell, M., Snelling, M. and Stoner, N. (2012) *Oxford Handbook of Clinical Pharmacy*. 2<sup>nd</sup> edn. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Wilkins, R., Cross, S., Megson, I. and Meredith, D. (2011) *Oxford Handbook of Medical Sciences*. 2<sup>nd</sup> edn. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Wong, M.C.S., Jiang, J.Y. and Griffiths, S.M. (2010) 'Antihypertensive Drug Adherence Among 6408 Chinese Patients on Angiotensin-Converting Enzyme Inhibitors in Hong Kong: A Cohort Study', *J Clin Pharmacol*, 50, pp. 598-605.

Zillich, A. (2015) E-mail to Amirthan Amirthalingam, June 4.

Zillich, A.J., Sutherland, J.M., Kumbera, P.A. and Carter, B.L. (2005) 'Hypertension Outcomes Through Blood Pressure Monitoring and Evaluation by Pharmacists (HOME Study)', J Gen Intern Med, 20, pp. 1091–1096.